
1 June 28, 2021 
 

      
BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA  

AMENDED 
June 28, 2021 

7:30 P.M. 
VIRTUAL MEETING 

ZOOM MEETING ID: 655 079 760 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
Legislative Update from Sen. McMorrow 
 
APPOINTMENTS 
A. Board of Ethics: 

1. John Schrot 
To appoint ________ as a regular member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year 
term to expire June 30, 2024. 
 

B. Historic District Study Committee 
1. Jake German 
2. Colleen McGough 

To appoint , as a regular member to the Historic District Study Committee to serve 
a three-year term to expire June 25, 2024. 
 
To appoint , as a regular member to the Historic District Study Committee to serve 
a three-year term to expire June 25, 2024. 
 
To appoint , as a regular member to the Historic District Study Committee to serve 
t h e  r e m a i nd e r  o f  a three-year term to expire June 25, 2022. 

 
C. Building Trade Appeals 

1. Arya Afrakhtch 
2. Rick Wiand  
3. Thomas Lindberg 



2 June 28, 2021 
 

To appoint _________________ to the Board of Building Trades Appeals as a regular 
member to serve a three-year term to expire May 23, 2024.  
 
To appoint _________________ to the Board of Building Trades Appeals as a regular 
member to serve a three-year term to expire May 23, 2024.  
 
To appoint _________________ to the Board of Building Trades Appeals as a regular 
member to serve the remainder of a three-year term to expire May 23, 2022. 

 
IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

 
V. CONSENT AGENDA 

All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission Workshop meeting minutes of June 14, 2021 
 

B. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of June 14, 2021 
 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated June 16, 2021, in the amount of $1,430,167.59. 
 

D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated June 23, 2021, in the amount of $722,368.00. 
 

E. Resolution to approve the service agreement with Next in the amount of $122,940 for 
services described in Attachment A of the agreement for fiscal year 2021-2022, account 
number 101-299.000-811.0000, and further direct the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the 
agreement on behalf of the City.  

 
F. Resolution to approve the purchase of two (2) Toro 3555-D fairway mowers from 

Spartan Distributors, through State of Michigan extendable purchasing contract 
#071B0200329 at a cost of $107,917.56 less the trade in amount of $13,000 for a total 
expenditure of $94,917.56. Funds for this purchase are available in the Auto Equipment 
Fund account # 641-441.006-971.0100. 
 

G. Resolution to approve the Cost Participation Agreement with Oakland County for the City 
of Birmingham to participate in the 2021 OAKSTEM Program. Further, to authorize the 
Director of Public Services to sign on behalf of the City of Birmingham the Cost 
Participation Agreement with Oakland County, for an amount not to exceed $15,000, for 
planting street trees in Spring 2022. 

 
H. Resolution to allow the IT department to purchase the 36-month subscription for 

Enterprise Data protection and endpoint email and drive protection from Virtru for a 
total cost $27,717.00 paid as a yearly subscription of $9,239.00. Funds available in the 
IT Computer maintenance account: 636-228.000-933.0600 



3 June 28, 2021 
 

 
I. Resolution to set a public hearing date for July 26th, 2021 to consider the Special Land 

Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop 
to allow the operation of a bistro.  

 
J. Resolution to set public hearings on July 26, 2021 to consider the following amendments 

to Chapter 126, Zoning:  
1. Article 3, Section 3.04 (Specific Standards) to amend the Architectural 
Standards; 
2. Article 4, Section 4.90 (Window Standards) to amend storefront window 
requirements; and 
3. Article 9, Section 9.02 (Definitions) to redefine clear glazing and eliminate 
lightly tinted glazing. 
 

K. Resolution to set public hearings for July 26, 2021 to consider the following 
amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 

1. Article 4, Section 4.09 (Essential Services) to remove Roof Mounted Solar 
Electric Systems; and  
2. Article 4, Section 4.88 (Alternative Energy) to add amended Roof Mounted 
Solar Electric Systems language.  
 

L. Resolution to adopt a resolution for the City Commission to meet on Monday, July 26, 
2021, at 7:30 P.M., for the purpose of conducting a Public Hearing of Necessity for the 
replacement of sewer and water services within the Townsend & Peabody Street Paving 
project areas.    

Be it further RESOLVED, that the City Commission meet on Monday, August 9, 2021 at 
7:30 P.M. for the purpose of conducting a Public Hearing on Confirmation of the Roll for 
the replacement of sewer and water services in the Townsend & Peabody Street Paving 
project areas. 
 

 
   VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Resolution to authorize the City Manager to use the City’s allocation of Coronavirus 
State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds towards lead service line replacement. 
 

B. Resolution to enter into a Consent Judgement in connection with the pending 
litigation entitled Birmingham Wine Shop, LLC et al v City of Birmingham, et al; 
Oakland County Circuit Court Case No.: 2021-186823-AA. 

 
C. Commission discussion on items from prior meeting. 

1. Food Trucks in Birmingham 
 



4 June 28, 2021 
 

D. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for 
future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen 
tonight. 
 

E. Resolution for the City Commission to meet in closed session pursuant to the OMA at 
MCL §15.268(a) for a performance evaluation of Mr. Markus at Mr. Markus’ request 
that such performance evaluation be held in closed session. 

 

(A roll call vote is required and the vote must be approved by a 2/3 majority of the commission. 
The commission will adjourn to closed session after all other business has been addressed in 
open session and reconvene to open session, after the closed session, for purposes of taking 
formal action resulting from the closed session and for purposes of adjourning the meeting.) 

 
VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
X. REPORTS 

A. Commissioner Reports 
B. Commissioner Comments 

1. New Construction Demands on Parking Space – Commissioner Brad Host 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. Return to in-person City Commission & Board meetings, submitted by Fire Chief 

 Wells 
 2. Public comment during City meetings, submitted by City Attorney Kucharek 
 3.  City Commission Vote Revisited, submitted by City Attorney Kucharek 

4.  Temporary COVID-19 Outdoor Structure Fire Code Violations, submitted by Fire 
Chief Wells 

5.  Parking Structure Debt, submitted by Finance Director Mark Gerber 
6.  City Manager’s Report 

 
INFORMATION ONLY 
  

XI. ADJOURN 
NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
 
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 
 
 

tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
BOARD OF ETHICS 

At the regular meeting of Monday, June 28, 2021, the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint one regular member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term to expire 
June 30, 2024. 

Board members are to serve as an advisory body for the purposes of interpreting the Code of 
Ethics. The board consists of three members who serve without compensation.  The members 
shall be residents and have legal, administrative or other desirable qualifications. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, June 21, 2021. These documents will appear in the 
public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on appointments.  

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To appoint ________ as a regular member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term 
to expire June 30, 2024. 

Applicant Name Criteria/Qualifications 
Applicants shall be residents and have legal, administrative 
or other desirable qualifications. 

John J. Schrot, Jr. Resident, Attorney-at-law 

3A

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


BOARD OF ETHICS
Ordinance 1805 (Birmingham Code of Ordinances Sec. 2-320 through 2-326) 
The board shall serve as an advisory body for purposes of interpreting the Code of Ethics.  
The board consists of three members who serve without compensation.  The members  
shall be residents and have legal, administrative, or other desirable qualifications. 

Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Fierro-Share Sophie

1040 Gordon Lane

(248) 642-7340

Sfierro-share1@comcast.net

7/14/2003 6/30/2023

Robb James

1533 Pleasant Ct

(517) 712-3469

jamesdrobb55@gmail.com

8/11/2003 6/30/2022

Schrot John

1878 Fairway

(248) 646-6513

jschrot@berrymoorman.com

7/14/2003 6/30/2021

Tuesday, June 15, 2021 Page 1 of 1

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight



Name of Board: Year: 2019
Members Required for Quorum: 2

MEMBER NAME 1/23 6/12 6/19

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Sophie Fierro-Share P p p 3 0 100%
James Robb P p p 3 0 100%
John Schrot P p p 3 0 100%
Reserved
Reserved 
Present or Available 3 3 3 0 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Ethics



Name of Board: Year: 2020
Members Required for Quorum: 2

MEMBER NAME 9/1 9/11 11/20

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Sophie Fierro-Share P p p 3 0 100%
James Robb P p p 3 0 100%
John Schrot P p p 3 0 100%
Reserved
Reserved 
Present or Available 3 3 3 0 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Ethics



Name of Board: Year: 2021
Members Required for Quorum: 2

MEMBER NAME 2/15 2/22 3/15 3/29

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Sophie Fierro-Share P p p p 4 0 100%
James Robb P p p p 4 0 100%
John Schrot P p p p 4 0 100%
Reserved
Reserved 
Present or Available 3 3 3 3 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Ethics



ahauff
Rectangle

ahauff
Rectangle



3B



HISTORIC DISTRICT STUDY  
COMMITTEE

Goal:  To conduct historical research regarding the proposed designation of historic landmarks or 
districts in the City of Birmingham. 
 
The committee shall consist of seven members in addition to a city appointed liaison. A majority of 
the members shall have a clearly demonstrated interest in or knowledge of historic preservation, 
although city residency is not required if an expert on the potential historic district topic is not 
available among city residents.  The committee shall include representation of at least one member 
appointed from one or more duly organized local historic preservation organizations. 
Terms:  three years 
 
Meetings are held by resolution of the City Commission. 

Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Beshouri Paul

1740 Grant

(248) 895-4576

beshouri24@gmail.com

12/12/2016 6/25/2022

Cantor Joy

636 Lakeview Ave

(248) 752-7773

Joycantor@me.com

8/24/2020 6/25/2023

German Jacob

475 S. Adams #18

(734) 934-9051

jake@dunaskiss.biz

1/14/2019 6/25/2021

McGough Colleen

543 Watkins

(248) 808-4410

mcgough88@comcast.net

1/14/2019 6/25/2021

Tuesday, June 15, 2021 Page 1 of 2

German Jacob (734) 934-9051 1/14/2019 6/25/2021
475 S. Adams #18

jake@dunaskiss.biz

McGough Colleen (248) 808-4410 1/14/2019 6/25/2021
543 Watkins

mcgough88@comcast.net



Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Roush Jennifer

2010 Buckingham

(248) 736-2801

jennygwtw@comcast.net

8/10/2020 6/25/2022

VACANT 6/25/2022

Xenos Michael

608 W. Lincoln

(248) 496-8983

mxenos@comcast.net

Nat'l Trust for Historic Preservation
2/22/2016 6/25/2023

Tuesday, June 15, 2021 Page 2 of 2

VACANT 6/25/2022



Pa
ul

 B
es

ho
ri

Ja
co

b 
G

er
m

an
C

ol
le

en
 M

cG
ou

gh
M

ic
ha

el
 X

en
os

Je
nn

ife
r 

R
ou

sh
Jo

y 
C

an
to

r





N
am

e 
of

 B
oa

rd
:

Ye
ar

:
20

19
M

em
be

rs
 R

eq
ui

re
d 

fo
r Q

uo
ru

m
:

M
EM

BE
R 

N
AM

E
JA

N
FE

B
M

AR
AP

R
M

AY
JU

N
E

JU
LY

AU
G

SE
PT

O
CT

N
O

V
D

EC
SP

EC
 

M
TG

SP
EC

 
M

TG

To
ta

l 
M

tg
s.

 
At

t.
To

ta
l 

Ab
se

nt

Pe
rc

en
t 

At
te

nd
ed

 
Av

ai
la

bl
e

RE
G

UL
AR

 M
EM

BE
RS

Pa
ul

 B
es

ho
ri

NM
NM

NM
NM

NM
P

NM
NM

NM
NM

CP
NM

1
0

10
0%

Jo
na

th
an

 D
eW

in
dt

NM
NM

NM
NM

NM
A

NM
NM

NM
NM

NA
NM

0
1

0%
Ja

co
b 

Ge
rm

an
NM

NM
NM

NM
NM

P
NM

NM
NM

NM
CA

NM
1

1
50

%
Co

lle
en

 M
cG

ou
gh

NM
NM

NM
NM

NM
P

NM
NM

NM
NM

CP
NM

1
0

10
0%

M
ich

ae
l X

en
os

NM
NM

NM
NM

NM
P

NM
NM

NM
NM

CP
NM

1
0

10
0%

0
0

#
DI

V/
0!

0
0

#
DI

V/
0!

0
0

#
DI

V/
0!

0
0

#
DI

V/
0!

AL
TE

RN
AT

ES
M

em
be

r 1
0

0
#

DI
V/

0!
0

0
#

DI
V/

0!
0

0
#

DI
V/

0!
0

0
#

DI
V/

0!
Pr

es
en

t o
r A

va
ila

bl
e

0
0

0
0

0
4

0
0

0
0

3
0

0
0

KE
Y:

A 
=

 M
em

be
r a

bs
en

t
P 

=
 M

em
be

r p
re

se
nt

 o
r a

va
ila

bl
e

CP
=

 M
em

be
r a

va
ila

bl
e,

 b
ut

 m
ee

tin
g 

ca
nc

el
ed

  f
or

 la
ck

 o
f q

uo
ru

m
CA

=
 M

em
be

r n
ot

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
an

d 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

as
 c

an
ce

le
d 

fo
r l

ac
k 

of
 q

uo
ru

m
N

A
=

 M
em

be
r n

ot
 a

pp
oi

nt
ed

 a
t t

ha
t t

im
e

N
M

 =
 N

o 
m

ee
tin

g 
sc

he
du

le
d 

th
at

 m
on

th
CM

=
 M

ee
tin

g 
ca

nc
el

ed
 fo

r l
ac

k 
of

 b
us

in
es

s 
ite

m
s

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t H

ea
d 

Si
gn

at
ur

e

CI
TY

 B
O

AR
D

/C
O

M
M

IT
TE

E 
AT

TE
N

D
AN

CE
 R

EC
O

RD

H
is

to
ric

 D
is

tr
ic

t S
tu

dy
 C

om
m

itt
ee













NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO 
BOARD OF BUILDING TRADES APPEAL 

At the regular meeting of Monday, May 24, 2021 the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint to the Board of Building Trades Appeals two regular members to serve three-year 
terms to expire May 23, 2024 and one regular member to serve the remainder of a three 
year term to expire on May 23, 2022. Applicants shall be qualified by experience or training 
in fields such as architecture, engineering, mechanical engineering, building, electrical 
plumbing, heating or refrigeration.  

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, May 19, 2021.  These documents will appear in the 
public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on appointments.  

The Board of Building Trades Appeal hears and grants or denies requests for variances from 
strict application of the provisions of the Michigan Building, Residential, Mechanical and 
Plumbing Codes and the National Electrical Code. The board will decide on matters pertaining 
to specific code requirements related to the construction or materials to be used in the 
erection, alteration or repair of a building or structure.  

NOTES: Attendance records are not included in this report because the Board has not met 
since before 2015. 

Resignation letters received from David Force & Ronald White. 

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To appoint _________________ to the Board of Building Trades Appeals as a regular 
member to serve a three-year term to expire May 23, 2024. 

To appoint _________________ to the Board of Building Trades Appeals as a regular 
member to serve a three-year term to expire May 23, 2024. 

To appoint _________________ to the Board of Building Trades Appeals as a regular 
member to serve the remainder of a three-year term to expire May 23, 2022. 

Applicant Name Criteria/Qualifications 
Applicants shall be qualified by experience or training. 

Arya Afrakhtch Builder/Engineer 
Rick Wiand Builder 
Thomas Lindberg HVAC Mechanical 

3C

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


BOARD OF BUILDING TRADES APPEALS
Chapter 22, Article II, 1972 PA 230, MCL 125.1514  
Members shall be qualified by experience or training (such as Architect, Engineer, Mechanical 
Engineer, Building Contractor, Electrical Contractor, Plumbing Contractor, Heating Contractor, and 
Refrigeration Contractor).  
Term: Three years – 6 members 

The Board of Building Trades Appeal hears and grants or denies requests for variances from strict 
application of the provisions of the Michigan Building, Residential, Mechanical and Plumbing 
Codes and the National Electrical Code. The board will decide on matters pertaining to specific 
code requirements related to the construction or materials to be used in the erection, alteration 
or repair of a building or structure. 

Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

VACANT 5/23/2022

Force David

557 Henrietta St.

(248) 420-9968

force0621@ameritech.net
Building Contractor
12/11/2006 5/23/2021

Birmingham 48009

Klein Bradley

5063 Parkside Drive

(248) 863-6302

bklein@kleinelectric.net
Electrician
6/4/2018 5/23/2022

West Bloomfield 48323

Mando Dennis

5310 Heron Cove

(248) 767-0515
(248) 669-4338
denny@dennysonline.com

Heating Contractor
1/30/2006 5/23/2023

Beaverton 48612

Sirich Scott H.

1756 Melbourne

(248) 385-5398

ssirich@plunkettcooney.com
Construction Law Attorney
8/10/2020 5/23/2023

Birmingham 48009

Wednesday, June 23, 2021 Page 1 of 2

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight



Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

White Ronald

1825 Bellaire

(248) 543-5532

offices@rdwhiteco.com
Electrical Contractor
7/15/1991 5/23/2021

Royal Oak 48067

Wednesday, June 23, 2021 Page 2 of 2

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight









���������	

�����	

�������������������������������������
������������������������ ����!���"#$$%&'()*+,-%.'&#/&#01 23'4�567�894�:;:8�6.�<=;:�>52#=�>?*%6@�A63$$�"6-63$$)?-60B#C/#*B1D##+�0#*E%EB�>?*%6@4�>$.'*�&6*'$3@�&#E(%+'*6.%#E4�F�-6C'�+'&%+'+�6.�.-%(�.%0'�.#�*'(%BE�07�G#(%.%#E�,%.-�.-'�H%.7�I#6*+�#$�>GG'6@(/�J'(G'&.$3@@74��������K����L�M��!�����J/N/�O-%.'�H#/�FE&/P@'&.*%&6@�H#E.*6&.%EB4�>3+%#�Q%+'#A#0'�>3.#06.%#E4�N'(%BE�R�FE(.6@@6.%#E89:S�I'@@6%*'�>C'J#76@�T6U4�5F�V9;WXY-#E'=�:V9ZSV[ZSS[:\6]=�:V9ZSV[ZSW;S_̂3#.'+�.'].�-%++'È



���������	

�����	

�����������������������
��	������������������������  !"�#�����$��%��&'()*�+,-./-0"*(1"�!-.2*(�3 4(05�4!6��75�898��!:�;<8=�>4?(<�*.�)@ 1+A!�"(B2()"5�*.�)@1+A!�"(B2()"C0�4(05�4!6��75�898��!:�;<8D�>4�E!B-/�F()*��&'()*�+,-./-0"*(1"�!-.2*(�3�G)(:�<H�..(2�?A- ���!-.��- �:(�*(0'-)��:A!:�I�G-..�0(:�+��)�!JJ.6-0"�'()�!�J( -:-(0�(0�:A��K(!)/�('K,-./-0"�?)!/� �LJJ�!.2MM�K� :�)�"!)/ 5E!B-/�F()*�MM�K� :�)�"!)/ 5E!B-/�F()*�



1 June 14, 2021 

Birmingham City Commission - Special Workshop Meeting Minutes 
Monday, June 14, 2021 

6:30 p.m. 
Virtual Meeting 

Meeting ID: 655 079 760 
Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/554567339/ 

Workshop Session 
This will be considered a workshop session of the City Commission. No formal actions will be taken. 
The purpose of this workshop is to participate in a discussion regarding short-term Rentals. 

I. Call to Order 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

II. Roll Call
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk, called the roll. 

Present: Mayor Boutros (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Baller (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Hoff (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Host (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Nickita (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Sherman (location: Birmingham, MI) 

Absent: None 

Administration: City Manager Markus, City Clerk Bingham, Building Official Johnson, City Attorney 
Kucharek 

III. Presentation & Discussion

CM Markus introduced the item. 
A. Presentation 

BO Johnson and CA Kucharek presented. 
B. Discussion 

In response to Commission discussion, Building Official Johnson explained: 
● Licensed rentals are permitted a maximum number of occupants. If the City were notified that the

number of occupants in a rental exceeded the maximum occupancy, they would start by contacting the
property owner and conducting an inspection of the rental property. Issues of overcrowding can be

5A

https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/515580935/
https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/515580935/


2 June 14, 2021 

somewhat difficult to enforce, but have been infrequent in the City thus far. 
● The City has begun tracking short-term rentals via the properties’ addresses. For longer-term rentals, a

real estate agent in Birmingham sends the City newly-listed rental properties every month and the City
reaches out to those properties not yet licensed with the City.

● Birmingham ordinances prohibit renting out an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) because it would create a
multi-family property in a single-family zone. ADUs cannot be rented out because the zoning ordinance
requires that they are only to be occupied by someone who has their main living quarters in the house.

● All of the City’s residential districts permit up to two boarders without the need for a license.
CA Kucharek noted: 

● Short-term and long-term rentals must be treated the same.
● The City has not had complaints about specific properties that turned out to be unlicensed short-term

rentals.
● The City already has many tools available in its codes and ordinances for making sure that short-term

rentals do not infringe on the health, safety and welfare of the community. In addition, Birmingham’s
codes and ordinances have sufficient penalties available for encouraging compliance.

● In her 27 years as a prosecutor, she never prosecuted a short-term rental matter. Only a handful of long-
term rental properties ever received misdemeanor tickets. The goal overall is always to encourage
compliance with codes and ordinances.

● She could not comment on whether homeowners’ associations could ban short-term rentals since that
process would not be a City matter.

CM Markus said the City would continue its work on noticing not-yet-licensed short-term rentals to get them 
licensed with the City. 
CA Kucharek recommended that residents reach out to their state representatives to encourage them to take a 
close look at current bills regarding short-term rentals. She said some of the proposals could strip municipalities 
of their abilities to regulate any rentals and could possibly take away municipalities’ licensing ability. She stated 
that the Michigan Municipal League has a publication available on their website that offers both further 
information on the matter and contact information. 
Commissioner Baller said that some people may not be aware that they have to license their short-term rentals 
with the City. He recommended the City use its newsletters and other means of communication to publicize the 
need for short-term rental licensing. He said he would also like to find a way to address some residents’ concerns 
about short-term renters, though he stated he was not yet sure how to do that. 
CM Markus said part of the issue seemed to arise from the commercial aspect of short-term rentals occurring in 
a residential neighborhood. 

IV. Public Comment

In reply to Jack Burns, BO Johnson confirmed that a lease of a residential property would be subject to the same 
requirements as short-term and long-term rentals. 
In reply to David Bloom, CA Kucharek said it would be most appropriate for residents to reach out to their 
representatives to voice their concerns regarding the short-term rental bills now. She said she could not comment 
on whether legal action regarding the matter might be appropriate in the future since it would be specific to the 
facts and circumstances at the time. She confirmed that the City has been also been expressing its concerns 
regarding the bills. 
Andrew Haig asked that information on where to lodge complaints regarding the short-term rental bills be 
included with the minutes. The city maintains those contacts on the following page: 



3 June 14, 2021 

https://www.bhamgov.org/government/state.php 

In reply to Mr. Haig, CA Kucharek said that in her opinion short-term rentals are indeed a commercial use of 
property. She explained that so far the state legislature and state courts had disagreed with that assessment, 
however. 
CM Markus said the proposed legislation was inappropriate since it tries to apply a one-size-fits-all approach to 
municipalities with a variety of different needs in regards to short-term rentals. He said it would be a disservice 
to not respect the home-rule rights of the individual communities. 

V. Adjourn 

Mayor Boutros adjourned the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 

https://www.bhamgov.org/government/state.php


Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
June 14, 2021 

7:30 p.m. 
Virtual Meeting 

Meeting ID: 655 079 760 
Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/554567339/ 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk, called the roll. 

Present: Mayor Boutros (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Baller (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Hoff (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Host (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Nickita (location: Birmingham, MI) 
Commissioner Sherman (location: Birmingham, MI) 

Absent: None 

Administration: City Manager Markus, City Clerk Bingham, BSD Operations & Event Manager Brook, 
IT Manager Brunk, Police Chief Clemence, City Planner Cowan, City Attorney Kucharek, Planning Director 
Ecker, City Attorney Kucharek, Consulting City Engineer Surhigh, Deputy Treasurer Todd, Fire Chief Wells, 
DPS Director Wood 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
● Common Ground proclamation and congratulations. Jeff Kapuscinski, representative for Common

Ground, thanked the City for its ongoing partnership and support. 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Rosanne Acciaioli voiced concerns about residents in the City having inadequate control of their dogs. She 
noted the danger the situation can pose to walkers and other dog owners. She asked the City to use its 
bulletin to remind dog owners of their obligations to prevent their dogs from impinging on others’ safety, 
and asked the City to consider making up a list of walkers’ rights. 

5B

https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/554567339/


2  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

 
06-154-21  Consent Agenda 
 
The following items were pulled from the Consent Agenda: 

Commissioner Sherman: Item H – Technology & Audio Visual Equipment Installation – Ice  
    Arena 
 
Commissioner Hoff:  Item E – Upgrade Internet Connections to Parking Structures 
    Item F – Engineering & Transportation Consultant Agreements 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve Consent Agenda with the exclusion of Items E, F and H. 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
Commissioner Baller 

   Commissioner Host 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Hoff 
     

 Nays, None  
 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of May 24, 2021. 
 

B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated May 
26, 2021, in the amount of $538,196.60. 
 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated June 
2, 2021, in the amount of $625,182.63. 
 

D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated June 
9, 2021, in the amount of $506,594.83. 

 
G. Resolution to waive the competitive bidding requirement and to authorize an expenditure in  

the amount of $7,770.47 to Poco, Inc., for a past and urgent purchase to  provide temporary 
traffic barricades to expand the lane closure on Pierce Street from  July 2020 to January 2021; to 
be charged to the Major Streets Fund, account #202-449.003-937.0400.  

 
I. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Ford F-350 4x4 Crew Cab from Gorno Ford  

through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract #071B7700181 in the 
amount not to exceed $54,106.00.  Funds for this purchase are available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto 
Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100.  

 
J. Resolution to award the 2020-2021 Public Services contract totaling $36,377.00 for Yard Services,  



3  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

Senior Outreach Services, and Minor Home Repair to NEXT under the Community Development 
Block Grant Program; and further, to authorize the Mayor to sign the contract on behalf of the City. 

 
K. Resolution to approve the appropriations and amendments to the fiscal year 2020-2021 budget  

as indicated in the staff report.  
 

L.  Resolution to set a public hearing for Monday, July 12th, 2021 at 7:30 PM to consider the Special  
Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 239 N. Old Woodward – Bloom 
Bistro. (complete resolution in agenda packet) 

 
M. Resolution to set a public hearing for Monday, July 12th, 2021 at 7:30 PM to consider the   

Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 115 Willits –  MARE 
Mediterranean. (complete resolution in agenda packet) 

  
N. Resolution to set a public hearing for Monday, July 12th, 2021 at 7:30 PM to consider the   

Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 176 S. Old 
 Woodward – Sushi Japan. (complete resolution in agenda packet) 

 
06-155-21 (Item H) Technology & Audio Visual Equipment Installation 
– Ice Arena 

 
DPS Director Wood confirmed that this was an anticipated cost from when the Commission approved the 
contract with the general contractor. She noted that the report at the time mentioned other items that 
would have to be bid out separately, including this one. She said it was the last anticipated charge to the 
soft cost portion laid out in that approved documentation. 
 
DPS Director Wood also explained that DTE had recently notified the City that the City would have to 
replace the electric line that goes from the pole on Lincoln to the Ice Arena. She noted that would be an 
estimated additional cost of $75,000. 
 
CM Markus said he would review the matter with DTE further to clarify whether the stated costs are entirely 
the City’s responsibility. 
 
DPS Director Wood stated that this installation was not a line item in the contract for the general contractor 
because neither the contractor nor their subcontractors specialize in these types of installations. She 
reiterated that the costs for this installation were included in the total Commission-approved amount for 
the Ice Arena. 
 
DPS Director Wood stated that once the costs for the DTE line replacement are finalized those costs would 
come out of the bond funds. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the Technology and Audio Visual Installation services for the Birmingham Ice Arena Renovation 
project to Advanced Lighting and Sound (ALS) in the amount not to exceed $45,067.00. Funds are available 
in the Capital Projects Fund account #401-901.001-977.0000 for this work. Further, to authorize the Mayor 
and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City upon receipt of the required insurance coverage. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Host 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  



4  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

   Commissioner Nickita 
Mayor Boutros 

   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Baller 
       

 Nays, None  
 

06-156-21 (Item E) Upgrade Internet Connections to Parking 
Structures 

 
IT Manager Brunk explained that Crown Castle’s quote was for a 100mb line for each parking structure, as 
requested, whereas Clear Castle only offered one 100mb connection to City Hall. He noted that Crown 
Castle also handles the City’s internet connection and that he would like to be working with a single vendor. 
He concluded by noting that Crown Castle also offers additional services that may be of benefit to the City 
in the future. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Hoff, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Longe: 
To authorize the IT department to engage Crown Castle to upgrade the internet connection at each of the 
city parking structures for a term of 36 months with the monthly fee of $570.00 charged to each of the 5 
parking structure accounts. Total cost of $2850.00 per month Total term cost not to exceed $102,600.00.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Host    
       

 Nays, None 
 

06-157-21 (Item F) Engineering & Transportation Consultants’ 
Agreements 

 
CCE Surhigh stated that reasonable increases in costs for consultants tend to be three to five percent per 
year. He stated that since the last time these contracts were signed in 2018 MKSK’s rates increased by 
2.3% per year, F&V’s rates increased by 3.7% per year, and OHM’s rates increased by 2.8% per year. He 
affirmed that those were reasonable increases in costs. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
        1.   Resolution to execute the Second Amendment to the MKSK Old Woodward Corridor  

Agreement to provide preliminary design development, public engagement, and detailed 
design input services in accordance with their June 2, 2021 proposal, for an amount not to 
exceed $178,380.00, to be charged to the Major Street Fund account #202-449.001-
981.0100; and to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the 
City. 

 
2. Resolution to execute the MKSK Multi-Modal Transportation Consultant Contract to provide  

as requested professional services related to multi-modal transportation reviews and 
participation with the Multi-Modal Transportation Board, for a three-year term, to be 



5  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

charged to the Major Street Fund account 202-449.007-804.0100 and Local Street Fund 
account #203-449.007-804.0100 as appropriate; and to authorize the Mayor and the City 
Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City.  

 
 3.   Resolution to execute the Fleis & Vandenbrink Multi-Modal Transportation Consultant  

Contract to provide as-requested professional services related to multi-modal transportation 
reviews and participation with the Multi-Modal Transportation Board, for a three-year term, 
to be charged to the Major Street Fund account #202-449.007-804.0100 and Local Street 
Fund account #203-449.007-804.0100 as appropriate; and to authorize the Mayor and the 
City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City.  

 
 4.   Resolution to execute the OHM Advisors Consulting Agreement to provide as-requested  

professional services including, but not limited to, construction engineering and 
administration services, for a three-year term, to be charged to the General Fund, Sidewalks 
account #101-444.001- 981.0100, Major Street Fund account #202-449.001-981.0100, 
Local Street Fund account #203- 449.001-981.0100, Sewer Fund account #590-536.001-
981.0100, and/or Water Fund account #591-537.004-981.0100 as  appropriate; and 
to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City. 
 

Public Comment 
 
In reply to Paul Reagan, CCE Surhigh stated that MKSK’s services are as-requested. He stated that MKSK 
would be soliciting public feedback on the proposed designs for the S. Old Woodward project.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Host  
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
       

 Nays, None 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

06-158-21 Public Hearing to consider a Special Land Use Permit, Final 
Site Plan & Design Review at 720 N. Old Woodward – Vinewood Kitchen 
& Cocktails 

 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:10 p.m. 
 
Mayor Boutros stated that the applicant was withdrawing their request for a bistro license at this time. 
 
CM Markus noted that the applicant requested a reduction in the City’s fees. CM Markus explained that 
between Staff and Board meetings numerous hours were spent on the review of this project, and 
consequently he was not recommending that the City offer a fee reduction. 
 
PD Ecker stated that the City’s fees for review of this project amounted to $2800. She confirmed that the 
City had expended at least that amount in the process of conducting reviews of this project.  



6  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:12 p.m. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Hoff: 
To remove this item from the agenda. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Host  
     

 Nays, None 
 
06-159-21 Woodward Dream Cruise 
 

Fire Chief Wells presented.  
 
He explained that the BSD would select which car clubs could use the space in the City as they do every 
year. He stated that the City would be maintaining a larger fire lane and having a more generally scaled-
down event.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve a scaled down participation in the annual Woodward Dream Cruise event for 2021 in the City 
of Birmingham, due to public health and safety concerns attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic, by 
managing the large crowds that any participation in the Dream Cruise naturally creates. (complete 
resolution in agenda packet). 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Host  
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
       

 Nays, None 
 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
06-160-21 Public Hearing for a Rezoning Request for 300 - 394 S. Old 
Woodward  
 and a portion of 294 E. Brown Street from D3 to D4 
 

The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:18 p.m.  
 
The Mayor explained that due to improper noticing of the project by the applicant on the property it was 
being recommended that the item be postponed to a date certain of July 12, 2021. 



7  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

 
City Attorney explained the issue with the lack of proper noticing in this case.  
 
CM Markus said he would likely be recommending updates to the noticing process in the future. He noted 
that the requirement is to notice that a public hearing will be held, and said that further specifying the type 
of public hearing on the signage itself was likely making the process excessively difficult for both developers 
and Staff. CM Markus thanked Mr. Reagan for alerting the City to the noticing issue in this case. 
 
Commissioner Sherman opined that the memo provided by Staff in the evening’s agenda for this public 
hearing was initially somewhat confusing, in that it seemed to indicate that the lot split was again under 
consideration, when in fact this hearing was regarding the rezoning request. 
 
Rick Rattner, attorney for the project, said he had nothing to add besides for a request that the public 
hearing be rescheduled to July 12, 2021. 
 
Public Comment 
David Bloom recommended that QR codes be added to the public noticing signs. He also said that the extra 
month could afford the City and the applicant more time to discuss matters of parking. 
 
PD Ecker noted the City previously had QR codes on signs and public feedback indicated that they were 
not used. 
 
CM Markus noted that if this project necessitated more parking in the future that parking could be added 
by specially assessing the benefitting property owners and the charging of permit and daily use parking 
fees. He said he could not foresee a situation in which the taxpayers would be charged for additional 
parking required by this development. 
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:33 p.m.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Sherman: 
To postpone the public hearing for a Rezoning Request for 300 - 394 S. Old Woodward and a portion of 
294 E. Brown Street from D3 to D4 to July 12, 2021. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Host  
          

 Nays, None 
 

06-161-21 Public Hearing - Zoning Amendment to Economic 
Development License Map – 300-394 S. Old Woodward 
 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:34 p.m. 
 



8  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

PD Ecker stated that the same issue with noticing for the previous item existed for 
this item. 
 

Rick Rattner, attorney for the project, told Commissioner Host that RH would be the owner of the property 
and is the developer of the property. 
 
Public Comment 
 
Mr. Bloom stated that an RH representative at a previous meeting had indicated that once the property 
was developed the property would be sold and then leased back by RH. 
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:36 p.m. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To postpone the public hearing for a Public Hearing - Zoning Amendment to Economic Development License 
Map – 300-394 S. Old Woodward to July 12, 2021. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Host  
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Hoff 
            

 Nays, None 
 

06-163-21 Temporary COVID-19 Off-Season Outdoor Dining Standards 
Expiration Date 

 
Police Chief Clemence reviewed the item.  
 
Commissioner Host thanked Police Chief Clemence and Fire Chief Wells for their careful and comprehensive 
work on this item and the Woodward Dream Cruise item. 
 
Police Chief Clemence estimated that at least a dozen parking spaces were presently occupied by temporary 
outdoor dining structures.  
 
CM Markus said the alternative expiration date of September 10, 2021 would give restaurants until Labor 
Day 2021 with a bit of additional time to dismantle the decks. 
 
PD Ecker stated that potential revisions to outdoor dining ordinances would be a topic of discussion at the 
upcoming joint meeting between the Planning Board and Commission scheduled for June 21, 2021. 
 
Public Comment 
 
Jennifer Hammond spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards through the 
summer. 
 
Dulce and Ted Fuller spoke against maintaining the temporary outdoor dining standards. 



9  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

 
John Henke spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards for another 12 weeks. 
 
David Klein spoke against maintaining the temporary outdoor dining standards. 
 
Gerard Marti spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards.  
 
Joe Bongiovanni spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards. 
 
Beth Hussey spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards. 
 
Nino Cutaro spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards. 
 
Kelly Allen spoke in favor of extending the temporary outdoor dining standards. She noted that Birmingham 
restaurateurs put together a petition of over 1,000 signatures supporting the extension of the temporary 
outdoor dining standards. 
 
A number of Commissioners expressed concerns that temporary outdoor dining was creating obstacles and 
encroaching into the pedestrian walkways and yellow curb areas, taking up parking spaces, blurring the 
distinction between Class C and bistro licensees, creating unsafe storage situations, and blocking 
neighboring retailers. 
 
Commissioner Nickita asked if there was a way to increase enforcement of safety and code issues without 
doing away with the temporary outdoor dining requirements entirely. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Nickita, CA Kucharek stated that most of the issues listed were already addressed 
in Article 4 of the Development Standards of the Zoning Ordinance. She said a simplified motion, if the 
Commission were so inclined, would be to require that all establishments take down their outdoor dining 
walls and ceilings, comply with with outdoor dining standards, and comply with their outdoor cafe license 
agreements until September 10, 2021.  
 
In reply to Mayor Pro Tem Longe, PD Ecker said that while the potential compromise under discussion 
could technically be implemented, it would not necessarily be practical. She said that managing the 
temporary outdoor dining operations so far had already taken up an inordinate amount of time, and 
enforcement and work on getting establishments in compliance would increase. 
 
Chief Clemence noted that Staff considered hybrid options between letting the temporary outdoor dining 
standards expire and extending them, but that the consensus had been to let them expire. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Baller, CM Markus said that the City would likely give restauranteurs two weeks 
after whichever date the Commission approved to comply with a reversion to the previous outdoor dining 
standards. 
 
06-162-21 Motion to Extend the Meeting 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To extend the meeting for an additional 15 minutes plus the closed session. 
 
Commissioner Sherman confirmed that this motion would forestall another motion to extend. 
 



10  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Hoff 
            

 Nays, Commissioner Host  
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
 

06-163-21 Temporary COVID-19 Off-Season Outdoor Dining Standards 
Expiration Date (continued) 

 
In reply to Commissioner Nickita, PD Ecker confirmed that the Planning Board could begin crafting 
ordinance amendments to the outdoor dining standards after the upcoming joint Commission-Planning 
Board meeting.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe clarified that even with expedited work on the ordinance amendments they would 
not prevent the June 30, 2021 expiration of the temporary outdoor dining standards. 
 
Commissioner Host noted that if the State was no longer limiting indoor capacity starting July 1, 2021 that 
it was most appropriate to let the temporary outdoor dining standards expire then. 
 
Mayor Boutros said that Covid-19 was not yet over, and supported extending the temporary outdoor dining 
standards to September 10, 2021. He recommended that the Commission table the present discussion to 
their June 28, 2021 meeting and try to come up with a compromise motion similar to the potential one 
discussed by Commissioner Nickita and CA Kucharek. He said he would personally ensure that the 
necessary dialogues between restaurants and the City would occur to eliminate the mentioned areas of 
concern. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Sherman: 
To take no action. The current City resolution allowing Temporary  COVID-19 Off-Season Outdoor Dining 
Standards would expire on June 30, 2021. 
 
CM Markus stated for the Mayor Pro Tem that while the Commission could have additional discussion 
regarding this matter at its June 28, 2021 meeting, the Commission would have to give further direction 
to Staff in order to do more than that. 
 
Commissioner Baller recommended that the restaurateurs contact the City to propose a solution.  
 
Kara Bongiovanni stated that restaurant customers want to sit outside.  
 
Mr. Bloom said that ending the temporary outdoor dining standards would be more fair to Class C licensees. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Host  
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Hoff 
            

 Nays, Commissioner Nickita 



11  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

Mayor Boutros 
 

06-164-21 Postpone New Business Items D and E to Next Meeting 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Sherman: 
To postpone new business items D and E to the next meeting. 
 
Commissioner Host said postponing those items would be unfair to those in the audience who were in 
attendance to discuss them. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Hoff 
            

 Nays, Commissioner Host  
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
 

06-165-21 Closed Session 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commission Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Hoff: 
To meet in closed session to discuss a written Attorney/Client Privilege communication pursuant to MCL 
Sec. 15.268(h) of the Open Meetings Act regarding Birmingham Wine Shop, LLC, et al v City of Birmingham, 
et al; Oakland County Circuit  Court Case No. 2021-186823-AA, and to discuss pending litigation, pursuant 
to MCL Sec. 15.268(e) of the Open Meetings Act regarding Birmingham Wine Shop, LLC, et al v City of 
Birmingham, et al; Oakland County Circuit Court Case No. 2021-186823-AA and to meet in closed session 
to discuss a written Attorney/Client Privilege communication pursuant to MCL Sec. 15.268(h) of the Open 
Meetings Act. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
  Commissioner Host  

   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Hoff 
            

 Nays, None 
 
(A roll call vote is required and the vote must be approved by a 2/3 majority of the 
commission. The commission will adjourn to closed session after all other business has been 
addressed in open session and reconvene to open session, after the closed session, for 
purposes of taking formal action resulting from the closed session and for purposes of 
adjourning the meeting.) 
 
The Commission went into closed session at 10:26 p.m.  
 
The Commission reconvened into open session at 10:45 p.m. 
 



12  DRAFT - June 14, 2021 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 

1. Notice to appoint to the Retirement Board 
2. Notice to appoint to the Museum Board 
3. Notice to appoint to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 

B. Commissioner Comments 
1. Commissioner Hoff noted that the City would be returning to in-person Commission and 

Board meetings. 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. Return to In person City Commission & Board meetings, submitted by Fire Chief Wells 
 2. Public comment during City meetings, submitted by City Attorney Kucharek 

 
INFORMATION ONLY 

 
   

XI. ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Boutros adjourned the meeting at 10:45 p.m. 
 



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/16/2021

06/28/2021

PAPER CHECK

233.057UP DETROIT006965*279753

1,445.00ABSOLUTE EXHIBITSMISC279754

879.06AETNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH LLC007266*279755

3,675.00ALPHA PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES PC000161*279756

717.00JOBMATCH LLC DBA APPLICANTPRO008977*279757

4,788.00ARCHIVESOCIAL INC009260279758

158.73AT&T006759*279759

108.63AT&T006759*279760

361.13AT&T MOBILITY003703279761

24,637.99AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS INC004027*279762

900.00BELAGGIO HOMES INCMISC279764

100.00BIG BEAVER PLUMBING, HEATING INC.000522279765

328.93BLACK CLOVER ENTERPRISES LLC009286279766

4,050.00KAREN D. BOTA000546*279767

502.27BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526279768

70.00BRENT JACKSONMISC*279769

1,209.93BRIDGESTONE GOLF, INC006966279770

122.91JACQUELYN BRITO006953*279771

942.41CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907279772

412.44CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*279773

48,200.09CHEMICAL BANK009293*279774

49.52CINTAS CORPORATION000605279775

3,024.00COFINITY004026*279776

80.90COMCAST008955*279777

258.35COMCAST BUSINESS007774*279778

825.55CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO002668279779

2,344.00COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512279780

805.44CORE & MAIN LP008582279781

300.95DC DENTAL009170279782

173.75DE LAGE LANDEN FINANCIAL SVCS INC008005279783

66.21DELWOOD SUPPLY000177279784

152.10DENTEMAX, LLC006907279785

153.00DENTEMAX, LLC006907*279785

2,574.00R.L. DEPPMANN COMPANY006956*279786

23.00DOWNRIVER REFRIGERATION000190*279787

90.33DTE ENERGY000179*279788

1,352.56DTE ENERGY000179*279789

56.93DTE ENERGY000179*279790

95.08DTE ENERGY000179*279791

1,923.82DTE ENERGY000179*279792

453.53DTE ENERGY000179*279793

818.93DTE ENERGY000179*279794

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/16/2021

06/28/2021

83.68DTE ENERGY000179*279795

645.07DTE ENERGY000179*279796

34.33DTE ENERGY000179*279797

1,724.80EJ USA, INC.000196279798

100.00FIVE STAR PROPERTYMISC279799

1,901.71GORDON FOOD004604*279800

288.42GREAT LAKES COCA-COLA DISTRIBUTION009275279801

82.83GREGORY M RIFFLEMISC*279802

246.80GUARDIAN ALARM000249279803

1,813.88HARRELL'S LLC006346279804

212.90HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*279805

32.93HORNUNG'S PRO GOLF SALES INC001415279806

58.73JAMES HOCKMISC*279810

100.00JBE MANAGEMENT LLCMISC279811

200.00JOHN C COOK009249*279812

200.00KASTLER CONSTRUCTION  INCMISC279813

264.00KGM DISTRIBUTORS INC004088279814

500.00KILANO DESIGN & BUILDMISC279815

982.08KYLE KRAFT009287*279816

900.00LIBERMAN, KIRILLMISC279817

513.03LINDA WELLSMISC*279818

227.50LISA KNUDSONMISC279819

23,561.25MCKENNA ASSOCIATES INC000888279820

140.00MJ AWARDS001169279822

36.96MOHAMED F. CHAMMAA007744*279823

1,825.00MOSHER DOLANMISC279824

720.40NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY007755279826

1,149.10NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY007755*279826

395.70NIGHT FLYER GOLF007469279827

165.00NORTH BREATHING AIR, LLC008687279828

1,867.50NOVA ENVIRONMENTAL INC009292279829

806,461.20OAKLAND COUNTY000477*279830

1,297.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*279831

500.00P.K. CONTRACTING INC001325279832

500.00PELLA WINDOWS & DOORS, INC.MISC279833

494.04PEPSI COLA001753*279834

210.00PLANNING & ZONING NEWS001146279836

11,332.09PLANTE & MORAN CRESA, LLC008901279837

78.00PTS COMMUNICATIONS006625279838

1,308.92RED WING BUSINESS ADVANTAGE ACCT005379279839

279.98RED WING BUSINESS ADVANTAGE ACCT005379*279839

8,000.00RESERVE ACCOUNT005344*279840

211.75REYNOLDS WATER002566279841



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/16/2021

06/28/2021

100.00 RON AND ROMANMISC279842

70.00 RON DIXMISC*279843

100.00 ROOF ONE LLCMISC279844

200.00 RUMPLE, STEPHENMISC279845

25.00 JEFFREY SCAIFE007897*279846

437.28 SHERWIN-WILLIAMS COMPANY007142*279847

153.72 SHRED-IT USA004202*279848

2,206.96 SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY, INC008073*279849

501.25 SPARTAN DISTRIBUTORS INC000260279850

2,507.00 STAR BUILDERS INCMISC279851

680.00 STATE OF MICHIGAN002809279852

400.00 TECHHOME BUILDING CO., LLCMISC279853

701.00 TENNANT SALES & SVC CO000272279854

2,500.00 THOMAS SEBOLD & ASSOCIATES, INMISC279855

84.00 TIFFANY FLORIST003173*279856

150.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379279857

48.17 ULINE005806279858

3,199.43 ULINE005806*279859

34,741.78 UNEMPLOYMENT INS AGENCY005449*279860

125.90 VALLEY CITY LINEN007226279861

8,152.00 VANDYKE HORN PUBLIC RELATIONS LLC009177*279862

308.16 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*279863

151.89 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*279864

503.90 WEST SHORE FIRE INC001490279865

100.00 WILLOUGHBY, SARAH EMISC279866

100.00 WILSON, BRANDON JMISC279867

186.25 WINDOW PRO HOLDINGS LLCMISC279868

29,512.70 WJE-WISS, JANNEY, ELSTNER ASSOC.INC007620279869

346.75 WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS004512*279870

538.53 XEROX CORPORATION008391*279871

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $1,069,942.77

ACH TRANSACTION

47,168.22 ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*3850

34.98 ABEL ELECTRONICS INC002284*3851

630.83 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091263852

227.34 APOLLO FIRE APPRATUS REPAIR INC0086673853

73.75 APOLLO FIRE EQUIPMENT000282*3854

50.00 ART/DESIGN GROUP LTD001357*3855

36,813.25 BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*3856

125.80 BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*3857

20,150.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE0066833858

1,490.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE006683*3858

115.50 BLUE WATER INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INC000542*3859



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/16/2021

06/28/2021

540.00 CLUB PROPHET008044*3860

20,633.40 DETROIT SALT COMPANY000847*3861

111.44 EZELL SUPPLY CORPORATION000207*3862

149.01 FIRST CHOICE COFFEE SERV0061813863

16.73 GRAINGER000243*3864

3,486.50 GREAT LAKES TURF, LLC0038703865

131.00 J.C. EHRLICH CO. INC.007870*3866

165.00 KELLER THOMA000891*3867

1,366.00 KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*3868

9,700.00 LOGICALIS INC008158*3870

129.72 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE000377*3871

25.00 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*3872

462.00 PENCHURA, LLC006027*3873

1,136.00 SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*3874

180,370.14 SOCWA001097*3875

32,774.54 SYMETRA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY004355*3876

500.00 TRANSPARENT WINDOW CLEANING004692*3877

1,648.67 WM. CROOK FIRE PROTECTION CO.0020883878

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $360,224.82

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $1,430,167.59



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/23/2021

06/28/2021

PAPER CHECK

100.00ALBAN IVEZAJMISC279872

100.00CAPRI CONSTRUCTION CORP.MISC279873

13.50CHRISTOPHER DEMAN006999*279874

15.00BRIAN FREELS007289*279875

750.00HOUR MEDIA LLC001040279876

25.00CHRISTOPHER JUDKINS007244*279877

261.10RYAN KEARNEY005465279878

244.78KENNETH PIERCEMISC*279879

200.00MEAGAN KAWAMISC*279880

40.00NEAL MARC ALPINERMISC279881

5,326.88OAKLAND COUNTY WATER DEPARTMENT008214279882

160.00OCAAO001484*279883

400.00RAFT003447279884

6,900.00RIVERSIDE HOMES LLCMISC279885

230.77ROGER MARCHETTIMISC279886

1.55JEFFREY SCAIFE007897*279887

100.00SHERRIFF-GOSLIN CO.MISC279888

14.78STERLING DEVELOPMENT CORPMISC279889

100.00THE HOUSEWAY COMISC279890

1,306.00ADVANCED MARKETING PARTNERS INC005686279891

165.00AERO FILTER INC000394279892

244.79AIRGAS USA, LLC003708279893

2,018.42ALLIED INC001000*279894

725.00ALPHA PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES PC000161*279895

464.00JOBMATCH LLC DBA APPLICANTPRO008977*279896

992.90ARSENAL POWERSPORTS LLC009290279897

221.15AT&T006759*279898

108.63AT&T006759*279899

345.53AT&T MOBILITY003703*279900

87.94BALL EQUIPMENT008059279902

300.00MATTHEW J. BARTALINO003839*279903

100.00BCM HOME IMPROVEMENTMISC279904

872.25BIO SYSTEMS, INC.007540*279905

1,010.65BISKUP, ROBERT & MAUREENMISC279907

100.00BOA CONSTRUCTIONMISC279908

138.74BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526279909

5,400.00BRIXNSTONE LLC007772279910

6,502.41CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907279911

200.00CAPALDI BUILDERSMISC279912

28,000.00CARTEGRAPH009083*279913

2,330.24CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*279914

227.94CINTAS CORPORATION000605279915

5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/23/2021

06/28/2021

583.42CLARKSTON ANIMAL MEDICAL CENTER009194279916

1,325.37CLEAR RATE COMMUNICATIONS, INC008006*279917

6,510.00CLEARVIEW CAPTIONING LLC009187279918

2,000.00CLEARY, CARLA JMISC*279919

1,256.11CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*279920

1,000.12CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO002668279921

381.60CONTRACTORS CONNECTION INC001367279922

242.00CYNERGY PRODUCTS004386279923

162.05DC DENTAL009170279924

32.39DTE ENERGY000179*279925

46,746.53DTE ENERGY000180*279926

965.44ELDER FORD004671279927

470.00ETNA SUPPLY001495279929

204.44FALCON ASPHALT REPAIR EQUIPMENT008495279930

30.99FEDEX000936279931

290.96FIRE DEFENSE EQUIP CO INC000213279933

309.96FIRE DEFENSE EQUIP CO INC000213*279933

45.00FIRST ADVANTAGE OCCUPATIONAL007366*279934

210.96GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SERVICES, IN006384279935

1,912.79GOLLING CHRYSLER JEEP DODGE INC002532279936

247.92GRAINGER008293279937

258.87HALT FIRE INC001447279939

101.91HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*279940

1,208.24JACK TODD- PETTY CASHMISC*279945

769.46JERRY'S TIRE INC008564279946

100.00KARBAL, ALANAMISC279947

677.20CHRISTOPHER KOCH002659*279948

100.00LEMAN ADEL AUSIMISC279949

1,434.75MARC DUTTON IRRIGATION INC002648279951

3,000.00MARY BOESONMISC*279952

250.00MARYKO HOSPITALITY LLCMISC279953

700.00MICHAEL MORRISON009200279954

766.60MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230279956

1,754.12MOBILE HEALTH RESOURCES007163279957

2,126.20MULTISTATE TRANSMISSIONS002010279958

4,350.00NEWTONS SOLUTIONS LLC009276279960

206,832.98OAKLAND COUNTY000477*279961

872.42OBSERVER & ECCENTRIC003461*279962

52.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*279963

2,920.92OFFICE DEPOT INC000481*279964

39,001.25OHM ADVISORS INC008669279965

408.91KEVIN ONG008785*279966

4,850.08P.K. CONTRACTING INC001325279968



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/23/2021

06/28/2021

195.00 PITNEY BOWES INC002518279970

7,770.47 POCO SALES, INC009087279971

1,986.86 POSTMASTER000801*279972

895.00 POWER HOME SOLARMISC279973

200.00 RICHARD WEINGARTNERMISC279974

62.50 RUFFNER 1487 LLCMISC279976

26.86 SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*279977

200.00 SET IN STONE HOME IMPROVEMENT LLCMISC279978

14,576.94 SIGNATURE CLEANING LLC009009*279979

94.40 SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY, INC008073*279980

54,257.97 SP+ CORPORATION007907279982

4,244.90 STRYKER SALES CORPORATION004544279983

144.92 SUBURBAN BUICK GMC INC000256279984

565.80 TARGET SPECIALTY PRODUCTS000286*279985

1,517.65 TECHSEVEN COMPANY008748279986

562.50 TELEFLEX LLC007586279987

242.52 TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275279988

55.41 UPTOWN MARKET OF BIRMINGHAM008941279989

152.00 VANDYKE HORN PUBLIC RELATIONS LLC009177*279990

49.31 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*279991

200.00 WEINTRAUB, DAVIDMISC279993

869.35 WINDSTREAM005794*279995

691.87 WOLVERINE005112279996

100.64 XEROX CORPORATION008391*279997

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $493,971.78

ACH TRANSACTION

67,716.17 ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*3879

2,380.46 ABEL ELECTRONICS INC002284*3880

22,533.50 ADVANCED LIGHTING & SOUND0038583881

55.18 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091263882

19.99 BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*3884

1,075.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE0066833885

250.00 BOB ADAMS TOWING0091833886

120.00 CANFIELD EQUIPMENT SERVICE INC.0078753887

643.00 CROWN CASTLE FIBER LLC0091953888

2,681.00 EZELL SUPPLY CORPORATION000207*3889

179.80 FOUR SEASON RADIATOR SERVICE INC0002173890

16,388.63 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002613892

212.00 JAX KAR WASH002576*3893

583.77 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*3894

340.34 KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*3896

2,495.68 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*3897

870.00 NEXT007856*3898



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

06/23/2021

06/28/2021

418.95 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*3899

3,605.75 ROAD COMM FOR OAKLAND CO000478*3900

145.00 ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*3901

68,287.00 SOCRRA0002543902

75.00 SOCRRA000254*3902

28,615.00 SYMETRA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY004355*3903

5,720.00 TRANSPARENT WINDOW CLEANING004692*3904

775.00 WM. CROOK FIRE PROTECTION CO.0020883905

2,210.00 WM. CROOK FIRE PROTECTION CO.002088*3905

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $228,396.22

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $722,368.00



MEMORANDUM 

"- Finance Department 

DATE: June 22, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Gerber, Director of Finance/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: Next 2021-2022 Service Agreement 

INTRODUCTION: 

The City contracts with outside agencies which provide services that benefit the community and 
are not provided by City operations. These contracts are reviewed on an annual basis along 
with a description of services to be provided in the next fiscal year and a summary of services 
provided in the current fiscal year. 

BACKGROUND: 

The City Commission previously approved a master service agreement to be used by various 
outside agencies that are requesting and have previously received funding from the City. Next 
has completed the required agreement and Attachments A and B, which provides a description 
of the services to be provided and the direct benefit of their services to the City and how the 
money is being spent in the current fiscal year. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 

The City attorney has reviewed and approved the contract with Next. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Next is requesting funding totaling $122,940 for fiscal year 2021-2022. This is an increase of 
$2,560, or 2.1 %, in funding from fiscal year 2020-2021. Funding has been approved in the fiscal 
year 2021-2022 budget in account 101-299.000-811.0000 for this expenditure. 

SUMMARY: 

Based on the services that Next provides and the direct benefit to the City, it is recommended 
that the City Commission approve Next's funding request in the amount of $122,940. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Contract with Next for fiscal year 2021-2022
2. Attachment A - Summary of Services to be Provided - Fiscal Year 2021-2022
3. Attachment B - Summary of Services Provided - Fiscal Year 2020-2021

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the service agreement with Next in the amount of $122,940 for services described in 
Attachment A of the agreement for fiscal year 2021-2022, account number 101-299.000-
811.0000, and further direct the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the 
City. 

1 

5E



SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT C'Agreement'1, made this 21_ day of -fUf)e.., I 2021 

by and between the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, having its principal office at 151 Martin Road, 

Birmingham, MI 48009 ("CITY"), and i) ~'i( . whose address is 

-Z.JZJ i\J1ffi)(J.\e131( ~ 4i/t0 ("SERVICE PROVIDER"), provides as follows: 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to have certain services provided, which shall be of the type, 

nature and extent as set forth on Attachment A; and 

WHEREAS, SERVICE PROVIDER desires to provide said services for the CITY, which it shall 

do in accordance with the experience it has attained from providing similar services of this nature, 

under the terms and conditions hereinafter stated. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the respective agreements and undertakings 

herein contained, the parties agree as follows: 

1. SERVICE PROVIDER shall perform the services as set forth on Attachment A. The type, 

nature and scope may be changed if mutually agreed upon in writing by SERVICE PROVIDER and the 

CITY. 

2. The QTY shall pay a total of $122,940 to SERVICE PROVIDER for the performance of 

this Agreement, which amount shall compensate SERVICE PROVIDER for all aspects of the services to 

be performed including, but not limited to, all preparation, coordination, management, staffing and all 

other services incidental thereto. Payment shall be made to SERVICE PROVIDER pursuant to the 

schedule contained in Attachment A. 

3. All services performed shall be of the highest quality and standards that meet or exceed 

that which is required and expected in that service industry. 



coorama1:1on UI :,c::r Vll..t::J f.JI uv1uc:u, ¥YI IV .;,, IUII , , ... , , .... , .... I"'"--·-·,, --· ... . ., ... 

CITY. 

5. This Agreement shall commence immediately after both parties have signed in the place 

and manner indicated below and shall terminate in accordance with the provisions as set forth in 

Attachment A. 

6. This Agreement shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan. SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to perform all services 

provided for in this Agreement in accordance with and in full compliance with all local, state and federal 

laws and regulations. 

7. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 

provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other provisions shall remain in full force and 

effect. 

8. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, 

but no such assignment shall be made by SERVICE PROVIDER without the prior written consent of the 

CITY. Any attempt at assignment without prior written consent shall be void and of no effect. 

9. SERVICE PROVIDER agrees that neither it nor its employees will discriminate against 

any employee, independent contractor, or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, 

terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment 

because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital status. SERVICE 

PROVIDER shall inform the CITY of all claims or suits asserted against it by SERVICE PROVIDER's 

employees or contractors who work pursuant to this Agreement. SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide 

the CITY with periodic status reports concerning all such claims or suits, at intervals established by 

the CITY. 

·2-



10. To the fullest extent permitted by law, SERVICE PROVIDER and any entity or person 

for whom SERVICE PROVIDER is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay 

on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the CITY, its elected and appointed officials, employees 

and volunteers and others working on behalf of the CITY against any and all claims, demands, suits, 

or loss, including all costs connected therewith, including reasonable attorney fees, and for any 

damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the CITY, its elected and 

appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY, which arises out 

of or is in any way connected or associated with this Agreement. Such responsibility shall not be 

construed as liability for damage caused by or resulting solely from the act or omission of the CITY, 

its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY. 

11. SERVICE PROVIDER shall not commence work under this Agreement until it has, at its 

sole expense, obtained the insurance required by this paragraph. All certificates of insurance shall be 

with insurance carriers licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Michigan. All certificates 

of insurance shall be with insurance carriers acceptable to the CITY. SERVICE PROVIDER shall 

maintain during the life of this Agreement the types of insurance coverage and minimum limits as set 

forth below: 

A. Workers' Compensation Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and 
maintain during the life of this contract, Workers' Compensation Insurance, 
including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable 
statutes of the State of Michigan. 

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and 
maintain during the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability 
Insurance on an "Occurrence Basis" with limits of liability not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence for combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily 
Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall include the following extensions: 
(A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; (C) 
Independent Contractors Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability 
Extensions or equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and 
Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if applicable. 

-3-



C. Motor Vehicle Liability: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and maintain during 
the life of this Agreement Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including all 
applicable no-fault coverages, with limits of liability of not less than $ 1,000,000 
per occurrence combined single limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage. 
Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehides, and all hired 
vehicles. 

D. Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability 
Insurance, as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the 
following shall be Additional Insureds. The City of Birmingham, including all 
elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, 
commissions and/or authorities and board members, including employees and 
volunteers thereof. This coverage shall be primary and any other insurance 
maintained by the additional insureds shall be considered to be excess and 
non-contributing with this insurance required from SERVICE PROVIDER under 
this Section. 

E. cancellation Notice: Workers' Compensation Insurance, Commercial General 
Liability Insurance and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, as described above, 
shall include an endorsement stating the following: ''Thirty (30) days Advance 
Written Notice of cancellation or Non-Renewal shall be sent to: Finance 
Department, City of Birmingham, P.O. Box 3001, 151 Martin Street, 
Birmingham, Michigan 48012. 

F. Proof of Insurance Coverage: SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide the CITY at 
the time the contracts are returned for execution, Certificates of Insurance 
and/or policies, acceptable to the CITY, as listed below. 

1. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Workers' Compensation; 

2. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Commercial General 
Liability; 

3. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Vehicle Liability 
Insurance; 

4. If so requested, Certified Copies of all policies mentioned above will be 
furnished. 

G. Coverage Expiration: If any of the above coverages expire during the term of 
this Agreement, SERVICE PROVIDER shall deliver renewal certificates and/or 
policies to the CITY at least (10) days prior to the expiration date. 

12. If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any official of the CITY or spouse, child, 

parent or in-law, of such official or employee shall become directly or indirectly interested in this 

-4-



Agreement, or the affairs of SERVICE PROVIDER, the CITY shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement without further liability to SERVICE PROVIDER if the disqualification has not been removed 

within thirty (30) days after the CITY has given SERVICE PROVIDER notice of the disqualifying interest. 

Ownership of less than one percent (1 %) of the stock or other equity interest in a corporation or 

partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest. Employment shall be a disqualifying interest. 

13. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach 

thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 48th 

District Court or by arbitration. If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by arbitration, it 

shall be settled pursuant to Chapter SO of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan and 

administered by the American Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being used, or three 

arbitrators in the event any party's claim exceeds $1,000,000. Each party shall bear its own costs and 

expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator's and administrative fees of arbitration. Such arbitration 

shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursuant to MCL §600.5001 et. seq., and the Oakland County 

Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall render judgment upon the award of the arbitrator 

made pursuant to this Agreement. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Michigan and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan. In the event that the 

parties elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may be 

resolved by the filing of a suit in the Oakland County Circuit Court or the 48th District Court. 

14. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto pertaining 

to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 

understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, of the parties, except as 

specifically set forth herein. No supplement, modification, addition, deletion or waiver of this 

Agreement or any provision of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by both 

parties to be bound thereby. 

-5-



15. SERVICE PROVIDER and the CITY agree that SERVICE PROVIDER shall be liable for its 

own actions and neither SERVICE PROVIDER nor its employees or contractors shall be construed as 

employees of the CITY. Neither party, by virtue of this Agreement, shall have any right, power or 

authority to act or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other party, except as 

specifically outlined herein. SERVICE PROVIDER, including its employees and contractors, shall not 

be considered entitled or eligible to participate in any benefits or privileges given or extended by the 

CITY, or be deemed an employee of the CITY for purposes of federal or state withholding taxes, FICA 

taxes, unemployment, workers' compensation and other employer contributions on behalf of SERVICE 

PROVIDER or SERVICE PROVIDER's employees or contractors. 

16. SERVICE PROVIDER acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this 

Agreement, certain confidential and/or proprietary information (including, but not limited to, internal 

organization, methodology, personnel and financial information, etc.) may become involved. SERVICE 

PROVIDER recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such confidential or proprietary information could 

irreparably damage the CITY. Therefore, the SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to use reasonable care to 

safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to prevent the unauthorized use or 

disclosure thereof. SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform its employees and contractors of the confidential 

or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access thereto to employees rendering services 

pursuant to this Agreement. SERVICE PROVIDER further agrees to use such confidential or proprietary 

information only for the purpose of performing services pursuant to this Agreement. 

The said parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date and year above 

written. 

-6-



APPROVED: 

r erber, Director of Finance 
(Approved as to financial obligation) 

----

-7-

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

By:------------
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

By: ___________ _ 

Alex Bingham, City Clerk 

[SERVICE PROVIDER] 

By: l~~~&-D..44-} 
Its: _\ic=....;.t;;...__\.t...c..-f-____ _ 



ATTACHMENT A 

I. Name of Organization: Next, Your Place to Stay Active & Connected 

II. Funding Request: $122,944.00 

III. Amount of funding received from City in current fiscal year: $122,944.00 

JV. Organization's Purpose or Mission: 
The mission of Next, is to identify and meet the needs of older adults by soliciting and 

coordinating community resources to provide educational recreational and social programs; 
support outreach searches; and volunteer opportunities. 

V. Description of Services to be provided (Scope of Work): 
Extensive quality programming for community residents to include lifelong learning and 

wellness, fitness, creative arts and social enrichment. In addition, Next provides comprehensive 
support services to assist residents who need additional support to age in place. This might 
include but not limited to Meals on Wheels, transportation, free tax preparation, health 
screenings and legal assistance, low income assistance with home and yard maintenance, home 
loans for major repairs along with information and referrals. 

VI. Explain the value of the services to the City of Birmingham: 
As Birmingham's aging population continues rapidly grow, Next provides vital enrichment 

opportunities while supporting independence to area residents. Strong communities are built 
and sustained when there is a diverse population of engaged citizens. A partnership between 
the city and Next is important to provide a wide variety of high quality activities, and supportive 
services to Birmingham residents in order to live comfortably in the City. 

VII. Provide a list of the other funding sources: (List below. Attach additional sheet if necessary.) 

Facility use, in-kind donation Birmingham Public Schools 36% of Next operating budget, 
additional sources of revenue as part of the operating budget: business donations 11 %, 
transportation 10%, fundraisers 8% program fees 7%, membership dues 5% of the Next 
operating budget. 

VIII. Provide a detailed list of services provided in the 2020-2021 Fiscal Year (July 1, 2020 

- June 30, 2021). Include the following for each quarter: 

Date & Timeframe of each service provided 

• Explanation of the service provided 

• Number of Birmingham residents in attendance/effected by service 

• Explanation of how the funds were used 

(Use Attachment B to record the services. Attach additional sheets if necessary.) 

1 



NOTE: Organizations receiving funding are required to provide invoices to the City for services 
coinciding with the timing of the delivery of those services. 

Date: _& ____ /_zz__._-/_~_i __ 

2 



Name of Organization: .....,N=-!...C:e=x:e.:::.:t _______ _____ _____ _ ATTACHMENT B 

First Quarter (July 1, 2020 - September 30, 2020) 

Date of Duration of Explain the services provided Number of Birmingham Breakdown of 
Service Service residents in attendance funds used for 

(timeframe) or affected by the service Proaram/Service 
7/1-9/30 2020 !On going ~ransportation to area doctors, hospitals, grocery stores, 200 rides given to Binningham $1,200 

!Next, etc residents 
7/1-9/30 2020 On going Meals delivered to homes 1800 meals delivered to Binningham $1,582 

!residents 
7/1-9/30 2020 Pn going butreach support to area residents 2695 units of service to Birmingham $11.124 

esidents 
7 /1-9/30 2020 !On going Programs- In house: weekly speakers, daily fitness and ~000 plus members- over 750 from $21,875 

!creative art classes, health education classes, enrichment Birmingham 
and social opportunities 

Second Quarter (October 1, 2020- December 31, 2020) 

Date of Duration of Explain the services provided Number of Birmingham Breakdown of 
Service Service residents in attendance funds used for 

(timeframe) or affected by the service Program/Service 
10/1-12/30 2020 On going Transportation to area doctors, hospitals, grocery stores, 1200 rides given to Binningham $1,200 

Next, etc residents 
10/1-12/30 2020 On going Meals delivered to homes 1800 meals delivered Birmingham $1,582 

residents 
10/1-12/30 2020 On going Outreach support to area residents t2695units of service to Birmingham $11,124 

iresidents 
10/1-12/30 2020 On going Programs- In house: weekly speakers, daily fitness and 2000 plus members- over 750 from $21,875 

creative art classes, health education classes, enrichment Birmingham 
~nd social opportunities 



Date of 
Service 

1/1-3/31 
2020 
1/1/-3/31 
2020 
1/1-3/31 
2020 
l/1-3/31 
2020 

Date of 
Service 

4/1-6/30 
2020 
~/1-6/30 
~020 
~/1-6/30 
2020 
4/1-6/30 
2020 

Name of Organization: ~N'---'---'e=-=x=t-=----- ---------- - - --
Third Quarter (January 1, 2021- March 31, 2021) 

Duration of Explain the services provided Number of Birmingham 
Service residents in attendance 

(timeframe) or affected by the service 
On going ffransportation to area doctors, hospitals, grocery stores, 200 rides given to Binningham 

Next, etc residents 

On going Meals delivered to homes 1800 meals delivered to Binningham 
residents 

On going Outreach support to area residents 2695 units of service to Birmingham 
residents 

On going Programs- In house: weekly speakers, daily fitness and 2000 plus members- over 750 from 
creative art classes, health education classes, enrichment Birmingham 
and social opportunities 

Fourth Quarter (April 1, 2021 - June 30, 2021) 

Duration of Explain the services provided Number of Birmingham 
Service residents in attendance 

(timeframe) or affected by the service 
bn going Transportation to area doctors, hospitals, grocery stores, 200 rides given to Binningham 

Next, etc esidents 
On going Meals delivered to homes 1800 meals delivered to Birmingham 

residents 
On going Outreach support to area residents t2,695 units of service to Birmingham 

residents 
On going Programs- In house: weekly speakers, daily fitness and 2000 plus members- over 750 from 

creative art classes, health education classes, enrichment Birmingham 
and social opportunities 

ATTACHMENT B 

Breakdown of 
funds used for 
Proaram/Service 

$1,200 

$1,582 

$11,124 

$21,875 

Breakdown of 
funds used for 
Program/Service 

$1,200 

$1,582 

$11 ,124 

$21,875 



____., BIRMARE-01 I IOLLIFF 

ACORD-
CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE I DATE IMMIDD/YYYYI 

~ 11/17/2020 
THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BYTHEPOLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. 

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDmONAL INSURED, the pollcy(les) must have ADDmONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on 
this certificate does not confer rlahts to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s). 

PRODUCER S91i~CT Megan Fischer 
Hershey Insurance Group, Inc. rilJ8,NJo, Ell): I FAX 
2855 Coolldge Highway lfllC,Nol: 

Ste 204 i~i.~r, meganf@hlgml.com 
Troy, Ml 48084 

INSURERISl AFFORDING COVERAGE NAICII 

1NSURAA A : Philadelohla Insurance Co. 18058 
INSURED INSURER a : Citizens Insurance Comoanv of America 31534 

Birmingham Area Seniors Coordinating Council dba NEXT INSUR"" C : 

2121 Mldvale Street. INSURERD: 
Birmingham, Ml 48009 

INSURER E: 

INSURERF: 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER· REVISION NUMBER· 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACTOR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDmONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID Cl.AIMS. 

•~,: TYPE OF INSURANCE 

A X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY ,__CJ CLAIMS-MADE []] OCCUR 

X Prof $1Mil/$2Mil 
X Abuse$500k/$500K ,__ 

'L AGGR~ LIMIT AP,E!J!;S PER: 

POUCYLJ ~~ LJ LOC 

OTHER· 

A AUTOMOBILE IJABILITY 

X ANYAUTO = ~~'§'ONLY 

~ ~IWifs ONLY 

- SCHEDULED 
_ AUTOS 

..!. ~8ib~M~ 

A X UMBRB.LA UAB ~ OCCUR 

- EXCESS LIAB n CLAIMs-MAOE 

OED I XI RETENTION$ 10,000 
8 WORXeRSCOMPENSATION 

AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILllY 
YIN 

ANY PROPRIETORll'ARTNERIEXECUTIVE • 
Rff.\a;~:,;~:;i~m EXCLUOEO? 

ii~:trt~ 'iW6oPERATIONS bolow 

1~f.rn-~ POUCY NUMBER POUCYEFF 

X PHPK2201941 11/1/2020 

X PHPK2201941 11/1/2020 

PHUB744949 11/1/2020 

~2B7925648 1/9/2020 
NIA 

POUCYEXP LIMITS 

EACH OCCURRENCE 1,000,000 

11/1/2021 $ 1,000,000 

MED EXP IAnv one .-son\ 5 20,000 

PER!':ONAL & A• V INJURY $ 1,000,000 

GENERAi AG"'R"AATE 2,000,000 

P"'"'11CTS • COMF'/OP AGG S 2,000,000 

s 
\;_OMB!,N~~.,SINGLE LIMIT 

$ 1,000,000 

11/1/2021 BOOILY JNJURY IPer oe,.onl I 

BODILY INJURY IPer acdllen0 s 

EACH OCCURRENCE 4,000,000 
11/1/2021 AGGREGATE 4,000,000 

x I ~~UTE I I 2JH· 
1/9/2021 E.L EACH ACCIDENT 500,000 

E L DJ$1'A<:E • EA EMPI OYE{ S 500,000 

E. L DISEASE • POLICY LIMIT S 500, 000 

DESCR.IPTION OF OPERAT10NS I lOCATlONS t VEMICLES (I\COflD 101, Add!Honal Rtnwu1ca Schtclult, m•yM atttchod If m°"' •nee It ,wqullwd) 
The City of Binn Ingham, Including all elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, 111 boards, commissions and/or authorities and board 
members, including employees and volunteers thereof. This coverage shall ba primary and any other Insurance maintained by the additional lnaureds shall be 
considered to be excess and non-contributing. 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 

City of Birmingham TliE EXPIRATION DATE TliEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 

P.O. Box 3001 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS. 

Birmingham, Ml 48012 
I\UTHORIZl:D R.EPRESENTATIVE 

I ~u~~QIA--
ACORD 25 (2016/03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 

The ACORD name and logo are registered manes of ACORD 



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE: June 11, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: Purchase of Two Toro 3555-D Fairway Mowers – Golf Courses 

INTRODUCTION:  
The Department of Public Services (DPS) is requesting the Purchase of two (2) Toro 3555-D 
fairway mowers to replace two (2) Toro 5410-D fairway mowers at Lincoln Hills and Springdale 
Golf Courses.  These two (2) new mowers will replace the two (2) mowers #172 and #195 
purchased in 2013 that have surpassed their useful life of eight (8) years. 

BACKGROUND: 
These mowers are used to mow fairways at both courses on average of three (3) times per week. 
They are essential for the day-to-day operations of both golf courses. They will be purchased for 
a unit price of $53,958.78 from Spartan Distributors, for a total of $107,917.56. 

The Department of Public Services is requesting the purchase of two (2) Toro 3555-D fairway 
mowers to replace two (2) Toro 5410-D fairway mowers at Lincoln Hills golf course and Springdale 
golf course.  We have reviewed the condition of the existing mowers and determined they need 
replacement due to the age of the mowers, the rising costs that come with repairing older 
mowers, and the diminished condition of the mowers.  We have observed a significant loss of 
power with the mowers, resulting in them not being able to perform the tasks we need them to 
perform. 

These two mowers are identified for replacement and listed in the 2020-2021 Vehicle/Equipment 
Replacement Schedule, as part of the FY 2020-2021 budget.  

LEGAL REVIEW: 
This item does not require legal review. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The State of Michigan extended purchasing contract #071B0200329 is available for the two (2) 
Toro 3555-D fairway mowers.  Spartan Distributors is the exclusive dealer for this contract.  Funds 
for this purchase are available in the Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006-971.0100 in 
the amount of $107,917.56 and included in the 2020-2021 budget.  The existing mowers will be 
traded in to Spartan Distributors for $6,500 each, for a total of $13,000.00. The trade in value 
will be deducted from the final invoice from Spartan Distributors for a total amount of $94,917.56. 

5F



2 
 
 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
This does not apply for this purchase. 
 
SUMMARY 
Due to the age, condition and performance, the Department of Public Services recommends the 
purchase of two (2) Toro 3555-D fairway mowers to replace two (2) Toro 5410-D fairway mowers 
at Lincoln Hills Golf Course and Springdale Golf Course.  The total cost for this purchase is 
$107,917.56. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
There are no attachments included with this report. 

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the purchase of two (2) Toro 3555-D fairway mowers from Spartan Distributors, 
through State of Michigan extendable purchasing contract #071B0200329 at a cost of 
$107,917.56 less the trade in amount of $13,000 for a total expenditure of $94,917.56.  Funds 
for this purchase are available in the Auto Equipment Fund account # 641-441.006-971.0100. 



MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE: June 18, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: 2021 OAKSTEM Oakland County Tree Grant Application 

INTRODUCTION: 
Oakland County has introduced the 2021 OAKSTEM (Oakland County Street Tree Enhancement 
Match) Grant Program to decrease impervious surface area and increase the tree canopy in 
communities that make up the George W. Kuhn (GWK) Drainage District – Birmingham included.  
This grant currently allocates $12,089 to Birmingham, with the potential for more depending on 
how many communities choose to apply.  Communities must have an approved resolution by 
their governing body in order to apply, agreeing to enter a Cost Participation Agreement with 
Oakland County.  A sample agreement is attached for reference, and the deadline to apply is July 
30, 2021. 

BACKGROUND: 
The Department of Public Service (DPS) conducts semi-annual tree plantings every spring and 
fall, and currently have $50,000 budgeted for each planting.  We would be able to supplement, 
and likely expand, our Spring 2022 tree purchase and planting program with these funds.  Grant 
funding would be matched and applied strictly for the purchase of the trees and the 2-year 
warranty only, with the remainder of the budgeted money spent on installation labor and 
additional material (mulch, stakes, etc.).  DPS contracts out the purchase, delivery and installation 
of these semi-annual plantings. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney’s Office will be included with the review of the OAKSTEM Agreement during this 
process. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
This grant would potentially award Birmingham with up to $15,000, which we would use to 
supplement (and likely expand) our street tree planting in Spring 2022. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 
All mediums of communication will be available to the City of Birmingham to announce the 2021 
OAKSTEM grant program award to the members of the community. 

5G



 
SUMMARY: 
The Department of Public Services recommends approving Birmingham’s participation in the 
Program, by authorizing our application and the Director of Public Services to sign on the City of 
Birmingham’s behalf to enter a Cost Participation Agreement with Oakland County, for an amount 
not to exceed $15,000, for planting street trees in Spring 2022. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 OAKSTEM 2021 Grant Pilot Program Application Guide 
 OAKSTEM 2021 Cost Participation Agreement Draft 

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
The Department of Public Services recommends approving the Cost Participation Agreement with 
Oakland County for the City of Birmingham to participate in the 2021 OAKSTEM Program.  Further, 
to authorize the Director of Public Services to sign on behalf of the City of Birmingham the Cost 
Participation Agreement with Oakland County, for an amount not to exceed $15,000, for planting 
street trees in Spring 2022. 



Program Overview

OAKSTEM
Oakland County Street Tree 
Enhancement Match 
Grant Program

2021 APPLICATION GUIDE

The purpose of the OAKSTEM 2021 Grant Pilot Program  is to 
decrease impervious surface area and increase the tree canopy 
in communities that make up the George W. Kuhn (GWK) Drainage 
District.

The GWK Drainage District has among the highest percentage of 
impervious surface area in the County (49.2%) and the OAKSTEM 
program is intended to encourage GWK communities to either begin, 
or continue and expand, their public street tree planting program(s).

Communities can apply for this grant to supplement tree planting 
projects that occur during the fall 2021 or spring 2022 planting seasons.

OAKSTEM 2021 is a matching grant program for the 14 eligible 
communities in partnership with:

• Oakland County Department of Water Resources,  
George W. Kuhn Drainage District

• Oakland County Board of Commissioners
• Oakland County Department of Economic Development

Key Dates
Mid-June 2021 (anticipated)
Eligible communities will 
receive a unique link to an 
online application

July 30, 2021
Deadline for applying

June 30, 2022
Last day to submit final report 
for reimbursement funds

Questions? Contact: 
Oakland County Department of 
Economic Development

Jim Schafer 
schaferj@oakgov.com
(248) 285-2321

Mike Woods
woodsmp@oakgov.com
(248) 762-6395

 



Grant Funding Criteria & Eligibility
Limited matching funds will be distributed as reimbursement for costs 
expended among qualifying GWK Communities with approved OAKSTEM 
2021 Program Applications for specific, targeted street tree planting 
projects on public road rights of way (ROW) that are under their jurisdiction 
or on public road ROW directly adjacent to land publicly owned by the 
GWK Communities.

Funding shall be utilized to supplement and enhance GWK Community 
street tree plantings only. Funding is not intended for previously planted 
street trees, to replace existing budgeted street tree planting programs or to 
replace funding already committed to street tree plantings.

Funding Sources

Oakland County Department of Economic Development $100,000

Oakland County Department of Water Resources,
George W. Kuhn Drainage District

$50,000

Oakland County Board of Commissioners $50,000

Participating GWK District Communities
1 to 1 Match 
Requirement

 
Eligible and Non-Eligible Expenses
Participating communities are required to provide a 1 to 1 match of their 
awarded grant amount. The match calculation consists of the cost for 
the purchase and warranty of street trees only.  Administration expenses, 
engineering, maintenance, planting and inspection costs will not count 
toward match. 

Communities can apply for this grant to supplement tree planting projects 
that occur during the fall 2021 or spring 2022 planting seasons.

The trees must be purchased on or after the execution date of the Cost 
Participation Agreement and a final report with documentation must 
be received by the County on or before June 30, 2022 in order for the 
Community to be reimbursed.

The OAKSTEM 2021 Grant Program will be administered by the 
Oakland County Department of Economic Development.  This 
program is intended to increase the tree canopy and decrease 
the detrimental impervious surface impacts, including flooding, 
erosion and the urban heat island effect.  Trees help soak up 
water and slow the rate of water moving across the land’s 
surface—improving water quality, increasing green infrastructure 
and reducing traditional infrastructure needs and costs.     

Eligible Cities Villages and 
Townships (CVTs)
The following 14 Oakland County 
CVTs (whole or part) make up the 
GWK Drainage District and are 
eligible to participate:

• Berkley
• Beverly Hills (part)
• Birmingham (part)
• Clawson
• Ferndale
• Hazel Park
• Huntington Woods
• Madison Heights
• Oak Park
• Pleasant Ridge
• Royal Oak
• Royal Oak Township
• Southfield (part)
• Troy (part)



Base Funding Allocations for Eligible CVTs
To establish the OAKSTEM 2021 Program Base Funding Allocation, it is 
anticipated that all fourteen (14) eligible CVTs will apply for a grant.

Calculations for base funding allocation for eligible CVTs began with a total 
budget of $200,000 and are based on three factors:

• 60% based on all eligible CVTs participating in the Program
• 30% based on an estimate of the CVT eligible road miles
• 10% based on an estimate of the CVT impervious surface area

The Base Funding Allocation Table (below) contains the base funding amounts 
available for each eligible CVT.

CVTs are not required to request their full base funding allocation amount.

It is anticipated that some CVTs may not participate, so additional funding may 
be available.

CVTs are encouraged to request additional program funding over their base 
funding allocation amount and demonstrate the available matching funds. 
Oakland County may re-allocate these additional funds based on availability 
and CVT match capacity.

Determinations on grant award amounts (greater than the base funding allocation, 
if any) will be made after all applications have been received and reviewed.

TOTAL BUDGET: $200,000

Factor Factor 1:
Participation

Factor 2: Eligible
Road Miles

Factor 3:
Imperviousness % of 

Total 
Budget

% of Budget 60% 30% 10%

Budget Allocation 
per Factor

$120,000 $60,000 $20,000

Community Type (Y/N)
%

Allocation
Factor 1 

Allocation
Road 
Miles

% 
Allocation

Factor 2  
Allocation

Impervious 
Score*

% 
Allocation

Factor 3 
Allocation

Base 
Allocation  

per CVT

1 Berkley City 1 7.1% $8,571 54.4 5.3% $3,172 0.48 7.1% $1,411 $13,155 6.6%

2 Beverly Hills Village 1 7.1% $8,571 5.9 0.6% $344 0.376 5.5% $1,106 $10,021 5.0%

3 Birmingham City 1 7.1% $8,571 32.8 3.2% $1,913 0.546 8.0% $1,605 $12,089 6.0%

4 Clawson City 1 7.1% $8,571 39.5 3.8% $2,303 0.502 7.4% $1,476 $12,351 6.2%

5 Ferndale City 1 7.1% $8,571 73.8 7.2% $4,303 0.539 7.9% $1,585 $14,459 7.2%

6 Hazel Park City 1 7.1% $8,571 58.9 5.7% $3,434 0.558 8.2% $1,641 $13,647 6.8%

7
Huntington 
Woods

City 1 7.1% $8,571 25.0 2.4% $1,458 0.385 5.7% $1,132 $11,161 5.6%

8
Madison 
Heights

City 1 7.1% $8,571 99.3 9.7% $5,790 0.561 8.2% $1,650 $16,011 8.0%

9 Oak Park City 1 7.1% $8,571 89.3 8.7% $5,207 0.507 7.5% $1,491 $15,269 7.6%

10
Pleasant 
Ridge

City 1 7.1% $8,571 10.4 1.0% $606 0.485 7.1% $1,426 $10,604 5.3%

11 Royal Oak Township 1 7.1% $8,571 1.0 0.1% $58 0.52 7.6% $1,529 $10,159 5.1%

12 Royal Oak City 1 7.1% $8,571 219.9 21.4% $12,822 0.475 7.0% $1,397 $22,790 11.4%

13 Southfield City 1 7.1% $8,571 47.9 4.7% $2,793 0.429 6.3% $1,261 $12,626 6.3%

14 Troy City 1 7.1% $8,571 270.9 26.3% $15,796 0.439 6.5% $1,291 $25,658 12.8%

Subtotals: 14 100.0% $120,000 1,029 100% $60,000 6.802 100% $20,000 $200,000 100%

*Impervious Score is the percent of impervious surface land area within the community expressed as a decimal.



Grant Application & Cost 
Participation Agreement
Eligible CVTs will receive a unique link to an online application by Mid-June 2021 
(anticipated). The deadline for applying is July 30, 2021.

CVTs awarded an OAKSTEM 2021 Program Grant will be required to enter into 
a Cost Participation Agreement with Oakland County.

CVTs applying for the OAKSTEM 2021 Program will be required to submit the 
following information:

 Checklist

 Acknowledgment that, if awarded a grant, the CVT will be required 
to enter into a Cost Participation Agreement with Oakland County.

 Identification of the local official or staff person authorized  
to execute the Cost Participation Agreement. This individual  
would be the recipient of the Cost Participation Agreement  
for electronic signature.

 Contact information for the point person administering the program 
for the CVT.

 Description of the project.

 Intended planting schedule (dates).

 Public road right(s)-of-way where trees will be planted (including maps).

 A summary of the quantity, size and species of street trees to  
be planted.

 Acknowledgment that the CVT will provide a final report and 
documentation to the County as requested that demonstrate how 
the grant funds were used. 

 Certified copy of a resolution of the Community’s elected governing 
body (city council, village council, township board) approving the 
Community’s participation in the Program, authorizing application 
for the Program, designating the person authorized to sign on the 
Community’s behalf, and certifying the Community’s commitment 
to complying with the Program’s requirements (Sample Community 
Resolution provided on the following page).



Sample Community 
Resolution
WHEREAS, Oakland County has established the OAKSTEM 2021 Oakland 
County Street Tree Enhancement Match Pilot Program (the “Program”) for 
communities that are wholly or partly within the George W. Kuhn (GWK) 
Drainage District; and

WHEREAS, the Program seeks to assist GWK Communities by providing 
limited matching funds for street tree planting projects on public road rights 
of way (ROW) that are under their jurisdiction or on public road ROW directly 
adjacent to land publicly owned by the GWK Communities; and

WHEREAS, the   CVT Name   (the “Community”) wishes to submit a 2021 
OAKSTEM Program Application seeking matching reimbursement funds from 
the Program, in an estimated amount of $  on a 1 / 1 matching basis 
for reimbursement for a project briefly described as , 
which is located in the GWK Drainage District; and 

NOW THEREFORE,   CVT Council/Board   hereby approves (i) the completion 
and submission of the 2021 OAKSTEM Application to seek funding through 
the Program; (ii) if the Application is approved by Oakland County, the 
Community’s participation in the Program; and (iii) the appropriation and 
expenditure of funds necessary or appropriate to fund its obligations under the 
Program as set forth in the Application and the Cost Participation Agreement, 
and hereby authorizes    Name and Title of Person    to sign the Application 
and all Agreements and take any other action necessary or appropriate on 
the Community’s behalf to participate in the Program and certifies that the 
Community will comply with the Program’s requirements, including submittal 
of a final report and other documentation as required by the County, as a 
condition to receiving reimbursement in accordance with the Program.
 



GRANT APPLICATION REVIEW CRITERIA
Grant applications will be reviewed based on the following criteria:
• Clarity and completeness of the application
• Demonstration that the Community’s Project meets the goals and 

requirements of the OAKSTEM 2021 Program

FINAL REPORT FOR REIMBURSEMENT FUNDS
Due on or before June 30, 2022  

CVTs will be required to submit a final report to the County after the 
completion of the Project describing in detail with supporting documentation, 
including, but not limited to, narratives, drawings, maps, warranties, and/or 
photographs and paid invoices to sufficiently evidence that the Project was 
completed in accordance with the Program Policies and is consistent with the 
Community’s Application.  

The final report with documentation must be received by the County on or 
before June 30, 2022 in order for the County to disburse reimbursement funds.

The County will provide an online form that CVTs will use to submit the final 
report and documentation.

TREE WARRANTY
All trees planted using the OAKSTEM 2021 Program funds shall be covered 
by a minimum two (2) year warranty, guaranteeing survival of the tree for two 
years from the date of Project completion. Said warranty shall provide for the 
complete costs of removal and replacement.  Replacement trees shall also be 
covered with a full two-year replacement warranty.

RIGHT TREE, RIGHT PLACE
When choosing a planting location, identify existing site conditions, overhead/
underground utilities, salt exposure, proximity to adjacent infrastructure and 
soil conditions.

These factors will affect the long-term viability of your selected tree species as 
it relates to pest and disease resistance, growth rate, root structure, canopy 
spread and height, form and shape, moisture and sunlight requirements.

It is essential to ensure that the trees will be compatible with the planting 
location, able to endure environmental conditions, are harmonious to the 
aesthetics of the surrounding landscape, become established and are properly 
pruned and maintained after they are planted by your community.

For additional information on “Right Tree, Right Place,” visit the following Arbor 
Day Foundation links:
• https://www.arborday.org/trees/righttreeandplace/
• https://www.arborday.org/trees/bulletins/documents/004-summary.pdf

SUGGESTED TREE SPECIES
The corresponding list represents several trees that can be found in Oakland 
County and Southeast Michigan.  

Communities are encouraged to plant native and/or climate resilient species 
where possible; however, local knowledge is critical during the selection 
process.  Species diversity is also important; therefore, please consider selecting 
a variety of tree species to include in your OAKSTEM 2021 Program Application. 



Botanical Name Common Name MI Native
Drought 
Tolerance

Soil Salt 
Tolerance Pest Resistance Shape Mature Spread (ft) Mature Height (ft) < 3.5' 3.5 - 4.5' 4.5'+ Under Wires Notes

Acer buergerianum Trident Maple No Yes Mod 20 to 30 20 to 35 • • Choose tree form

Acer griseum Paperbark Maple No Mod Mod Round/Oval 10 to 30 20 to 30 • •

Acer pensylvanicum Striped Maple Yes 10 to 20 15 to 25 • •

Acer rubrum Red Maple Yes Mod Poor Resistant Round/Oval 25 to 35 60 to 75 • Spreading surface roots

Acer saccharum Sugar Maple Yes Low Poor Round/Oval 40 to 50 60 to 75 • Spreading surface roots

Acer x freemanii Freeman Maple Hybrid Mod Poor Resistant Upright/Oval 20 to 40 40 to 60 •

Aesculus x carnea Red Horsechestnut Hybrid Mod Poor No Serious Pests Upright/Oval 30 to 40 60 to 80 •

Aesculus flava Yellow Buckeye No Mod Low Upright/Oval 25 to 35 60 to 80 • Messy fruit

Amelanchier arborea Downy Serviceberry Yes Mod Low Rounded 15 to 25 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Carpinus betulus European Hornbeam No Mod Low No Serious Pests Oval 20 to 30 10 to 30 • •

Carpinus caroliniana American Hornbeam/ Musclewood Yes Mod Low No Serious Pests Upright 20 to 30 20 to 30 • •

Caryo ovata Shagbark Hickory Yes Mod Low No Serious Pests Oval/ Irregular 30 to 50 60 to 80 • Best in large landscapes

Celtis occidentalis Common Hackberry Yes Mod Mod No Serious Pests Rounded 40 to 50 60 to 70 • Surface roots

Cercidiphyllum japonicum Katsura tree No Low Mod No Serious Pests Oval/Pyramidal 20 to 30 40 to 60 • Surface roots

Cercis canadensis Eastern Redbud Yes Mod Low No Serious Pests Rounded 15 to 25 15 to 30 • •

Chionanthus retusus Chinese Fringetree No Low Low No Serious Pests Rounded 15 to 25 15 to 25 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Chionanthus virginicus White Fringetree No Low Mod No Serious Pests Oval 10 to 20 10 to 20 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Cladrastis kentukea American Yellowwood No Mod Low Resistant Rounded/Vase 20 to 50 40 to 50 • Spreading surface roots

Cornus kousa Kousa Dogwood No Mod Low Rounded 20 to 30 20 to 30 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Cornus mas Cornelian-Cherry Dogwood No Low Low No Serious Pests Rounded 15 to 20 20 to 25 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Corylus colurna Turkish Hazelnut No High Low No Serious Pests Oval/Pyramidal 15 to 35 40 to 50 •

Cotinus coggygria Eurasian Smoketree No Mod Upright 10 to 15 10 to 15 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Cotinus obovatus American Smoketree No Mod No Serious Pests Oval 10 to 20 20 to 30 • • Choose single stem/tree form

Crataegus crusgalli var Inermis Cockspur Thornless Hawthorn Yes High Mod Somewhat Sensitive Rounded 10 to 25 15 to 30 • •

Crataegus viridis Winter King Hawthorn No High Low Rounded/Spreading 25 to 35 25 to 35 •

Ginkgo biloba Ginkgo No High Mod Pyramidal, Spreading Variable 50 to 80 • Choose male variety only

Gleditsia triacanthos var inermis Thornless Honeylocust Yes High High No Serious Pests Rounded 30 to 70 30 to 70 • Surface roots

Gymnocladus diocius Kentucky Coffeetree No High Mod No Serious Pests Upright to Rounded 40 to 70 50 to 70 •

Halesia carolina Carolina Silverbell No Low Low No Serious Pests Upright to Rounded 20 to 35 30 to 40 • •

Liquidambar styraciflua Sweetgum Yes Mod Low Resistant Pyramidal/Oval 35 to 50 60 to 75 • Surface roots

Liriodendron tulipifera Tuliptree Yes Low Low No Serious Pests Pyramidal/Oval 35 to 50 70 to 90 • Surface roots

Maackia amurensis Amur maackia No Mod Low No Serious Pests Round 20 to 35 20 to 30 • •

Magnolia virginiana Sweet Bay Magnolia No Low Low No Serious Pests Rounded 10 to 35 10 to 35 •

Metasequoia glyptostroboides Dawn Redwood No Med Low Resistant Upright Pyramidal 20 to 30 60 to 100 •

Nyssa sylvatica Blackgum Yes Mod Mod No Serious Pests Pyrmadial / Oval 20 to 30 30 to 60 •

Ostrya virginiana Ironwood Yes High Low No Serious Pests Pyramidal/Rounded 15 to 40 25 to 40+ •

Parrotia persica Persian Ironwood No High Low Oval/Rounded 15 to 30 20 to 40 •

Platanus x acerifolia London Planetree No Mod Mod Resistant Pyramidal / Rounded 50 to 70 75 to 90 • Surface roots

Platanus occidentalis Sycamore Yes Mod Mod Sensitive Pyramidal / Rounded 50 to 70 75 to 90 • Surface roots

Quercus alba White Oak Yes High Low Rounded/Spreading 100 50 to 80 •

Quercus bicolor Swamp White Oak Yes High Mod Resistant Upright Oval / Rounded 50 to 60 50 to 70 •

Quercus imbricaria Shingle Oak Yes Mod Low Pyramidal/Oval 50 to 60 50 to 60 •

Quercus lyrata Overcup Oak No Rounded 35 to 50 45 to 70 •

Quercus macrocarpa Bur Oak Yes High High Resistant Upright Oval / Spreading 40 to 60 60 to 70 •

Quercus muehlenbergii Chinkapin Oak Yes High Low Pyramidal/Rounded 50 to 70 50 to 80 •

Quercus palustris Pin Oak Yes High Low Resistant Upright Pyramidal / Oval 40 to 50 60 to 80 •

Quercus robar fastigiata English Oak No High Low Upright Narrow Columnar 10 to 20 50 to 60 •

Quercus rubra Northern Red Oak Yes High Mod Resistant Rounded 60 to 80 50 to 60 • Surface roots

Quercus shumardii Shumard Oak Yes High Low Pyramidal/Rounded 40 to 60 40 to 60 •

Taxodium distichum Bald Cypress No High Mod Resistant Pyramidal 25 to 35 60 to 80 •

Tilia americana American Linden, American Basswood Yes Mod Low No Serious Pests Rounded 30 to 50 50 to 80 •

Tilia cordata Little-leaf Linden No Mod Low No Serious Pests Pyramidal to Rounded 30 to 40 40 to 60 •

Tilia tomentosa Silver Linden No High Low Resistant Broad Columnar 30 to 50 50 to 70 • Surface roots

Ulmus americana American Elm Yes Mod High Resistant Vase 50 to 70 70 to 90 • Surface roots, choose Dutch Elm 
Disease resistant cultivar

Ulmus "Frontier" Frontier Elm No High High Resistant 20 to 30 30 to 40 •

Ulmus X Hybrid Elm No High High Resistant Vase 30 to 45 40 to 60 • Surface roots, choose Dutch Elm 
Disease resistant cultivar

*The tree species and 
cultivars on this list are not 
the only suitable trees for 
planting in Oakland County. 
This list is merely intended 
to be used as a starting 
point. There are many native 
and non-native trees that 
can be considered.

The tree species and 
cultivars on this list should 
not be used exclusively 
for replacement planting 
or reforestation of large 
areas.  The diversity of all 
tree species on individual 
streets, in neighborhoods, 
and in the entire community 
should be taken into 
consideration. Monocultures 
should be avoided.

Adapted from: Green 
Macomb - January 2017

QUESTIONS? Contact 
Oakland County Department 
of Economic Development

Jim Schafer 
schaferj@oakgov.com
(248) 285-2321

Mike Woods
woodsmp@oakgov.com
(248) 762-6395

 

Minimum Right-of-Way Width



Sample OAKSTEM 2021 
Progam Application
This is a sample application provided as reference.  Eligible CVTs must complete an online version of 
the application—a unique link will be emailed to the contact person by Mid-June 2021 (anticipated).  

The deadline for applying is July 30, 2021.

Oakland County Street Tree Enhancement (OAKSTEM) 2021 Pilot Match Program

Additional information on the Project Policies, Guidelines, Available Funding and Required Matching 
Funds will be provided in the Cost Participation Agreement.

REQUESTING LOCAL GOVERNMENT
MUNICIPALITY 
CONTACT PERSON
TITLE OF CONTACT PERSON 
TELEPHONE NUMBER
STREET ADDRESS CITY/ZIP 
E-MAIL ADDRESS

PROJECT INFORMATION
SHORT DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT
INTENDED PLANTING SCHEDULE (DATES)
ROAD/ROAD(S) RIGHT(S) OF WAY WHERE TREES WILL BE PLANTED (INCLUDE MAP)
NUMBER, SIZE (DBH) / SPECIES OF STREET TREES TO BE PLANTED

PROJECT BUDGET
COMMUNITY Base Program Allocation = 

It is anticipated that some COMMUNITIES may not participate, and additional funding may be 
available. COMMUNITIES are encouraged to request additional Program funding over their base 
Program allocation amount and demonstrate the available match. The COUNTY may allocate these 
additional funds based on availability and COMMUNITY match capacity.

COMMUNITY PROJECT COST BREAKDOWN
Street Tree Purchase (Including Warranty) 
COMMUNITY Contribution (Tree and warranty costs only): (MATCH) $
FY2021 OAKSTEM 2021 Program: (REQUEST) $
Total Street Tree Purchase (Including Warranty) $
TREES MUST BE PURCHASED ON OR AFTER THE EXECUTION DATE OF THE COST 
PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

Additional Costs (not Program match eligible)
COMMUNITY Admin., PE/CE, Maintenance, Planting and Inspection costs. $

Administration, engineering, maintenance, planting and inspection 
costs will be paid by COMMUNITY.

Total Project Costs (All project costs) $



PROJECT COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM GOALS
The project meets the following program goals: (check all that apply and provide brief description)
 Increased tree canopy
 Reduced impervious surface area
 Reduced peak flow storm water run-off
 Reduced flooding risk
 Reduced noise
 Improved air quality
 Enhanced aesthetics
 Attraction, retention and growth of business, retention of jobs
 Encouragement of further community investment

REQUIRED PROGRAM COMPONENTS AND APPLICATION DOCUMENTATION
 Copy of Two (2) year warranty provided for all trees planted using Program funds.
 Map showing street(s) where trees are to be planted.
 Table summarizing quantity, size and species of street trees to be planted.
 Copy of local elected governing body (City Council, Village Council or Township Board) certified 
 Resolution of Approval, including person authorized to sign for GWK Community.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Please Include Any Additional Information You Feel Important for The Consideration of This 
Program Application

REPORT FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT
This Cost Participation Agreement shall require the GWK Community entering into such agreement 
to deliver to the COUNTY a report regarding the activities of the GWK COMMUNITY and the degree 
to which the recipient has met the stated public purpose of the funding, including before and after 
photos and other documentation as may be described in the Cost Participation Agreement.  The 
COMMUNITY acknowledges and agrees to give the COUNTY permission to use photographs, logos, 
published/printed information, and any other materials supplied, without further notice, in press 
releases and/or publication.

CERTIFICATIONS
I, , as the  on behalf of , have 
been provided with a copy of the Draft Cost Participation Agreement, including Attachments “A” and 
“B” and (i) agrees to comply with the terms and conditions of the this Application; (ii) understands and 
agrees to comply with the requirement to provide the COUNTY with a report following the completion 
of an approved project outlining the degree to which the project met the stated purpose of the funding 
as set forth in this Application; and (iii) understands that its failure to provide the reports and document 
or perform any other obligation under this Application or the Cost Participation Agreement shall, at the 
COUNTY’S option, render its reimbursement obligation null and void.

 
Signature of Authorized Party             Date

  
Printed Name and Title

If you have any questions, please contact the following  
Oakland County Economic Development staff:

Jim Schafer 
schaferj@oakgov.com
(248) 285-2321

Mike Woods
woodsmp@oakgov.com
(248) 762-6395



 
 

Page 1 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

OAKSTEM 2021 STREET TREE ENHANCEMENT MATCHING GRANT PILOT PROGRAM 
 

COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 
 

County Project Number: 2021-XX 

Purchasing / Fiscal: XXXXXX 

Project Name (the “Project”): ____________________________________________________________  

Participating GWK Community (the “Community”): __________________________________________ 

This Cost Participation Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this [insert day] day of [insert 
month], 2021, by and between the County of Oakland, Michigan (the “County”), and the above-referenced 
Community. 
 
WHEREAS, the County has established the OAKSTEM 2021 Street Tree Enhancement Matching Grant Pilot 
Program (the “Program”) to decrease impervious surface area and increase the tree canopy in 
communities that are within the George W. Kuhn (“GWK”) Drainage District (the “GWK District”) 
(individually, a “GWK Community” and, collectively, the “GWK Communities”), as further described in the 
Terms and Policies of the Program set forth in Attachment A to this Agreement (the “Program Policies”). 
The County intends for the Program to assist GWK Communities with projects located within the GWK 
District. Limited matching funds will be distributed as reimbursement for costs expended among qualifying 
GWK Communities with approved 2021 Program Applications for specific, targeted street tree planting 
projects on public road rights of way (ROW) that are under their jurisdiction or on public road ROW directly 
adjacent to land publicly owned by the GWK Communities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the GWK Community has submitted to the County a 2021 Application Form seeking funds from 
the Program relating to the project identified above as more fully described in such Application and 
summarized in Attachment B of this Agreement (the “Project”) and made a part hereof, and the County 
has reviewed and approved the GWK Community’s Application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County desires to contribute funds to the Project in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement and subject to the Program Policies on a 1 / 1 match basis in an amount not to exceed the 
limits set forth in this Agreement and in no instance exceeding the maximum match amount set forth for 
the GWK Community set forth on Schedule 1 to Attachment A to this Agreement; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the parties to this 
Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. GWK Community’s Representations and Warranties. The GWK Community acknowledges and agrees 

to the Program Policies and represents and warrants to the County that (i) the Project, and the 
implementation thereof, is and will be consistent with the purposes of the Program, the description 
of the Project set forth in the GWK Community’s Application and in Attachment B to this Agreement, 



 
 

Page 2 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

and in compliance with the Program Policies; and (ii) any funds received from the County through the 
Program or otherwise related to the Project shall solely be used by the GWK Community for the 
permitted expenses for the Project and for no other purpose. 

 
2. Reporting Requirements. This is a reimbursement program. The GWK Community shall submit a report 

to the County after the completion of the Project describing in detail with supporting documentation, 
including, but not limited to, narratives, drawings, maps, warranties, and/or photographs and paid 
invoices to sufficiently evidence that the Project was completed in accordance with the Program 
Policies, the GWK Community’s Application, and Attachment B to this Agreement. Said report and 
documentation must be received by the County on or before June 30, 2022 

 
3. Authorization to Publicize. The GWK Community hereby authorizes and permits and grants a non-

exclusive, irrevocable license to the County, without further notice and action required by the GWK 
Community or the County, to use photographs, logos, published/printed information, and any other 
materials to promote or otherwise publicize the County, the Program, the Project and/or the GWK 
Community in any manner or form, including, but not limited to, in social media, press releases, 
advertisements, and/or publications of any nature. 

 
4. No Guaranty of Participation. The GWK Community acknowledges, understands, and agrees (i) the 

funding provided by the County through the Program is meant to supplement, and not replace, 
funding for existing street tree planting programs or projects engaged in by the GWK Community; (ii) 
the Program is expressly established as a pilot program, there is no guarantee that the Program will 
be continued from year-to-year and the County expects that most projects funded under the Program 
will be completed by the end of calendar year 2021; and (iii) there is no obligation on behalf of the 
County to either fund the Project or continue the Program in the future. 

 
5. Assumption of Liabilities and Responsibilities; Release. The GWK Community assumes any and all 

responsibilities, including, but not limited to, costs and expenses, and liabilities arising out of the 
administration and implementation of the Project and the ongoing maintenance and warranty 
compliance of any and all trees planted through the Project, and acknowledges and agrees that the 
County shares no such responsibilities or liabilities in administering or implementing the Project or 
maintaining any and all trees planted through the Project, or insuring compliance with any warranties. 
The GWK Community, on its behalf and on behalf of its employees, agents, representatives, elected 
and appointed officials, and volunteers, agrees to not sue and to waive, release, and forever discharge 
the County and its employees, agents, representatives, elected and appointed officials, and volunteers 
from all liability, damages, injuries, claims, or demands of any nature and for any reason (“Claims”) 
arising from or in any way connected to the Program and/or the Project, including, but not limited to, 
any matters relating to the selection of tree species, planting location or processes, maintenance, tree 
growth, or removal, and shall indemnify and hold the County harmless against any third party Claims. 

 
6. Approval of Funding. In reliance on the representations, warranties, and agreements made by the 

GWK Community in this Agreement and each document referenced herein, the County approves the 
funding of the Project through the Program in the amount identified as “FY2021 OAKSTEM 2021 
Program Award” set forth on Attachment B to this Agreement, which amount shall be paid as a 



 
 

Page 3 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

reimbursement to the GWK Community by the County upon successful completion of the Project and 
receipt by the County from the GWK Community of a report and the documentation described in 
Section 2 of this Agreement and the GWK Community’s performance of any and all other obligations 
set forth in this Agreement or any document referenced herein. Said report and documentation must 
be received by the County on or before June 30, 2022. If a Project is not completed in accordance with 
the Application and as approved by the County and/or applicable report and documentation is not 
received by the County on or before June 30, 2022, to its satisfaction, the County’s obligation to pay 
the reimbursement funds under this Agreement is null and void. The report and the documentation 
described in Section 2 shall be sent to both the: 

 
Manager of Fiscal Services     Planning Manager 
Executive Office Building      Economic Development Department 
2100 Pontiac Lake Road, Building 41 West   Executive Office Building 
Waterford, MI 48328      2100 Pontiac Lake Road, Building 41 West 

Waterford, MI 48328 
 
7. References to the County and/or the Program. All marketing materials created, or references or 

acknowledgments made, by the GWK Community regarding the receipt or use of funding under the 
Program for the Project shall reference the County and the Program and the GWK Community, through 
its authorized representative, shall, upon the County’s request, execute a License Agreement for the 
use of the County’s or Program’s name and/or any materials, logos, or items related thereto, provided, 
however, the GWK Community shall cease the use or reference to the County or the Program upon 
notice by the County. 

 
8. Counterpart and Electronic Signatures.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts which together 

shall be deemed a fully executed document. Any signature to this Agreement delivered electronically 
shall be deemed an original signature to this Agreement.   

 
 
 
The parties to this Agreement have executed this Agreement as indicated below. 
 
 
OAKLAND COUNTY 

 

Signed: _______________________________ 

 

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date: _________________________________ 

COMMUNITY 

 

Signed: ________________________________ 

 

Title: __________________________________ 

 

Date: __________________________________ 



 
 

Page 4 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

Attachment A 

OAKSTEM 2021 STREET TREE ENHANCEMENT MATCHING GRANT PILOT PROGRAM 

Terms and Policies 

 
STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 
 

Recognizing a continuing need to enhance and maintain public street trees on public road rights of way 
(ROW), Oakland County Government wishes to pilot a discretionary street tree matching program that 
will allow the County to assist communities that are within the GWK George W. Kuhn (“GWK”) Drainage 
District (the “GWK District”)(collectively, the “GWK Communities”) with the planting of street trees on 
public road rights of way (“ROW”) that are under their jurisdiction or on public road ROW directly adjacent 
to land publicly owned by these GWK Communities, and that are within the GWK District. 
 
The County wishes to provide limited matching funds to qualifying GWK Communities to plant street trees 
that will provide the following direct public benefits: Increase tree canopy; reduce impervious surface 
area; reduce peak flow storm water run-off; reduce flooding risk; reduce noise; improve air quality; 
enhance aesthetics; attract, retain and grow business, retain jobs and encourage community investment. 
 
The County wishes to assist GWK Communities to accomplish these public objectives by test-piloting a 
Street Tree Enhancement Match Program. 
 
PROGRAM SUMMARY 
 

The County established the OAKSTEM 2021 Street Tree Enhancement Matching Grant Pilot Program (the 
“Program”) to increase tree canopy and reduce impervious surface area in the GWK District. The Program 
seeks to assist the GWK Communities by offering limited matching funds for street tree plantings on public 
road ROWs that are under their jurisdiction, or on public road ROW directly adjacent to land publicly 
owned by these GWK Communities, and that are within the GWK District. 
 
Each GWK Community seeking funds through the Program shall submit to the County (i) a fully completed 
Pilot OAKSTEM 2021 Program Application Form (an “Application”), including a description of the project 
and supporting documentation for which the funding is sought (the “Project”); and (ii) if the County 
approves such Application, an executed Cost Participation Agreement as presented by the County. 
Submission of an Application by a GWK Community does not entitle such GWK Community to participation 
in the Program. Any funding under the Program is subject to the discretion of the County. 
 
The Program provides for reimbursement on 1 / 1 match basis, to a maximum as outlined in Schedule 1 
to these Terms and Policies. Funding shall be utilized to supplement and enhance GWK Community street 
tree plantings only. Funding is not intended for previously planted street trees, to replace existing 
budgeted street tree planting programs or to replace funding already committed to street tree plantings. 
  



 
 

Page 5 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

PROJECT GUIDELINES 
 

Program Funding: 
 

1. Shall be utilized solely for the purposes of street tree plantings on public road ROW that are under 
their jurisdiction, or on public road ROW directly adjacent to land publicly owned by these GWK 
Communities, and that are within the GWK District. 

 
2. Shall not be utilized to fund street tree improvements on any state trunk lines or ROW under the 

jurisdiction of the Michigan Department of Transportation. 
 
3. Shall be limited to costs associated with purchase and warranty of street trees only and shall not be 

utilized for other purposes, such as administrative expenses, ongoing maintenance, personnel, 
overhead, utilities, consultants or other similar purposes. 

 
4. Shall not be utilized for any motorized or non-motorized road improvements to a roadway. 
 
5. Shall be utilized for street tree planting projects that will result in: Increased tree canopy; reduced 

impervious surface area; reduced peak flow storm water run-off; reduced flooding risk; reduced noise; 
improved air quality; enhanced aesthetics; attraction, retention and growth of business, retention of 
jobs and encouragement of further community investment. 

 
Warranty: 
  

All trees planted using Program funding shall be covered by a minimum two (2) year warranty, 
guaranteeing survival of the tree for two years from the date of Project completion. Said warranty shall 
provide for the complete costs of removal and replacement. Replacement trees shall be covered with a 
full two-year replacement warranty as well. 
 
Local Elected Governing Body Resolution of Approval: 
 

Each Application shall be accompanied by a certified copy of a resolution of the GWK Community’s elected 
governing body (city council, village council, township board) approving the GWK Community’s 
participation in the Program (including the appropriation of the required funds to fund the Community’s 
obligations under the Program to complete the Project(s)), authorizing application for the Program, 
designating the person authorized to sign on the GWK Community’s behalf, and certifying the GWK 
Community’s commitment to complying with the Program’s requirements. A Sample Community 
Resolution is attached to the Application.   
 
ADMINISTRATION 

Funding for Projects through the Program may be appropriated annually by the County, but is not 
guaranteed. Funding availability shall be determined annually through the budget process. 
 
Program funding may be reduced or eliminated based upon the ability of the County to meet its primary 
constitutional and statutory duties. The County expressly reserves the right to adjust the County matching 
funds share at any time based upon County budget needs. 



 
 

Page 6 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

 
The amount of funds available for match shall be determined by the total amount of funds allocated by 
the County added to an equal amount representing the match provided by the participating GWK 
Communities. 
 
The Economic Development Department Planning Manager shall administer the Program, including 
receiving Applications for Program funding and approval of funding by the County. 
 
DISBURSEMENT 
 

The Planning Manager shall forward an approved Program Award Summary in a form prescribed by the 
County and a Cost Participation Agreement to each participating GWK Community for local approval. 
 
Minimally, each Application shall include: the GWK Community’s responsibility for administering the 
Project, the Project location, purpose, scope, estimated costs, including supporting details, provisions 
ensuring compliance with project guidelines, as well as disbursement eligibility requirements. The Cost 
Participation Agreement shall require the maintenance and delivery of supporting documentation to 
ensure compliance with the following provisions: 
 
1.  Any and all supporting documentation for Project expenditures reimbursed with appropriated 

funding through the Program shall be maintained a minimum of seven years from the date of final 
reimbursement for actual expenditures incurred. 

 
2.  The Oakland County Fiscal Services Division reserves the right to audit all Project expenditures 

reimbursed through the Program. 
 
The deadline for submitting the Application shall be established in the Program announcement.  
 
Upon completion by a GWK Community of its Project, the GWK Community shall submit a report and 
documentation in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Cost Participation Agreement. 
Said report and documentation must be received by the County on or before June 30, 2022 to receive a 
reimbursement payment. The Oakland County Department of Management and Budget Fiscal Services 
Division shall process payments in accordance with its policies and procedures. 
 
In the event an eligible GWK Community chooses not to participate in the Program after having been 
awarded funding under the Program, any previously undistributed funding allocated to such award may 
be reallocated to other participating GWK Communities, provided they each meet the requirements under 
the Program. 
 
At the completion of a Project, the participating GWK Community shall provide a final report to the County 
as more fully described in the Cost Participation Agreement, including a description of the activities of the 
recipient and the degree to which the recipient has met the stated public purpose of these Terms and 
Policies. 



 
 

Page 7 of 8 
COST PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE, DAVID COULTER 

Schedule 1 to Attachment A 
OAKSTEM 2021 – BASE VALUE DISTRIBUTION FORMULA 

 
 

 
  

Total Budget: $200,000

Factor Must equal 100%
Percent of Budget 100%

$200,000

Community Type  (Y/N)
Percent 

Allocation
Factor 1 

Allocation
Road 
Miles

Percent 
Allocation

Factor 2 
Allocation

Impervious 
Score**

Percent 
Allocation

Factor 3 
Allocation

BASE ALLOCATION   
per CVT

1 Berkley City 1 7.1% $8,571 54.4 5.3% $3,172 0.48 7.1% $1,411 $13,155 6.6%
2 Beverly Hills Village 1 7.1% $8,571 5.9 0.6% $344 0.376 5.5% $1,106 $10,021 5.0%
3 Birmingham City 1 7.1% $8,571 32.8 3.2% $1,913 0.546 8.0% $1,605 $12,089 6.0%
4 Clawson City 1 7.1% $8,571 39.5 3.8% $2,303 0.502 7.4% $1,476 $12,351 6.2%
5 Ferndale City 1 7.1% $8,571 73.8 7.2% $4,303 0.539 7.9% $1,585 $14,459 7.2%
6 Hazel Park City 1 7.1% $8,571 58.9 5.7% $3,434 0.558 8.2% $1,641 $13,647 6.8%
7 Huntington Woods City 1 7.1% $8,571 25.0 2.4% $1,458 0.385 5.7% $1,132 $11,161 5.6%
8 Madison Heights City 1 7.1% $8,571 99.3 9.7% $5,790 0.561 8.2% $1,650 $16,011 8.0%
9 Oak Park City 1 7.1% $8,571 89.3 8.7% $5,207 0.507 7.5% $1,491 $15,269 7.6%

10 Pleasant Ridge City 1 7.1% $8,571 10.4 1.0% $606 0.485 7.1% $1,426 $10,604 5.3%
11 Royal Oak Township * 1 7.1% $8,571 1.0 0.1% $58 0.52 7.6% $1,529 $10,159 5.1%
12 Royal Oak City 1 7.1% $8,571 219.9 21.4% $12,822 0.475 7.0% $1,397 $22,790 11.4%
13 Southfield City 1 7.1% $8,571 47.9 4.7% $2,793 0.429 6.3% $1,261 $12,626 6.3%
14 Troy City 1 7.1% $8,571 270.9 26.3% $15,796 0.439 6.5% $1,291 $25,658 12.8%

Subtotals: 14 100.0% $120,000 1,029.0 100.0% $60,000 6.802 100.0% $20,000 $200,000 100.0%

* Royal Oak Township does not have jurisdiction over any roads. The Eligible Road Miles calculation is based on the road frontage of publicly owned property adjacent to public road ROW.

** Impervious Score is the percent of impervious surface land area within the community expressed as a decimal.

Percentage 
of Total 
Budget

10%
Factor 3: Imperviousness

$20,000Budget Allocation per Factor $60,000$120,000

Factor 1: Participation  Factor 2: Eligible Road Miles
60% 30%





1 

MEMORANDUM 
(Information Technology) 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

06/28/2021  

Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

Eric Brunk, IT Manager 

Enhanced Google Security 

INTRODUCTION: 
In an effort to increase our endpoint and data security, and to meet Criminal Justice 
Information Services (CJIS) for our police department and other security requirements 
the IT department would like to implement end to end encryption for Gmail and Google 
Drive. 

BACKGROUND: 
As more and more documentation is being shared electronically the City is in need of 
security software that will meet strict Criminal Justice (CJIS) and Health Insurance 
Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) requirements for any data that may be 
transmitted via email or shared via Google Drive.   The IT department worked with 
Google and reviewed the applications that are google compliant for security and found 
Virtru – an easy end to end encryption for Gmail, and google drive.   This company is a 
google partner and is recommended by google to protect Gmail, maintain privacy 
and meet CJIS and HIPAA compliance for data that may be transmitted or 
shared electronically. The software protects and governs access to Gmail messages and 
attachments through their full lifecycle. Allowing end to end encryption and granular 
access controls that ensure sensitive data stored and shared in Gmail stays compliant 
with industry regulations. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
This is a 36 month subscription with a total cost of $27,717.00 after a subscription discount 
of $18,720.00.  The subscription is broken into 3 yearly payments of $9,239.00.   There 
are funds available for this project in the computer maintenance account 636-228.000-
933.0600 

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
Resolution to allow the IT department to purchase the 36 month subscription for 
Enterprise Data protection and endpoint email and drive protection from Virtru for a total 
cost $27,717.00 paid as a yearly subscription of $9,239.00. Funds available in the IT 
Computer maintenance account:  636-228.000-933.0600 

5H



1130 Connecticut Ave NW
Suite 210
Washington, DC 20036
Executed Order must be received by:
June 30, 2021

Quote Number: Q014519
Start Date: 06/16/2021
Initial Term: 36 Months

Order Details

Customer Details Terms

City of Birmingham, Michigan City of Birmingham, Michigan
151 Martin St Account Manager christian@virtru.com

Birmingham Payment Terms: Net 30
MI 48009 Currency USD
United States Notes -Custom Discount #AL3534 ($18,720

OFF) valid thru June 2021

Bill To: Sold To:
Name: Eric Brunk Name: Eric Brunk
Email: ebrunk@bhamgov.org Email: ebrunk@bhamgov.org

Quote Details

Product Name Quantity Effective Price Total

Enterprise - Virtru Data Protection Platform 1 $2,999.00 $2,999.00

Enterprise - Endpoint Email & Drive Protection 208 $60.00 $12,480.00

June 2021 Discount -($18,720.00)

1-yr Total: $9,239.00
3-yr Total: $27,717.00

Tax: $0.00
Invoice Total: $9,239.00



1130 Connecticut Ave NW
Suite 210
Washington, DC 20036
Executed Order must be received by:
June 30, 2021

This Order Form is part of the Virtru Pro Subscription Agreement (this “Agreement”), entered into as of the date first set forth
above (the “Effective Date”), by and among Virtru Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Virtru”), and the customer identified
above (“Customer”). This Agreement includes and is subject to the terms and conditions set forth:
https://www.virtru.com/terms-of-service/ (collectively, the “Terms and Conditions”). 

By executing this Order Form, each signatory hereby represents and warrants that such signatory is a duly authorized
representative of Customer and, on behalf of Customer, agrees that, as of the Effective Date, Customer’s use of the Materials
and Virtru Pro Services (as defined in the Terms and Conditions) shall be governed by this Agreement, including the Terms and
Conditions.

SIGNATURES

Customer:

By: \s1\

Name: \n1\

Title: \t1\

Date: \d1\



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: June 22nd, 2021 

TO:  Thomas Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

APPROVED: Jana L. Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Set a Public Hearing 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use 
Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review   

INTRODUCTION: 
The applicant has submitted an application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and 
Design Review for a proposed bistro license in the existing Whistle Stop Diner in the Rail District 
of Birmingham.  

BACKGROUND: 
The Whistle Stop was selected by the City Commission on October 26, 2020 as the sole bistro 
application to move forward to contend for one of the two bistro licenses that may be approved 
for an existing establishment each calendar year. During the selection process, the applicant 
described the Whistle Stop as a true family friendly restaurant with a delicious assortment of 
offerings for breakfast, brunch and lunch. 

On June 9th, 2021, the Planning Board recommended approval to the City Commission the Special 
Land Use, Final Site Plan and Design Review with the following conditions: 

1. The Planning Board approves the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront façade;
2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage doors

showing a VLT of 80%;
3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan prior to

the Public Hearing at the City Commission;
4. The applicant must work with the Planning and Engineering Departments to reduce the

amount of concrete proposed and improve the streetscape as suggested by the Board for
administrative approval;

5. The applicant must replace the existing tinted windows with clear glass; and,
6. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments.

At this time, the applicant has begun to address several of the conditions required by the Planning 
Board. The Planning Division will provide a complete list of updated information at the public 
hearing. 

5I



LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed this application and has no concerns as to form and content. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for Special Land Use Permit and Final Site Plan Reviews, a legal ad was placed in a 
newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the request advance of the June 9th, 2021 
Planning Board meeting, and notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants within 300’ 
of the property.  In addition, a second round of notices will be sent out to advertise the public 
hearing at the City Commission once the date has been set. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission set a public hearing date for July 26th, 
2021 to consider the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 
501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Please find attached the following documents for your review: 

 
 Draft Special Land Use Permit Resolution 
 Planning Division Report 
 Site/Design Plans 
 Meeting Minutes 
 Application & Supporting Documents 

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To set a public hearing date for July 26th, 2021 to consider the Special Land Use Permit, Final 
Site Plan and Design Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop to allow the operation of 
a bistro. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



WHISTLE STOP 
501 S. Eton 

Special Land Use Permit 2021 

WHEREAS, WHISTLE STOP filed an application pursuant to Article 7, section 7.34 of 
Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code to operate a food and drink establishment serving 
alcoholic liquors in the MX (Mixed-Use) zoning district in accordance Article 2, Section 2.39 
(C)(2)(b) of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

WHEREAS, the land for which the Special Land Use Permit Amendment is sought is 
located on the east side of S. Eton, south of Maple Rd.; 

WHEREAS, The land is zoned MX, which permits the operation of food and drink 
establishments serving alcoholic liquors using a BISTRO license with a Special Land Use Permit; 

WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use 
Permit Amendment to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, 
after receiving recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board for the 
proposed Special Land Use; 

WHEREAS, The applicant submitted an application for a Special Land Use Permit,  
Final Site Plan and Design Review for WHISTLE STOP to operate at 501 S. Eton; 

WHEREAS, The Planning Board on June 9, 2021 reviewed the application for a Special Land 
Use Permit,  Final Site Plan and Design Review and recommended APPROVAL to the 
City Commission to permit the operation of a bistro serving alcoholic liquors with the 
following conditions: 

1. The Planning Board approves the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront façade;
2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage

doors showing a VLT of 80%;
3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan

prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission;
4. The applicant must work with the Planning and Engineering Departments to reduce

the amount of concrete proposed and improve the streetscape as suggested by the
Board for administrative approval;

5. The applicant must replace the existing tinted windows with clear glass; and,
6. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments.

WHEREAS, The applicant has agreed to provide all requested information and to 
comply with the requests of all City departments; 

WHEREAS, The Birmingham City Commission has reviewed WHISTLE STOP’S Special 
Land Use Permit application and the standards for such review as set forth in Article 7, section 
7.36 of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The Birmingham City Commission finds the 
standards imposed under the City Code have been met, subject to the conditions below, and that 



WHISTLE STOP’S application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review at 
501 S. Eton is hereby approved; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Commission determines that to assure 
continued compliance with Code standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, this 
Special Land Use Permit is granted subject to the following conditions: 

1. WHISTLE STOP will close outdoor dining areas by 3 PM each day of the 
week;

2. WHISTLE STOP shall abide by all provisions of the Birmingham City 
Code; and

3. The Special Land Use Permit may be canceled by the City Commission 
upon finding that the continued use is not in the public interest. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall 
result in termination of the Special Land Use Permit. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Except as herein specifically provided, WHISTLE STOP and its 
heirs, successors, and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City of Birmingham in 
effect at the time of the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently amended. 
Failure of WHISTLE STOP to comply with all the ordinances of the City may result in the 
Commission revoking this Special Land Use Permit. 

MAY IT BE FURTHER RESOLVED that WHISTLE STOP is recommended for the operation 
of a food and drink establishment serving alcoholic beverages on premises, above all 
others, subject to final inspection. 

I, Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City 
Commission at its regular meeting held on July 26, 2021. 

Alexandria Bingham 
City Clerk  



MEMORANDUM 
 

Planning Division 
 
DATE:   June 9th, 2021 
 
TO:   Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
 
SUBJECT: 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site 

Plan & Design Review  
 
 
The subject site, 501 S. Eton, is currently used as a restaurant within an existing one-story 
commercial building fronting S. Eton. The applicant has submitted a Special Land Use and Final 
Site Plan/Design Review application requesting a bistro license for the Whistle Stop Diner.  
 
On January 22nd, the Planning Board reviewed and approved a Design Review application for 
extensive façade renovations at the Whistle Stop which included an expansion into the adjacent 
tenant space. The applicant is proposing minor exterior changes to the building/site as a part of 
this Special Land Use Permit and Final Site Plan/Design Review application, which revolve around 
the placement of the proposed outdoor dining facility.  
 
The Whistle Stop was selected by the City Commission on October 26, 2020 as the sole bistro 
application to move forward to contend for one of the two bistro licenses that may be approved 
for an existing establishment each calendar year. During the selection process, the applicant 
described the Whistle Stop as a true family friendly restaurant with a delicious assortment of 
offerings for breakfast, brunch and lunch.  
 
The Birmingham Code of Ordinances states that a contract for transfer and a Special Land Use 
Permit are required for all licenses approved under Chapter 10 – Alcoholic Liquors. The licensee 
must comply with all provisions of the contract and Special Land Use Permit, and any amendments 
thereto as a condition of granting of a requested transfer. Accordingly, the applicant must obtain 
a recommendation from the Planning Board on the Special Land Use and Final Site Plan/Design 
Review application, which is then reviewed for final consideration by the City Commission.  
 

1.0 Land Use and Zoning 
 

1.1 Existing Land Use – One-story multi-tenant commercial building. 
 

1.2 Zoning – MX (Mixed-Use) 



 
1.3 Summary of Adjacent Land Use and Zoning –  

 
 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use Multi-Family Commercial Multi-Family/ 

Commercial 
Single-Family 
Residential 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

R3 (Single-
Family 

Residential) 
Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
2.0 Bistro Requirements 

 
Article 9, Section 9.02, Definitions, of the Zoning Ordinance defines a bistro as a 
restaurant with a full service kitchen with interior seating for no more than 65 people 
and additional seating for outdoor dining for no more than 65 people.   
 
Article 3, Section 3.04(C)(10) of the Zoning Ordinance permits bistros in the Downtown 
Overlay District as long as the following conditions are met: 
 

a. No direct connect additional bar permit is allowed and the maximum seating at 
a bar cannot exceed 10 seats; 

b. Alcohol is served only to seated patrons, except those standing in a defined bar 
area; 

c. No dance area is provided; 
d. Only low key entertainment is permitted; 
e. Bistros must have tables located in the storefront space lining any street, or 

pedestrian passage; 
f. A minimum of 70% glazing must be provided along building facades facing a 

street or pedestrian passage between 1’ and 8’ in height; 
g. All bistro owners must execute a contract with the City outlining the details of 

the operation of the bistro; and 
h. Outdoor dining must be provided, weather permitting, along an adjacent street 

or passage during the months of May through October each year.  Outdoor 
dining is not permitted past 12:00 a.m.  If there is not sufficient space to permit 
such dining on the sidewalk adjacent to the bistro, an elevated, ADA compliant, 
enclosed platform must be erected on the street adjacent to the bistro to create 
an outdoor dining area if the Engineering Department determines there is 
sufficient space available for this purpose given parking and traffic conditions. 

i. Enclosures facilitating year round dining outdoors are not permitted. 



j. Railings, planters or similar barriers defining outdoor dining platforms may not 
exceed 42’’ in height. 

k. Outdoor rooftop dining is permitted with the conditions that surrounding 
properties are not impacted in a negative manner and adequate street level 
dining is provided as determined by the Planning Board and City Commission. 
Rooftop dining seats will count towards the total number of permissible outdoor 
dining seats. 

 
At this time, the applicant appears to meet the requirements listed above. On the 
interior, the proposed bar counter contains 8 seats. There is no dance floor, and there 
are no indications on the plans there any entertainment will be provided at the proposed 
restaurant. In totality, the applicant is proposing 64 interior seats, including the 8 at the 
bar. 
 
As far as exterior conditions, a 28-seat outdoor patio is proposed along the front of the 
building, which is a change from the January 2020 Design Review in which the applicant 
proposed to erect a platform in the grassy easement across the sidewalk. The outdoor 
dining area is proposed to be enclosed by a removable railing that measures 36 in. in 
height, contains a trash receptacle, and is accessed by two overhead garage doors and 
one typical entry door. Additionally, although the outdoor dining area appears to be 
located on public property, the applicant is proposing to repave the 453 sq. ft. area with 
pervious concrete to help mitigate the loss of greenspace caused by the relocation of 
the patio. Further streetscape/landscaping changes will be discussed below. Finally, the 
applicant has provided glazing calculations at 67%, which will be discussed in detail 
below. 

 
The Whistle Stop has indicated that the introduction of a bistro license will not change 
the hours of operation for the indoor or outdoor dining areas. The Whistle stop plans to 
maintain the current hours of operation of 7 AM – 3 PM, Monday-Saturday, and 8 AM – 
3 PM on Sundays. The proposed hours of operation for the restaurant, and subsequently 
the outdoor patio, meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance as they close well 
before 10 PM.  
 

3.0 Setback and Height Requirements 
 
Please see the attached zoning compliance summary sheet for details on setback and 
height requirements. There are currently no issues with bulk, height or placement with 
the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan/Design Review application submitted. 

 
4.0 Screening and Landscaping 

 



4.1 Dumpster Screening – There are no changes proposed to the dumpster or 
screening on site. 
 

4.2 Parking Lot Screening – There are no changes proposed to the parking lot or 
associated screening. 

 
4.3 Mechanical Equipment Screening – There are no changes proposed to the 

mechanical equipment or screening on site. 
 

4.4 Landscaping – The applicant is proposing to install new boxwood plantings and 
one new maple tree in front of the existing parking lot screen wall at the 
southwest corner of the property. The proposed new landscaping is an attempt 
to introduce new greenspace and tree cover to the right-of-way to make up for 
the greenspace and tree proposed to be removed in the easement, which is 
discussed in detail below.  

 
4.5 Streetscape – As noted above, the proposed relocation of the outdoor dining 

area from a platform in the easement to a typical patio adjacent to the building 
has necessitated a proposed re-design of the streetscape in front of the building. 
The applicant is proposing to remove 1 of 3 existing street trees and the majority 
of the grass in the easement to repave and rework the sidewalk around their 
newly proposed outdoor dining area. The resulting streetscape will contain a 
small grassy area and tree at the south end of the streetscape, an existing tree 
in a new planter at the north end, and a 6 ft. clear walking path that curves 
around the patio to the west. 

 
Article 4, Section 4.20 (G) requires at least 1 street tree for each 40 ft. of 
frontage. The entire building contains 130 ft. of frontage, which requires 3 street 
trees. Although the applicant is proposing to remove one of the 3 existing trees, 
they are proposing to replace the tree at the south end of the property. At this 
time, however, it is unclear as to whether or not the new tree is proposed on 
public or private property. Additionally, the spacing of the trees would be 
mismatched/uneven based on the rest of the S. Eton streetscape. The property 
line indicated on the site plan submitted extends roughly 5 ft. beyond the face 
of the building, whereas City records indicate that the S. Eton right-of-way may 
extend all the way to the face of the building. The Applicant has not yet 
submitted a Certified Land Survey to confirm the location of the property lines. 
 
At this time, the applicant has not proposed any additional streetscape 
improvements such as benches, bike racks, waste receptacles, or streetlights. 
The Planning Board may wish to require the applicant to provide some of these 



streetscape improvements as a part of the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site 
Plan/Design review application submitted. 

 
5.0 Parking, Loading and Circulation 

 
5.1 Parking – There are no changes to the parking requirements on site. The 

applicant has a 13-space on-site parking facility, 8 spaces in the ROW that were 
approved to be counted towards the off-street parking required (2007), and 
received a variance of 17 parking spaces in 2020 for a total of 38 spaces. 

 
5.2 Loading – There are no changes proposed to the loading requirements. 

 
5.3 Vehicular Circulation and Access – There are no changes proposed to the 

vehicular circulation and access. 
 

5.4 Pedestrian Circulation and Access – The pedestrian circulation along S. Eton is 
proposed to be altered by redirecting the sidewalk west to make room for the 
newly proposed outdoor dining area. All entrances/exits are proposed to remain 
as existing.  

 
It is worth noting at this time that there are currently no sidewalks located on 
the north (Hazel) and south (Palmer) sides of the property. These areas are 
currently inhabited by greenspace and arborvitaes. As a longstanding 
neighborhood eatery and destination, it would be beneficial in the near future to 
work together on ways to improve connectivity to the site for pedestrian access 
from Hazel and Palmer.  

 
6.0 Lighting 

There are no new light fixtures or changes in lighting proposed. 
 

7.0 Departmental Reports 
 

7.1 Engineering Division – The Engineering Division has provided the following 
comments: 
 
1. The plans propose to remove at least one street tree, while the other two 

are noted as “in existing planters,” which do not exist. The current 
condition has the street trees in grass/mulch. 

2. The applicant is proposing to remove a lot of pervious area and the 
Engineering Division would like to balance that out. The applicant is 
proposing pervious concrete in the patio space, and we would like to see 
the drainage plan, as the pervious space would only be as successful as 



its drainage area. Additionally, a maintenance plan might be needed 
depending on the design. Lastly, there does not appear to be any 
greenspace around the tree at the north of the streetscape where there 
may be room for some. 

3. There seems to be a significant fall between the existing walk at the 
building and exiting top of curb, which may make extending the sidewalk 
challenging for ADA.  Simply raising the curb height is not permitted as 
it would affect cars parking there from opening their doors and potentially 
be a hazard to drivers. 

4. The existing curb does not look to be in great shape, and may need 
repairs if the walk were pushed to the edge.  The pavement adjacent to 
the curb looks to be in poor condition, too, and any work on the curb 
may result in additional pavement replacement. 

5. The fence for the outdoor dining area ends very close to the neighboring 
tenant space door at the south end of the outdoor dining area. The 
Engineering Division would suggest the applicant gain written approval 
for this condition. 

6. When sidewalks are pushed to the curb, we would prefer a wider sidewalk 
than 5 feet.  Even though parking is here, not a traveled lane, when a 
door is open, there has to be at least 30 inches of space for ADA 
compliance, which would reduce the sidewalk width and potentially 
interrupt the flow of pedestrians. 

 
7.2 Department of Public Services – The Department of Public Services has not 

provided any comments at this time. 
 

7.3 Fire Department – The Fire Department has provided the following comments 
and requests for information: 

 
1. Determined occupant load by Building Department and Fire Marshal. 
2. Hood suppression acceptance test. 
3. Keys provided for Knox box. 
4. Fire extinguisher placement. 
5. Final site inspection required. 

 
7.4 Police Department – The Police Department does not have any concerns at this 

time, but noted that the formal police liquor license investigation has not yet 
been initiated. 

 
7.5 Building Division – The Building Division has provided the following comments: 

 
As requested, the Building Department has examined the plans for the proposed 
project referenced above. The plans were provided to the Planning Department 



for site plan review purposes only and present conceptual elevations and floor 
plans. Although the plans lack sufficient detail to perform a code review, the 
following comments are offered for Planning Design Review purposes and 
applicant consideration: 
 
Applicable Building Codes: 
 

• 2015 Michigan Building Code. Applies to all buildings other than those 
regulated by the Michigan Residential Code. 

• 2015 Michigan Mechanical Code. (Residential requirements for 
mechanical construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and 
multiple single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories 
in height with a separate means of egress and their accessory structures 
are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

• 2015 Michigan Plumbing Code. (Residential requirements for plumbing 
construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and multiple 
single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories in 
height with a separate means of egress and their accessory structures 
are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

• 2017 National Electrical Code along with the Michigan Part 8 Rules. 
(Residential requirements for electrical construction in all detached one 
and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings 
(townhouses) not more than three stories in height with a separate 
means of egress and their accessory structures are contained in the 
Michigan Residential Code) 
 

Review Comments: 
 

• No building codes concerns at this time. The applicant will need to submit 
revised construction documents for the proposed changes to the existing 
approved plans. 

 
8.0 Design Review 

 
As noted above, the only new exterior change proposed on the building are the addition 
of two new overhead garage doors on the west façade, which will act as access to the 
outdoor dining area and provide more interaction between the restaurant and the 
streetscape. The two garage doors are constructed of black metal and glass.  
 
Glazing 
Because the applicant is proposing to rework the storefront, and subsequently the 
glazing, the Planning division requested that the applicant submit glazing calculations 



for the proposed storefront to compare to the Window Standards in Article 4, Section 
4.90, as well as the bistro standards in Article 3, Section 3.04 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
The applicant has submitted glazing calculations that indicate a glazed area of 67% 
between 1 ft. and 8 ft. from grade. The Zoning Ordinance requires storefronts to contain 
a minimum of 70% glazing in between 1 ft. and 8 ft. from grade. 

 
However, to allow flexibility in design, these standards may be modified by a majority 
vote of those appointed and serving on the Planning Board, Design Review Board for 
architectural design considerations provided that the following conditions are met: 
 

a. The subject property must be in a zoning district that allows mixed uses; 
b. The scale, color, design and quality of materials must be consistent with the 

building and site on which it is located; 
c. The proposed development must not adversely affect other uses and buildings 

in the neighborhood; 
d. Glazing above the first story shall not exceed a maximum of 70% of the façade 

area; 
e. Windows shall be vertical in proportion. 

 
At this time, the applicant appears to meet the above conditions. Thus, the applicant 
must receive approval from the Planning Board to provide 67% glazing on 
the storefront façade, provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance from 
the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Furthermore, the applicant has not submitted specification sheets with Visual Light 
Transmittance (VLT) figures that are required with any new glazing proposed. The new 
glazing is required to meet the current Window Standards which is 80% VLT. At this 
time, the Planning Division has been advised that it will be clear and complement the 
existing glass. The Planning Board may cite the ordinance language above to modify the 
clarity requirements slightly if the applicant is unable to meet the 80% VLT 
requirements. Thus, the applicant must submit specification sheets for the 
proposed roll down garage doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval 
from the Planning Board for a lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance 
from the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Outdoor Dining 
Although the materials proposed within the outdoor dining area have not changed from 
the Design Review in 2020, the applicant has re-submitted the specification sheets for 
the furniture for convenience. The proposed tables and chairs are constructed of metal 
as required by Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance. The tables are proposed 
to be “Black” in color, while the chairs are proposed in “Cherry Red”. The applicant is 
also proposing two umbrellas, which are “Logo Red” in color.  



 
9.0 Required Attachments 

 Submitted Not Submitted Not Required 
Existing Conditions Plan ☐ ☒ ☐ 
Detailed and Scaled Site Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Certified Land Survey ☐ ☒ ☐ 
Interior Floor Plans ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Landscape Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Photometric Plan ☐ ☐ ☒ 
Colored Elevations ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Specification Sheets ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Samples ☐ ☐ ☒ 
Site & Aerial Photographs ☒ ☐ ☐ 

 
Although the applicant has submitted a letter stating that they have contracted with 
Survey Tech for a land survey, the applicant has not yet submitted a Certified Land Survey 
or Existing Conditions Plan. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and 
Existing Conditions Plan prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission.  
 

10.0 Bistro Criteria 
 
Chapter 10, Alcoholic Liquors, section 10-82 provides a limitation on the number of 
Bistro Licenses that the City Commission may approve, and provides selection criteria to 
assist the Planning Board and City Commission in evaluating applications for Bistro 
Licenses. Section 10-82 states: 
 

(1) New establishments.  Two (2) Bistro Licenses may be approved each calendar 
year to applicants who do not meet the definition of existing establishments as 
set forth in (a)(1) above.  In addition to the usual criteria used by the city 
commission for liquor license requests, the commission shall consider the 
following non-exclusive list of criteria to assist in the determination of which of 
the new establishment applicants, if any, should be approved: 
 

a. The applicant’s demonstrated ability to finance the proposed project. 
b. The applicant’s track record with the city including responding to city 

and/or citizen concerns. 
c. Whether the applicant has an adequate site plan to handle the bistro 

liquor license activities. 
d. Whether the applicant has adequate health and sanitary facilities. 
e. The establishment’s location in relation to the determined interest in the 

establishment of bistros in the Overlay District and the Triangle District. 



f. The extent that the cuisine offered by applicant is represented in the city. 
g. Whether the applicant has outstanding obligations to the city (ie property 

taxes, utilities, etc.).   
 

During the Bistro Selection process at the City Commission, the applicant demonstrated 
their ability to continue to finance the renovation/bistro project that has already begun. 
The acquisition of a liquor license, and subsequently a Special Land Use Permit from the 
City is the final step in this ongoing process. The applicant has also noted that they have 
a good track record with the City of Birmingham, as well as the City of Pleasant Ridge 
where the second Whistle Stop location is located. The proposed site plan appears to 
be able to handle the bistro liquor license activities and contains improved health and 
sanitary facilities. Finally, this would be the first bistro liquor license in the Rail District, 
and the Whistle Stop is the sole purveyor of breakfast/brunch cuisine in the area.  

 
11.0 Approval Criteria 

 
In accordance with Article 7, section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed plans 
for development must meet the following conditions: 

 
(1) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 

there is adequate landscaped open space so as to provide light, air and access 
to the persons occupying the structure. 

(2) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
there will be no interference with adequate light, air and access to adjacent lands 
and buildings. 

(3) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
they will not hinder the reasonable development of adjoining property nor 
diminish the value thereof. 

(4) The site plan, and its relation to streets, driveways and sidewalks, shall be such 
as to not interfere with or be hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

(5) The proposed development will be compatible with other uses and buildings in 
the neighborhood and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter. 

(6) The location, shape and size of required landscaped open space is such as to 
provide adequate open space for the benefit of the inhabitants of the building 
and the surrounding neighborhood. 
 

In addition, Article 7, Section 7.26 requires applications for a Special Land Use Permit 
to meet the following criteria: 
 

(1) The use is consistent with and will promote the intent and purpose of this 
Zoning Ordinance. 



(2) The use will be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural 
environment, and the capabilities of public services and facilities affected by 
the land use. 

(3) The use is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 
(4) The use is in compliance with all other requirements of this Zoning 

Ordinance. 
(5) The use will not be injurious to the surrounding neighborhood. 
(6) The use is in compliance with state and federal statutes. 

 
12.0 Recommendation 

 
Based on a review of the site plan submitted, the Planning Division recommends that 
the Planning Board recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission the Special Land 
Use and Final Site Plan/Design Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – with 
the following conditions: 
 

1. The Planning Board APPROVES the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront 
façade; 

OR 
 

1. The applicant must provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance from the 
Board of Zoning Appeals; 
 

2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage 
doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval from the Planning Board for a 
lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance from the Board of Zoning Appeals; 

3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; and 

4. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

13.0 Sample Motion Language (Final Site Plan & Design Review ) 
 
Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission the Final Site Plan & Design 
Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – with the following conditions: 
 

1. The Planning Board APPROVES the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront 
façade; 

OR 
 

1. The applicant must provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance from the 
Board of Zoning Appeals; 
 



2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down 
garage doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval from the Planning Board 
for a lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance from the Board of Zoning 
Appeals; 

3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; and 

4. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

OR 
 
Motion to POSTPONE the Final Site Plan & Design Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle 
Stop – pending receipt of the following: 
 

1. The applicant must receive approval from the Planning Board to provide 67% 
glazing on the storefront façade, provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance 
from the Board of Zoning Appeals; 

2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down 
garage doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval from the Planning Board 
for a lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance from the Board of Zoning 
Appeals; 

3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; and 

4. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

OR 
 
Motion to recommend the DENIAL to the City Commission the Final Site Plan & Design 
Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – for the following reasons: 
 

1. ________________________________________________________________ 
2. ________________________________________________________________ 
3. ________________________________________________________________ 

 
14.0 Sample Motion Language (Special Land Use Permit) 

 
Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission the Special Land Use Permit 
for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – subject to the conditions of Final Site Plan & Design 
Review approval. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – 
pending receipt of the following: 
 



1. ______________________________________________________________ 
2. ______________________________________________________________ 
3. ______________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Motion to recommend DENIAL to the City Commission the Special Land Use Permit for 
501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – for the following reasons: 
 

1. ______________________________________________________________ 
2. ______________________________________________________________ 
3. ______________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 

 



Page 1 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 501 S. Eton | 6/9/2021 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary Sheet 
 Final Site Plan Review 

501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop 
 

 
Existing Site: 1-Story Commercial Building 

Zoning: MX (Mixed-Use) 
Land Use: Commercial 

 
Existing Land Use and Zoning of Adjacent Properties: 
 

 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use Multi-Family Commercial Multi-Family/ 

Commercial 
Single-Family 
Residential 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

R3 (Single-
Family 

Residential) 
Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 
 

Land Area:   Existing: 0.26 ac. 
Proposed: 0.26 ac.  

Dwelling Units: Existing: 0 units 
Proposed: 0 units 

 
Minimum Lot Area/Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Min. Floor Area /Unit: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

Max. Total Floor Area: Required: 100% 
6,000 sq. ft. for commercial, office, and service uses 

Proposed: 3,893 sq. ft. (no changes proposed) 

Min. Open Space: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

Max. Lot Coverage: Required: N/A 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 501 S. Eton | 6/9/2021 
 

Proposed: N/A 

Front Setback: Required: 0 ft. 
Proposed: 5 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Side Setbacks Required: 0 ft. 
Proposed: 8 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Rear Setback: Required: 10 ft. 
Proposed: 5 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Min. Front+Rear Setback Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

 
Max. Bldg. Height: Permitted: 45 ft., 4 stories 

Proposed: 16 ft., 1 story (no changes proposed) 

Min. Eave Height: Required: 18 ft. 
Proposed: 14 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Floor-Ceiling Height: Required: 12 ft. 
Proposed: None listed 

Front Entry: Required: On frontage line 
Proposed: On frontage line (no changes proposed) 

Absence of Bldg. Façade: Required: 32 in. screenwall 
Proposed: 32 in. screenwall (no changes proposed) 

Opening Width: Required: 25 ft. 
Proposed: 3 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Parking: Required: 38 off-street spaces 
Proposed: 38 off- street spaces (private, ROW & variance) 

Min. Parking Space Size: Required: 180 sq. ft. 
Proposed: 180 sq. ft. (no changes proposed) 

Parking in Frontage: Required: Off-street parking contained in the first story shall not be 
permitted within 10 feet of any building facade on a 
frontage line or between the building facade and the 
frontage line. 

Proposed: No parking in 1st story (no changes proposed) 

Loading Area: Required: None 



Page 3 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 501 S. Eton | 6/9/2021 
 

Proposed: None 

Screening:   
  

Parking: Required: 32 in. masonry screen wall 
Proposed: 32 in. masonry screen wall (no changes proposed) 

Loading: Required: Minimum 6 ft. screen wall 
Proposed: N/A 

Rooftop Mechanical: Required: Fully screened from public view 
Proposed: Corrugated metal panels (no changes proposed) 

 
Elect. Transformer: Required: Obscured from public view 

Proposed: N/A 

Dumpster: Required: 6 ft. masonry w/ wood gate 
Proposed: None (no changes proposed) 

 

 



WOMEN

TENANT
NOT IN CONTRACTSTORAGE

DINING

MEN

PREP AREA

DINING

KITCHEN

VESTIBULE

STORAGE

s s

EMPLOYEE
RESTROOM

WALK-IN COOLER WALK-IN FREEZER

DISHWASHING AREA

COUNTER

SOUTH ETON

HA
ZE

L 
ST

RE
ET

EXISTING UTILITY POLE
EXISTING SIDEWALK

EXISTING RAMP

EXISTING PARKING PAVING
TO REMAIN

EXISTING UTILITY POLE

173.00' PROPERTY LINE

12
3.1

4' 
PR

OP
ER

TY
 LI

NE

46
.5

6' 
PR

OP
ER

TY
 L

IN
E

5.0'

EXISTING
GREASE BIN

EXISTING BRICK
SCREEN WALLEXISTING TREE

EXISTING TREE
IN EXISTING PLANTER

EXISTING SHRUBS

EXISTING CURB

EXISTING TREE
IN EXISTING PLANTER

NEW 36" HIGH
FENCE - REMOVABLE

130.2' PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING CURB

PA
LM

ER
 S

TR
EE

T

NEW 36" HIGH RAILING

PERVIOUS CONCRETE
INDICATED IN HATCH AREA CONCRETE

NEW MAPLE TREE

NEW BOXWOOD AND MULCH

32'-0"

6'-
0"

14
'-2

"

C  DIMENSION
    WALL LINE
L

TRASH RECEPTACLE

CONCRETE

C  DIMENSION
    WALL LINE
L

PROPOSED OUTDOOR SEATING

REMOVE EXISTING NEWPAPER
VENDING MACHINES

AS100

ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN 

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

ARCHITECTURAL SITE  PLAN1
AS100

NORTH

18052PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

(DO NOT SCALE DRAWING)

DATE:

PROJECT:

WHISTLE STOP 
501 SOUTH ETON 

SHEET NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE:

586-321-7727
jawanmatti@gmail.com

BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 

JAWAN MATTI

N O T   F O R   C O N S T R U C T I O N
P R E L I M I N A R Y

5/10/2021 BISTRO LICENSE 

SEATING TOTAL:

INDOOR DINING: 56

INDOOR BAR: 8

OUTDOOR DINING: 28





WHISTLE STOP DINER RETAIL

0'-0"

TOP OF MASONRY

GRADE

16'-0"

14'-0"
TOP OF EXISTING MASONRY

1'-
0"

7'-
0"

54'-101
4"

A201

EXTERIOR 

18052PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

(DO NOT SCALE DRAWING)

DATE:

PROJECT:

WHISTLE STOP 
501 SOUTH ETON 

SHEET NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE:

586-321-7727
jawanmatti@gmail.com

BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 

JAWAN MATTI

N O T   F O R   C O N S T R U C T I O N
P R E L I M I N A R Y

5/10/2021 BISTRO LICENSE 

GLAZING CALCULATION:

AREA: 384 S.F.

GLAZING AREA: 258 S.F.

PERCENTAGE: 67%

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

WEST (ETON) ELEVATION1
A201



 

 

City Of Birmingham 
Regular Meeting Of The Planning Board 

Wednesday, June 9, 2021 
Held Remotely Via Zoom And Telephone Access 

 
Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held on June 9, 2021. 
Chair Clein convened the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 
 
A. Roll Call 
 
Present: Chair Scott Clein; Stuart Jeffares, Bert Koseck, Daniel Share, Janelle  

Whipple-Boyce, Bryan Williams; Alternate Board Members Jason Emerine, 
Nasseem Ramin; Student Representative Daniel Murphy (arrived 7:33 p.m.) 

 
All located in Birmingham, MI. 
     

Absent: Board Members Robin Boyle; Student Representative Jane Wineman 
  
Administration: Jana Ecker, Planning Director (“PD”) 
   Nick Dupuis, City Planner (“CP”) 

 Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

06-074-21 
 

B. Approval Of The Minutes Of The Regular Planning Board Meeting of May 26, 2021 
 
Mr. Jeffares said that on page three of the minutes it should be specified that Mr. Williams and 
Chair Clein were agreeing that outdoor hours should not go past 12 a.m. 
 
Mr. Williams and Chair Clein concurred. 
 
Motion by Mr. Koseck 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffares to approve the minutes of the Regular Planning Board 
Meeting of May 26, 2021 as amended. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Koseck, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Williams, Clein, Share 
Nays: None  
Abstain: Emerine 
 

06-075-21 
 
C. Chair’s Comments  
 
Chair Clein welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting and reviewed the meeting’s procedures.  
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

1 
 

06-076-21 
 
D. Review Of The Agenda  
 
There were no changes to the agenda. 
 

06-077-21 
 

E. Special Land Use Permit Review and Final Site Plan and Design Review 
 

1. 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Request for a Special Land Use Permit to consider  
approval of a new bistro serving alcoholic liquors in an existing building. 
 

CP Dupuis reviewed the item. He noted that this would actually be the second bistro in the Rail 
District since it would be in addition to the bistro in Whole Foods. 
 
Patrick Howe, attorney, Jawan Matti, architect, and Elda and Valter Xhomaqi, owners, were 
present on behalf of the applicant. 
 
Ms. Matti said she had proposed concrete for the area in front of the southern tenant space 
because she was concerned the sidewalk might otherwise be too choppy. She said she was not 
yet sure what the proposed pervious concrete would look like. 
 
Mr. Koseck said he was in favor of having more green space in front of the southern tenant space 
instead of concrete. He also asked that the front windows be updated to the City’s current 
standards of clear glass.  
 
Ms. Matti confirmed that the Xhomaqis would change out the current front window glass to clear 
glass to meet the current standards. 
 
Mr. Howe said that would leave the project with a 3% deficiency on the glazing and asked the 
Board to approve the plans as such since it is a renovation. 
 
Mr. Jeffares concurred with Mr. Koseck that the green space should be increased in front of the 
southern tenant space. 
 
In reply to the Chair, Mr. Howe stated that the alcoholic beverages served would not deviate from 
the sample menu provided. He stated that there would not be full bar service, and that if Whistle 
Stop in the future wanted to modify that proposal they would return for a SLUP amendment.  
 
In regards to Messrs. Koseck’s and Jeffares’ concerns about green space in front of the restaurant, 
Chair Clein noted complicating the pedestrian pathway in front of the restaurant could result in 
difficulties for visually impaired pedestrians navigating the space. He said he would be more in 
favor of possibly adding a new street tree, adding more pervious pavement, or adding planters 
and boxes to retain more greenery without causing additional challenges for visually impaired 
pedestrians.  
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

2 
 

PD Ecker confirmed for the Chair that she could work with the Engineering Department and the 
applicant to implement the Board’s comments and administratively approve the item if that was 
the Board’s recommendation. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said than if more green space could not be added then bike parking could be provided 
on the areas of extra concrete. 
 
Mr. Koseck concurred and suggested that benches or light fixtures could be other options for 
areas of excess concrete. 
 
Mr. Howe said the applicant would be happy to work with the City to improve the front 
streetscape. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce noted that the area around the tree proceeding north along the sidewalk did 
not need to be paved. She expressed appreciation for the applicant’s submitted designs generally, 
and agreed that the applicant could work with City departments to increase green space or give 
the concrete purpose in the front streetscape. 
 
Subsequent to Board discussion about vehicle door swings, Mr. Emerine noted that the sidewalk 
as proposed met the City’s code and ordinance standards. He noted that there was only one 
parallel parking space in front of the Whistle Stop. He said that while door swings might be a 
future topic for the Board to discuss more generally it was not an issue for this item from an 
engineering standpoint.  
 
PD Ecker confirmed that the sidewalk’s width as proposed met the City’s ordinance requirements. 
 
Public Comment 

 
James Schmier, resident of the Rail District and Board Member of Eton Two, said there were 
substantial issues with parking in the residential areas surround Whistle Stop. He said he was 
supportive of the bistro license being granted in general, but not until permit parking on the 
streets across from Attard was removed in order to decrease the number of vehicles parking in 
his neighborhood. 
 
In reply to Chair Clein, PD Ecker confirmed that permit parking is evaluated by the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board and the City Commission. 
 
A second resident of the Rail District and a Board Member of Eton One concurred that she was 
fine with the bistro license being granted but not before traffic, congestion, and pedestrian safety 
issues at Eton and Hazel were addressed.  
 
Chair Clein noted that the Whistle Stop is an existing establishment proposing a decreased amount 
of seating from what was previously approved. He stated that granting the bistro license would 
not likely have a significant impact on the number of patrons and would have no impact on the  
hours of operation. He said he also lives in the Rail District across from a restaurant and that 
parking has not been an issue as long as it is managed properly. He said that if the applicant 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

3 
 

works to improve the proposed streetscape as discussed he would support the item if it came to 
a vote. 
 
Mr. Emerine said he was happy to support the item moving forward. He noted that the Whistle 
Stop was an existing business with existing parking that would not exacerbate the area’s parking 
and traffic issues, and that they had reduced their seating from the previous proposal. He said 
granting Whistle Stop a bistro license would be a wonderful asset to the City. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said he wanted to see the Board’s comments integrated into the design and returned 
for Board review once more. He said the changes proposed were important and stated it was 
unusual to allow these types of changes to be administratively approved. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she was confident that the Planning and Engineering Departments, 
working with the applicant, would be able to integrate the Board’s comments without the Board 
needing to see the item again. She stated that the changes requested were not so significant that 
they required additional Board review. She also noted that PD Ecker had said she was comfortable 
resolving those issues as part of the administrative approval process.  
 
Mr. Share said he agreed with Ms. Whipple-Boyce given the small area to be updated and the 
modest changes required. He agreed with Chair Clein that permitting the addition of eight 
alcoholic beverages to the Whistle Stop’s menu would be unlikely to create an increase in parking 
congestion. He said he was not minimizing the parking issues in the area, only noting that denying 
this bistro application would not ameliorate those issues.  
 
Mr. Williams concurred. 
 
Mr. Williams also echoed some of the comments from the public. He stated that he had long been 
advocating for two stop signs to be added on Eton at Hazel. He explained the Police Department 
did not pursue his recommendations regarding the matter despite his previous appeals. He 
emphasized the dangerousness of the intersection of Eton and Hazel, and said installing the two 
stop signs he recommended would vastly improve traffic and pedestrian safety. 
 
Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Emerine to recommend approval to the City Commission of the Final 
Site Plan & Design Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – with the following 
conditions: 
1. The Planning Board approves the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront façade; 
2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage 
doors showing a VLT of 80%; 
3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; 
4. The applicant must work with the Planning and Engineering Departments to reduce 
the amount of concrete proposed and improve the streetscape as suggested by the 
Board for administrative approval;  
5. The applicant must replace the existing tinted windows with clear glass; and,  
6. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

4 
 

Public Comment 
 
Mr. Schmier asked that the public comments provided during the item’s discussion be included in 
the documentation sent to the Commission to demonstrate the shared concerns of both Eton One 
and Eton Two. 
 
Chair Clein confirmed that would occur. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares  
 
Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Emerine to recommend approval to the City Commission of the 
Special Land Use Permit for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – subject to the conditions of 
Final Site Plan & Design Review approval. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares 
 

06-078-21 
 
F. Study Session Items 

1. Public Hearing – Solar Panel Regulations  
 

PD Ecker reviewed the item. 
 
Mr. Koseck said he was uncomfortable moving the ordinance language forward given that they 
had not spoken with a third-party expert like they had done for glazing.  
 
Chair Clein noted that in formulating the recommended changes staff had reviewed solar panel 
ordinances from municipalities across the country. He expressed support for the recommended 
changes. 
 
Motion by Mr. Williams  
Seconded by Mr. Share to recommend to the City Commission amendments to Section 
4.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to remove roof-mounted solar electric systems from 
that section and to also amend Section 4.88, regarding alternative energy, to add 
amended solar energy system requirements and to reorganize the wind energy 
requirements without changing them. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

5 
 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas:  Williams, Share, Koseck, Clein, Whipple-Boyce, Jeffares, Emerine  
Nays:  None 
 

2. Public Hearing – Glazing Standards 
 

PD Ecker reviewed the item. She noted that ‘low iron content’ in the change to Article 9, Section 
9.02 – Definitions should be struck per previous Board discussions. 
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to recommend to the City Commission amendments to 
Sections 3.04, 4.90, and 9.02 of the Zoning Ordinance to change the definition of clear 
glazing and to amend the glazing standards as recommended by staff in the evening’s 
agenda packet. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Williams, Clein, Whipple-Boyce, Jeffares, Emerine, Koseck 
Nays: None 
 

06-079-21 
 

G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  
a. Communications  
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence 
c. Draft Agenda for next meeting  
d. Other Business  

 
PD Ecker updated the Board about potentially moving from virtual to hybrid live-virtual meetings 
in the near future. 
 
Brief informational replies regarding other Board member inquiries were also provided. 
 

06-080-21 
 
H. Planning Division Action Items  

a. Staff Report on Previous Requests 
b. Additional Items from tonight's meeting 

 
06-081-21 

 
I. Adjournment 
 
No further business being evident, the Chair adjourned the meeting at 9:10 p.m. 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

6 
 

             
             
            
 
Jana L. Ecker 
Planning Director 
 
 















Darwin #522 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 
A/White

24 A/Black 37 A/Moss 
Grey 

LIMITED 
QTY

50 
A/Cherry

73 
A/Cement

 

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 41 A/Bronze 75 A/Dark Green

 

DETAILS

  H
30.5"

W
23.5"

D
21.5"

SH
18"

AH
27"

Lbs
12.5

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Stacking Armchair

E-coated powder coat finish

Frame: Tubular Steel

Seat/Back: Extended Steel Mesh

Stackability: 8

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 4

Master Pack Dimensions: 36"x28"x25"

Master Pack Weight: 61 Lbs.

Master Cartons/Pallet: 6

Freight Class: 150

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



Darwin #521 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 
A/White

24 A/Black 37 A/Moss 
Grey 

LIMITED 
QTY

50 
A/Cherry

73 
A/Cement

 

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 41 A/Bronze 75 A/Dark Green

 

DETAILS

  H
30.5"

W
21"

D
21.5"

SH
18"

Lbs
10.5

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Stacking Side Chair

E-coated powder coat finish

Frame: Steel

Seat/Back: Extended Steel Mesh

Stackability: 8

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 4

Master Pack Dimensions: 22"x27.5"x36"

Master Pack Weight: 52 Lbs.

Density: 4.13

Freight Class: 150

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



Darwin #848 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 A/White 24 A/Black

 

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 37 A/Moss 
Grey

41 
A/Bronze

50 
A/Cherry

71 
A/Taupe 

73 
A/Cement

75 A/Dark 
Green

86 
A/Corten

 

DETAILS

  H
29"

TS
24'' Dia"

Lbs
26

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Tilt Top Nesting Table

E-Coated powder coat finish

Top Thickness: 3/4"

Top: Solid Steel

Base: Solid Steel

Assembly Required: Yes

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 1

Master Pack Dimensions: 6.5"x25"x25"

Master Pack Weight: 30 Lbs.

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



Darwin #529 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 
A/White

24 A/Black 37 A/Moss 
Grey 

LIMITED 
QTY

41 
A/Bronze 
LIMITED 

QTY

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 50 
A/Cherry

71 
A/Taupe 

73 
A/Cement

75 A/Dark 
Green

86 
A/Corten

DETAILS

  H
29"

BW
20"

TS
32" Sq"

Lbs
35

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Tilt Top Nesting Table

E-Coated powder coat finish

Top Thickness: 3/4"

Top: Solid Steel

Base: Solid Steel

Assembly Required: Yes

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 1

Master Pack Dimensions: 33"x5"x33"

Master Pack Weight: 40 Lbs.

Master Cartons/Pallet: 15

Freight Class: 70

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



shapes & sizes 

ocean master classic 

The Ocean Master Classic market style parasol is the culmination of durable engineering, stylish profiles and functional shade design. 

Manufactured to marine specifications, all Ocean Master parasols feature 100% replaceable parts for easy service and a 15/5-year 

warranty. Classic beauty. Classic TUUCI.

premium parasols

hexagon
ft. / m.

7.0' / 2.15

*8.5' / 2.6

*10.0' / 3.0

*11.0' / 3.4

octagon
ft. / m.

6.0' / 1.8

7.5' / 2.25

*9.0' / 2.75

*10.5' / 3.2

*11.5' / 3.6

square
ft. / m.

5.5' / 1.65

6.5' / 2.0

7.5' / 2.25

*8.5' / 2.6

rectangle
ft. / m.

5’ x 8' / 1.5 x 2.45

*6’ x 9' / 1.8 x 2.75

rectangle
auto-scope

ft. / m.

*8’ x 12' / 2.45 x 3.65

finial options 

venice 
aluminum

finish options

powder coat standard

textured bright white sea shell white ash grey hammered bronzeespresso jet blackpolished aluminum

features:

a. Manual Lift w/ Stainless Steel Security Pin

b. “Auto-Loc” Marine Pulley Lift System

c. “Easy Drive” Crank Lift System

d. Reinforced Strut Joints Construction

e. Armor-Wall Mast

f. Reinforced Pocket Construction

ba c

d e f

jawan
Typewritten Text
8'x8'Sunbrella Color: Logo Red 



 
 

City of Birmingham 2020 Bistro License Initial Application 
 
Applicant:    Whistle Stop Diner (Existing Restaurant) 
 
Address:    501 S. Eton, Birmingham, Michigan 48009 
 

:  Elda Xhomaqi, Owner 
    ph. (248) 635-2554 
 

:  JPHOWE, PLLC / J. Patrick Howe 
280 N. Old Woodward Ave., Suite 12, Birmingham, MI 48009  
ph. (248) 385-3112 

 
:  Jawan  Matti  

ph. (586) 321-7727 
 

History of Whistle Stop Diner 

It all started in 1965 when the Whistle Stop Diner originally 
fact that the Diner is located right next to the old train station where you would hear the 

 every day.  Customers would stop in to enjoy a delicious 
breakfast before boarding the train, or picking up a friend or family member.  As the years went 
by, the restaurant evolved into what it has become today, which is a popular breakfast, brunch 
and lunch staple in City ing rail district.  We started working here in 1999.  Elda as a waitress 
and Valter as a cook.  In 2012, we were presented with the opportunity to become the owners 
of the Whistle Stop Diner, and we jumped at it.   We have always tried to keep the same loving 
menu that includes the homemade bread, buttermilk pancakes made from scratch, fresh real 
turkey, and the delicious desserts.  In 2015, we purchased the Whistle Stop Diner in Pleasant 
Ridge which included a Class C liquor license.  That is when we became familiar with the demand 
for the service of alcoholic beverages.  We have developed a plan to completely renovate the 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

2 
 

Whistle Stop Diner, which ensures that the restaurant  maintains its menu and  hours of operation 
(7:00 AM  3:00 PM), and offer the alcoholic beverages that are served at our Pleasant Ridge 
location.  We believe that a Bistro license will allow us to meet our customer ds, and 
bring the Whistle Stop Diner forward, while maintaining that traditional, family friendly 
atmosphere everyone has come to love.  We are very appreciative of the opportunity to obtain 
a Bistro License from the City, and we look forward to working with the City to solidify The Whistle 
Stop Diner as a neighborhood Bistro in the City s rail district for many years to come.   

Restaurant Experience 

The Whistle Stop Diner is owned and operated by husband and wife team of Elda and Valter 
Xhomaqi.  They have each worked in the restaurant industry their entire lives, and are hands on, 
passionate operators.  They currently own and operate another Whistle Stop Diner in Pleasant 
Ridge, Michigan, which holds a Class C liquor license.  That establishment has an excellent 
operating record, and has not received any complaints from the City of Pleasant Ridge, or 
Michigan Liquor Control Commission.  The Xhomaqi family will continue to be the face and the 
leaders of the reimagined Whistle Stop Diner.  They will ensure that the proposed modified 
operations including the service of alcoholic beverages, are executed in a professional and 
responsible manner.   

Concept for Bistro  

If approved to operate as a Bistro, The Whistle Stop Diner plans to undertake a major renovation 
of the entire premises, as shown on the floor plan and renderings included herewith.  The 
restaurant will have 57 indoor seats, 8 counter stools for dining, and 26 seats on an outdoor patio 
in front of the restaurant on City sidewalk.  The outdoor patio will be fully enclosed to meet all 
City and State requirements.  All food and beverages will be served by wait staff to seated 
patrons.  While there is a counter area where patrons can be served directly by staff behind the 
counter, this area will not function as a standard bar area, and patrons will not be served unless 
seated at a table or counter stool.  The restaurant menu is included herewith, and there will be 
a limited menu of alcoholic beverages available for purchase with meals.  It is the applicant s 
intention for alcoholic beverages to simply be offered as a compliment to its food service, and 
the diner will not function as a bar.  In full compliance with the City of Birmingham Bistro 
ordinance, the Whistle Stop Dinner will:  

1. Have 8 counter stools; 
2. Not have any direct connection additional bar permits; 
3. Only serve alcoholic beverages to seated patrons; 
4. Not offering dancing or entertainment of any kind; 
5. Provide tables along existing windows facing S. Eton; and 
6. Provide a 26 seat outdoor patio on City sidewalk with enclosures that meet City and 

State requirements.   
 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

3 
 

Statement Regarding Impact Bistro Will Have on Mix of Commercial Uses in Birmingham 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner is a true family friendly restaurant.  If converted to a Bistro, the same 
great food will be offered in an updated setting with outdoor dining.  Alcoholic beverages will be 
served with meals during the hours of 7:00 AM to 3:00 PM seven (7) days per week.  Converting 
the diner into a Bistro will attract additional guests, bring additional activity to the S. Eton corridor 
with a 26 seat outdoor patio, and increase commercial traffic for other businesses in the rail 
district.     
 
Sample Menu 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner offers a delicious assortment of offerings for breakfast, brunch and lunch.  
A sample menu is incorporated herein, which provides the limited assortment of alcoholic 
beverages that would be offered if the diner is converted to a Bistro. 
 
Hours of Operation 
 
There will be no changes to the operation of the diner if converted to a Bistro.  The hours of 
operation would be:  
 
Monday  Saturday 7:00 AM to 3:00 PM 
Sunday  8:00 AM to 3:00 PM  
Outdoor Patio will be open when weather permits from May 1st   October 31st  each year 
 
Renovation Schedule 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner anticipates being closed for renovations from November 2020 through 
April 2021.      
 
Statement Regarding Ability to Finance, Construct & Operate Bistro 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner has an experienced team ready to renovate and convert the existing 
restaurant into a Bistro serving beer, wine and spirits.  All renovations will be funded with cash 
on hand, and the proposed conversion of The Whistle Stop Diner to a Bistro is not contingent on 
obtaining financing of any kind.  The Whistle Stop Diner has engaged a prominent local architect 
to assist with the design of the Bistro, and an experienced licensed contractor will be engaged to 
complete all renovations.  With respect to restaurant operations, owners Elda and Valtar 
Xhomaqi bring a lifetime of experience to the operation of The Whistle Stop Diner, and their very 
experienced wait staff will ensure that the Bistro is operated in a safe and responsible manner.   
All employees involved in the sale and service of alcoholic beverages will be required to pass a 
server training course approved by the Michigan Liquor Control Commission. 
 

 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

4 
 

Exterior Rendering for Bistro Conversion 

 

Floor Plan for Bistro Conversion 

 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

5 
 

Whistle Stop Diner Menu 

 



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE:  June 22nd, 2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

APPROVED: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Set Public Hearings for Amendments to Section 3.04, 4.90 and 9.02 of 
Chapter 126, Zoning – Window and Glazing Standards 

INTRODUCTION:  
The City of Birmingham has engaged in designing ordinances to fulfill the goals of the Downtown 
Birmingham 2016 Master Plan with regards to encouraging walkability and a healthy retail setting 
to increase the pedestrian environment and economic vitality of the City. Included in the many 
ordinances adopted over time has been the recent adoption of ordinances regulating glazing on 
Birmingham’s commercial buildings. Since adoption, City Staff have fielded inquiries from 
architects, developers, business owners and glass manufacturers about the standards, which have 
spilled over into several recent Planning Board Hearings (Lincoln Yard, Baldwin Library, Brooklyn 
Pizza). 

The City of Birmingham currently regulates glazing in Article 4, Section 4.90 (A) of the Zoning 
Ordinance: 

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above grade
shall be clear glazing.

2. Only Clear Glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing
above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited.

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow views
into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall may be
approved by the Planning Board.

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units or signs.
5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior grade.

On July 24th, 2017, in order to provide more clarity as to what determines “clear glazing”, the 
City Commission approved the definition of Clear Glazing as follows: 

 Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum visible light
transmittance of 80%.

Before the adoption of the Clear Glazing definition, applicants were required to provide glass 
samples and specification sheets to the Planning Board at Site Plan Review to determine if the 
type of glass proposed was considered clear to the point that it met the spirit and the intent of 

5J



the Ordinance. Applicants are still required to provide samples and specification sheets, but the 
Clear Glazing definition leaves little variation in the types of glass available to utilize. 
 
As alluded to, there has been some recent pushback by architects and developers citing the 
challenges they face meeting the energy standards as required by the Michigan Building Code 
while also meeting the City’s Glazing Standards. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
On November 13th, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the potential for ordinance amendments 
encompassing the Window Standards outlined in Article 3, Section 3.04(E) and Article 4, Section 
4.90 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Board directed City Staff to (1) research any possible 
differences in the Visual Light Transmittance (VLT) figures between different manufacturers and 
(2), research other cities to determine what VLT figures are used. 
 
On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board discussed the glazing ordinance amendments again, 
and expressed interest in hearing from more professionals such as a mechanical engineer, a 
glass vendor or supplier, or a glass contractor or installer. At that time, the Planning Division was 
unable to find and secure any additional professionals or glass experts to add any new information 
to the conversation other than the professionals that were already involved up to that point.  
 
On July 22nd, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the proposed ordinance language alongside a 
glass professional from Guardian Glass, who offered expertise and clarity on the proposed 
amendments and what is available in the glass world, and what the effect is on energy codes. 
The Planning Board entertained ideas for including low iron glass to the definition and discussing 
other items such as shelving and merchandise in windows. Ultimately, the Planning Board directed 
City Staff to make a few minor changes including eliminating the bronze requirement from Section 
3.04 (E)(4), and adding low iron glass and no tint to the definition of clear glazing for final 
consideration before the public hearing. 
 
On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the glazing standards, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-Fitr. 
 
On June 9th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to recommend approval to the City Commission 
amendments to Sections 3.04, 4.90 and 9.02 of the Zoning Ordinance to update the clarity 
requirements for storefront windows  
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the documentation and has no concerns. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The proposed amendments do not have any direct fiscal impacts to the City.   
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments, a legal ad was placed in a newspaper 
of local circulation to advertise the proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance in advance of 
the June 9th, 2021 Planning Board meeting.  In addition, a second legal ad will be placed in a 
newspaper of local circulation to advertise the public hearings at the City Commission once the 
date has been set. 



 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Board recommends that the City Commission consider ordinance amendments to 
Articles 3, 4 and 9 to amend the Window Standards and requirements for clear glazing.  City staff 
recommends that the City Commission set public hearings for July 26, 2021. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

 Draft Ordinance language  
 Planning Board Staff Reports 
 Relevant Minutes  

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To set public hearings on July 26, 2021 to consider the following amendments to Chapter 126, 
Zoning: 
 

1. Article 3, Section 3.04 (Specific Standards) to amend the Architectural Standards;  
2. Article 4, Section 4.90 (Window Standards) to amend storefront window requirements; 

and 
3. Article 9, Section 9.02 (Definitions) to redefine clear glazing and eliminate lightly tinted 

glazing. 
 

 



ORDINANCE NO.________ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 126, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF 
BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 3, SECTION 3.04(E), ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS, TO AMEND ARTICLE 
4, SECTION 4.90(A), WINDOW STANDARDS, AND TO AMEND ARTICLE 9, SECTION 9.02, 
DEFINITIONS TO REDFINE CLEAR GLAZING, AND TO ELIMINATE LIGHTLY TINTED GLAZING 

Article 3, Section 3.04 

E. Architectural standards. All buildings shall be subject to the following physical 
requirements: 

1. … 
2. … 
3. … 
4. Storefronts shall be directly accessible from public sidewalks. Each storefront must 

have transparent areas, equal to 70% of its portion of the facade, between one 
and eight feet from the ground. The wood or metal armature (structural elements 
to support canopies or signage) of such storefronts shall be painted, bronze, or 
powder-coated. 

5. Storefronts shall have mullion systems, with doorways and signage integrally 
designed. Mullion systems shall be painted, powder-coated, or stained. 

6. The glazed area of a facade above the first floor shall not exceed 35% of the total 
area, with each facade being calculated independently. 

7. Clear glazing is required on the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing is permitted on 
upper floors only storefront facade. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque 
materials or the back of shelving units or signs. 

Article 4, Section 4.90 – Window Standards (WN) 

A. Storefront Windows: Ground floor facades shall be designed with storefronts that have 
windows, doorways and signage, which are integrally designed. The following standards 
apply: 

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above 
grade shall be clear glazing. 

2. Only Clear glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted 
glazing above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited. 

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow 
views into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall 
may be approved by the Planning Board. 

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units 
or signs. 

5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior 
grade. 



Article 9, Section 9.02 – Definitions 

Clear Glazing: Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with no tint, a minimum 
visible light transmittance of 80%. 66% and a reflectivity of 15% or less.  

Lightly Tinted Glazing: Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum 
visible light transmittance of 70%. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDAINED this _________ day of _______________, 2021 to become effective upon publication. 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 



MEMORANDUM 
 Planning Division 

 
DATE:  June 9th, 2021 
 
TO:   Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
 
SUBJECT:  Window Glazing Standards – Public Hearing 
    
 
On November 13th, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the potential for ordinance amendments 
encompassing the Window Standards outlined in Article 3, Section 3.04(E) and Article 4, Section 
4.90 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Board directed City Staff to (1) research any possible 
differences in the Visual Light Transmittance (VLT) figures between different manufacturers and 
(2), research other cities to determine what VLT figures are used. 
 
Upon contacting representatives at Guardian Glass, Midwest Glass Fabricators, Michigan Glass 
Coating, and Service Glass, it was apparent that there is no noticeable difference in glass between 
manufacturers. That is, all else being equal, a pane of glass with a low-e coating at 68% Visual 
Light Transmittance from manufacturer X will look the same as the same pane of glass from 
manufacturer Y. The results may differ based on what type of glass is used in the construction, 
whether the glass is single pane, double pane or laminated, whether a film is used or not, etc.  
 
Additionally, the research done into the transparency requirements in other communities was 
confirmed and/or updated. The table below summarizes the confirmed VLT figure present in other 
Michigan communities, as well as some new figures: 
 
Grand Rapids, MI 70% VLT minimum 
Ferndale, MI 60% VLT minimum, 20% Reflectance 
Muskegon, MI 70% VLT minimum 
West Bloomfield, MI 75% VLT minimum 
Rochester Hills, MI 65% VLT minimum 
Pontiac, MI Non reflective, non-tinted 
Detroit, MI 70% VLT minimum 
Kalamazoo, MI Clear, non reflective 

 
On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board discussed the glazing ordinance amendments again, 
and expressed interest in hearing from more professionals such as a mechanical engineer, a 
glass vendor or supplier, or a glass contractor or installer. At that time, the Planning Division was 
unable to find and secure any additional professionals or glass experts to add any new information 
to the conversation other than the professionals that were already involved up to that point.  
 
On July 22nd, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the proposed ordinance language alongside a 
glass professional from Guardian Glass, who offered expertise and clarity on the proposed 
amendments and what is available in the glass world, and what the effect is on energy codes. 



The Planning Board entertained ideas for including low iron glass to the definition and discussing 
other items such as shelving and merchandise in windows. Ultimately, the Planning Board directed 
City Staff to make a few minor changes including eliminating the bronze requirement from Section 
3.04 (E)(4), and adding low iron glass and no tint to the definition of clear glazing for final 
consideration before the public hearing. 
 
On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the glazing standards, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-Fitr. 
 
The following ordinance amendments have been updated to reflect the most recent research.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MEMORANDUM 
 Planning Division 

 
DATE:  November 8, 2019 
 
TO:   Planning Board Members 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
   Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
 
APPROVED:  Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Study Session – Window Glazing Standards 
    
 
The City of Birmingham has engaged in designing ordinances to fulfill the goals of the Downtown 
Birmingham 2016 Master Plan with regards to encouraging walkability and a healthy retail setting 
to increase the pedestrian environment and economic vitality of the City. Included in the many 
ordinances adopted over time has been the recent adoption of ordinances regulating glazing on 
Birmingham’s commercial buildings. Since adoption, City Staff have fielded inquiries from 
architects, developers, business owners and glass manufacturers about the standards, which have 
spilled over into several recent Planning Board Hearings (Lincoln Yard, Baldwin Library, Brooklyn 
Pizza). The purpose of this memorandum is to present the Planning Divisions findings based on 
current ordinance, meetings with glass professionals, research into the science behind light and 
windows, and the conflicts that arise based on different regulations. 
 
The City of Birmingham currently regulates glazing in Article 4, Section 4.90 (A) of the Zoning 
Ordinance: 
 

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above grade 
shall be clear glazing. 

2. Only Clear Glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing 
above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited. 

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow views 
into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall may be 
approved by the Planning Board. 

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units or signs. 
5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior grade. 

 
On July 24th, 2017, in order to provide more clarity as to what determines “clear glazing”, the 
City Commission approved the definition of Clear Glazing as follows: 
 

• Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum visible light 
transmittance of 80%. 

 
Before the adoption of the Clear Glazing definition, applicants were required to provide glass 
samples and specification sheets to the Planning Board at Site Plan Review to determine if the 



type of glass proposed was considered clear to the point that it met the spirit and the intent of 
the Ordinance. Applicants are still required to provide samples and specification sheets, but the 
Clear Glazing definition leaves little variation in the types of glass available to utilize. 
 
As alluded to, there has been some recent pushback by architects and developers citing the 
challenges they face meeting the energy standards as required by the Michigan Building Code 
while also meeting the City’s Glazing Standards. Perhaps obviously, this is more of an issue for 
buildings being redeveloped or renovated as opposed to brand new buildings that are able to 
account for the 80% VLT glass as a part of an entire energy system strategy rather than working 
around existing conditions. This discussion gained prominence during the selection process for 
the glass at the Baldwin Library project, and has subsequently spilled over into several site plan 
reviews. To consider any changes to the current Window Standards, it is helpful to define several 
glass industry terms: 
 

Visible Light Transmittance – The amount of light in the visible portion of the spectrum 
that passes through a glazing material. 
 
U-Factor – A measure of thermal transmittance, through conduction, convection, and 
radiation; a measurement to quantify overall heat flow. 
 
R-Value – The capacity of an insulating material to resist heat flow. 
 
Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC) – The fraction of incident solar radiation admitted 
through a window, both directly transmitted and absorbed, and subsequently released 
inward. 
 
Reflectivity – The reflecting of varying amounts of light and solar heat, away from a 
glazing unit/building. 
 
Absorptance – Energy that is not transmitted through the glass or reflected off its 
surfaces. 
 
Low-E Coatings – Coatings (sputtered or pyrolytic) that minimizes the amount of 
ultraviolet and infrared light that can pass through glass without compromising the 
amount of visible light that is transmitted. 
 
Window Tinting – The process performed to glass for the purposes of absorbing a 
portion of the solar heat and blocking daylight for the purposes of reducing glare and the 
amount of solar energy transmitted through glass. 
 
Insulated Glass – Glass manufactured with trapped air or gas between them, which 
provides cost saving benefits through controlling heat gain/loss and condensation. 
 
Laminated Glass – Glass made of two or more layers of glass with one or more polymeric 
material layers bonded between the glass layers. 
 
Safety Glass - A type of commercial glass specifically designed to withstand blunt force. 
It is covered with a film or laminate to help hold the glass together and prevent further 



damage if it fractures, and the pane will break into many small “crumbs” instead of large 
shards. 
 

The issue in Birmingham has generally revolved around the Visible Light Transmittance (VLT) 
value that is controlled through the Zoning Ordinance. As evident by the many different facets of 
building design and window manufacturing in modern times, the topic appears to be more 
complicated than simply controlling for VLT. In meeting with glass industry professionals, it 
became evident that Low-E Coatings (LEC) are very important in the approach to glazing, as LEC’s 
contribute to less heat flow and increasing the R-Value, especially in areas with significant glazing. 
Utilizing LEC’s can help building meet the required U-Factors in the Michigan Building Code. 
 
Because the original intent of the glazing requirements in the Zoning Ordinance was to maintain 
storefronts that are active with the ability to see into buildings and the activity happening inside 
of them, the Ordinance was written to achieve those goals. However, according to research and 
glass professionals, there is another factor to consider when seeking clear glazing, which is 
reflectivity. Reflectivity becomes especially apparent during low light conditions. The surface on 
the brighter side acts like a mirror because the amount of light passing through the window from 
the darker side is less than the amount of light being reflected from the lighter side. This effect 
can be noticed from the outside during the day and from the inside during the night. This means 
that during a bright day outside, the reflectivity of a glazing unit may actually make the glass 
appear less clear. Special coatings, such as LEC’s, can reduce this effect.  
 
The important correlation between the VLT, LEC and reflectivity of glass is that LEC’s reduce the 
VLT of a glazing unit, but also significantly reduce the reflectivity. In other words, although a LEC 
can make glass appear darker in reducing the VLT figure, adding the LEC reduces the reflectivity, 
which actually makes the glazing unit appear clearer. As described above, LEC’s also increase R-
Values and Reduce the U-factor, so it would appear that allowing LEC’s (and subsequently 
lowering the VLT requirements) may prove beneficial towards both the energy and clarity issues 
that the City is concerned with. To quantify this concept, two glass samples were obtained by the 
Planning Division, and the properties are as follows: 
  
 Visible Light Transmittance Reflectance U-Factor 
Glass #1 (No LEC) 80% 15% 0.47 
Glass #2 (LEC) 68% 11% 0.29 

 
In applying the LEC, the glass sample’s reflectivity was reduced by 25%, while the u-factor was 
decreased by almost 40%. With this information, it became evident that the City may benefit 
from relaxing its VLT standards to allow for LEC’s, but in addition, adding regulations regarding 
the reflectivity of proposed glass. In regulating both, the City may be able to achieve the goals 
of clear glazing, while also having high performing buildings and reducing the environmental 
footprint of its developments. The City may also be able to take advantage of this information 
and readdress the concept of Window Tinting in the ordinance. 
 
The following is an example of how the Ordinance language could read: 
 
 

 



ORDINANCE NO.________ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 126, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF 
BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 3, SECTION 3.04(E), ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS, TO AMEND ARTICLE 
4, SECTION 4.90(A), WINDOW STANDARDS, AND TO AMEND ARTICLE 9, SECTION 9.02, 
DEFINITIONS TO REDFINE CLEAR GLAZING, AND TO ELIMINATE LIGHTLY TINTED GLAZING 

Article 3, Section 3.04 

E. Architectural standards. All buildings shall be subject to the following physical 
requirements: 

1. … 
2. … 
3. … 
4. Storefronts shall be directly accessible from public sidewalks. Each storefront must 

have transparent areas, equal to 70% of its portion of the facade, between one 
and eight feet from the ground. The wood or metal armature (structural elements 
to support canopies or signage) of such storefronts shall be painted, bronze, or 
powder-coated. 

5. Storefronts shall have mullion systems, with doorways and signage integrally 
designed. Mullion systems shall be painted, powder-coated, or stained. 

6. The glazed area of a facade above the first floor shall not exceed 35% of the total 
area, with each facade being calculated independently. 

7. Clear glazing is required on the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing is permitted on 
upper floors only storefront facade. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque 
materials or the back of shelving units or signs. 

Article 4, Section 4.90 – Window Standards (WN) 

A. Storefront Windows: Ground floor facades shall be designed with storefronts that have 
windows, doorways and signage, which are integrally designed. The following standards 
apply: 

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above 
grade shall be clear glazing. 

2. Only Clear glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted 
glazing above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited. 

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow 
views into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall 
may be approved by the Planning Board. 

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units 
or signs. 

5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior 
grade. 



Article 9, Section 9.02 – Definitions 

Clear Glazing: Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum visible 
light transmittance of 80%. 68% and a reflectivity of 15% or less. 

Lightly Tinted Glazing: Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum 
visible light transmittance of 70%. 
 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

5 
 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas:  Williams, Share, Koseck, Clein, Whipple-Boyce, Jeffares, Emerine  
Nays:  None 
 

2. Public Hearing – Glazing Standards 
 

PD Ecker reviewed the item. She noted that ‘low iron content’ in the change to Article 9, Section 
9.02 – Definitions should be struck per previous Board discussions. 
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to recommend to the City Commission amendments to 
Sections 3.04, 4.90, and 9.02 of the Zoning Ordinance to change the definition of clear 
glazing and to amend the glazing standards as recommended by staff in the evening’s 
agenda packet. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Williams, Clein, Whipple-Boyce, Jeffares, Emerine, Koseck 
Nays: None 
 

06-079-21 
 

G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  
a. Communications  
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence 
c. Draft Agenda for next meeting  
d. Other Business  

 
PD Ecker updated the Board about potentially moving from virtual to hybrid live-virtual meetings 
in the near future. 
 
Brief informational replies regarding other Board member inquiries were also provided. 
 

06-080-21 
 
H. Planning Division Action Items  

a. Staff Report on Previous Requests 
b. Additional Items from tonight's meeting 

 
06-081-21 

 
I. Adjournment 
 
No further business being evident, the Chair adjourned the meeting at 9:10 p.m. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 14, 2021 

 

4 
 

 
Chair Clein concurred with Mr. Jeffares’ recommendation regarding wall- or facade-mounted 
solar panels. 
 
Mr. Boyle asked if there was any near-future technology the ordinance should address. 
 
Chair Clein said that strips of solar panels being used to line bicycle paths was being tried in 
Europe, but that wide-spread implementation would not be in the near future. 
 
In reply to Mr. Share, CP Dupuis said he did not recommend screening for ancillary equipment 
because it would increase the difficulty of installation and maintenance. CP Dupuis noted this 
ordinance review was being conducted with an aim towards reducing the impediments to using 
solar panels in the City. He added that users of solar panels also needed quick access to 
disconnect features.  
 
Mr. Share recommended that the ordinance states that users of solar panels are not exempt 
from screening otherwise required by the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
CP Dupuis said he could update the recommended ordinance language with the Board’s 
comments and have it ready for a public hearing on May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion by Mr. Boyle 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffares to set a public hearing on solar panel regulations ordinance 
language for the regular Planning Board meeting of May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Boyle, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Share, Koseck 
Nays: None  
 

2. Glazing Standards 
 
CP Dupuis summarized the item. 
 
Mr. Share said he had recent occasion to purchase some low-iron glass, and that it added about 
15% to the cost. He stated that he found the difference between low-iron and regular glass to 
be visually immaterial. He suggested that the low-iron requirement be removed from the 
recommended language, saying he thought it inappropriate to burden owners and developers 
with the extra cost.  
 
Mr. Koseck and Ms. Whipple-Boyce, two other members of the Board familiar with glazing 
standards from their professions, did not dispute Mr. Share’s recommendation when asked. 
 
Motion by Mr. Share 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 14, 2021 

 

5 
 

Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to set a public hearing on Article 9, Section 9.02 
Definition of Clear Glazing as presented without the reference to low-iron content for 
the regular Planning Board meeting of May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Koseck, Boyle, Jeffares 
Nays: None  
 

04-053-21 
 
G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  

a. Communications  
 
PD Ecker reminded the Board that the Commission would be holding a special meeting regarding 
the 2040 Master Plan on April 19, 2021 and that the Board had been asked to attend. 

 
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence 
 

CP Dupuis explained that the owner of EM Bistro wanted to change their outdoor dining chairs to 
sculptural, white ones constructed of polypropylene. CP Dupuis noted that while polypropylene 
would not usually be considered a high-enough quality material for outdoor bistro chairs, these 
chairs differed significantly from standard plastic seating. 
 
Mr. Koseck said the ordinance’s main concern regarding the materials for outdoor bistro seating 
is longevity. He said that these chairs would withstand the elements and would not likely have 
longevity issues. 
 
The Board, with the exception of Chair Clein, endorsed allowing an administrative approval for 
the request. Chair Clein’s dissent arose from a dislike of the chairs and concern regarding their 
recyclability.  
 
CP Dupuis said he would proceed with an administrative approval of the request.  
 
CP Dupuis then asked the Board how the matter of outdoor dining decks should be addressed 
once the Covid-19 guidelines for outdoor dining decks in the City expire.  
 
Mr. Boyle said the City should decide on a more comprehensive approach to how outdoor dining 
should interact with the streetscape in Birmingham over the next five to ten years before specific 
design guidelines for outdoor dining should be created.  
 
Mr. Jeffares noted that the Board would need to come up with an answer quickly in order to have 
recommendations ready for Fall 2021. 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

1 
 

There were no changes to the agenda. 
 

07-89-20 
 
E. Study Session Items 
 

1. Glazing Requirements 
 
City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item and Kreg Hatfield, from Guardian Glass, was present to 
answer questions. 
 
Mr. Hatfield explained that: 

● All manufacturers calculate VLT and reflectivity percentages in the same way.  
● Most people would be unlikely to notice the difference between 66% and 80% VLT. 
● When glass gets into the range of 40-50% VLT it tends to begin to look less clear. Tinting 

would reduce the VLT even further. 
● The glass make-up at the Brookside development and the glass make-up at the Daxton 

Hotel have identical coatings on the glass. The difference is that the Brookside 
development used a basic clear glass while the Daxton used a low iron glass. The 
Brookside glass has a VLT of 68% and the Daxton has a VLT of 70% because removing 
some iron makes glass a bit more clear. 

● Glass can be rated in terms of reflectivity both from the inside-out and from the outside-
in. It is important to keep those percentages about the same. 

● For basic, first floor applications the ordinance should include language about prohibiting 
tinted glass. There would be no way for property owners to meet the proposed ordinance 
requirements if they have both tinted glass and low-e coating. 

● There would likely be no need to mention low iron glass because it would meet ordinance 
requirements should a property owner choose to use it. Low iron glass tends to cost 
significantly more than regular clear glass. It also tends to be a bit more efficient in terms 
of retaining the heating and cooling of the building’s interior. 

● Clear glass tends to have a bit of a green hue versus low iron glass. For protection three 
coats of silver were added to the library windows’ glass, and those layers of silver also 
add a bit of a greenish hue. If the library had used low iron glass with the same layers of 
silver the green tint would still be present but not as substantially. 

● Low iron glass is widely enough available that no property owners would have a difficult 
time sourcing it should it be required by ordinance. Cost would be the biggest reason not 
to require low iron glass via ordinance. 

● He has not heard of any municipality requiring low iron glass in their ordinances.  
● Any glass sample from an architect submitted to the City should specify whether it is low 

iron glass. 
● The Brookside development is the best example of what kind of glass would be permissible 

under the proposed ordinance language. Brookside’s glass is regular clear glass and not 
low iron. 

 
Mr. Share said the Board should probably not require low iron glass, especially in a time when 
the City is trying to help retailers weather the financial impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

2 
 

In reply to Mr. Koseck, Planning Director Ecker stated that the ordinance does not specify how 
many feet from a window shelving must be placed. She said there could be some value in adding 
that to the ordinance.  
 
City Planner Dupuis said it might also be worthwhile to consider a vertical height limit for shelving 
if a horizontal one is added.  
 
Mr. Koseck suggested that some of the language could be clarified in Article 3, Section 3.04 of 
the ordinance. He said ‘bronze’ should probably be struck from that section. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce concurred with Mr. Koseck regarding removing the word ‘bronze’. She said 
she agreed that it might be useful to have a horizontal distance requirement for how far shelving 
must be from a window. She said a typical aisle’s width might be the appropriate distance. She 
said it would also be helpful to know the cost difference between low iron and clear glass. 
 
City Planner Dupuis asked how the Board might want a horizontal distance requirement to deal 
with retail items displayed in a window.  
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said that if retailers displayed their merchandise attractively in their windows 
she would be supportive of that. 
 
Mr. Williams said the Board should come up with language regarding displaying merchandise in 
windows and shelving before it goes to a public hearing.  
 
In reply to Chairman Clein, Planning Director Ecker said that the ordinance’s current restrictions 
against shelving in the windows work well and are generally enforceable. She said that any 
examples that seem to be in egregious violation of that standard tend to have existed before the 
ordinance went into effect. 
 
Mr. Jeffares recommended the Board conclude its discussion about glazing without trying to 
presently integrate new topics. He noted the Board had been studying glazing for months and 
had worked hard to prepare for the review, and thought the other topics being raised deserved 
a similar amount of thoroughness at a future date.  
 
Mr. Koseck said he would be fine with Mr. Jeffares’ recommendation that questions of shelving 
and merchandising in windows be discussed further at a later date.  
 
The Board asked Planning Director Ecker to add ‘no tint’ and ‘low iron glass’ to the definition of 
clear glazing, with the understanding that ‘low iron’ could possibly be removed after discussion 
at the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Koseck to set a public hearing on August 26, 2020 to consider Zoning 
Ordinance amendments to Article 3, Section 3.04(E), Article 4, Section 4.90(A) and 
Article 9, Section 9.02 to change the Clear Glazing standards and definition to require 
low iron glass, no tint, to relax the Visual Light Transmittance requirements and to 
add reflectivity requirements. 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

3 
 

 
Mr. Share said he was in favor of moving the topic to a public hearing and not in favor 
of mandating low iron glass. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Koseck, Williams, Boyle, Clein, Jeffares  
Nays: Share 
 
Mr. Boyle echoed Ms. Whipple-Boyce’s previous statement that the Board should have 
comparative costs for low iron and clear glass to review. He said the Board should be aware how 
a low iron requirement might be layering on costs to development in the City. 
 
Chairman Clein thanked Mr. Hatfield for sharing his expertise with the Board. 
 

2. Solar Panel Review Process 
 

City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item.  
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she recently encountered a large solar battery in some work she was 
doing in another community, and cautioned that the Board might not want to allow any and all 
ancillary equipment for solar panels to be outside the home given the potential range of sizes.  
 
Mr. Williams said he was fine with solar panels but might be less fine with ancillary equipment on 
the side of a home given that it might be more prominent in a neighbor’s view. 
 
City Planner Dupuis asked if Mr. Williams would prefer the ancillary equipment to be mounted 
only to the rear of the home, or to possibly be screened in some way.  
 
Mr. Williams said he was not sure what the best approach would be. He said he thought it would 
depend on the house, the location of the neighboring properties, and the type of equipment. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said that moving the equipment to the rear of a home would have the 
benefit of being further from a neighbor’s yard because of the greater required setback. She 
noted that, in contrast, equipment on the side of a home might be only five feet from the property 
line. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce agreed that placement would depend on the size of the equipment. She said 
that a small electric meter or connection into the house to the battery need not be limited to the 
rear or interior of a home, whereas larger equipment should be. She said that the Board could 
likely specify appropriate locations with more information on the most commonly used kinds of 
equipment. 
 
City Planner Dupuis said he could find pictures of the City’s most recent solar panel approvals to 
provide the Board with a better sense of the size of the ancillary equipment. 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
January 8, 2020 

 

5 
 

● Ground mounted solar panels could enable residents who do not want to mount panels 
on their roof to still have access to some solar power. Ground mounted solar panels would 
also allow businesses to use solar-powered trash compactors.  

 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said that she did not yet know enough about ground-mounted solar panels, 
but that if the City proceeded toward allowing them she would prefer that their allowable yard 
coverage be calculated by percentage and not by a set amount. She also told City Planner Dupuis 
that there had been a conversation regarding wind energy facilities about ten years hence, and 
that if he could find the minutes from that conversation it might help provide some useful 
information on the topic.  
 
Mr. Koseck said the Board might want to consider not allowing solar panels at grade because it 
could encourage residents to do away with any greenery that could get in the way of the panels. 
He also said that 40 square feet of solar panels on the ground might not be enough to generate 
a worthwhile amount of energy. Mr. Koseck added that solar panels are impervious which would 
also raise ordinance issues in terms of ground cover. Since most people would likely rather not 
install solar panels at grade anyways, Mr. Koseck said he would just as soon prohibit it to avoid 
these issues since the potential environmental gain would likely not be significant in those cases. 
 
Mr. Jeffares echoed Mr. Koseck’s concerns about ground mounted solar panels and said he would 
prefer to continue studying that possibility and whether it would be worthwhile. 
 
Ms. Ramin noted that on page 625, in section G, the phrase “If a wind energy facility has not 
been removed within 30 days a deadline specified by the City” would need to be clarified. 
 
Mr. Share noted that on page 621, Item F, the word should be ‘complemented’, not 
‘complimented’. He agreed with Mr. Koseck and Mr. Jeffares that ground mounted solar panels 
were likely not necessary to pursue at this time.  
 
Chairman Clein expressed agreement with Mr. Koseck, Mr. Jeffares, and Mr. Share regarding 
ground mounted solar panels.  
 
In reply to Chairman Clein, City Planner Dupuis said he would do more research on the benefits 
and drawbacks of the anti-reflective coating some other cities’ ordinances require for solar panels.  
 

4. Glazing Standards  
 

City Planner Dupuis presented the item.  
 
Mr. Koseck said he had a list of two or three people he would be reaching out to soon who might 
be able to contribute meaningfully to the glazing standards conversation. He said that once he 
had done that he would loop City Planner Dupuis in as appropriate. 
 
Chairman Clein explained that in February 2020 and April 2020 there will only be one Planning 
Board meeting per each month and that both of those meetings are dedicated to master plan 
discussion. He suggested that Board members look at their calendars to see if a special meeting 
could be scheduled to wrap up some of these other study session topics. He added that even if 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
January 8, 2020 

 

6 
 

the Board moved forward with a resolution on this item during the present meeting, due to 
noticing requirements the public hearing would not occur until the second meeting in March 2020. 
Chairman Clein recommended the Board take the time to do adequate research, as a result, 
before moving further forward on this. 
 
Mr. Emerine suggested it might be worthwhile to speak with glass contractors in addition to glass 
vendors in order to get more insight. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said she would recommend reaching out to a mechanical engineer, a 
glass vendor or supplier, and a glass contractor or installer.  
 
City Planner Dupuis confirmed he would reach out to people who work with glass regularly in 
architectural settings and would return to the Board with further information.  
 

01-06-20 
 
G.  Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  

 
a. Communications  
 
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence  
 
c. Draft Agenda for the next Regular Planning Board Meeting (January 22,  
2020)  

 
● Whistle Stop Design Review 
● 35001 Woodward - Amended CIS and Amended Preliminary Site Plan 
● Fred Lavery Porsche SLUP 
● Two small solar panel items 

 
d. Other Business – Discuss amending Rules of Procedure for January 22,  
2020 meeting  
 

Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Share to amend the Rules of Procedure for the Planning Board’s 
January 22, 2020 meeting to allow for the review of the above items as described by 
Planning Director Ecker. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Share, Emerine, Clein, Jeffares, Ramin, Koseck 
Nays: None  
Abstain: Emerine, Ramin 
 

 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
November 13, 2019 

 

4 
 

Planning Director Ecker told Mr. Arpin that the D5 study is available to the public in previous 
Planning Board agendas posted on the City’s website.  
 
In reply to a request by Mr. Arpin, Chairman Clein asked that the City Manager and City 
Commission consider whether it might be useful to provide the D5 study on 
thebirminghamplan.com website as well. 
 
Mr. Arpin shared his gratitude for the Board’s thoroughness when discussing a CIS, and expressed 
concern that, in his opinion, the Board was not proceeding as thoroughly when discussing 
potential zoning changes that would impact a three or four block area of the City. 
 
Chairman Clein thanked Mr. Arpin for his comments. 
 
Patrick Howe, attorney representing the Birmingham Place Condo Association, spoke. He 
reviewed the minutes from the February 13, 2017 City Commission meeting minutes in order to 
highlight the original intent of the D5 ordinance. Mr. Howe argued that the only piece of property 
that was both abutting and adjacent was the south strip next to the 555 Building.  He noted that 
the entire transcript of the D5 portion of the February 13, 2017 City Commission meeting was 18 
minutes long, and echoed Mr. Arpin’s assertion that more discussion is merited before an 
amendment to the D5 ordinance is considered.  
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to set a public hearing for December 11, 2019 for the two 
proposed ordinance amendments to Article 3, section 3.04 (A) and Article 9, 
Definitions, Section 9.02 as presented on pages 132 and 133 of the Board’s November 
13, 2019 agenda.  
 
Duraid Markus, owner of 469-479 S. Old Woodward, asked whether an adjacent building’s height 
would be calculated from the height of the closest point of a building, which could be five stories, 
for example, or from the highest part of a building as a whole, which could extend to nine stories 
on the far side of a building. 
 
Planning Director Ecker confirmed for Mr. Markus and for Michele Prentiss that a building’s height 
is calculated based off of a building’s overall height, and not just the height of the closest part of 
the building.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Williams, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Clein, Jeffares, Koseck 
Nays: None 
 

2. Glazing Standards 
 
City Planner Dupuis presented the item.  
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
November 13, 2019 

 

5 
 

Ms. Whipple-Boyce confirmed based on her research that the 80% VLT glass required in the City’s 
ordinance causes much more heat loss and gain depending on the seasons, increases the cost of 
heating and cooling the building, could change the capacity of the HVAC to make up for that gain 
and loss, and that those facts will remain true as long as 80% VLT is required. She said that 
people in the industry she spoke with advised that if the VLT requirement is lowered to 68% 
those issues could be mitigated. She said determining how to accommodate low-e glass will have 
environmental benefits in addition to the benefits it would bring developers and builders.  
 
Mr. Share and Ms. Whipple-Boyce both wondered about possible differences between one 
manufacturer’s 68% VLT glass and another’s.  
 
City Planner Dupuis and Planning Director Ecker said they would return with more information on 
the topic for the Board’s next meeting. 
 
In reply to Mr. Boyle, City Planner Dupuis explained glass professionals advised staff that only 
the VLT and the reflectivity affect the transparency of glass, which is why the recommended 
wording only mentions those two criteria. 
 
In reply to Chairman Clein, City Planner Dupuis said he could do further research on what other 
Michigan cities require for VLT since the table with VLT figures included in this item was produced 
sometime in 2017. 
 
In reply to Chairman Clein, Planning Director Ecker said she would try to find someone who could 
provide the City with more insight into the various considerations at play in this discussion.  
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce stressed the environmental impact of this decision and said the decision 
should move towards the highest VLT glass that does not lead to negative environmental results.  
 

3. Master Plan Review  
 
Planning Director Ecker presented the item. 
 
Chairman Clein thanked Planning Director for putting together the proposed schedule. 
 
Subsequent to discussion, Board consensus was that they would schedule the master plan 
discussions for regular study session meetings beginning in January 2020 and running through 
May 2020. Notes would be provided to DPZ after each study session. The Board agreed to start 
those study session meetings at 7 p.m. instead of 7:30 p.m. 
 
Planning Director Ecker noted that a member of the public could always provide their feedback 
on a previous meeting’s topic as well.  
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce recommended creating an insert with the schedule of these meetings to mail 
out to all Birmingham residents in the City’s 2020 calendar. She advocated for allowing staff to 
determine the most appropriate division of the master plan topics over the four or five study 
sessions. 
 



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE:  June 22nd, 2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

APPROVED: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Set Public Hearings for Zoning Amendments to Sections 4.09 and 4.88 
of Chapter 126, Zoning – Solar Electric Systems 

INTRODUCTION:  
In 2009, the City Commission adopted ordinance language permitting solar panels on structure 
roofs in all zoning districts throughout the City. Since its adoption, there have been many solar 
panels installed across the City, and several in the process of being approved by the Planning 
Board and/or Planning Division. 

BACKGROUND: 
On May 22nd, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the evolution of solar panels and their 
perception that aesthetics are no longer an issue that should require a full Design Review by the 
Planning Board. The Board members also revisited a suggestion that was discussed in 2009, 
which was to waive fees for solar panel applications to encourage alternative energy use and 
sustainability. 

On June 17th, 2019, the Planning Board and City Commission discussed the potential for ordinance 
amendments to simplify the review process for solar panels. During the meeting, a consensus 
was reached that the City’s solar ordinance was in need of an update. 

On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed revised ordinance language and directed staff 
to make a few minor revisions and clarifications which involved the removal of ground mounted 
solar facility standards and adding language for anti-reflective coatings. 

On July 15th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the revised language a second time and made 
a request to learn more about ancillary equipment and what types of such may be placed on a 
home, and where it may be commonly placed. 

On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the alternative energy ordinance, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-
Fitr. The Planning Board also requested that language be added to preclude wall of façade-
mounted solar panels due to the potential issues with aesthetics and neighboring properties. 

5K



On June 9th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to recommend approval to the City Commission 
amendments to Section 4.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to remove roof-mounted solar electric 
systems from that section and to also amend Section 4.88, regarding alternative energy, to add 
amended solar energy system requirements and to reorganize the wind energy requirements 
without changing them. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the documentation and has no concerns. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The proposed amendments do not have any direct fiscal impacts to the City.   
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments, a legal ad was placed in a newspaper 
of local circulation to advertise the proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance in advance of 
the June 9th, 2021 Planning Board meeting.  A second legal ad will also be placed in a newspaper 
of local circulation to advertise the public hearings at the City Commission once the date has been 
set. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Board recommends that the City Commission consider ordinance amendments to 
Article 4 to amend the Roof Mounted Solar Electric System standards.  City staff recommends 
that the City Commission set public hearings for July 26, 2021. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

 Draft Ordinance language  
 Planning Board Staff Reports 
 Relevant Minutes  

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To set public hearings for July 26, 2021 to consider the following amendments to Chapter 126, 
Zoning: 
 

1. Article 4, Section 4.09 (Essential Services) to remove Roof Mounted Solar Electric Systems; 
and 

2. Article 4, Section 4.88 (Alternative Energy) to add amended Roof Mounted Solar Electric 
Systems language. 
 

 



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 
 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 
 
TO AMEND ARTICLE 4, SECTION 4.09, ESSENTIAL SERVICES, TO REMOVE ROOF-MOUNTED 
SOLAR ELECTRIC SYSTEMS 
 
 
4.09 ES-01 
 
This Essential Services Standards section applies to the following districts: 
 
B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P PP R1 R1A R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 TZ1 TZ2 TZ3 
 
The following essential services standard applies: 
 

A. Essential Services: Essential services shall be permitted as authorized and regulated by 
law and other ordinances of the city and are exempt from the application of the Zoning 
Ordinance.  
 

B. Roof-Mounted Solar Electric Systems: 
1. Roof-mounted solar panels are permitted on buildings and structures in all zoning 

districts and may include integrated solar panels as the surface layer of the roof 
structure with no additional apparent change in relief or projection, or separate 
flush mounted solar panels attached to the roof; 

2. Separate, non-integrated flush-mounted solar panels shall be located on a rear- or 
side-facing roof, which do not front any street, unless such installation is proven 
to be ineffective or impractical. If installation is not practical on a rear- or side-
facing roof, any other placement in all zoning districts shall be subject to a Design 
Review by either the Planning Board (non-historic properties) or the Historic 
District Com- mission (historic properties); 

3. Separate flush-mounted solar panels installed on a building or structure with a 
sloped roof surface shall not project vertically above the peak of the roof to which 
it is attached, or project vertically more than five (5) feet above a flat roof 
installation; and 

4. No solar panels shall ever project higher than the permitted building height in any 
zoning district. 

 
 

ORDAINED this ________ day of ____________, 2021 to become effective upon publication. 
 



 
_________________________________ 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 
 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 
 
TO AMEND ARTICLE 4, SECTION 4.88, ALTERNATIVE ENERGY, TO ADD AMENDED SOLAR 
ENERGY SYSTEMS REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
4.88 UT-01: Alternative Energy 
 
This Utility Standards section applies to the following districts: 
 
B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P TZ3 
 
The following utility standards applies: 
 

A. Purpose and Intent: The purpose and intent of the city is to balance the need for clean 
and renewable energy resources with the necessity to protect the public health, safety 
and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the integrity, character, property values, 
and aesthetic quality of the community at large. The city shall allow as an accessory use, 
with review by the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission, the construction 
and operation of wind energy facilities and to provide standards for the placement, design, 
construction, monitoring, modification and removal of wind facilities that address public 
safety, minimize impacts on scenic, natural and historic resources without significantly 
increasing the cost or decreasing the efficiency of such systems. 
 

B. Applicability: This section applies to all on-site wind energy facilities. Any physical 
modification to existing wind energy facilities that materially alters the type, increases the 
size, or increases the adverse impact on surrounding properties, shall require a review by 
the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission. 
 

C. Planning Approval Required: 
 

1. Wind energy facilities shall be limited to the average needs of the structure on the 
same parcel and shall be a permitted accessory use; subject to the required 
standards of this section provided they are incidental and secondary to a permitted 
principal use on the same parcel. The rated capacity of wind energy facilities must 
correlate with consumption. 
 

2. Wind energy facilities may be connected to the electrical grid when a parcel on 
which the system is installed also receives electrical power supplied by a utility 



company. If a parcel on which a system is installed also receives electrical power 
supplied by a utility company, excess electrical power generated and not presently 
needed for on-site use may be used by the utility company in accordance with 
applicable state and federal law. 
 

3. Wind monitoring (anemometer) towers are permitted in all non-residential zoning 
districts subject to the issuance of a temporary use permit and a building permit. 
Permanent anemometer towers shall be subject to review and approval in 
conjunction with wind energy facility. 
 

4. No wind energy facility shall be erected, constructed, installed or modified as 
provided in this section without first obtaining approval from the Planning Board 
and/or Historic District Commission. The construction of a wind energy facility shall 
be permitted in non-residential zoning districts as an accessory use subject to the 
approval of the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission and provided 
that the use complies with all requirements set forth in this section. 
 
The Planning Board and/or the Historic District Commission have the discretion to 
deny plans based on aesthetics of the wind energy system. All such wind energy 
facilities shall be constructed and operated in a manner that minimizes any adverse 
visual, safety, and environmental impacts. No approval of any board or commission 
shall be granted unless it is found that: 
 

a. The specific site is an appropriate location for such use; 
b. The use is not expected to adversely affect the area; 
c. There is not expected to be any serious hazard to people, property or   

animals from the use; 
d. No nuisance is expected to be created by the use; and 
e. Adequate and appropriate facilities will be provided for the proper 

operation of the use. 
 

5. Approvals may also impose reasonable conditions, safeguards and limitations and 
require the applicant to implement all reasonable measures to mitigate unforeseen 
adverse impacts of the wind energy facility, should they occur. 
 

6. Multiple wind energy facilities may be permitted provided they meet all 
requirements specified in the Zoning Ordinance and their number and placement 
is appropriate for the site and is architecturally and visually compatible with the 
surrounding area. 

 
D. General Site Standards: 

 
1. Height: No wind energy facility may exceed the maximum permitted or actual legal 

non-conforming building height by more than 20 ft. in any district 
 



2. Noise: Except during short-term events including utility outages and severe wind 
storms, wind energy facilities shall be designed, installed and operated so that 
noise generated by the system shall be the lesser of 60 dB as measured at any 
closest inhabited dwelling or 55 dB at the boundary of any adjacent property line. 

 
3. Location: 

 
a. The center of a wind energy facility turbine tower shall be set back no less 

than 5 feet from all lot lines and rights-of-way or no less than one-half the 
diameter of the rotor and blades, whichever is greater. 

b. The swept area of wind energy facilities must be set back at least 3 feet 
from any lot line. 

c. Wind energy facilities may not be located between the front lot line and 
the front wall of the principal use. 

d. No portion of any wind energy facility’s exposed moving parts shall extend 
to within 20 feet of the ground, or to within 10 feet of any overhead utility 
lines, or as determined by a utility company. 
 

4. Screening: Screening of ground mounted mechanical equipment is required in 
accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 SC-01 Screening of the Zoning Ordinance, 
in order to mitigate aesthetic impacts upon the neighborhood. 
 

5. Shadow Flicker: Wind energy facilities shall be sited in a manner that minimizes 
shadowing or flicker on adjacent properties. The applicant has the burden of 
proving that this effect does not have significant adverse impacts on neighboring 
or adjacent uses through siting or mitigation. 
 

6. Access and Safety: 
 

a. Wind energy facilities shall be designed and installed so as to prevent 
unauthorized access to electrical and mechanical components and shall be 
secured or locked at all times when service personnel are not present. 

b. Climbing apparatus shall be located in a place that is in accordance with 
MIOSHA standards as to prevent climbing. 
 

7. Removal: Any wind energy facility that has not been used in 180 days, or has 
otherwise been deter- mined abandoned, shall be removed by the owner and/or 
operator of the facility. If a wind energy facility has not been removed within 30 
days a deadline specified by the City, the City of Birmingham may remove or secure 
the removal of the facility at the owner/operator’s sole expense. All equipment 
associated with the facility shall be removed at the same time. 
 

E. Design Standards: 
 



1. Color and Finish: The Planning Board shall have discretion over the turbine color, 
although a neutral, non-reflective exterior color designed to blend with the 
surrounding environment is encouraged. If the site is located within a historic 
district , the Historic District Commission will have discretion over the turbine color. 
 

2. Lighting: Wind Energy Facilities may be lighted only if required by the Federal 
Aviation Administration. Lighting of other parts of the wind energy facility, or 
related structures, shall be limited to that required for safety and operational 
purposes, and shall be reasonably shielded from abutting properties. If lighting is 
necessary a photometric plan is required. 
 

3. Signage: Signs on the wind energy facility shall comply with the requirements of 
the City of Birmingham’s Sign Ordinance, and shall be limited to: 

 
Wind energy facilities shall not be used for displaying any advertising except for 
reasonable identification of the manufacturer or operator of the wind energy 
facility. 

 
a. Those necessary to identify the owner, provide a 24-hour emergency 

contact phone number, and warn of any danger; and 
b. Educational signs providing information about the facility and the benefits 

of renewable energy 
 

4. Utility Connections: All utility connections for and from the wind energy facility 
shall be located under- ground. Electrical transformers for utility interconnections 
may be above ground if required by utility provider but must be screened according 
to the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

5. Related Structures: All related structures to wind energy facilities shall be subject 
to regulations concerning bulk and height of accessory structures as well as all 
other development standards. All related structures, including but not limited to, 
equipment shelters, storage facilities, transformers, and substations, shall be 
architecturally compatible with each other and adjacent buildings and shall be 
contained within the turbine tower whenever technically feasible. Structures shall 
only be used for housing equipment for this particular site. 

 
F. Submittal Requirements: 

 
1. Wind energy facilities are subject to Site Plan Review or Design Review by the 

Planning Board and/or the Historic District Commission. 
 

2. All wind energy facilities shall obtain a building permit, along with any other 
permits required by federal, state and local agencies, prior to erecting a system. 
 



3. Proof of Liability Insurance: The applicant shall be required to provide evidence of 
liability insurance in an amount and for a duration sufficient to cover loss or 
damage to persons and structures should there be a failure of the wind energy 
facility. 
 

4. Site Control: At the time of application for a Site Plan Review, the applicant shall 
submit documentation of actual or prospective control of the project site sufficient 
to allow for installation and use of the pro- posed facility. Documentation shall also 
include proof of control over setback areas and access roads, if required. Control 
shall mean legal authority to prevent the use or construction of any structure for 
human habitation within the setback areas. 
 

5. Site Plan: 
 

a. A site plan signed and sealed by a licensed engineer, of the subject 
property and all properties within 200 feet showing existing buildings and 
structures, utility lines and poles, landscaping and all other items which 
may effect the placement of the wind energy facility. 
 

b. An elevation drawing of the proposed location of the wind energy facility. 
 

c. Color photographs and an elevation drawing with the wind energy facility 
and all necessary equipment superimposed in the proposed location. 
 

d. Specification sheets for all equipment, identifying all parts of the system, 
including, but not limited to, the manufacturer and model, turbine, tower 
height and type, rotor diameter, foundation, any accessory equipment, 
and the manufacturers electrical plans and specifications. 
 

e. Any other information or evidence required by City Officials. 
 
4.88 UT-01: Alternative Energy 
 
This Utility Standards section applies to the following districts: 
 
R1 R1A R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P TZ1 TZ2 TZ3 
 
The following utility standards applies: 
 

A. Purpose and Intent: The purpose and intent of the city is to balance the need 
for clean and renewable energy resources with the necessity to protect the 
public health, safety and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the integrity, 
character, property values, and aesthetic quality of the community at large. 
 



B. Solar Energy Facilities: The city shall allow the construction and operation of 
solar energy facilities and shall provide standards for the placement, design, 
construction, modification and removal of solar energy facilities that address 
public safety, minimize impacts on scenic, natural and historic resources 
without significantly increasing the cost or decreasing the efficiency of such 
systems. 
 

1. Roof-Mounted Solar Electric Systems: 
 

a. Roof-mounted solar panels are permitted on buildings and 
structures in all zoning districts and may include integrated solar 
panels as the surface layer of the roof structure with no 
additional apparent change in relief or projection, separate flush 
mounted solar panels attached to the roof, associated electrical 
equipment such as meters, charge controllers, inverters, storage 
batteries, or similar ancillary equipment, or solar photovoltaic 
shingles; 

 
b. Separate, non-integrated flush-mounted solar panels shall be 

located on a rear- or side-facing roof, which do not front any 
street, unless such installation is proven to be ineffective or 
impractical. If installation is not practical on a rear- or side-
facing roof, any other placement in all zoning districts shall be 
subject to review by the Planning Division. Wall or façade-
mounted solar panels are not permitted; 

 
c. Any roof-mounted solar electric systems proposed on a historic 

building, or on a building or structure in an established historic 
district are subject to a Design Review by the Historic District 
Commission; 

 
d. Separate flush-mounted solar panels installed on a building or 

structure with a sloped roof surface shall not project vertically 
above the peak of the roof to which it is attached, or project 
vertically more than five (5) feet above a flat roof installation;  

 
e. No solar panels shall ever project higher than the permitted 

building height in any Zoning District;  
 

f. All solar electric systems proposed on the roof of a building shall 
be uniform in color and match or complement the color of the 
roof material. All frames (internal and external) shall match the 
color of the collector surface and all solar panels must have anti-
reflective coatings to prevent glare; and 

 



g. All ancillary equipment installed in conjunction with roof-
mounted solar electric systems is permitted on the side or rear 
building facades only. Storage batteries shall be installed in the 
interior of the building only. 

 
2. Ground-Mounted Solar Electric Systems: 

 
a. Ground-mounted solar electric systems, including standard and 

pole mounted arrays, are not permitted.  
 

4.89 UT-01: Alternative Energy 
 
This Utility Standards section applies to the following districts: 
 
R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P PP TZ2 TZ3 
 

A. Purpose and Intent: The purpose and intent of the city is to balance the need 
for clean and renewable energy resources with the necessity to protect the 
public health, safety and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the 
integrity, character, property values, and aesthetic quality of the community 
at large. 
 

B. Wind Energy Facilities: The city shall allow as an accessory use, with review by 
the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission, the construction and 
operation of wind energy facilities and to provide standards for the placement, 
design, construction, monitoring, modification and removal of wind facilities 
that address public safety, minimize impacts on scenic, natural and historic 
resources without significantly increasing the cost or decreasing the efficiency 
of such systems.  
 

1. Applicability: This section applies to all on-site wind energy facilities. 
Any physical modification to existing wind energy facilities that 
materially alters the type, increases the size, or increases the adverse 
impact on surrounding properties, shall require a review by the Planning 
Board and/or Historic District Commission. 
 

2. Planning Approval Required: 
 

a. Wind energy facilities shall be limited to the average needs of 
the structure on the same parcel and shall be a permitted 
accessory use; subject to the required standards of this section 
provided they are incidental and secondary to a permitted 
principal use on the same parcel. The rated capacity of wind 
energy facilities must correlate with consumption. 

 



b. Wind energy facilities may be connected to the electrical grid 
when a parcel on which the system is installed also receives 
electrical power supplied by a utility company. If a parcel on 
which a system is installed also receives electrical power 
supplied by a utility company, excess electrical power generated 
and not presently needed for on-site use may be used by the 
utility company in accordance with applicable state and federal 
law. 

 
c. Wind monitoring (anemometer) towers are permitted in all non-

residential zoning districts subject to the issuance of a 
temporary use permit and a building permit. Permanent 
anemometer towers shall be subject to review and approval in 
conjunction with wind energy facility. 

 
d. No wind energy facility shall be erected, constructed, installed 

or modified as provided in this section without first obtaining 
approval from the Planning Board and/or Historic District 
Commission. The construction of a wind energy facility shall be 
permitted in non-residential zoning districts as an accessory use 
subject to the approval of the Planning Board and/or Historic 
District Commission and provided that the use complies with all 
requirements set forth in this section. 

 
The Planning Board and/or the Historic District Commission 
have the discretion to deny plans based on aesthetics of the wind 
energy system.  

 
All such wind energy facilities shall be constructed and operated 
in a manner that minimizes any adverse visual, safety, and 
environmental impacts. No approval of any board or commission 
shall be granted unless it is found that: 

 
i. The specific site is an appropriate location for such use; 

ii. The use is not expected to adversely affect the area; 
iii. There is not expected to be any serious hazard to people, 

property or   animals from the use; 
iv. No nuisance is expected to be created by the use; and 
v. Adequate and appropriate facilities will be provided for the 

proper operation of the use. 
 

e. Approvals may also impose reasonable conditions, safeguards 
and limitations and require the applicant to implement all 
reasonable measures to mitigate unforeseen adverse impacts of 
the wind energy facility, should they occur. 



 
f. Multiple wind energy facilities may be permitted provided they 

meet all requirements specified in the Zoning Ordinance and 
their number and placement is appropriate for the site and is 
architecturally and visually compatible with the surrounding 
area. 

 
3. General Site Standards: 

 
a. Height: No wind energy facility may exceed the maximum 

permitted or actual legal non-conforming building height by 
more than 20 ft. in any district 

 
b. Noise: Except during short-term events including utility outages 

and severe wind storms, wind energy facilities shall be designed, 
installed and operated so that noise generated by the system 
shall be the lesser of 60 dB as measured at any closest inhabited 
dwelling or 55 dB at the boundary of any adjacent property line. 

 
c. Location: 

i. The center of a wind energy facility turbine tower shall be 
set back no less than 5 feet from all lot lines and rights-of-
way or no less than one-half the diameter of the rotor and 
blades, whichever is greater. 

ii. The swept area of wind energy facilities must be set back 
at least 3 feet from any lot line. 

iii. Wind energy facilities may not be located between the 
front lot line and the front wall of the principal use. 

iv. No portion of any wind energy facility’s exposed moving 
parts shall extend to within 20 feet of the ground, or to 
within 10 feet of any overhead utility lines, or as 
determined by a utility company. 

 
d. Screening: Screening of ground mounted mechanical equipment 

is required in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 SC-01 
Screening of the Zoning Ordinance, in order to mitigate aesthetic 
impacts upon the neighborhood. 

 
e. Shadow Flicker: Wind energy facilities shall be sited in a manner 

that minimizes shadowing or flicker on adjacent properties. The 
applicant has the burden of proving that this effect does not 
have significant adverse impacts on neighboring or adjacent 
uses through siting or mitigation. 

 
f. Access and Safety: 



i. Wind energy facilities shall be designed and installed so as 
to prevent unauthorized access to electrical and 
mechanical components and shall be secured or locked at 
all times when service personnel are not present. 

ii. Climbing apparatus shall be located in a place that is in 
accordance with MIOSHA standards as to prevent climbing. 

 
g. Removal: Any wind energy facility that has not been used in 180 

days, or has otherwise been deter- mined abandoned, shall be 
removed by the owner and/or operator of the facility. If a wind 
energy facility has not been removed within 30 days of a 
deadline specified by the City, the City of Birmingham may 
remove or secure the removal of the facility at the 
owner/operator’s sole expense. All equipment associated with 
the facility shall be removed at the same time. 
 

4. Design Standards: 
 

a. Color and Finish: The Planning Board shall have discretion over 
the turbine color, although a neutral, non-reflective exterior 
color designed to blend with the surrounding environment is 
encouraged. If the site is located within a historic district , the 
Historic District Commission will have discretion over the 
turbine color. 

 
b. Lighting: Wind Energy Facilities may be lighted only if required 

by the Federal Aviation Administration. Lighting of other parts 
of the wind energy facility, or related structures, shall be limited 
to that required for safety and operational purposes, and shall 
be reasonably shielded from abutting properties. If lighting is 
necessary a photometric plan is required. 

 
c. Signage: Signs on the wind energy facility shall comply with the 

requirements of the City of Birmingham’s Sign Ordinance, and 
shall be limited to: 

 
i. Wind energy facilities shall not be used for displaying any 

advertising except for reasonable identification of the 
manufacturer or operator of the wind energy facility. 

 
ii. Those necessary to identify the owner, provide a 24-hour 

emergency contact phone number, and warn of any 
danger; and 

iii. Educational signs providing information about the facility 
and the benefits of renewable energy 



 
d. Utility Connections: All utility connections for and from the wind 

energy facility shall be located under- ground. Electrical 
transformers for utility interconnections may be above ground if 
required by utility provider but must be screened according to 
the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
e. Related Structures: All related structures to wind energy 

facilities shall be subject to regulations concerning bulk and 
height of accessory structures as well as all other development 
standards. All related structures, including but not limited to, 
equipment shelters, storage facilities, transformers, and 
substations, shall be architecturally compatible with each other 
and adjacent buildings and shall be contained within the turbine 
tower whenever technically feasible. Structures shall only be 
used for housing equipment for this particular site. 

 
5. Submittal Requirements: 

 
a. Wind energy facilities are subject to Site Plan Review or Design 

Review by the Planning Board and/or the Historic District 
Commission. 

 
b. All wind energy facilities shall obtain a building permit, along 

with any other permits required by federal, state and local 
agencies, prior to erecting a system. 

 
c. Proof of Liability Insurance: The applicant shall be required to 

provide evidence of liability insurance in an amount and for a 
duration sufficient to cover loss or damage to persons and 
structures should there be a failure of the wind energy facility. 

 
d. Site Control: At the time of application for a Site Plan Review, 

the applicant shall submit documentation of actual or 
prospective control of the project site sufficient to allow for 
installation and use of the pro- posed facility. Documentation 
shall also include proof of control over setback areas and access 
roads, if required. Control shall mean legal authority to prevent 
the use or construction of any structure for human habitation 
within the setback areas. 

 
e. Site Plan: 

i. A site plan signed and sealed by a licensed engineer, of the 
subject property and all properties within 200 feet showing 
existing buildings and structures, utility lines and poles, 



landscaping and all other items which may effect the 
placement of the wind energy facility. 

ii. An elevation drawing of the proposed location of the wind 
energy facility. 

iii. Color photographs and an elevation drawing with the wind 
energy facility and all necessary equipment superimposed 
in the proposed location. 

iv. Specification sheets for all equipment, identifying all parts 
of the system, including, but not limited to, the 
manufacturer and model, turbine, tower height and type, 
rotor diameter, foundation, any accessory equipment, and 
the manufacturers electrical plans and specifications. 

v. Any other information or evidence required by City 
Officials. 
 
 
 

ORDAINED this ________ day of ____________, 2021 to become effective upon publication. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 
 

 
 
 

 



MEMORANDUM 
 

Planning Division 
 
DATE:   June 9th, 2021 
 
TO:   Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
 
SUBJECT: Solar Panel Requirements – Public Hearing  
 
 
In 2009, the City Commission adopted ordinance language permitting solar panels on structure 
roofs in all zoning districts throughout the City. Since its adoption, there have been many solar 
panels installed across the City, and several in the process of being approved by the Planning 
Board and/or Planning Division.  
 
On May 22nd, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the evolution of solar panels and their 
perception that aesthetics are no longer an issue that should require a full Design Review by the 
Planning Board. The Board members also revisited a suggestion that was discussed in 2009, 
which was to waive fees for solar panel applications to encourage alternative energy use and 
sustainability. 
 
On June 17th, 2019, the Planning Board and City Commission discussed the potential for ordinance 
amendments to simplify the review process for solar panels. During the meeting, a consensus 
was reached that the City’s solar ordinance was in need of an update. 
 
On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed revised ordinance language and directed staff 
to make a few minor revisions and clarifications which involved the removal of ground mounted 
solar facility standards and adding language for anti-reflective coatings. 
 
On July 15th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the revised language a second time and made 
a request to learn more about ancillary equipment and what types of such may be placed on a 
home, and where it may be commonly placed. The Planning Division has reached out to several 
solar power companies, and has researched previous solar panel proposals to get a better sense 
of what ancillary equipment is commonly used, and general reasons why: 
 
Equipment Description 
Large Single-Unit Inverter Changes DC current from panel to usable AC current. Typically 

located near utility meter. 
Micro Inverter Changes DC current from panel to usable AC current. Micro 

Inverters are located on the rear of each panel, eliminating the 
need for one larger single-unit inverter. More common. 

Sub Panels Dedicated circuits to power specific household items (ex. fridge, 
laundry. etc.) Located inside adjacent to main panel. 



Storage Battery Stores excess energy collected for later use. Rated for 
indoor/outdoor placement, but most commonly placed inside. 

Battery Disconnects Functions as a disconnect and one-way circuit to prevent energy 
backflow out of storage battery. Usually located close to battery 
inside or outside. 

Disconnect Switches Switches that stop the flow of power. Could be more than one, 
and is required to be located no more than 5 ft. from the utility 
meter. 

Junction Box Serves as a monitoring system that detect production. Can be 
located inside or outside. Optional, not necessarily required. 

Metal Conduit Houses all wiring from solar panels, through ancillary 
equipment, and into the home. 

 
In reviewing several of the plans for solar installations in the last two years, the information 
provided above appears to be confirmed by the locations of ancillary equipment on the plans, 
which in general is always located on the side or rear of the house near the utility meter. 
 
On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the alternative energy ordinance, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-
Fitr. The Planning Board also requested that language be added to preclude wall of façade-
mounted solar panels due to the potential issues with aesthetics and neighboring properties. 
 
As the Zoning Ordinance currently reads, roof-mounted solar electric systems are permitted in all 
Zoning Districts, with any proposals for front, street oriented systems required to come before 
the Planning Board or Historic District Commission for a Design Review. The attached language 
offers an update to this language based on the feedback of the Planning Board and City 
Commission eliminating the Design Review Requirement for non-historic homes only. In addition, 
it was important for City Staff (while the subject of solar panels is active) to address and update 
the entire section of ordinance to remove barriers to the use of alternative energy solutions and 
encourage viable sustainability efforts. The proposed updates add requirements for new and 
emerging technologies such as solar shingles and solar energy storage, as well as address 
different options and that were not included in the original language, such as ground-mounted 
solar electric systems.  
 
Note: The decision was made to move the language for solar panels from the Essential Services 
section to the Alternative Energy section of the ordinance, as it is a much better fit. In order to 
edit the ordinance properly, it was easiest to “delete” all of the existing ordinance language in 
Section 4.88 and create an entirely “new” Section 4.88. The language for wind energy facilities 
in the “new” Section 4.88 is EXACTLY the same, it is merely organized in a slightly different way. 
Please be advised, however, of the changes made in bold blue that apply to the wind energy 
facility language, which are changes to the Zoning Districts in which Section 4.88 apply. 

 
 
 

 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 14, 2021 

 

3 
 

Seconded by Mr. Koseck to recommend denial to the City Commission the Special 
Land Use Permit for 720 N. Old Woodward – Vinewood Bistro – because the proposal 
fails to satisfy the spirit and intent of the Zoning Ordinance as required in Section 
7.26 and 7.27, specifically the outdoor enclosure issue of 3.04(c)(10)(h), and the ‘no 
permanent structure requirement’ of Section 3.04(c)(10)(i), as well as floodplain, 
dumpster, pedestrian interaction and storefront issues.  
 
Mr. Koseck said the seating limits in the bistro ordinance were a key part of its appeal 
and efficacy. He noted that the area in the rear of 720 N. Old Woodward would be 
difficult to police. He also noted that even if the Planning Board did endorse the 
proposed plans the applicant would still have to appear before the Board of Zoning 
Appeals for a number of variance requests. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Koseck, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Boyle  
Nays: None  
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Koseck to recommend denial to the City Commission the final site 
plan and design review for 720 N. Old Woodward – Vinewood Bistro – because the 
proposal fails to satisfy the spirit and intent of the Zoning Ordinance as required in 
Section 7.26 and 7.27, specifically the outdoor enclosure issue of 3.04(c)(10)(h), and 
the ‘no permanent structure requirement’ of Section 3.04(c)(10)(i), as well as 
floodplain, dumpster, pedestrian interaction and storefront issues.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Koseck, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Boyle  
Nays: None  
 

04-052-21 
 
 
F. Study Session Items 
 

1. Solar Panel Regulations  
 

CP Dupuis summarized the item. 
 
Mr. Jeffares recommended the City enlist an expert in solar panels to review the ordinance 
proposal in order to avoid potentially having to re-do or update the ordinance earlier than 
necessary. Mr. Jeffares also recommended that the ordinance language specifically preclude 
wall- or facade-mounted solar panels, stating that it is aesthetically unpleasing and could cause 
issues with neighboring properties.  

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 14, 2021 

 

4 
 

 
Chair Clein concurred with Mr. Jeffares’ recommendation regarding wall- or facade-mounted 
solar panels. 
 
Mr. Boyle asked if there was any near-future technology the ordinance should address. 
 
Chair Clein said that strips of solar panels being used to line bicycle paths was being tried in 
Europe, but that wide-spread implementation would not be in the near future. 
 
In reply to Mr. Share, CP Dupuis said he did not recommend screening for ancillary equipment 
because it would increase the difficulty of installation and maintenance. CP Dupuis noted this 
ordinance review was being conducted with an aim towards reducing the impediments to using 
solar panels in the City. He added that users of solar panels also needed quick access to 
disconnect features.  
 
Mr. Share recommended that the ordinance states that users of solar panels are not exempt 
from screening otherwise required by the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
CP Dupuis said he could update the recommended ordinance language with the Board’s 
comments and have it ready for a public hearing on May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion by Mr. Boyle 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffares to set a public hearing on solar panel regulations ordinance 
language for the regular Planning Board meeting of May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Boyle, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Share, Koseck 
Nays: None  
 

2. Glazing Standards 
 
CP Dupuis summarized the item. 
 
Mr. Share said he had recent occasion to purchase some low-iron glass, and that it added about 
15% to the cost. He stated that he found the difference between low-iron and regular glass to 
be visually immaterial. He suggested that the low-iron requirement be removed from the 
recommended language, saying he thought it inappropriate to burden owners and developers 
with the extra cost.  
 
Mr. Koseck and Ms. Whipple-Boyce, two other members of the Board familiar with glazing 
standards from their professions, did not dispute Mr. Share’s recommendation when asked. 
 
Motion by Mr. Share 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

3 
 

 
Mr. Share said he was in favor of moving the topic to a public hearing and not in favor 
of mandating low iron glass. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Koseck, Williams, Boyle, Clein, Jeffares  
Nays: Share 
 
Mr. Boyle echoed Ms. Whipple-Boyce’s previous statement that the Board should have 
comparative costs for low iron and clear glass to review. He said the Board should be aware how 
a low iron requirement might be layering on costs to development in the City. 
 
Chairman Clein thanked Mr. Hatfield for sharing his expertise with the Board. 
 

2. Solar Panel Review Process 
 

City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item.  
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she recently encountered a large solar battery in some work she was 
doing in another community, and cautioned that the Board might not want to allow any and all 
ancillary equipment for solar panels to be outside the home given the potential range of sizes.  
 
Mr. Williams said he was fine with solar panels but might be less fine with ancillary equipment on 
the side of a home given that it might be more prominent in a neighbor’s view. 
 
City Planner Dupuis asked if Mr. Williams would prefer the ancillary equipment to be mounted 
only to the rear of the home, or to possibly be screened in some way.  
 
Mr. Williams said he was not sure what the best approach would be. He said he thought it would 
depend on the house, the location of the neighboring properties, and the type of equipment. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said that moving the equipment to the rear of a home would have the 
benefit of being further from a neighbor’s yard because of the greater required setback. She 
noted that, in contrast, equipment on the side of a home might be only five feet from the property 
line. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce agreed that placement would depend on the size of the equipment. She said 
that a small electric meter or connection into the house to the battery need not be limited to the 
rear or interior of a home, whereas larger equipment should be. She said that the Board could 
likely specify appropriate locations with more information on the most commonly used kinds of 
equipment. 
 
City Planner Dupuis said he could find pictures of the City’s most recent solar panel approvals to 
provide the Board with a better sense of the size of the ancillary equipment. 
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

4 
 

Mr. Jeffares noted how helpful it was to have Mr. Hatfield consulting the Board during their glazing 
discussion, and said it would be equally helpful to find someone as well-versed in solar power 
technologies. He observed that the Board was doing some guesswork in the current discussion 
and thought it would be better to get more specific answers. He said that consulting with someone 
knowledgeable in the field would have the additional benefit of informing the Board on how the 
technology is trending, so they could factor those considerations into the ordinance language as 
well. 
 
Mr. Williams agreed with Mr. Jeffares. He said that the proposed language regarding ancillary 
equipment was likely too vague and should be clarified before being advanced to a public hearing. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she could email City Planner Dupuis some contact information for 
someone who might know more about solar power technology.  
 

07-90-20 
 

F. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  
 
a. Communications  
 
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence  
 

City Planner Dupuis explained that the owners of 266 Elm Street wanted to remove the patio in 
the rear of their building, to replace it with exposed aggregate, to add eight planters, and to 
replace the rear fence. He noted that the exposed aggregate would go all the way to the rear 
fence which would result in the removal of some amount of landscaped area.  
 
Consensus of the Board was to grant administrative approval for the plans. 
 

c. Draft Agenda for the next Regular Planning Board Meeting (August 12,  
2020)  

● Master Plan Draft Review 
 
d. Other Business  

 
07-91-20 

 
H. Planning Division Action Items  

 
a. Staff Report on Previous Requests 
 
b. Additional Items from tonight's meeting 

 
07-92-20 

 
I. Adjournment 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
January 8, 2020 

 

4 
 

2. Master Plan Review Process Update 
 

Planning Director Ecker presented the item. She explained that the City Commission approved 
the proposal as submitted with the exception that the schedule would start in February 2020, and 
not January 2020. She stated that in December 2019 the City Commission approved the 
expenditure of up to $28,600 for additional public engagement activities. That figure included the 
potential for two different round-table discussions, a drop-in clinic, and two additional short 
surveys. Should the Board want to pursue any of those options, they would make a 
recommendation to the City Manager who would disburse the requisite funds should he approve 
of the recommendation. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said the scheduled Planning Board master plan discussions would be 
publicized on the City’s website, the Master Plan website, and all City social media channels. Sarah 
Traxler, one of the local members of the Master Plan team, would likely be attending each meeting 
and giving a presentation of the evening’s master planning topic. Those presentations would also 
be included in the Planning Board’s agenda packets the Friday before their Wednesday meetings 
in order to afford both the public and the Board members time to review the topic. Robert Gibbs, 
another local member of the Master Plan team, would likely also be present at the meetings. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said that between sessions she would collect any master plan comments 
submitted to the Planning Department and include them in the agenda packet for the next 
scheduled master plan meeting so that the Board would have an opportunity to review those as 
well.  
 

3. Solar Panel Review Process 
 

City Planner Dupuis presented the item.  
 
Mr. Emerine noted that on page 620 of the Planning Board’s agenda packet, 4.88 B said ‘wind’ 
when it should read ‘solar’. 
 
City Planner Dupuis agreed and said he would make the change. He further explained: 

● Ancillary solar panel equipment is very small and would be mounted to the wall of 
whatever building is using it. He said it would be visually unobtrusive and that he had not 
come across any information on undue noise production by the equipment. He said he 
would bring the spec sheets for the ancillary equipment to a public hearing once scheduled 
which would provide both the Board and the public with more information on the items. 

● He would clarify the suggested language to explain that the 40 square foot limit on a solar 
panel system counts all connected panels as part of one system. Since the average solar 
panel is three-and-a-half feet by five feet, he recommended the 40 square foot limit in 
order to allow two average-sized solar panels. City Planner Dupuis said he provided the 
40 square feet to begin the conversation, and also proposed the number because he was 
unsure whether it would be appropriate in a residential setting to have more than 40 
square feet of solar panels. He noted that some other cities restrict solar panels to 
occupying no more than a certain percentage of a given lot. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
January 8, 2020 

 

5 
 

● Ground mounted solar panels could enable residents who do not want to mount panels 
on their roof to still have access to some solar power. Ground mounted solar panels would 
also allow businesses to use solar-powered trash compactors.  

 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said that she did not yet know enough about ground-mounted solar panels, 
but that if the City proceeded toward allowing them she would prefer that their allowable yard 
coverage be calculated by percentage and not by a set amount. She also told City Planner Dupuis 
that there had been a conversation regarding wind energy facilities about ten years hence, and 
that if he could find the minutes from that conversation it might help provide some useful 
information on the topic.  
 
Mr. Koseck said the Board might want to consider not allowing solar panels at grade because it 
could encourage residents to do away with any greenery that could get in the way of the panels. 
He also said that 40 square feet of solar panels on the ground might not be enough to generate 
a worthwhile amount of energy. Mr. Koseck added that solar panels are impervious which would 
also raise ordinance issues in terms of ground cover. Since most people would likely rather not 
install solar panels at grade anyways, Mr. Koseck said he would just as soon prohibit it to avoid 
these issues since the potential environmental gain would likely not be significant in those cases. 
 
Mr. Jeffares echoed Mr. Koseck’s concerns about ground mounted solar panels and said he would 
prefer to continue studying that possibility and whether it would be worthwhile. 
 
Ms. Ramin noted that on page 625, in section G, the phrase “If a wind energy facility has not 
been removed within 30 days a deadline specified by the City” would need to be clarified. 
 
Mr. Share noted that on page 621, Item F, the word should be ‘complemented’, not 
‘complimented’. He agreed with Mr. Koseck and Mr. Jeffares that ground mounted solar panels 
were likely not necessary to pursue at this time.  
 
Chairman Clein expressed agreement with Mr. Koseck, Mr. Jeffares, and Mr. Share regarding 
ground mounted solar panels.  
 
In reply to Chairman Clein, City Planner Dupuis said he would do more research on the benefits 
and drawbacks of the anti-reflective coating some other cities’ ordinances require for solar panels.  
 

4. Glazing Standards  
 

City Planner Dupuis presented the item.  
 
Mr. Koseck said he had a list of two or three people he would be reaching out to soon who might 
be able to contribute meaningfully to the glazing standards conversation. He said that once he 
had done that he would loop City Planner Dupuis in as appropriate. 
 
Chairman Clein explained that in February 2020 and April 2020 there will only be one Planning 
Board meeting per each month and that both of those meetings are dedicated to master plan 
discussion. He suggested that Board members look at their calendars to see if a special meeting 
could be scheduled to wrap up some of these other study session topics. He added that even if 



1 June 17, 2019 Joint City Commission/ Planning Board 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION / 
PLANNING BOARD JOINT WORKSHOP SESSION 

JUNE 17, 2019 
DPS FACILITY, 851 SOUTH ETON 

7:30 P.M. 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mayor Patty Bordman called the meeting to order at 7:30 PM. 

II. ROLL CALL
Commission 
ROLL CALL: Present: Mayor Bordman  

Commissioner DeWeese 
Commissioner Harris 
Commissioner Hoff 
Commissioner Nickita  
Commissioner Sherman  

Absent: Mayor Pro Tem Boutros 

Planning Board 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Chairman Scott Clein  

Robin Boyle 
Stuart Jeffares 
Nasseem Ramin, alternate 
Daniel Share 
Janelle Whipple-Boyce 
J. Bryan Williams 

Absent: Jason Emerine, alternate 
Bert Koseck 
Sophia Trimble, student representative 
John Utley, student representative 

Administration: City Manager Valentine, Deputy City Clerk Arft, Planning Director Ecker, Building 
Official Johnson, City Planner Cowan 

III. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION
City Manager Valentine said the objective tonight was to provide discussion items in order to 
clarify how the City should move forward on the following issues.   

A. Current Issues: 
1. Discussion on solar panel regulations
Planning Director Ecker reviewed the item. She emphasized that solar panel can now be 
integrated, so that aesthetics are not as big an issue. In reply to Commissioner Hoff, Planning 
Director Ecker stated that in the past six months there have been eight requests for solar panels. 
Residents have been paying a fee of $400 for design review plus a sign bond of $100 if the solar 

4A

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



2 June 17, 2019 Joint City Commission/ Planning Board 

panels are going to be installed on the front of their homes, and have been paying $100 for an 
administrative review if the solar panels are to be installed on the back of their homes. 

Planning Director Ecker confirmed for Commissioner DeWeese that comments from the public 
have been positive. 

Commissioner Nickita stated his only concern would be obtrusive-looking solar panels, which he 
said would be caught by staff during administrative review. He suggested that those examples 
could be brought to the Planning Board for review, while the more subtle installations could be 
administratively approved.  

Mr. Jeffares said solar panels are part of the future of ecologically-sustainable building, and that 
Birmingham should be doing whatever it can within reason to encourage their use. He also 
mentioned that currently the shingle model of solar panels are twice as expensive as the panel 
models and are one-third less effective. He said he anticipates the shingle model of solar panels 
will become more efficient over time.  

Seeing no public comment, Mayor Bordman acknowledged consensus that the Planning Board 
should re-study the issue.  

Chairman Clein asked whether the Planning Board should be studying the application process for 
solar panels or the design standards. 

City Manager Valentine said the Commission would be formally amending the Planning Board 
action list in the near future to provide specific direction on any recommended study items from 
this meeting. 

Mayor Bordman expressed appreciation for Chairman Clein’s clarifying question, and said she 
would personally like to see both topics studied though the final study direction would come from 
the Commission as a whole. 

2. Discussion on enclosing balconies, patios and terraces
Planning Director Ecker presented the item. She clarified for Commissioner Hoff that some of 
these situations are being enclosed as three-season rooms and some are not. 

Commissioner Hoff observed that the changes being made to these buildings were reasonably 
significant as they resulted in a change of the building footprint.  

In reply to Commissioner Harris, Planning Director Ecker stated the President of the Crosswinds 
association has called the Planning Department multiple times to express his displeasure with 
these enclosures. She noted that despite the President’s displeasure the same association did 
vote to allow these enclosures on their building. She stated this has been the only contact the 
City has received from the public on the matter. 

Commissioner Nickita said while these examples happen to be high-quality, if the City allows 
enclosures in general the results could also be of lower quality. He said the City must create 
appropriate design standards for these enclosures, must consider the footprint expansion these 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
May 22, 2019 

 

8 
 

any proposed signage; 7) Applicant comply with the requests of all City Departments; 
8) Applicant obtain approval of a lease agreement by the City Commission for all 
projections and /or encroachments on City property; 9) Applicant revise plan sheets 
as necessary to ensure all sheets are consistent and show the required property lines 
and clearly note all projections / encroachments across property lines; and 10) At 
Final Site Plan Review, the applicant must provide the Special Event Operations Plan 
for the said hotel. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Boyle, Koseck, Williams, Share, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein 
Nays: None  
 

05-077-19 
 

F.  Request for Design Review  
 

1. 1986 Northlawn – Private Residence – Request for design review and  
approval of the installation of eight solar panels on the front (street) facing  
portion of the roof of a private single family residence.  

 
City Planner Dupuis presented the item. 
 
Mr. Williams asked why the ordinance did not allow solar panels on the front of homes without 
Planning Board approval. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said she was unsure as to the exact reason, but it is likely aesthetics. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said that traditional solar panels can be aesthetically obtrusive, and noted that several 
manufacturers have recently started producing solar panels which resemble roofing shingles. 
While he stated that he was unsure if there were other reasons that the smaller solar panels could 
not be used, for instance cost or output, he said they are generally nicer to look at than traditional 
solar panels. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce reminded the PB that they granted a similar front-of-roof solar panel 
installation for a home on Lincoln a few years prior, and that it yielded a fine result. 
 
Mr. Boyle asked how much the City charged for this review. 
 
City Planner Dupuis said it was $500 total. 
 
Mr. Boyle said granting this resident request would be the easiest thing in the world to do to 
encourage ecological sustainability. He suggested that residents adding solar panels to their 
houses should incur no design review fee and a simple approval process.  
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
May 22, 2019 

 

9 
 

Planning Director Ecker stated that the Planning Department could allow solar panel installations 
through administrative approval for $100 if the Planning Board no longer wants to review the 
majority of such requests.  
 
Chairman Clein said the Planning Board could ask the City Manager for permission to further 
consider the benefits of Mr. Boyle’s proposal. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce assented to that idea. 
 
Motion by Mr. Williams 
Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to move to approve the design plan for 1986 
Northlawn.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Williams, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Koseck, Share, Jeffares, Clein 
Nays: None  
 

05-078-19 
 
G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  

a. Communications  
 
Planning Director Ecker stated that the City Commission stated a public hearing date in June 2019 
for Rojo/Sidecar, trash enclosures, screening, and railings. 
 
The Bates Street development is on the meeting agenda for the second meeting in June 2019. 
City Manager Valentine will provide the Board with more specific direction on its obligations.  
 
Mr. Williams reiterated his request for an opinion from City Attorney Currier on the Board’s 
obligations vis-a-vis the Bates Street development as well. 
 
Pernoi will be back to the PB on June 12, 2019 for bistro consideration. Brooklyn Pizza has not 
yet submitted. 
 
The Board decided to continue discussion of aging in place, with staff providing information on 
what other urban communities have done in order to inform the conversation. 
 

b. Administrative Approval Correspondence  
 
City Planner Dupuis explained that the Old Woodward reconstruction removed the outdoor dining 
space for Mad Hatter Bistro, which is required by ordinance to retain its bistro license. Randy 
Dickow of Mad Hatter Bistro has negotiated with the next door property owner to use 50% of his 
frontage, which is permitted by ordinance as long as the next door property is vacant. The 
remaining issue is that the proposed location of the outdoor dining would cause it to abut a City-



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

4 
 

Public Comment 
 
Mr. Schmier asked that the public comments provided during the item’s discussion be included in 
the documentation sent to the Commission to demonstrate the shared concerns of both Eton One 
and Eton Two. 
 
Chair Clein confirmed that would occur. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares  
 
Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Emerine to recommend approval to the City Commission of the 
Special Land Use Permit for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – subject to the conditions of 
Final Site Plan & Design Review approval. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares 
 

06-078-21 
 
F. Study Session Items 

1. Public Hearing – Solar Panel Regulations  
 

PD Ecker reviewed the item. 
 
Mr. Koseck said he was uncomfortable moving the ordinance language forward given that they 
had not spoken with a third-party expert like they had done for glazing.  
 
Chair Clein noted that in formulating the recommended changes staff had reviewed solar panel 
ordinances from municipalities across the country. He expressed support for the recommended 
changes. 
 
Motion by Mr. Williams  
Seconded by Mr. Share to recommend to the City Commission amendments to Section 
4.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to remove roof-mounted solar electric systems from 
that section and to also amend Section 4.88, regarding alternative energy, to add 
amended solar energy system requirements and to reorganize the wind energy 
requirements without changing them. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Dept. 

DATE: June 24, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: James J. Surhigh, Consulting City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Townsend & Peabody Street Paving Project 
Sewer & Water Lateral Special Assessment District 

The Engineering Dept. is planning a project for reconstructing the pavement, along with 
completing certain sewer and water main improvements, on Townsend Street between Southfield 
Road to S. Chester Street, and Peabody Street between E. Brown Street to E. Maple Avenue.   

In accordance with current City policy established to protect the public investment being made 
when reconstructing roadways, as part of the project, we intend to replace all older sewer laterals 
located underneath the new proposed pavement, as well as all water services less than 1 inch 
diameter, which will be replaced with a new 1 inch diameter service.  Additionally, in accordance 
with recently modified rules from the Michigan Dept. of Environmental, Great Lakes, and Energy 
(EGLE) requiring the complete removal of lead water services from the water main to the water 
meter on private property, any such water service will also be replaced as part of the project. 
Per EGLE, the City is not allowed to charge a homeowner for costs associated with replacement 
of an existing lead water service.  The parcels that may be potentially subject to the Sewer & 
Water Lateral Special Assessment are highlighted on the attached maps. 

The Townsend & Peabody Street Paving Project is still being designed, and a final list of parcels 
that would be subject to the special assessment have not been determined at this time.  The 
specific list of parcels that would be subject to this special assessment will be provided as part of 
the report for the Public Hearing of Necessity being scheduled for a future date.   

Total estimated costs that would be assessed to property owners for completion of the sewer and 
water service replacements generally average $2,500 to $3,500 for a 6 inch sewer service, and 
$2,000 to $3,000 for a 1 inch water service.  A more precise estimate will accompany the report 
for the Public Hearing of Necessity being scheduled for a future date. 

It is recommended that a Public Hearing of Necessity for the replacement of sewer and water 
services be scheduled at the Monday, July 26, 2021 City Commission meeting.  It is further 
recommended that the Public Hearing on Confirmation of the Roll be held on Monday, August 9, 
2021.   

5L



2 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To adopt a resolution for the City Commission to meet on Monday, July 26, 2021, at 7:30 P.M., 
for the purpose of conducting a Public Hearing of Necessity for the replacement of sewer and 
water services within the Townsend & Peabody Street Paving project areas.   

Be it further RESOLVED, that the City Commission meet on Monday, August 9, 2021 at 7:30 P.M. 
for the purpose of conducting a Public Hearing on Confirmation of the Roll for the replacement 
of sewer and water services in the Townsend & Peabody Street Paving project areas. 



0
0.0

15
0.0

3
0.0

45
0.0

6
0.0

07
5

Mi
lesÜ

To
wn

se
nd

 St
ree

t P
av

ing
 P

roj
ec

t #
6-2

1(P
)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line



0
0.0

15
0.0

3
0.0

45
0.0

6
0.0

07
5

Mi
lesÜ

Pe
ab

od
y S

tre
et 

Pa
vin

g P
roj

ec
t #

6-2
1(P

)

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)



1 

MEMORANDUM 

Finance Department 

DATE: June 11, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Gerber, Director of Finance/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: American Rescue Plan Act 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City will be eligible to receive approximately $2M of Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds (CSLFRF) from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA).  The State of Michigan will 
be making these funds available soon, so the City needs to decide on how these funds will be 
spent. 

BACKGROUND: 
The American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), signed into law in March 2021, provides $350 billion in 
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (CSLFRF) to states and local governments to 
combat the continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The City’s portion of these funds is 
estimated to be approximately $2 million. 

Eligible uses of the CSLFRF fall into four broad categories: 

Public health & economic impacts 
Expenditures qualifying under public health and economic impact can be used to respond to the 
public health emergency with respect to COVID-19 or its negative economic impacts, including 
assistance to households, small businesses, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such as 
tourism, travel, and hospitality.  Eligible uses in this category must be in response to the disease 
itself or the harmful consequences of the economic disruptions resulting from or exacerbated by 
the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

Premium pay 
Premium pay can be provided to eligible workers performing essential work during the COVID-19 
public health emergency.  

Revenue loss 
Revenue loss should be used to provide government services to the extent of a reduction in 
revenue due to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  The revenue loss will be measured 
relative to revenues collected in the most recent full fiscal year prior to the emergency.  The 
revenue loss will be calculated in aggregate rather than on a source by source basis. 

Investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure 
Investments in infrastructure category allows a broad range of necessary investments in projects 
that improve access to clean drinking water, improve wastewater and stormwater infrastructure 
systems, and provide access to high-quality broadband services.  For water and sewer 
infrastructure, governments have wide latitude to identify investments that are of the highest 
priority for their own communities, which may include projects on privately owned infrastructure. 

7A



2 

 
 

According to the Act, 50% of the funds will be made available to the state for distribution 
immediately, with the remaining 50% distributed 1 year later.  The funds must be obligated by 
December 31, 2024 and those obligated funds must be spent by December 31, 2026. 
 
The City Manager is recommending that these funds be used to expedite the replacing of lead 
service lines as required by state law. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW: 
No legal review is necessary at this time. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
The City has approximately 700 lead service lines that need replacing.  The total cost of replacing 
all the lines is estimated to be approximately $4-$5 million dollars.  In fiscal year 2020-2021, the 
City budgeted $800,000 for replacement of lead service lines and has budgeted another $900,000 
for fiscal year 2021-2022.  This project is being funded by $500,000 in property taxes per year 
with the remaining amount being funded from reserves. 
 
Assuming that the City continues to fund approximately $900,000 in subsequent years, the City 
should be able to replace all the lead lines in 5-6 years.  By using the CSLFRF funds, the City 
should be able to complete this project in 3-4 years assuming contractor availability and 
cooperation of the homeowner.        
 
SUMMARY: 
Replacing lead service lines using CSLFRF is an eligible expense, reduces the time necessary to 
replace all the lines, and eliminates a property tax funded obligation in the future. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Article from Plante & Moran “The American Rescue Plan Act:  Identifying eligible uses by 
governments” 

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION:   
To authorize the City Manager to use the City’s allocation of Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds towards lead service line replacement. 
 













7B







MEMORANDUM 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

Planning Division 

June 14th, 2021 

Thomas Markus, City Manager 

Jana L. Ecker, Planning Director 

Food Trucks (Vendors and Peddlers) 

Back in 2011, the City Commission approved amendments to Chapter 26, Businesses, of the City 
Code to amend Section IV, Vendors and Peddlers, to clarify requirements for approved vendors 
and peddlers as defined in the ordinance (which did not include food trucks).   

At the same time, the City Commission considered permitting the operation of food trucks in the 
City, potentially at specified locations to activate City parks, vias and other public spaces. 
Research was conducted on potential ordinance amendments to allow food trucks, 
possible locations throughout the City, and input was solicited from several City boards.  Many 
residents and brick and mortar business owners spoke in opposition to the proposal to allow 
food trucks, and ultimately the City Commission did not support amending the Vendors 
and Peddlers section of Chapter 26, Businesses, to allow food trucks to operate in the City. 

Please see attached for reports, minutes and other documentation prepared and considered by 
the City back in 2011.     

7C



1 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: March 15, 2011 

TO: Robert J. Bruner, Jr., City Manager 

FROM: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

APPROVED:  Robert J. Bruner, Jr., City Manager 

SUBJECT: Proposed Ordinance Amendment 
Commercial Vendors – Moveable & Park Vendors 

In accordance with the Planning Board’s action list, the Planning Division 
conducted a study of the alleys and passages in the downtown area.  This 
assessment of the current condition of alleys in the City of Birmingham was done 
to identify the strengths and weaknesses of the alleys and passages and seek 
out possibilities for improvement to the urban fabric of the downtown area 
through the improvement of these areas.   

The 2016 plan identified the alleys behind commercial buildings as underutilized 
assets within the city.  The alleys of the downtown area are primarily used to 
service shops in the manner of deliveries and trash disposal.  While the 2016 
plan recognizes the service value of the alleys as an essential function of the 
downtown area, it also identifies certain alleys as pedestrian passages as they 
are more pedestrian oriented and used only lightly for service functions.  The 
2016 Plan recommends the enhancement of pedestrian passages to improve 
routes for pedestrians. The recommendations contained in Circulation 5 of the 
2016 Plan state that alleys should be kept clean and well lit, but that their service 
function should not be compromised. The Plan further states that pedestrian 
passages should be held to higher standards, similar to sidewalks, given their 
pedestrian function. The 2016 Plan specifically recommends encouraging outdoor 
dining areas along pedestrian passages. 

The recommendation of the 2016 plan is to make a distinction between the 
alleys that should be considered primarily as service oriented and alleys that 
have a pedestrian aspect that classify them as “passages”.   Appendix C-9 of the 
2016 Plan provides a map of all alleys in downtown Birmingham, and classifies 
each as an alley or a pedestrian passage. Those areas designated as “passages” 
should be held to a higher standard, similar to sidewalks and streetscapes, which 
should be maintained and patrolled by the City accordingly. 



2 

Since the time that the 2016 plan was written there has been significant 
development which could alter the way these alleys are classified.  Most notably, 
the Willits building was erected on the former Jacobson’s site.  During the 
development process, a great deal of attention was given to this alley and its 
ability to function as a pedestrian corridor.  In addition, many stores have since 
opened rear entrances to their establishments.  Standard streetscape elements 
such as streetlights and landscaping have been installed.  The enhancement of 
the passages and pedestrian oriented alleys benefit the vitality and walkability of 
Birmingham, and adds to the ambience of downtown.  The pedestrian vias 
leading from Maple and S. Old Woodward to the plaza space where the passages 
meet at Café Via’s entrance are excellent examples of what can be done to 
create interesting and lively spaces out of alleys, passages and their connection 
points.  This area can be used as a model for discussion of improvements to the 
public alleys.   

As a result of ongoing discussions at the Planning Board regarding improvements 
to the alleys and passages downtown, an Alleys and Passages Committee was 
formed and had their first meeting in May 2009.  The Committee discussed 
burying utility lines underground in alleys and passages, cleaning up the City 
alleys, adding directional signage to encourage use, adding hanging planters to 
the pedestrian lighting already existing in some alleys, and allowing vendors to 
set up kiosks in alleys and passages to create an artisan market or other similar 
attraction to add life to the alleys and passages.  The Committee also 
recommended contacting the PSD to discuss many of these issues further. 

In addition, over the past year the Clerk’s Office has received numerous requests 
from residents to allow ice cream trucks in neighborhoods, and the Planning 
Division has been approached by multiple vendors seeking to set up kiosks in 
Birmingham on the streets, sidewalks, alleys, passages, and in the parks.   

Current Peddlers and Vendors Regulations 

The existing regulations for vendors and peddlers can be found in Chapter 26, 
Businesses, Article IV, Peddlers and Vendors.  Essentially, the City’s current 
policy is to allow peddlers throughout the year, but to be considered a peddler 
you must move every 20 minutes.  The City’s policy on vendors (stationary 
kiosks) has been to allow them only during special events as a part of the 
approved event.  This does not allow for an artisan market in an alley for 
instance, or a hot dog vendor on the same street corner every day.  Under the 
current vendor ordinance, no peddlers or vendors are permitted in any 
residential zoned area of the City or public area adjacent to a residentially zoned 
area.   



3 

Vendors 

The proposed ordinance amendment included with this memo defines several 
types of vendors.  This includes frozen confection vendors, park vendors, 
movable vendors, special event vendors, and school vendors/vendors at an 
athletic event in a city park.  No changes are proposed to the existing 
requirements for special event vendors or school vendors. 

Movable Vendors at Designated Locations Downtown 

Amendments proposed in the draft ordinance would allow vendors in designated 
locations within the downtown area.  These vendors will be defined as moveable 
vendors as they will be permitted to occupy a particular location each day, but 
their cart or stand must be removed every night.  The draft ordinance sets out 
standards for the aesthetics of the cart or stand, regulations on the hours of 
operation, the size of the public space to be rented, the type of product to be 
sold, and ensures provision of the required 5’ minimum clear pedestrian path at 
all times.   The Planning Division has prepared a map designating two proposed 
vendor locations that the City Commission may wish to start with for the first 
year on a trial basis.  Numerous other sites throughout the downtown could 
support the addition of a moveable vendor, including many of the pedestrian 
passages discussed in the 2016 Plan. 

Park Vendors at Designated Locations in Shain and Booth Park 

The 2016 Plan states “the reason that parks in some cities are exceedingly 
popular is that food and beverages are provided, allowing people to stay for 
extended periods of time.” (p. 56).  The 2016 Plan goes on to provide the 
following recommendation to “encourage a new café or pub in Booth Park at the 
corner of north Woodward and Harmon, possibly as a public-private partnership.”  
(p. 56).  The plans for the redesigned Shain Park also included an area for the 
sale of food and beverages.   

Accordingly, the proposed ordinance amendment allows for park vendors at 
designated locations in both Shain and Booth Parks.  Should this ordinance 
amendment be approved, the City would prepare a Request for Proposals to 
solicit proposals for a food booth in one or both park(s) and would include 
seating areas to provide a plaza space for people to gather and enjoy the 
park(s).   

Application Process & Fee Schedule 

The draft ordinance details the comprehensive application process that is 
proposed, and outlines all required information for submittal with an application, 



4 

such as photos of proposed operators, cart or stand specifications and personal 
information to allow the Police Department to conduct background checks on 
applicants. A comprehensive review of the costs involved to process the 
applications has also been done by each department and a Fee Schedule will be 
provided should the Commission choose to move forward with the proposed 
ordinance amendments.   

Input from Principal Shopping District Board 

An earlier draft of the proposed ordinance amendment was presented to the 
Principal Shopping District (“PSD”) Board in August 2010, at which time a 
subcommittee was established to review and provide comment on the proposed 
ordinance.  This early draft proposed approximately 10 vendor locations at 
designated areas downtown and in the parks.  The subcommittee met on two 
occasions this past fall to review the draft ordinance, and provided a 
recommendation to the full board of the Principal Shopping District at the 
October 7, 2010 meeting.  After some discussion, the PSD Board passed a 
motion providing a recommendation that no vendors be added to the streets, 
alleys or parks downtown.  In the event that the City decided to proceed with 
the vendor ordinance, the board suggested offering vendor locations to existing 
businesses downtown first (see attached memo dated November 2, 2010). 

Moveable Vendor Ordinance Option 

Based on the input received from the Principal Shopping District Board, staff has 
modified the earlier drafts of the revised Vendor Ordinance to limit the number 
of moveable vendors to two locations for the first year to evaluate the impact of 
this program on the downtown.  Language has also been added to the proposed 
ordinance amendment to designate one of the two moveable vendor locations 
and one of the two park vendor locations for existing downtown Birmingham 
businesses.   

On January 22, 2011, the proposed vendor ordinance was discussed at the Long 
Range Planning meeting.  The proposed version at that time combined all 
required amendments to comply with State and Federal law, and also to permit 
the addition of moveable and park vendors.  Several members of the City 
Commission were in support of adding moveable and park vendors on a trial 
basis.   

On February 9, 2011 the proposed vendor ordinance was discussed at the 
Planning Board meeting.  Several members expressed support for park vendors, 
and several others were concerned about allowing vendors in alleys and 
passages.  The Planning Board did not take any action on the proposed 
ordinance amendment as it was not within their authority to do so.  They did ask 



5 

that the comments from the entire board be forwarded to the City Commission 
for their review and consideration. 

On February 28, 2011, the City Commission again discussed amendments to the 
vendor ordinance, and expressed their concern that the moveable and park 
vendors had been removed from the ordinance.  Several City Commissioners 
again stated their desire to allow moveable and/or park vendors on a trial basis. 
The City Commission then directed staff to come back with two versions of the 
proposed vendor ordinance, one with all required changes to comply with State 
and Federal law, and another to allow moveable and/or park vendors for their 
consideration.   

Thus, please find attached draft ordinance language that would allow vendors at 
designated locations only in the City.  The dimensions of the kiosk area for lease 
from the City will be determined based on the individual location constraints.  A 
minimum 5’ of clear pedestrian path will be maintained at all times.  The goal is 
to identify areas where we want to target additional activity, and to establish a 
clear plan for vendors to eliminate conflict.  The draft ordinance establishes 
parameters for the aesthetics of kiosks, hours of operation, license regulations, 
insurance requirements, the lease terms available and all license fees and lease 
payment calculations.  The draft ordinance also provides selection criteria 
including the type of product to be sold, the pricing of the product, and the 
vendor’s previous experience in Birmingham to allow the City to control both the 
number of vendors, and the type of products sold. 

Suggested Resolution: 

To adopt Ordinance _____ to allow moveable and/or park vendors at specified 
locations in the City on a trial basis, and to establish selection criteria for such 
vendors; 

OR 

To direct City staff to bring this matter back to the City Commission at a later 
date with the following additional information: 
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________ 

OR  

To take no action. 



6 

Principal Shopping District Board Minutes 
August 5, 2010 

Jana Ecker presented the proposed ordinance amendment for commercial 
vendors, peddlers and solicitors to the Board. Ecker stated that one of the ideas 
behind having vendors in the park is to encourage people to stay and enjoy the 
park. Ecker stated that alleys and passages are also in the 2016 plan. The 
possibility is there for vendors in some of the city’s pedestrian alleys and 
passages as well. Ecker stated the proposal allows for the city to have a request 
for proposal (RFP) for Shain and Booth parks for vendors. The park vendors 
would be a more permanent vendor probably set up for the season. Ecker stated 
that the city would encourage the seasonal vendors to have a plaza area with 
tables and chairs for patrons.  

The discussion opened up for the Board to ask questions.  

Some examples of PSD questions:  
 the fees to be charged
 what time would the vendors be restricted to
 where are the locations that vendors will be allowed and can the city

dictate the location for each vendor, such as where to put food vendors
and opposed to a magazine vendor

 would there be a preference to PSD businesses
 would the size of the vendor space be limited, and what would that size

be
 could PSD merchants be added to the RFP, so that it was in writing they

would get preference over an outside vendor
 was there a retailer on the ordinance committee
 would the vendors be allowed to operate during PSD special events
 where will patrons be sent for restroom facilities after City Hall is closed or

in areas where there is not a public restroom

Hockman stated the city went through a process to approve outdoor dining with 
the Bistros and to create activity on the city streets. Hockman went on to ask, 
where are the deficiencies that the city feels a need to have street vendors? 
What is the city trying to accomplish that they feel is not currently being done? 
Ecker stated that this vision was outlined in the 2016 plan.  

Alan Borman a Birmingham resident gave a brief presentation to the Board on 
why he felt the City of Birmingham should make changes to its current vendor 
amendment. Borman is interested in becoming a vendor in a Birmingham park.  



7 
 

Hockman suggested for consideration that the PSD Board appoint a 
subcommittee consisting of three to four Board members along with City staff, 
and documents to meet and discuss the vendor ordinance and then report back 
to the PSD Board at the September meeting. Hockman suggested that Peter 
Sobelton, Richard Astrein, Bill Roberts, Doug Fehan and John Heiney represent 
the PSD if they were available. Hockman suggested the subcommittee try to 
meet one or two times before the September PSD Board meeting. 



8 
 

Principal Shopping District Board Minutes October 7, 2010 
 
Heiney reported that, per the PSD Board’s request, a subcommittee reviewed the 
recommendations of the City staff regarding modifying the vendor ordinance to 
allow for a season-long food or craft stand in key public locations. The PSD 
subcommittee concluded that such an ordinance would allow temporary vendors 
to compete with brick and mortar businesses who have a much higher 
investment in the city. Therefore the sub-committee recommended against 
supporting the ordinance revisions. Ecker said that the revised ordinance was an 
effort to fulfill a 2016 plan recommendation for areas of attraction in public 
spaces, including alleys and passages . Heiney said that the PSD Executive  
Committee also reviewed this matter. They suggested that the City consider 
installing outdoor dining amenities at Shain Park and other public locations 
around the downtown area. Ecker said that the outdoor dining suggestion was 
interesting, and could be a possible interim solution to try in a few locations. She 
said that some vendors will still request the revised ordinance at the City 
Commission meeting. Roberts said that the sub-committee is concerned about 
vendors competing with businesses, like the Sweet Earth frozen yogurt store that 
just opened. Fehan asked Ecker if a fee structure had been set for the proposed 
new vendors. Ecker said they had not set that up, but that it would be based on 
a fair market value to lease public property. Sherman said that the outdoor 
dining might be a reasonable compromise to start. He said that the PSD should 
communicate with restaurants in the areas of this outdoor dining. Heiney said 
that several restaurants offer carry out service, and some deliver. He suggested 
that the PSD could coordinate with these restaurants to provide delivery service 
to these public dining locations. Ecker cautioned that this plan would be an 
unanticipated cost to the City.  
 
Hohendorf said that he reviewed the 2016 plan, and did not recall any discussion 
that advocated for vendors. He called Bob Gibbs to ask about this. He reported 
that Gibbs did not necessarily envision outdoor dining. Ecker said that the 
committee had several objectives to providing this vendor service. Hockman said 
that the outdoor dining would meet the stated objective of creating areas of 
interest in public spaces without creating unfair competition.  
 
Motion by Hockman: PSD Board would report back to the City that the PSD 
encourages the use of outdoor dining furniture as an alternative to revising the 
vendor ordinance and allowing vendors on public property in the downtown area. 
Second: Sobelton. 



9 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

________________________________________________________ 
DATE:  November 2, 2010 
 
TO:   Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

Laura Broski, City Clerk 
 
FROM:  John Heiney, Executive Director,  

Birmingham PSD 
 
SUBJECT: PSD Position on Proposed Ordinance Amendment 

Regarding Vendors and Peddlers 
________________________________________________________ 
 
 
As you know, the PSD Board reviewed the provisions of the proposed vendor 
ordinance at their August meeting, and appointed a subcommittee to review the 
proposed revisions.  The subcommittee consisted of PSD Board members Richard 
Astrein, Doug Fehan, Bill Roberts and Peter Sobelton. The committee convened 
twice in the month of August, and shared their conclusions with the PSD 
Executive Committee on September 22.   
 
At the PSD Board meeting in August and at the first sub-committee meeting, 
Planning Director Jana Ecker spoke on behalf of the City staff committee, stating 
some of the goals for the revised ordinance.   
 
After reviewing the proposed ordinance, the PSD subcommittee expressed 
concerns about setting up temporary vendors that would compete directly with 
existing “brick and mortar” businesses.  Whether artisans or food vendors, the 
subcommittee agreed that these types of businesses would directly compete with 
existing downtown stores during a continued slow economy. 
 
They concluded that out of all the proposed locations, either Shain Park or the 
Pierce Street fountain area would be the most highly sought-after locations.  
Their concerns are that these locations are in close proximity to existing casual 
dining establishments 
 
The sub-committee, by consensus, rejected the provisions of the revised vendor 
ordinance and asked that the City not adopt it.  They requested that if the City 
does decide to go forward with the ordinance, to please give preference to 
merchants who wish to open a vendor kiosk.   
 



10 
 

The PSD Executive Committee reviewed the sub-committee’s recommendation.  
They established the fact that part of the reason for this proposed revisions is to 
create points of interest and energy around town, as per 2016 recommendations.  
The Executive Committee agrees with the findings of the sub-committee and 
suggests that the ordinance not be adopted as written. 
 
Instead, the Executive Committee suggested that the PSD put forth the following 
recommendation: 
 
Create seating and dining areas where visitors can enjoy a meal they bring in, or 
purchase from an existing establishment.  The PSD would offer to work with 
appropriate staff and committees, and will organize restaurants who wish to 
provide delivery service at approved locations.  The PSD could also work on a 
plan to provide restaurant information, menus, etc. at the suggested locations. 
 
This would address the recommendations of the 2016 plan for outdoor dining in 
public areas, and would meet the intent of the Alleys and Passages committee to 
create areas of interest in certain locations without creating additional 
competition for existing businesses.  In fact, such installations may encourage 
more business for some restaurants. 
 
 
At their October 7 meeting the PSD Board adopted these recommendations by 
resolution, and asked my office to report the outcome to the City Staff 
committee who originally drafted the proposed ordinance revisions. 
 
 



11 
 

Long Range Planning Minutes 
January 22, 2011 

 
C. PROPOSED ORDINANCE AMENDMENT REGARDING COMMERCIAL 
VENDORS, PEDDLING, SOLICITING  
 
Ms. Ecker explained that the alley and passages subcommittee is looking for 
different ways to improve the alleys and passages. She explained that 
discussions included vendors in the alleys and passages.  
 
Ms. Ecker explained that the Principal Shopping District Board is not overly in 
favor of bringing in new vendors. She explained that there would be a Request 
for Proposal process to control the vendor location, aesthetic of the cart, number 
of seats, etc, including background checks on the vendors.  
 
Ms. Broski explained that the requirements for peddlers, vendors and solicitors 
will be combined into one chapter of the City Code. She explained the revisions 
to the ordinance will include redefining the term peddler to include non-
charitable soliciting, adding a provision to allow frozen confection vendors in the 
neighborhoods, and limiting the hours that soliciting, peddling and frozen 
confection will be permitted to daylight hours only.  
 
Ms. Broski confirmed for Mayor Pro Tem Nickita that vendors must obtain a 
license from the City.  
 
Commissioner McDaniel suggested that the City try this idea and see what 
happens.  
 
Mayor Rinschler agreed. In response to a question from Mayor Rinschler, Ms. 
Ecker commented that fees have been discussed, but not set yet. She noted that 
the vendor would be charged a fee to use City property.  
 
Ms. Ecker confirmed for Mayor Pro Tem Nickita that vendors in the park would 
be limited to one near the Pierce Street Garage and one in the alley near Tokyo 
Sushi and one in Shain Park and one in Booth Park. Ms. Ecker confirmed that the 
proposed locations would not block existing buildings.  
 
Ron Rea suggested adding an enclosed port-a-potty to the park vendor locations.  
 
Bill Roberts, member of Principal Shopping District (PSD) Board, stated that the 
Board is in support of the concept to provide dining areas in the park such as 
tables and chairs. He expressed the concern of the Board in allowing vendors on 
public property which would be in direct competition of existing businesses. He 



12 
 

suggested that if the Commission moves forward on this, local restaurants should 
get the first opportunity.  
 
Ms. Conrad expressed that existing businesses should be given priority. She 
expressed concern with vendors in the neighborhoods. Ms. Broski confirmed that 
the police department performs background checks of the vendors.  
Mr. Bloom suggested the PSD install a kiosk for those restaurants that want to 
deliver to those in the park.  
 
Alan Borman, resident, expressed that food vendors will highlight the park. He 
pointed out that the investment for the vendors will be large.  
 
Dave Hohendorf, resident and business owner, pointed out that there is no 
mention of vendors in the 2016 Plan.  
 
The Commission recessed at 12:07 PM.  
The Commission reconvened at 12:19 PM.  



13 
 

Planning Board Minutes 
February 9, 2011 

 
STUDY SESSION 
VENDOR ORDINANCE 
 
Ms. Ecker advised that in accordance with the Planning Board’s Action List, the 
Planning Division conducted a study of the alleys and passages in the downtown 
area. This assessment of the current condition of alleys in the City of Birmingham 
was done 
to identify the strengths and weaknesses of the alleys and passages and to seek 
out possibilities for improvement to the urban fabric of the downtown area 
through the improvement of alleys and passages. 
 
The recommendation of the 2016 Plan is to make a distinction between the 
alleys that should be considered primarily as service oriented and alleys that 
have a pedestrian aspect that classifies them as “passages.” Those areas 
designated as “passages” should be held to a higher standard, similar to 
sidewalks and streetscapes, and should be maintained and patrolled by the City 
accordingly. 
 
Ms. Ecker advised that as a result of ongoing discussions at the Planning Board 
regarding improvements to the alleys and passages downtown, an Alleys and 
Passages Committee was formed and had their first meeting in May 2009. The 
Committee discussed burying utility lines underground in alleys and passages, 
cleaning up the City 
alleys, adding directional signage to encourage use, adding hanging planters to 
the pedestrian lighting already existing in some alleys, and allowing vendors to 
set up kiosks in alleys and passages to create an artisan market or other similar 
attraction to add life to the alleys and passages. 
 
In addition, over the past year the Clerk’s Office has received numerous requests 
from residents to allow ice cream trucks in neighborhoods, and the Planning 
Division has been approached by multiple vendors seeking to set up kiosks in 
Birmingham on the streets, sidewalks, alleys, passages, and in the parks. 
 
The city attorney has now drafted an ordinance that would allow vendors at 
designated locations only in the City, based on the suggestions of the Alleys and 
Passages Committee and the City Departments. The goal is to identify areas 
where we want to target additional activity, and to establish a clear plan for 
vendors to eliminate conflict. The draft ordinance also provides selection criteria 
including the type of product to be sold, the pricing of the product, and the 
vendor’s previous experience in Birmingham to allow the City to control both the 
number of vendors, and the type of products sold. The draft ordinance talks 



14 
 

about four locations:  one in Shain Park, one in Booth Park, one in the passage 
east of Tokyo Sushi, and one in front of the Pierce St. parking deck. 
 
The Principal Shopping District (“PSD”) has taken the position that they are not 
in favor of having vendors, but the City might want to consider giving preference 
to local businesses already in town if this ordinance is approved.   
 
Ms. Lazar pointed out that vendors have very little overhead.  Contrast that with 
a business in town that pays a very high rent along with additional taxes.  A 
vendor may present unfair competition to someone who is well entrenched in the 
community. 
 
Mr. Williams expressed his aversion to the thought of eating a hot dog in an 
alley.  To him it is inappropriate for Birmingham.  On the other hand he thinks 
something should be done to allow vendors in the parks and the opportunity 
should be made available to the PSD to provide vending services in the parks. 
 
Mr. DeWeese said the definition for frozen confection vendors should be changed 
to say “any commercial vendor traveling by vehicle,” rather than “traveling by 
automotive vehicle” to include bicycles. 
 
Ms. Lazar suggested existing businesses might want to set up a rotation to share 
a location.   
 
The chairman opened up discussion to the audience at 10 p.m. 
 
Ms. Dorothy Conrad pointed out that the Boy Scouts sell ice cream in the park 
for special events.  They do a lot of public things with the money that they 
make.  She only supports vendors if an offer is made to the existing businesses 
to provide vending services. 
 
Mr. Bill Roberts, 273 Pierce, a member of the PSD Board, said there is a lot of 
opportunity to take food to the parks.  The board cannot support the idea of 
bringing more vendors into town at this point.  There is plenty of competition 
already. 
 
Mr. John Kloche thought that having vendors in town would be complimentary to 
the cityscape.   
 
Ms. Susan Peabody from Peabody’s Restaurant said there are 53 restaurants in 
town.  There is no food that they are not doing.  If this is to happen, give the 
businesses in town the opportunity first.   
 



15 
 

Ms. Alice Thimm felt the customer base is already diluted enough for the current 
food establishments.  There is a history with the businesses that are in town now 
and she thinks the City ought to do its best to keep them. 
 
Ms. Ecker read a letter into the record in favor of street vendors because they 
would add interest and bring new business into the downtown area.  That ends 
up helping all of the merchants. 
 
Mr. Williams suggested the ordinance could be defined so that somebody who 
does not have a significant investment in Birmingham will not be eligible.  Mr. 
DeWeese recommended that the PSD might work in conjunction with the City to 
have an ongoing special event for vendors that introduces Birmingham 
restaurants to the larger community. That would limit the opportunity to existing 
businesses in town. 
 
Chairman Boyle said the minutes of tonight’s discussion will be sent to the PSD 
and forwarded to the City Commission. 

 



16 
 

City Commission Minutes 
February 28, 2011 

 
02-53-11 VENDOR, PEDDLER, SOLICITOR ORDINANCE UPDATE  
 
The Commission received the Vendor, Peddler, and Solicitor Ordinance Update 
submitted by City Clerk Broski.  
 
Ms. Broski explained that the movable and park vendors have been removed 
from the ordinance in order to move forward with combining the vendor, peddler 
and soliciting into one ordinance to bring it into compliance with state law before 
the vending season begins. She noted that movable and park vendors will 
continue to be studied.  
 
Edward Nemerkaiser questioned the concerns of the Principal Shopping District 
(PSD) with the mobile or stationary vendors. Mayor Rinschler referred him to the 
PSD.  
 
Mr. Valentine commented that the concerns from the PSD Board and Planning 
Board are what have delayed this discussion from moving ahead.  
 
Commissioner Sherman suggested both drafts of the ordinance be given to the 
Commission for review.  
 
Commissioner McDaniel suggested starting small, such as a vendor in Shain Park 
instead of allowing four vendors around town.  
 
The Commission agreed to bring the language which includes movable and park 
vendors as an alternative for discussion and possible modification. 



MEMORANDUM 
 
 
DATE:  July 19, 2010 
 
TO:   Principal Shopping District 
 
FROM:  Laura M. Broski, City Clerk  
   Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
   Bruce R. Johnson, Building Official 
   Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 
   Christian Wuerth, Management Analyst  
 
SUBJECT: Proposed Ordinance Amendment 
 Commercial Vendors, Peddling, Soliciting 
 
 
A group of staff members have been working to revise the peddler/vendor and 
soliciting ordinance.  Highlights to the ordinance include the following: 

 Combining the requirements for peddler & vendor and soliciting into one 
chapter of the city code 

 Add provision for frozen confection vendor (ie: ice cream truck) 
 Add provision for movable vendors at designated locations in the 

downtown area 
 Add provision for stationary park vendor at Shain Park or Booth Park 

 
Combining the Peddler & Vendor and Soliciting ordinance 
The purpose in combining the peddler, vendor, and soliciting into one ordinance 
is to streamline and clarify the ordinance.   
 
The current ordinance allows for charitable and non-charitable solicitors to solicit 
in the downtown and residential areas.  The proposed ordinance allows 
charitable solicitors, as well as those groups protected by the first amendment, 
to continue to solicit in the City once the application has been approved at no 
cost.  The proposed ordinance defines non-charitable solicitors as peddlers.  In 
addition to the application fee, peddlers will have the option to pay a daily fee for 
those who will only be peddling for several days or an annual fee for the 
calendar year. 
 
The type of vendor has been broken down to include frozen confection vendors, 
stationary park vendors, movable vendors, special event vendors, and school 
vendor/vendor at an athletic event in a city park.  The requirement for special 
event vendors and school vendors remains the same. 
 



Addition of Frozen Confection Vendors 
Every summer the Clerk’s Office receives several calls regarding ice cream trucks.  
The current ordinance does not allow for ice cream vendors in residential areas.  
The proposed ordinance would allow only three frozen confection licenses to be 
issued per year and limit each company to one truck.  
 
Addition of Movable Vendors at Designated Locations 
In accordance with the Planning Board’s action list, the Planning Division 
conducted a study of the alleys and passages in the downtown area.  This 
assessment of the current condition of alleys in the City of Birmingham was done 
to identify the strengths and weaknesses of the alleys and passages and seek 
out possibilities for improvement to the urban fabric of the downtown area 
through the improvement of these areas.   
 
The 2016 plan identified the alleys behind commercial buildings as underutilized 
assets within the city.  The alleys of the downtown area are primarily used to 
service shops in the manner of deliveries and trash disposal.  While the 2016 
plan recognizes the service value of the alleys as an essential function of the 
downtown area, it also identifies certain alleys as pedestrian passages as they 
are more pedestrian oriented and used only lightly for service functions.  The 
2016 Plan recommends the enhancement of pedestrian passages to improve 
routes for pedestrians. The recommendations contained in Circulation 5 of the 
2016 Plan state that alleys should be kept clean and well lit, but that their service 
function should not be compromised. The Plan further states that pedestrian 
passages should be held to higher standards, similar to sidewalks, given their 
pedestrian function. The 2016 Plan specifically recommends encouraging outdoor 
dining areas along pedestrian passages. 
 
The recommendation of the 2016 plan is to make a distinction between the 
alleys that should be considered primarily as service oriented and alleys that 
have a pedestrian aspect that classify them as “passages”.   Appendix C-9 of the 
2016 Plan provides a map of all alleys in downtown Birmingham, and classifies 
each as an alley or a pedestrian passage. Those areas designated as “passages” 
should be held to a higher standard, similar to sidewalks and streetscapes, which 
should be maintained and patrolled by the City accordingly. 
 
Since the time that the 2016 plan was written there has been significant 
development which could alter the way these alleys are classified.  Most notably, 
the Willits building was erected on the former Jacobson’s site.  During the 
development process, a great deal of attention was given to this alley and its 
ability to function as a pedestrian corridor.  In addition, many stores have since 
opened rear entrances to their establishments.  Standard streetscape elements 
such as streetlights and landscaping were installed.  The enhancement of the 
passages and pedestrian oriented alleys benefit the vitality and walkability of 



Birmingham, and adds to the ambience of downtown.  The vias leading from 
Maple and S. Old Woodward to the plaza space where the passages meet at Café 
Via’s entrance are excellent examples of what can be done to create interesting 
and lively spaces out of alleys, passages and their connection points.  This area 
can be used as a model for discussion of improvements to the public alleys.   
 
On August 8, 2007, the Planning Board discussed alleys and passages and the 
need to improve many of the passages for pedestrian use as recommended in 
the DB 2016 Plan.  The Planning Division conducted a PowerPoint presentation 
to illustrate the condition of many of the alleys and passages discussed in the DB 
2016 Plan.  The Board concluded that baseline standards should be created, and 
a priority list created outlining which alleys and passages should be addressed 
first.  Planning Board members also requested that staff coordinate with the DPS 
to ensure that any wayfinding signage for alleys and passages be connected to 
the trail marker signage that is currently in the works.  Finally, a GIS map was 
requested to show all alleys and passages and their connections to open space 
networks, trails and the downtown. 
 
On September 12, 2007, the Planning Board again reviewed the issue of alleys 
and passages.  Board members suggested coming up with guidelines for the 
improvement of alleys and passages.  The Planning Board also discussed 
combining trash facilities and encouraging trash compactors.  A suggestion was 
also made to consider establishing an “adopt an alley” program and allowing 
donors to purchase naming rights in exchange for donations for alley or passage 
improvements.   
 
On October 10, 2007, the Planning Board again discussed alleys and passages.  
The Planning Board recommended creating a trash compactor program similar to 
the City newsrack program, as well as drafting an off-site signage ordinance to 
allow directional signage in alleys and passages.  The Planning Board also 
suggested preparing a plan for one portion of an alley to assist in creating 
guidelines for improvement. 
 
On August 13, 2008, the Planning Board discussed this issue again and 
recommended establishing a subcommittee on alleys and passages, with 
representatives from the DRB, PSD and Planning Board.  Board members 
suggested that the next elements to be addressed should be off site signage and 
the integration of wayfinding and coordination with the trail marker system, and 
determining how many businesses there are downtown with entrance doors only 
on alleys and/or passages.     
 
The Alleys and Passages Committee was formed and had their first meeting in 
May 2009.  The Committee discussed burying utility lines underground in alleys 
and passages, cleaning up the City alleys, adding directional signage to 



encourage use, adding hanging planters to the pedestrian lighting already 
existing in some alleys, and allowing vendors to set up kiosks in alleys and 
passages to create an artisan market or other similar attraction to add life to the 
alleys and passages.  The Committee also recommended contacting the PSD to 
discuss many of these issues further. 
 
Over the past several months, the Planning Division has been approached by 
multiple vendors seeking to set up kiosks in Birmingham on the streets, 
sidewalks, alleys, passages, and in the parks.  As it was one of the 
recommendations that the Alleys and Passages Committee made to allow such 
vendors downtown, the Planning Division has been working with the Clerk’s 
Office, the City Attorney, the Building Division and the DPS to consider allowing 
such vendors.   
 
The existing regulations for vendors and peddlers can be found in Chapter 26, 
Businesses, Article IV.  Essentially, the City’s current policy is to allow peddlers 
throughout the year, but to be considered a peddler you must move every 20 
minutes.  This does not allow for an artisan market in an alley for instance, or a 
hot dog vendor on the same street corner every day.  The City’s policy on 
vendors (stationary kiosks) was to allow them only during special events as a 
part of the approved event.   
 
The City Attorney has now drafted an ordinance that would allow stationary 
vendors at designated locations in the City only, based on the suggestions of the 
Planning Board and the City departments listed above.  The Planning Division is 
preparing a map outlining the designated locations for discussion.  Based on the 
individual location constraints, the dimensions of the kiosk area for lease from 
the City will be determined.  A minimum of 5’ of clear pedestrian space will be 
maintained at all times.  The goal is to identify areas where we want to target 
additional activity, and to establish a clear plan for vendors to eliminate conflict.  
The draft ordinance will establish parameters for the aesthetics of kiosks, hours 
of operation, license regulations, insurance requirements, the lease terms 
available and all license fees and lease payment calculations.  The ordinance will 
also provide selection criteria including the type of product to be sold, the pricing 
of the product, and the vendor’s previous experience in Birmingham to allow the 
City to control both the number of vendors, and the type of product sold. 
 
In addition, the Planning Division will be working with the City Manager’s office 
to prepare an RFP to be issued this fall to solicit proposals for a more permanent 
food kiosk to be operated in Shain Park, and then in Booth Park, in accordance 
with the DB 2016 Plan.  The DB 2016 Plan states “the reason that parks in some 
cities are exceedingly popular is that food and beverages are provided, allowing 
people to stay for extended periods of time.” (p. 56).  The 2016 Plan goes on to 
provide the following recommendation “encourage a new café or pub on Booth 



Park at the corner of north Woodward and Harmon, possibly as a public-private 
partnership.”  (p. 56). 
 
The City would solicit proposals for a food booth that would be open all season, 
possibly removed in the winter, and would include seating areas around it to 
provide a plaza space for people to gather and enjoy the park.   
 
Fees 
A comprehensive review of the costs involved to process the applications was 
done by each department.  The license fee for the movable vendors is based on 
the location cost for the fair market rent and taxes.  The current fee allowed for 
a 50% discount on the application fee and daily fee for licensed Birmingham 
merchants.  This discount will now only apply to the daily fee as the cost to 
process an application is a standard fee.  In previous practice, the 
peddler/vendor application fee was a one-time fee per year.  This proposed fee 
will require the application fee to be paid for each application submitted. 
 
 



CHAPTER 26:  BUSINESSES 
 
ARTICLE IV.  PEDDLERS AND VENDORS* 
 
__________ 
*Editor's note:  Ordinance No. 1639, adopted April 14, 1997, amended §§ 26-111--
26-119, 26-131--26-138 by replacing them with §§ 26-111--26-124. Formerly, such 
sections pertained to similar provisions and derived from § 7.51(1)--(5), 7.52, 7.53, 
7.54(1)--(3), 7.55--7.64 of the 1963 Code; Ord. No. 1518, § 7.53, 3-23-92; Ord. No. 
1630, 9-16-96. Subsequently, Ord. No. 1680, adopted Sept. 14, 1998, amended Art. IV 
in its entirety.   
 
__________ 
 
Sec. 26-111.  Definitions. 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning: 
Parent organization  means the person or organization that the peddler is employed by 
or represents, the principal manufacturer and distributor of goods and the principal 
provider of services being sold.   
Peddling  means traveling by foot, automotive vehicle or other conveyance, from place 
to place or from street to street, carrying, conveying or transporting goods, wares, 
merchandise, including food products, offering and exposing the same for sale or 
making sales and delivering articles to purchasers, or taking or attempting to take 
orders for the sale of goods, wares and merchandise, books or magazines, personal 
property of any nature whatsoever for future delivery, or for services to be furnished or 
performed in the future, whether or not such individual has, carries or exposes for sale 
a sample of the subject of such sale or whether the subject is collecting advanced 
payments on such sales or not.   
Peddler  means any person who engages in peddling. The word peddler shall include 
the words "hawker", "itinerant merchant", and "street vendor".   
Special event  means an organized activity, held on public property, specific to an 
identifiable place, occurring for a limited period of time, and for which a special event 
permit has been issued, including a) a fair, concert, carnival, festival, performance, or 
other similar activity, or b) an activity taking place on a designated route on public 
rights-of-way for the purpose of walking, running, jogging, biking, racing, conducting a 
parade, or engaging in a similar activity.   
Vending during special events  means the sale of goods, wares, or merchandise, 
including food products, on public property at a stationary or fixed location during a 
special event in and around the location of the special event.   
Vending at school or other athletic events in city parks  means the sale of goods, wares, 
or merchandise, including food products, on public property at a stationary or fixed 
location during school or other athletic events at city parks.   



Vendor  means any person who engages in vending.   
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98; Ord. No. 1961, 4-7-08) 
 
Sec. 26-112.  Exceptions. 
The following shall not be required to obtain a license under this division: 
(1)   Any person selling solely newspapers. 
(2)   Persons traveling on an established route at the request, express or implied, of 
their customers. 
(3)   Salespersons calling on regularly licensed business establishments. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-113.  License requirement. 
No person shall engage in the business of peddling or vending in the city without first 
obtaining a license from the city clerk. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-114.  License application. 
Any person seeking to obtain a license pursuant to this article shall file a sworn 
application with the city clerk upon forms prescribed and furnished by the city clerk and 
shall pay an application fee to cover the cost of investigation. The application fee is set 
forth in appendix A. The application shall include the following information: 
(1)   The name of the person who will engage in peddling or vending within the city, 
including the person's current address of residence and length of residence at such 
address, business address if other than the residence address, business and residence 
telephone numbers, social security number, driver's license number, and a physical 
description including height, weight, and color of hair and eyes. 
(2)   A brief description of the business or activity to be conducted including the 
methods to be used and a description of the types of goods or services to be sold. 
(3)   The dates, hours and location for which the right to engage in peddling or vending 
is sought. 
(4)   Proof that the applicant has obtained all licenses or permits required by state law. 
(5)   The names of three references who will certify as to the applicant's good character 
and business responsibility. 
(6)   If employed and acting as an agent, the name, address and telephone number of 
the parent organization who is being represented, and when and where this 
organization was formed, including the form of its organization. 
(7)   A statement as to whether the applicant or its parent organization has ever been 
found to have violated a municipal ordinance regulating peddling or vending. 
(8)   A statement as to whether the applicant or an officer or director of the applicant's 
parent organization has ever been convicted of a felony, and if so, a brief description of 
the offense. 
(9)   A current photograph of the applicant, taken within 60 days immediately prior to 
the date of the filing of the application, which picture shall be two inches by two inches 



in size showing the head and shoulders of the applicant in a clear and distinguishing 
manner. 
(10)   The application shall be signed by the applicant stating that the information 
contained therein is true and correct, that the city shall have the right to investigate 
and verify the information contained in the application, and that the applicant has read 
the peddlers and vendors ordinance and agrees to abide by its terms. 
(11)   Such other information as the city clerk shall determine to be appropriate. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-115.  Application review and license issuance. 
(a)   Upon the receipt of an application, the application will be reviewed and an 
investigation will be conducted to insure that all information supplied by the applicant is 
true and accurate. 
(b)   Unless the application is denied in order to insure the protection of the public 
health, safety and general welfare, the city clerk shall issue a license to the applicant 
upon payment of the applicable licensing fee. Licenses shall be issued for a period of up 
to one year depending upon the duration of the peddler's or vendor's activities. All 
licenses shall expire at the end of each calendar year regardless of the date upon which 
the license was issued unless the license is set to expire at an earlier time. 
(c)   While a license is in effect, a peddler or vendor shall, within seven calendar days 
after a change occurs, report to the city clerk in writing any material change in any 
information previously provided on the application form. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-116.  Denial of license. 
(a)   Upon review and investigation of the application and the information contained 
therein, the city may refuse to issue a license to an applicant for any one or more of the 
following reasons: 
(1)   The applicant has failed to comply with the provisions and requirements of this 
article. 
(2)   The applicant has been found to have violated a provision of this article within the 
two years immediately preceding the date of application. 
(3)   The applicant has been denied a license pursuant to this article within the 
immediate past year, unless the applicant shows to the satisfaction of the city that the 
reasons for such earlier denial no longer exist. 
(4)   The applicant falsified information on the application. 
(5)   The applicant has been convicted of a felony. 
(6)   The location, time, or method of peddling or vending will block or congest streets 
or sidewalks, impede the free flow of pedestrian or automobile traffic, or will otherwise 
endanger the health, safety, and welfare of the public in its use of the streets and 
sidewalks in the city. 
(b)   Whenever an application for a license is denied, the reasons for the denial shall be 
noted on the application, and the applicant shall be notified that his application is 



denied and that no license will be issued. Notice shall be mailed to the applicant at the 
address shown on the license application, or at the applicant's last known address. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-117.  License revocation and suspension. 
(a)   Any license issued under this article may be revoked or suspended by the city for 
any of the following reasons: 
(1)   Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the license application. 
(2)   Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement by the peddler or vendor in the course 
of peddling or vending. 
(3)   Engaging in peddling or vending in a manner contrary to the provisions contained 
in the license. 
(4)   Conviction for a felony. 
(5)   Engaging in peddling or vending in violation of any city ordinance or state law. 
(6)   Engaging in peddling or vending in such a manner as to create a public nuisance, 
constitute a breach of the peace, prevent the free flow of traffic on sidewalks and 
streets, or endanger the health, safety or general welfare of the public. 
(b)   A peddler or vendor shall have the right to notice and hearing before revocation or 
suspension occurs. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-118.  Notice and hearing. 
Notice of a hearing for revocation or suspension of a license issued under this article 
shall be provided in writing and shall set forth specifically the grounds for the proposed 
revocation or suspension and the time and place of the hearing. Notice shall be mailed 
to the peddler or vendor at the address shown on the license application, or at the 
applicant's last known address. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-119.  Appeals. 
Any person denied the issuance of a license or having a license suspended or revoked 
may appeal in writing to the city commission within 14 days of the denial, suspension or 
revocation. After receipt of the request for appeal, the city commission shall hear the 
appeal at its next regularly scheduled commission meeting. The decision of the city 
commission on the appeal shall be final and binding on all parties concerned. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-120.  License fee. 
A license fee shall be collected for the purpose of defraying the costs incurred by the 
city in regulation and enforcement of this article. The cost of a daily and annual license 
is set forth in appendix A. Whenever an applicant believes that the applicable license 
fee places an undue burden upon interstate commerce, the applicant may apply to the 
city clerk for an adjustment or waiver of the license fee. The application for an 
adjustment or waiver must include a sworn statement setting forth the specific reasons 



why the fee reduction or waiver is sought. The application must also include sufficient 
information for the city clerk to make a determination as to whether the license fee 
would unduly burden the applicant. Current licensed operating businesses within 
approved business zoning districts within the city are entitled to a 50 percent reduction 
in a peddler's or vendor's application and applicable license fee. This reduction shall not 
apply to businesses which are delinquent in their payment of city taxes or special 
assessments at the time of application. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-121.  License exhibition. 
While peddling or vending, the license issued pursuant to this article shall be displayed 
so that it is visible to any person dealing with the peddler or vendor. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-122.  Nontransferable. 
No license issued pursuant to this article shall be transferred to or used by any person 
other than the one to whom it was issued. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-123.  Prohibitions. 
(a)   No peddler or vendor shall block, obstruct, impede or otherwise interfere with the 
normal flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic upon a public street, alley, sidewalk or 
other public area within the city. In no event shall a peddler remain stationary in any 
location for more than 20 minutes. 
(b)   No peddler or vendor shall block or impede the ingress or egress of the public into 
any business within the city. 
(c)   No peddler or vendor shall, without permission, accost, interfere with, or touch any 
member of the public in any manner. 
(d)   No peddler or vendor shall unreasonably disturb the peace and quiet of the city 
and shall not shout, cry out, blow any horn, ring any bell, utilize any amplification 
system, or use any device to attract the attention of the public. 
(e)   No peddler or vendor shall make any fraudulent or misleading representations to 
any person in connection with any sale or potential sale while peddling or vending. 
(f)   No person under 12 years of age shall engage in any peddling or vending during 
school hours, unless legally excused from school, or for a combined school and work 
period of more than eight hours in any one day. No person shall engage in any peddling 
or vending between sundown and 8:00 a.m. 
(g)   The city may restrict peddling and vending to certain hours or to certain areas 
within the city during special events where the city has determined that peddling or 
vending may be hazardous to the health, safety or welfare of the public due to 
congestion in city streets, sidewalks or other public places or when peddling or vending 
may cause an impediment to the free flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic. No peddler 
or vendor shall engage in peddling or vending during such an event in any area or 



during any time that peddling or vending is restricted after having received written 
notice from the city clerk of such restriction. 
(h)   No peddler or vendor shall operate in any residential zoned area of the city or 
upon a public street, alley, sidewalk or other public area adjacent to a residentially 
zoned area. 
(i)   No peddler or vendor shall operate from any conveyance device which does not 
meet the approved city standards for peddler conveyance devices on file in the office of 
the city clerk. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
 
Sec. 26-124.  Special events. 
In addition to obtaining a peddler's or vendor's license, a peddler's or vendor's name 
shall be listed with the city clerk in the special events permit application of a sponsoring 
agency in order for the peddler or vendor to be permitted to operate on the streets, 
alleys, sidewalks or other public areas where a special event is taking place and as 
described in the special event permit. 
(Ord. No. 1639, 4-14-97; Ord. No. 1680, 9-14-98) 
Secs. 26-125--26-160.  Reserved. 
 



1 

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 26, BUSINESSES, ARTICLE IV, PEDDLERS 
AND VENDORS, AND CHAPTER 38, CHARITABLE SOLICITATIONS, ARTICLE I, IN 
GENERAL, AND ARTICLE II, PERMIT, OF THE BIRMINGHAM CITY CODE TO 
REGULATE PEDDLERS AND SOLICITORS, AND TO ALLOW FOR FROZEN 
CONFECTION VENDORS, AND FEE SCHEDULES FOR ADMINISTRATION AND 
PENALTIES.  

 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: Chapter 26,  Businesses, Article IV, Pedders and 
Vendors, and Chapter 38, Charitable Solicitations, Article I, In General and Article II, Permit, of 
the Birmingham City Code, shall be amended as follows: 

 

ARTICLE IV.  PEDDLERS AND VENDORS* 
 
 
Sec. 26-111.  Definitions. 
 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
 
Parent organization  means the person or organization that the peddler is employed by or 
represents, the principal manufacturer and distributor of goods and the principal provider of 
services being sold.   
 
Peddling  means traveling by foot, automotive vehicle or other conveyance, from place to place 
or from street to street, carrying, conveying or transporting goods, wares, merchandise, including 
food products, offering and exposing the same for sale or making sales and delivering articles to 
purchasers, or taking or attempting to take orders for the sale of goods, wares and merchandise, 
books or magazines, personal property of any nature whatsoever for future delivery, or for 
services to be furnished or performed in the future, whether or not such individual has, carries or 
exposes for sale a sample of the subject of such sale or whether the subject is collecting 
advanced payments on such sales or not.   
 
Peddler  means any person who engages in peddling. The word peddler shall include the words 
"hawker", "itinerant merchant", and "street vendor".   

Formatted: Left



2 

 

Special event  means an organized activity, held on public property, specific to an identifiable 
place, occurring for a limited period of time, and for which a special event permit has been 
issued, including a) a fair, concert, carnival, festival, performance, or other similar activity, or b) 
an activity taking place on a designated route on public rights-of-way for the purpose of walking, 
running, jogging, biking, racing, conducting a parade, or engaging in a similar activity.   
 
Vending during special events  means the sale of goods, wares, or merchandise, including food 
products, on public property at a stationary or fixed location during a special event in and around 
the location of the special event.   
 
Vending at school or other athletic events in city parks  means the sale of goods, wares, or 
merchandise, including food products, on public property at a stationary or fixed location during 
school or other athletic events at city parks.   
 
Vendor  means any person who engages in vending.   
 
Sec. 26-112.  Exceptions. 
 
The following shall not be required to obtain a license under this division: 
(1)   Any person selling solely newspapers. 
(2)   Persons traveling on an established route at the request, express or implied, of their 
customers. 
(3)   Salespersons calling on regularly licensed business establishments. 
 
Sec. 26-113.  License requirement. 
 
No person shall engage in the business of peddling or vending in the city without first obtaining 
a license from the city clerk. 
 
Sec. 26-114.  License application. 
 
Any person seeking to obtain a license pursuant to this article shall file a sworn application with 
the city clerk upon forms prescribed and furnished by the city clerk and shall pay an application 
fee to cover the cost of investigation. The application fee is set forth in the schedule of fees, 
charges, bonds and insurance. The application shall include the following information: 
 
(1)   The name of the person who will engage in peddling or vending within the city, including 
the person's current address of residence and length of residence at such address, business 
address if other than the residence address, business and residence telephone numbers, social 
security number, driver's license number, and a physical description including height, weight, 
and color of hair and eyes. 
 
(2)   A brief description of the business or activity to be conducted including the methods to be 
used and a description of the types of goods or services to be sold. 
 
(3)   The dates, hours and location for which the right to engage in peddling or vending is sought. 

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"



3 

 

 
(4)   Proof that the applicant has obtained all licenses or permits required by state law. 
 
(5)   The names of three references who will certify as to the applicant's good character and 
business responsibility. 
 
(6)   If employed and acting as an agent, the name, address and telephone number of the parent 
organization who is being represented, and when and where this organization was formed, 
including the form of its organization. 
 
(7)   A statement as to whether the applicant or its parent organization has ever been found to 
have violated a municipal ordinance regulating peddling or vending. 
 
(8)   A statement as to whether the applicant or an officer or director of the applicant's parent 
organization has ever been convicted of a felony, and if so, a brief description of the offense. 
 
(9)   A current photograph of the applicant, taken within 60 days immediately prior to the date of 
the filing of the application, which picture shall be two inches by two inches in size showing the 
head and shoulders of the applicant in a clear and distinguishing manner. 
 
(10)   The application shall be signed by the applicant stating that the information contained 
therein is true and correct, that the city shall have the right to investigate and verify the 
information contained in the application, and that the applicant has read the peddlers and vendors 
ordinance and agrees to abide by its terms. 
 
(11)   Such other information as the city clerk shall determine to be appropriate. 
 
Sec. 26-115.  Application review and license issuance. 
 
(a)   Upon the receipt of an application, the application will be reviewed and an investigation will 
be conducted to insure that all information supplied by the applicant is true and accurate. 
 
(b)   Unless the application is denied in order to insure the protection of the public health, safety 
and general welfare, the city clerk shall issue a license to the applicant upon payment of the 
applicable licensing fee. Licenses shall be issued for a period of up to one year depending upon 
the duration of the peddler's or vendor's activities. All licenses shall expire at the end of each 
calendar year regardless of the date upon which the license was issued unless the license is set to 
expire at an earlier time. 
 
(c)   While a license is in effect, a peddler or vendor shall, within seven calendar days after a 
change occurs, report to the city clerk in writing any material change in any information 
previously provided on the application form. 
 
Sec. 26-116.  Denial of license. 
 

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left



4 

 

(a)   Upon review and investigation of the application and the information contained therein, the 
city may refuse to issue a license to an applicant for any one or more of the following reasons: 
 
(1)   The applicant has failed to comply with the provisions and requirements of this article. 
(2)  The applicant has been found to have violated a provision of this article within the two years 
immediately preceding the date of application. 
(3)   The applicant has been denied a license pursuant to this article within the immediate past 
year, unless the applicant shows to the satisfaction of the city that the reasons for such earlier 
denial no longer exist. 
(4)  The applicant falsified information on the application. 
(5)   The applicant has been convicted of a felony. 
(6)   The location, time, or method of peddling or vending will block or congest streets or 
sidewalks, impede the free flow of pedestrian or automobile traffic, or will otherwise endanger 
the health, safety, and welfare of the public in its use of the streets and sidewalks in the city. 
 
(b)   Whenever an application for a license is denied, the reasons for the denial shall be noted on 
the application, and the applicant shall be notified that his application is denied and that no 
license will be issued. Notice shall be mailed to the applicant at the address shown on the license 
application, or at the applicant's last known address. 
 
Sec. 26-116.  Denial of license. 
 
(a)   Upon review and investigation of the application and the information contained therein, the 
city may refuse to issue a license to an applicant for any one or more of the following reasons: 

(1)   The applicant has failed to comply with the provisions and requirements of this 
article. 

(2)   The applicant has been found to have violated a provision of this article within the 
two years immediately preceding the date of application. 

(3)   The applicant has been denied a license pursuant to this article within the immediate 
past year, unless the applicant shows to the satisfaction of the city that the reasons for such 
earlier denial no longer exist. 

(4)   The applicant falsified information on the application. 
(5)   The applicant has been convicted of a felony. 
(6)   The location, time, or method of peddling or vending will block or congest streets or 

sidewalks, impede the free flow of pedestrian or automobile traffic, or will otherwise endanger 
the health, safety, and welfare of the public in its use of the streets and sidewalks in the city. 
 
(b)   Whenever an application for a license is denied, the reasons for the denial shall be noted on 
the application, and the applicant shall be notified that his application is denied and that no 
license will be issued. Notice shall be mailed to the applicant at the address shown on the license 
application, or at the applicant's last known address. 
 
Sec. 26-117.  License revocation and suspension. 
 
(a)   Any license issued under this article may be revoked or suspended by the city for any of the 
following reasons: 

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Left



5 

 

(1)   Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the license application. 
(2)   Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement by the peddler or vendor in the course of 
peddling or vending. 
(3)   Engaging in peddling or vending in a manner contrary to the provisions contained in the 
license. 
(4)   Conviction for a felony. 
(5)   Engaging in peddling or vending in violation of any city ordinance or state law. 
(6)   Engaging in peddling or vending in such a manner as to create a public nuisance, constitute 
a breach of the peace, prevent the free flow of traffic on sidewalks and streets, or endanger the 
health, safety or general welfare of the public. 
 
(b)   A peddler or vendor shall have the right to notice and hearing before revocation or 
suspension occurs. 
 
Sec. 26-118.  Notice and hearing. 

 
Notice of a hearing for revocation or suspension of a license issued under this article shall 

be provided in writing and shall set forth specifically the grounds for the proposed revocation or 
suspension and the time and place of the hearing. Notice shall be mailed to the peddler or vendor 
at the address shown on the license application, or at the applicant's last known address. 
 
Sec. 26-119.  Appeals. 

 
Any person denied the issuance of a license or having a license suspended or revoked 

may appeal in writing to the city commission within 14 days of the denial, suspension or 
revocation. After receipt of the request for appeal, the city commission shall hear the appeal at its 
next regularly scheduled commission meeting. The decision of the city commission on the appeal 
shall be final and binding on all parties concerned. 
 
Sec. 26-120.  License fee. 

 
A license fee shall be collected for the purpose of defraying the costs incurred by the city 

in regulation and enforcement of this article. The cost of a daily and annual license is set forth in 
the schedule of fees, charges, bonds and insurance. Whenever an applicant believes that the 
applicable license fee places an undue burden upon interstate commerce, the applicant may apply 
to the city clerk for an adjustment or waiver of the license fee. The application for an adjustment 
or waiver must include a sworn statement setting forth the specific reasons why the fee reduction 
or waiver is sought. The application must also include sufficient information for the city clerk to 
make a determination as to whether the license fee would unduly burden the applicant. Current 
licensed operating businesses within approved business zoning districts within the city are 
entitled to a 50 percent reduction in a peddler's or vendor's application and applicable license fee. 
This reduction shall not apply to businesses which are delinquent in their payment of city taxes 
or special assessments at the time of application. 
 
Sec. 26-121.  License exhibition. 



6 

 

While peddling or vending, the license issued pursuant to this article shall be displayed so 
that it is visible to any person dealing with the peddler or vendor. 
 
Sec. 26-122.  Nontransferable. 

 
No license issued pursuant to this article shall be transferred to or used by any person 

other than the one to whom it was issued. 
 
Sec. 26-123.  Prohibitions. 
 
(a)   No peddler or vendor shall block, obstruct, impede or otherwise interfere with the normal 
flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic upon a public street, alley, sidewalk or other public area 
within the city. In no event shall a peddler remain stationary in any location for more than 20 
minutes. 
 
(b)   No peddler or vendor shall block or impede the ingress or egress of the public into any 
business within the city. 
 
(c)   No peddler or vendor shall, without permission, accost, interfere with, or touch any member 
of the public in any manner. 
 
(d)   No peddler or vendor shall unreasonably disturb the peace and quiet of the city and shall not 
shout, cry out, blow any horn, ring any bell, utilize any amplification system, or use any device 
to attract the attention of the public. 
 
(e)   No peddler or vendor shall make any fraudulent or misleading representations to any person 
in connection with any sale or potential sale while peddling or vending. 
 
(f)   No person under 12 years of age shall engage in any peddling or vending during school 
hours, unless legally excused from school, or for a combined school and work period of more 
than eight hours in any one day. No person shall engage in any peddling or vending between 
sundown and 8:00 a.m. 
 
(g)   The city may restrict peddling and vending to certain hours or to certain areas within the 
city during special events where the city has determined that peddling or vending may be 
hazardous to the health, safety or welfare of the public due to congestion in city streets, 
sidewalks or other public places or when peddling or vending may cause an impediment to the 
free flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic. No peddler or vendor shall engage in peddling or 
vending during such an event in any area or during any time that peddling or vending is 
restricted after having received written notice from the city clerk of such restriction. 
 
(h)   No peddler or vendor shall operate in any residential zoned area of the city or upon a public 
street, alley, sidewalk or other public area adjacent to a residentially zoned area. 
 
(i)   No peddler or vendor shall operate from any conveyance device which does not meet the 
approved city standards for peddler conveyance devices on file in the office of the city clerk. 



7 

 

Sec. 26-124.  Special events. 
 
In addition to obtaining a peddler's or vendor's license, a peddler's or vendor's name shall 

be listed with the city clerk in the special events permit application of a sponsoring agency in 
order for the peddler or vendor to be permitted to operate on the streets, alleys, sidewalks or 
other public areas where a special event is taking place and as described in the special event 
permit. 
 

Chapter 38, Charitable Solicitations. 

ARTICLE I.  IN GENERAL 
 
Sec. 38-1.  Definitions. 

 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning: 

Business  means any building where commercial, industrial or mercantile transactions, 
dealings or intercourse of any nature, customarily engaged in as a means of livelihood, is carried 
on.   

Charitable, religious or political organization  means an organization or institution of 
persons engaged in the free assistance of the poor, the suffering, or the distressed, or any 
political, religious, benevolent, educational, philanthropic, humane, patriotic, eleemosynary or 
civic purpose.   

Express  means directly and distinctly stated or expressed rather than implied or left to 
inference.   

Intimidation  means to make frightened or fearful.   
Noncommercial speech  means speech that does more than inform private economic 

decisions and is not primarily concerned with providing information about the characteristics and 
costs of goods and services.   

Person  means any individual, firm, copartnership, corporation, company, association or 
joint stock association, church, religious sect, religious denomination, society, organization or 
league, political party or organization, and includes any trustee, receiver, assignee, agent or other 
similar representative thereof.   

Residence  means a temporary or permanent dwelling place or abode.   
Solicitation  means going from house to house, business to business, to engage in one or 

more of the following: (1) seeking to obtain orders for the purchase of goods, (2) seeking to 
obtain prospective customers for any application or purchase of insurance of any type, kind or 
character, (3) seeking to obtain subscriptions to books, magazines, periodicals, newspapers or 
other types of publications, and (4) seeking to obtain gifts or contributions of money, clothing or 
other property for the support or benefit, in whole or in part, of any charitable or nonprofit 
organization.   

Undue burden  means the effects that follow from an exercise of police powers that put 
interstate commerce on a plane of inequality with local trade.   



8 

 

 
Sec. 38-2.  Hours prohibited. 

No person shall solicit in the city between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. Any 
violation of this section shall be punishable under section 38-44. 
 
ARTICLE II.  PERMIT* 
 
 
Sec. 38-26.  Exemptions. 

The following activities are exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 
(1)   Any communication by an organization soliciting contributions solely from persons who are 
members of the organization at the time of such solicitation. 
(2)   Any solicitation in the form of a collection at a regular meeting, assembly or service of a 
charitable, religious or political organization. 
(3)   Any solicitation pursuant to a political candidacy or ballot issue qualified pursuant to "The 
Michigan Election Law" or "The School Code of 1976" as they are amended from time to time. 
 
Sec. 38-27.  "No solicitation" list. 

The city manager or an authorized representative shall maintain a "no solicitation" list, at 
all times, which shall include the address(es) of each residence or business in the city whose 
occupant(s) or owner(s) have expressed their intention to prohibit all soliciting at a residence or 
business. 
(1)   This list shall be accessible to the public. 
(2)   The list shall be renewed from time to time. 
(3)   A photocopy shall be provided to each applicant upon filing an application for a solicitation 
permit. 
(4)   No person shall attempt to access any residence or business included on the city manager's 
"no solicitation" list for the purpose of securing an audience with the occupant(s) thereof and 
engaging in solicitation. 
(5)   Any violation of this section shall be punishable under section 38-44. 
 
Sec. 38-28.  "No solicitation" notices. 

The city manager or an authorized representative shall have "no solicitation" decals, 
which shall be available for any residence or business in the city. 
(1)   The owner(s) or occupant(s) of any residence or business in the city may evidence a 
determination to refuse to receive any uninvited solicitors by posting a card, decal or sign not 
less than three inches by four inches in size upon or near the main entrance door to the residence, 
containing the words "no soliciting." Any such card, decal or sign that complies with the 
requirements of this section shall be exempt from any additional or different requirements 
contained in the planning and zoning code. 
(2)   No person shall go upon any residence and ring the door bell, rap or knock upon any door, 
or create any sound in any other manner calculated to attract the attention of any occupant of 
such residence for the purpose of securing an audience with the occupant(s) thereof and engage 
in solicitation in disregard of a notice posted pursuant to this section. 
(3)   Any violation of this section shall be punishable under section 38-44. 



9 

 

 
Sec. 38-29.  Solicitation permit--Requirement. 

No person shall solicit within the city without having first obtained a solicitation permit 
from the city authorizing such solicitation. Any violation of this section shall be punishable 
under section 38-44. 
 
Sec. 38-30.  Permit application--Forms. 

Applications for solicitation permits shall be obtained at the city clerks office. 
 
Sec. 38-31.  Same--Information. 

Applicants for solicitation permits must fill out the application form in its entirety. The 
information that is required for the application includes the following: 
(1)   The applicant shall furnish his or her own name, address and telephone number, as well as 
that of the soliciting organization and of the person, if any, who was in charge of any solicitation 
in the city for the prior year. 
(2)   The applicant shall state the number of persons that will be soliciting on behalf of the 
soliciting organization. 
(3)   The applicant shall state whether or not the soliciting organization is exempt from federal 
taxation as a nonpartisan nonprofit organization, and whether or not the soliciting organization is 
permitted with the state to solicit (Act No. 169 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1975 (MSA 
3.240(2)). 
(4)   The applicant shall identify the purpose for solicitation. 
(5)   The applicant shall state the names of at least the last three municipal governmental 
organizations that have issued soliciting permits to the applicant. This requirement shall be 
waived when the soliciting organization has not been issued at least three soliciting permits in 
the past. 
(6)   The applicant shall identify the proposed date(s) and time(s) of solicitation. 
(7)   The applicant shall identify the proposed location(s) of solicitation. 
 
Sec. 38-32.  Exemptions from the permit fee. 

All charitable, religious or political organizations shall be exempt from paying the permit 
application fee required by section 38-33. 
 
Sec. 38-33.  Permit application fee. 

Upon submission of the application to the city clerk, the applicant shall pay a $20.00 
permit application fee. The city manager or his authorized representative may, if he determines 
that the permit fee would constitute an "undue burden" upon the applicant, waive or otherwise 
reduce the amount of the fee. 
 
Sec. 38-34.  Permit denial. 

A solicitation permit shall be denied whenever the city manager or his authorized 
representative shall find that the applicant: 
(1)   Has failed to pay the required permit application fee (where applicable). 
(2)   Has failed to fill out the permit application form completely. 
(3)   Has falsified information on the application. 



10 

 

 
Sec. 38-35.  Permit contents. 

Upon approval of a permit application, the city manager or his authorized representative 
shall issue the number of solicitation permits to the applicant as is requested in the permit 
application. Solicitation permits shall bear the name and address of the person by whom the 
solicitation is made, the date issued, the dates within which the permit holder may solicit, and a 
statement that the permit does not constitute an endorsement by the city of the purpose or of the 
person conducting the solicitation. All permits shall be signed by the city manager or an 
authorized representative. 
 
Sec. 38-36.  Replacement permits. 

Replacement copies of solicitation permits shall be issued only to the applicant. 
 
Sec. 38-37.  Permit expiration. 

A permit issued under this article shall last for a period not to exceed one calendar year 
from the date of issuance. 
 
Sec. 38-38.  Nontransferability. 

Any permit approved and issued under this article shall be nontransferable. 
 
Sec. 38-39.  Identification. 

All solicitors shall produce a copy of their city solicitation permit upon request of any 
citizen or city official. Every city solicitation permit shall contain the name, address and phone 
number of the person who is soliciting. 
 
Sec. 38-40.  Granting of permit not endorsement by the city. 

No person shall represent that the granting of a solicitation permit under this article is an 
endorsement by the city of the particular organization involved. Any such representation is 
hereby declared to be a misrepresentation of fact and subject to the provisions for revocation of 
the permit. 
 
Sec. 38-41.  Permit revocation. 

Any solicitation permit issued under this chapter may be revoked or suspended by the 
city manager or his authorized representative, after notice has been sent by mail (to the 
applicant's last known address), if the city manager or his authorized representative has reason to 
believe that any officer, agent or representative of a permittee has engaged in any of the 
following: 
(1)   Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the application for a permit. 
(2)   Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement made in the course of conducting solicitation. 
(3)   Conviction for any crime while soliciting within the city. 
(4)   Conducting solicitation in such a manner as to create a public nuisance, constitute a breach 
of the peace or endanger the health, safety or general welfare of the public. 
(5)   Any violation of the guidelines contained in the document entitled "City of Birmingham: 
Methods for Solicitation." 
 
Sec. 38-42.  Appeals. 



11 

 

Any person aggrieved by the action of the city manager or one of his representatives due 
to the denial or revocation of a permit, or in the assessing of a fee, or any other administrative 
action, as provided in this chapter, shall have the right to appeal to the city commission. 
(1)   Such an appeal shall be taken by filing a written statement setting forth fully the grounds for 
the appeal. 
(2)   The commission shall set a time and place for a hearing on such appeal. 
(3)   Notice of a hearing date shall be sent to the person's last known address within 14 days after 
the appeal has been received. 
(4)   A hearing shall take place no later than 45 days after the appeal has been received. 
(5)   The decision and order of the commission on such appeal shall be final and conclusive. 
 
Sec. 38-43.  Intimidation. 

No person, while soliciting in the city, shall intentionally intimidate any citizen. Any 
violation of this subsection shall be punishable under section 38-44. 
 
 
Sec. 38-44.  Penalties. 

A violation of any portion of this chapter may result in the revocation of the person's 
solicitation permit. A violation of any portion of this chapter is a misdemeanor, punishable by a 
fine as set forth in this section or imprisonment for a term not exceeding 90 days, or both. 
(1)   For a first offense: A fine not less than $50.00 and not to exceed $100.00. 
(2)   For all subsequent offenses: A fine not less than $100.00 and not to exceed $500.00 
 
Sec. 38-45.  Repealer. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter, be 
and the same are hereby repealed. 
 
Sec. 38-46.  Severability. 

The provisions of this chapter are declared to be severable and if any section, sentence, 
clause or phrase of this chapter shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unconstitutional, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining sections, sentences, clauses and 
phrases of this chapter but they shall remain in effect, it being the legislative intent that this 
chapter shall stand notwithstanding he invalidity of any part. 
 

CHAPTER 26, BUSINESSES, ARTICLE IV, PEDDLERS, COMMERCIAL VENDORS 
AND SOLICITORS AND FROZEN CONFECTION VENDORS 
 
26-111.  Purpose. 
 
The purpose of this chapter is to license and regulate the movement, location, business practices 
and hours of operation of commercial vendors, peddlers and solicitors in the City; to reduce 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic congestion; to promote the safe use of the streets and sidewalks; 
to protect the citizens' quiet enjoyment and peace while leaving ample business opportunity and 
means for commercial vendors, peddlers and solicitors; and to protect the health, safety and 
welfare of the people of the City. 



12 

26-112.  Definitions.
As used in this chapter:

Commercial vendor  shall mean any person offering, exposing for sale or making available for a 
price or donation, making sales and delivering articles to purchasers, or taking or attempting to 
take orders for sale of goods, foodstuffs or services of any kind, for immediate or future delivery 
or performance, whether or not such person has, carries or exposes for sale a sample of the 
subject of such sale or whether or not the person is collecting advance payment on such sale, by 
any of the following:   

(1) Frozen Confection Vendors  shall mean any commercial vendor traveling by
automotive vehicle, from place to place, or street to street, carrying, conveying or
transporting goods, wares, merchandise or foodstuffs;

a) Frozen confection means ice cream, ice, popsicles, ice cream
bars, frozen candy, frozen dairy products and all other ice
cream or other frozen sugar items.

(2) Park Vendors shall mean any commercial vendor who sells food or other
products from a non-permanent stand at a fixed location as set forth in the vendor 
location map established by resolution of the City Commission, without the 
necessity of moving from place to place. 

(3) Movable Vendor shall mean any commercial vendor who sells food or other
products from a non-motorized removable stand such as a stationary cart, stand, 
wagon, or from one's person at a fixed location located on the sidewalks, alleys, 
rights-of-way, or other public property.  The location for movable vendors shall 
be set forth in the vendor location map established by resolution of the City 
Commission.   

(4) Special Event Vendor shall mean any commercial vendor engaged in the sale
of goods, wares, or merchandise, including food products, on public property at a
stationary or fixed location during a special event in the location of the special
event.

(5) School Vendor or other Vendor at an athletic event in a City park shall mean
any commercial vendor engaged in the sale of goods, wares, or merchandise,
including food products, on City property at a stationary or fixed location during
school or other athletic events at City parks.

Peddling, unless otherwise defined in this Chapter, shall  mean traveling by foot or automotive 
vehicle from place to place or from street to street, carrying, conveying or transporting goods, 
wares, merchandise, including food products, offering and exposing the same for sale or making 
sales and delivering articles to purchasers, or taking or attempting to take orders for the sale of 



13 

goods, wares and merchandise, books or magazines, personal property of any nature whatsoever 
for future delivery, or for services to be furnished or performed in the future, whether or not such 
individual has, carries or exposes for sale a sample of the subject of such sale or whether the 
subject is collecting advanced payments on such sales or not.   

Peddler means any person who engages in peddling. The word peddler shall include the words 
"hawker", "itinerant merchant", and "street vendor".   

Person shall mean any individual, firm, co-partnership, corporation, company, association, or 
joint stock association, church, religious sect or denomination, society, organization or league, 
and includes any trustee, receiver, assignee, agent or other similar representative.   

Removable stand shall mean a trailer, cart or stand that is not permanently affixed to a location, 
the primary purpose of which is vending.  

Solicitor shall mean any person who requests money, credit, property, financial assistance or 
other thing of value, by personal interview or otherwise, on the plea or representation that such 
money, credit, property, financial assistance or other thing of value, or the net proceeds over 
reasonable expenses thereof, will be used for a charitable, religious, patriotic, civic, educational 
or philanthropic purposes. 

Special Event means an organized activity, held on public property, specific to an identifiable 
place, occurring for a limited period of time, and for which a special event permit has been 
approved pursuant to Chapter 98, Article VI, as may be amended from time to time. 

Vendor shall mean commercial vendors.   

26-113.  License requirements.

(a) License required.  No person shall engage in commercial vending, soliciting or peddling
without a license authorized and issued by the City Clerk, as required under this Chapter.
Applications shall be completed and given to the City Clerk no later than fourteen (14) days prior
to the requested effective date. Commercial Vendor applications shall not be filed with the City
Clerk prior to November 1st before the year the vendor is seeking the license.

(b) Form.  The license application shall be made upon a form provided by the City Clerk.

(c) Fees.  License and application fees shall be set by the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and
Insurance.

(d) Exemption from fees.  The following are exempt from payment of all license and application
fees under this Chapter:

(1) A solicitor;
(2) Solicitations made in books, magazines, periodicals, newspapers and other

similar publications or through the mail;



14 

 

(3)   Any person exempt by law. 
 

The applicant shall provide the City Clerk with proof of the claimed exemption. The City Clerk 
shall indicate upon the face of the license that it was issued, pursuant to such exemption without 
any fee being paid. 
 
(e)   License period.  The license term for all commercial vendors, unless otherwise stated, shall 
be one (1) year, based on a calendar year.  The License term for Special Event vendors, School 
vendors, Vendors at an athletic event in a City park, Solicitors, and Peddlers shall be limited to 
the time frame approved by the City Clerk.  
 
26-114.  License required. 
 
It shall be unlawful for any commercial vendor, peddler or solicitor to engage in such business 
within the City without first obtaining a license as provided in this Chapter. 
 
26-115.  Exceptions to license. 
 
The following activities are exempt from this Chapter: 
 

(1)   Solicitations made to a congregation or group in attendance at one location 
and made by the person or organization inviting the individuals composing the 
congregation or group; 
 
(2)   Solicitations made over the radio, television or telephone; 
 
(3) Any communication by an organization soliciting contributions solely from 
persons who are members of the organization at the time of such solicitation; 
 
(4) Any solicitation pursuant to a political candidacy or ballot issue qualified 
pursuant to “The Michigan Election Law” or “The School Code of 1976” as they 
are amended from time to time; 
 
(5) Any peddler selling solely newspapers; 
 
(6) Any peddler traveling on an established route at the request, express or implied, of 
their customers; 
 
(7)   Salespersons calling on regularly licensed business establishments; 
 
(8)   The distribution of handbills or leaflets where the individual distributing 
them does not accept payments, orders or contributions; 
 
(9)   A person handling vegetables, fruits or perishable farm products at any 
established City Farmers’ Market; 
 



15 

 

(10) A person who is not a business or merchant as defined by Chapter 26 or 
Chapter 126, section 4.77, A, 3 of this Code, who engages in a garage sale 
whereby they are selling their own items from their household.   

 
26-116.  Special events licensing. 
 
Additional vendor licenses may be authorized for a special event by the City Clerk as follows: 
   

(1) Any such request must be in conjunction with a special event as defined by the 
City Code. 

 
(2) Such a request must have the prior written authorization from the coordinator of 

the special event.  
 
26-117.  Requirements For All Applications. 
 

(a) Applications. All applicants for a license under this Chapter shall pay to the City the fee 
required by the Schedule of Fees, Bonds, Charges and Insurance, and, file with the City 
Clerk a  sworn application in the form required by the City Clerk, which shall include the 
following: 
 
(1)   The name of the person(s) who will engage in vending, soliciting or peddling 
within the City, including the person's current address of residence and length of 
residence at such address, business address if other than the residence address, 
business and residence telephone numbers, driver's license number, and a physical 
description including height, weight, and color of hair and eyes. 
 
(2)   A brief description of the business or activity to be conducted including the 
methods to be used and a description of the types of goods or services to be sold. 
 
(3)   The dates, hours and location for which the right to engage in vending, 
soliciting or peddling is sought. 
 
(4)   Proof that the applicant has obtained all licenses or permits required by state 
law. 
 
(5)   The names of three references who will certify as to the applicant's good 
moral character and business responsibility. 
 
(6)   If employed and acting as an agent, the name, address and telephone number 
of the parent organization who is being represented, and when and where this 
organization was formed, including the form of its organization. 
 
(7)   A statement as to whether the applicant or its parent organization has ever 
been found to have violated a municipal ordinance regulating vending, soliciting 
or peddling. 



16 

 

 
(8)   A statement as to whether the applicant or an officer or director of the 
applicant's parent organization has ever been convicted of a felony, and if so, the 
date and location of such conviction, and a brief description of the offense. 
 
(9)   A current photograph of the applicant and/or a photograph of the person(s) 
who will be engaged in the vending, taken within 60 days immediately prior to 
the date of the filing of the application, which picture shall be two inches by two 
inches in size showing the head and shoulders of the applicant and or vendor, 
peddler or solicitor, in a clear and distinguishing manner. 
 
(10)   The application shall be signed by the applicant stating that the information 
contained therein is true and correct, that the City shall have the right to 
investigate and verify the information contained in the application, and that the 
applicant has read the vendors, solicitors and peddlers ordinance and agrees to 
abide by its terms. 
 
(11)   Such other information as the City Clerk shall determine to be appropriate. 

 
(b) Requirements of all vendors, solicitors and peddlers. 

 
 

(1) Loud noises, speaking devices, lights.  No drum, loudspeaker, amplifier, or 
other instrument or device which creates noise, or flashing lights which are for the 
purpose of attracting attention to commercial or noncommercial enterprises so as 
to annoy or disturb the quiet, comfort or repose of persons in any office, dwelling 
or other residence, or other place of employment or repose shall be used and may 
be treated as a violation under this Chapter, and Chapter 50, Article II, Division 4 
of the City Code. 

 
(2)  Frozen confection vendors shall not utilize any bell, chime or other 
noisemaking device beyond a moderate noise level for the purpose of attracting 
persons to buy the frozen confection. This prohibition shall not be construed to 
exclude the customary horn required under the motor vehicle laws of the State of 
Michigan. 
   
(3)   Off-limit locations.  No vendor, peddler or solicitor shall conduct business 
within fifty (50) feet of any school, church, synagogue or place of worship during 
services or within one-hour of services; courthouse; police station; or other public 
location unless specifically authorized pursuant to the terms of the license. In 
addition, the City Manager shall have power to designate such streets, sidewalks, 
parts of streets, or sidewalks, districts or areas where it shall be unlawful for any 
licensee to operate or conduct her/his business, such designation to be made based 
upon congested traffic conditions, character of the neighborhood, or if the conduct 
of such business constitutes a public nuisance.   

 



17 

 

(4) "No Soliciting" signs and “No Soliciting” list.  No solicitor or peddler shall 
enter into property that has a posted "No Soliciting" sign or shall remain on 
property after being requested to leave by the occupant.  No solicitor or peddler 
shall solicit or peddle their wares or enter any property that is listed on the No 
Soliciting list on file at the City Clerk’s office. 

 
(5) Threatening or harassing behavior.  No vendor, solicitor or peddler shall 
threaten or harass any citizen in the course of their activities or in any way engage 
in conduct that threatens the health and safety of another or causes a nuisance.   

 
(6) Effect of delinquent personal property taxes.  No vendor, solicitor or peddler 
license shall be granted to any person owing any personal property taxes or other 
indebtedness to the City, or who contemplates using any personal property on 
which personal property taxes are owed, in the operation of such business.   

 
(7) Sales limited to products on application.  Vendors, solicitors and peddlers 
shall be limited to the sale of products specified on their application. Amendments 
to originally approved applications must be submitted to the City Clerk for review 
and approval, and shall not be effective prior to such approval. An application fee 
of an amount established in the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance 
must accompany each request for an amendment.   

 
(8) Licenses non-sellable and non-transferable.  Vendor, solicitor and peddler’s 
licenses issued under the authority of this Chapter shall be non-sellable and non-
transferable, either as to persons or as to location.   

 
(c)   Traffic regulations, obstructing public places.     

 
(1)   Vendors, solicitors and peddlers shall observe all traffic and parking 
regulations. Unless specifically approved, vendors, peddlers and solicitors shall 
not conduct business in a congested area, or occupy a stationary location on a 
public street, sidewalk, parkway, park, parking lot, or any other public property 
which is to be used by pedestrians or persons operating motor vehicles. Such 
vendors, peddlers and/or solicitors shall be presumed to have occupied a location 
if he/she has conducted business in any such public place for a period in excess of 
ten (10) minutes. 
 
(2)   Sales to persons standing in roadway, to vehicles at red lights and to vehicles 
in moving traffic lanes are prohibited. 

 
(d)   Display of license required.  All vendors, solicitors and peddlers shall display the license 
provided by the City Clerk, on his or her person or in a prominent place on their vehicle or 
removable or non-permanent stand. The failure of a vendor, peddler and/or solicitor to 
conspicuously and constantly exhibit such license when engaged in his/her licensed business 
shall be sufficient cause for the suspension or revocation of his/her license.   
 



18 

 

(1) Any certificate or license issued by the Oakland County Health Department 
shall also be prominently displayed on any vehicle or stand subject to this 
ordinance. 

 
(e)   Prices posted.  A park vendor , movable vendor, and frozen confection vendor shall have 
posted on their vehicle, removable stand or non-permanent stand, the current prices charged for 
each item sold and no item shall be sold for more than the posted price.   
 
(f)   Litter clean-up required.  Vendors shall (at their own expense) keep the sidewalks, streets, 
and other public places adjoining and adjacent to their locations of business clean and free from 
any refuse generated or resulting from the operation of their business.  
 

(1) Under no circumstances may any vendor, solicitor or peddler use any City 
trash can, dumpster or other receptacle, drain or sewer to dispose of any 
litter, refuse, substance, fluid, liquid or grease. 
  

(2) Violation of this subparagraph more than twice during one license year 
may constitute license revocation. 

 
(g) Cash Deposit for Litter clean-up.  Movable vendors and Park vendors shall file with the City 
a cash deposit for the removal of any litter on any sidewalk, street and/or other public place 
adjoining and adjacent to their locations in the event the vendor fails to maintain such areas in 
compliance with this Ordinance.  The amount of the cash deposit shall be set forth in the 
Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance.  If the vendor fails to remove any such litter, 
the City may remove the litter and charge the costs against the cash deposit. In the event a 
Movable vendor or Park Vendor exhausts its cash deposit, the vendor shall be invoiced by the 
City for any restoration or litter on City property in excess of the amount of the deposit. 
 
(h) Commercial vendors, peddlers and solicitors shall obtain insurance as set forth in the 
Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance.  

 

(i) Commercial vendors shall agree to indemnify and hold the City harmless, the language of 
which is set forth in the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance.  

 
(j) Removable stands must be removed from the designated zone between 12:00 a.m. and 6:00 
a.m. each day or as otherwise restricted on a location by location basis by park hours or by 
resolution of the City Commission. 

 
(k) Removable stands, carts, wagons, automotive vehicles, non-permanent stands and other 
conveyances must be maintained in a clean and neat condition, and must be maintained in good 
repair and in a safe manner acceptable to the City.  

  
26-118. Park Vendor and Movable Vendor license. 
 
(a) Shain Park and Booth Park. For purposes of this Ordinance, there shall be one (1) Park 
Vendor allowed in the City.  The one Park Vendor shall be allowed in Shain Park.  Applicants 



19 

 

for a Park vendor license in Shain Park shall be required to submit to a Request For Proposal 
(RFP) procedure as established by the City. 
 
(b) Moveable Vendor. For purposes of this Ordinance, there shall be established two (2) 
Moveable Vendors allowed in the City.  Applicants for a Moveable Vendor license shall be 
required to submit a Request For Proposal (RFP) procedure as established by the City.  
  
(c)   Specific Application Information.  Applicants for a Park Vendor and/or a Movable Vendor 
license under this Chapter shall file with the City Clerk a sworn application in the form required 
by the City Clerk, the additional following information:   
 

(1) The type of goods or property being sold, the location where the goods or 
property are sought to be sold, location where the goods or property are 
manufactured or produced, where such goods or products are located at the 
time the application is filed, and the proposed method of delivery; 
 

(2) If food or beverages are proposed to be sold from the vendor, a copy of the 
proposed menu and price list; 

 
(3) A copy of the vendor’s current license and any applicable renewals from the 

Health Department must be attached to the application;   
 

(4) A description of the vendor stand, moveable commercial vendor stand, 
temporary stand, cart or wagon which the vendor will be offering goods, 
merchandise and wares from, including measurements of its height, width 
and length; 

 
(5) A photograph of the vendor stand, moveable commercial vendor stand, 

temporary stand, cart or wagon proposed to be placed on the City’s 
sidewalks, rights-of-way, alley’s and/or public property. 

 
(d)   Basis for granting licenses for park vendor and movable vendors.  To assure the safety of 
citizens, reduce congestion of pedestrian and vehicular traffic, to promote safe use of streets and 
sidewalks, and assure the highest quality offering of food and other products, park vendor 
licenses will be granted based upon:   

 
(1)   The application and the applicants demonstrated ability finance and operate 
the proposed vending unit. 
 
(2)   The extent of the products/cuisine offered and the price offered. 
 
(3)   Construction, quality, appearance and design of the stand, cart or mobile 
vending unit to be used and whether the applicant has an adequate site plan to 
handle the proposed vending activities. 
 



20 

 

(4)   Previous performance with the City including responding to City and/or 
citizen concerns as a vendor or merchant. 
 
(5) No license shall be issued to a food vendor until the applicant and any 
equipment used by such applicant are approved by the Oakland County Health 
Department. 
 
(6) All fees have been paid and any arrearages have been made current with 
the City. 

 
Any conflict between vendors over license location shall be resolved by the City Clerk based 
upon the suitability of the vendor for the specific location in conflict and the prior commercial 
relationship between the City and the vendors. 
 
In an effort to promote diversity in the types of vendors throughout the City, a commercial 
vendor applicant shall not be granted approval for more than 2 locations for the same calendar 
year.  

 
(e)   Review of Police Chief.     
 

(1)   After an application for a commercial vendor license has been filed, the City 
Clerk shall refer it to the Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police 
Department, who shall review the applicant's and employees background and 
shall respond to the City Clerk with a recommendation on issuance of the license. 
No license shall be issued against the recommendation of the Police Chief. 
 
(2)   The Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police Department, shall report 
to the City Clerk all violations of this Chapter and the City Clerk shall maintain a 
record for each license issued and record the reports of violations. The City Clerk 
shall file with the Police Chief a copy of each license and the Police Chief shall 
report to the City Clerk any complaints against any licensee and/or employee(s) 
and any convictions, pleas or other findings of responsibility for violations of this 
Chapter. The City Clerk shall keep a record of all such complaints and violations. 
 
 

 26-119. Frozen Confection Vendor License. 
 
(a) Specific Application Information.  Frozen Confection Vendor applications shall not be 
filed with the City Clerk prior to November 1st before the year the vendor is seeking the license. 
A person desiring to be a frozen confection vendor shall meet all of the requirements of this 
Chapter, and shall pay to the City the fee required by the Schedule of Fees, Bonds, Charges and 
Insurance, and, in addition, shall submit: 
 

(1) A copy of such person's most recent driver's license, and the Police 
Department shall perform a background and criminal check and also check 
such person's driving record to ascertain that the person is authorized to 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", Right:  0.5"



21 

 

operate a vending motor vehicle as well as had a valid and unrestricted 
driver's license and to also ascertain that the person does not pose an 
unreasonable risk and/or hazard to those persons to whom the frozen 
confections will be sold and/or offered for sale to. 

 
(2) Proof of liability insurance, as required by the City, which must be kept 

current during the lifetime of the license. 
 

(3) If the applicant applying for a license to be a frozen confection vendor will 
be selling and/or vending the frozen confection on behalf of another person 
and/or business entity, and/or if the motor vehicle to be used by the applicant 
is owned by another person and/or business entity, the applicant shall set 
forth on its application, the name, address and telephone number of such 
person and/or business entity and, if the business entity is a corporation, the 
applicant shall set forth the state of incorporation, as well as the registered 
agent of such corporation. 

 
(b) Basis for granting frozen confection vendor license. To assure the safety of citizens, 
reduce congestion of pedestrian and vehicular traffic, to promote safe use of streets and 
sidewalks, and assure the highest quality offering of food and other products, frozen confection 
vendor licenses will be granted by the City Clerk based upon:  
 

(1) The application and the applicants demonstrated ability finance and operate 
the proposed frozen confection vending unit. 
 

(2) The extent of the products/cuisine offered and the price offered. 
 

(3) Construction, quality, appearance and design of the mobile frozen confection 
vending unit to be used and whether the applicant has a plan to handle the 
proposed vending activities. 

 
(4) Previous performance with the City including responding to City and/or 

citizen concerns as a frozen convection vendor or merchant. 
 

(5) All fees have been paid and any arrearages have been made current with the 
City. 

 

(6) The applicant has not made a material misrepresentation of fact in and/or 
falsified any of the contents of the application. 

 
(7) The applicant has not had a frozen confection vendor's license denied or 

revoked by the City within a period of one (1) year prior to the date of the 
application. 

 



22 

 

(8) The applicant has not ever been convicted of operating a motor vehicle under 
the influence of liquor, operating a motor vehicle with an unlawful blood 
alcohol content, operating a motor vehicle under the influence of narcotics 
and/or other controlled substances, operating a motor vehicle while visibly 
impaired and/or any other drinking and driving offenses and/or any other 
offenses pertaining to driving and narcotics and/or controlled substances. 

 
(9) The applicant has a valid and unrestricted driver's license. 

 
(10) The applicant has never been convicted of a felony and/or convicted of any 

sexual offenses. 
 

(11) The applicant has met all other requirements of this Chapter. 
 

(12) The applicant/licensee shall be responsible for notifying the City of any 
changes in any of the above criteria within 3 calendar days of the change of 
status. 

 

(13)  No license shall be issued to a frozen confection food vendor until the 
applicant and any equipment used by such applicant are approved by the 
Oakland County Health Department. A copy of the vendor’s current license 
and any applicable renewals from the Health Department must be attached to 
the application. 

 
(c)   Review of Police Chief.     
 

(1)   After an application for a frozen confection vendor license has been filed, the 
City Clerk shall refer it to the Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police 
Department, who shall review the applicant's and employees background and 
shall respond to the City Clerk with a recommendation on issuance of the license. 
No license shall be issued against the recommendation of the Police Chief. 
 
(4) The Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police Department, shall 
report to the City Clerk all violations of this Chapter and the City Clerk shall 
maintain a record for each license issued and record the reports of violations. The 
City Clerk shall file with the Police Chief a copy of each license and the Police 
Chief shall report to the City Clerk any complaints against any licensee and/or 
employee(s) and any convictions, pleas or other findings of responsibility for 
violations of this Chapter. The City Clerk shall keep a record of all such 
complaints and violations. 

 
(d) Limited number of frozen confection vendor licenses. 

 
(1) To assure the safety of citizens, reduce congestion of pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic, to promote safe use of streets and sidewalks, and assure the 



23 

 

highest quality offering of food and other products, the City shall only grant 3 
frozen confection licenses per year.  A frozen confection vendor shall not obtain 
more than one license per year. A frozen confection vendor shall not operate more 
than one truck per license in the City. 

 
(e) Requirements specific to Frozen Confection Vendors. 

 
(1) Except as otherwise provided herein, the sale and/or offer for sale of 
frozen confection by frozen confection vendor in the City shall only be permitted 
from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. during Eastern Standard Time and from 9:00 a.m. to 
8:00 p.m. during [State of] Michigan daylight savings time. In addition, all frozen 
confection vendors shall comply with the regulations contained in subsection (b) 
of this section. 
 

(2) No frozen confection vendors shall: 
 

(i)   Sell or offer for sale any unsound, unwholesome, defective, faulty or 
deteriorated frozen confection. 

 
(ii)   At any time in the conduct of the sale and/or offer of sale of a frozen 
confection obstruct any street, alley, sidewalk or driveway. 

 
(iii)   Remain in front of, or at the side of, any property against the wish or 
desire of the property owner or the tenant or occupant of such property. 

 
(iv)   Engage in the sale of and/or the offer of sale of frozen confection 
within 500 feet of the entrance of any school building between the hours 
of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on the days when school is in session. 

 
(v)   Engage in the sale of and/or the offer of sale of frozen confection on 
those portions of streets on which a public park abuts and/or engage in the 
sale of and/or offer of sale of any frozen confection in any public park, 
unless prior approval for the sale of and/or offer of sale of frozen 
confections in a public park is granted by the City Clerk. 

 
(vi)   Stop its vehicle for the purpose of engaging in the sale of and/or offer 
for sale of any frozen confection within fifty (50) feet of any street 
intersection in the City. 

 
(vii)   Fail to comply with all provisions of the traffic ordinances and/or 
any other ordinances of the City. 

 
(viii)   Remain standing at any one place on any of the streets, alleys or 
other permitted public places in the City for a longer period of time than 
ten minutes while engaging in the sale and/or offer for sale of frozen 
confections. 



24 

 

 
(ix)   Remain upon premises owned by another person for a longer period 
of time than ten minutes while engaging in the sale and/or offer for sale of 
frozen confection. 

 
(x)   Sell or offer to sell frozen confections from vehicles to minors under 
the age of sixteen (16) unless there is displayed on the vehicle properly 
operating vehicle flashing warning lights visible from the front and rear 
and from each side of the vehicle which under normal atmospheric 
conditions are visible from a distance of five hundred (500) feet unless 
such vehicle is stopped in a legal parking location not closer than one 
hundred (100) feet to the nearest intersecting street. 

 
(f) Revocation of Frozen Confection Vendor License. A frozen confection vendor's license 
issued under this Chapter may be revoked by the City for any of the following: 

 
(1)   The licensee violating and/or failing to comply with any of the terms, 
provisions and/or requirements of this ordinance. 
 
(2)   The licensee violating any health and/or food laws of the State of Michigan. 
 
(3)   The licensee being convicted of operating a motor vehicle while under the 
influence of liquor, operating a motor vehicle with an unlawful blood alcohol 
content, operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of narcotics and/or 
other controlled substances, operating a motor vehicle while visibly impaired 
and/or any other drinking and driving offenses and/or any other offenses 
pertaining to driving and narcotics and/or controlled substances. 
 
(4)   The licensee has been convicted of a felony and/or a sexual offense. 
 
(5)   The licensee has made a material misrepresentation of fact in and/or has 
falsified any of the contents of its application. 
 
(6)   The licensee no longer has a valid and unrestricted driver's license. 
 
(7)   The licensee poses an unreasonable risk and/or hazard to those persons to 
whom the frozen confections will be sold and/or offered for sale to. 
 
(8)   The licensee refuses to allow the City Police Department and/or its duly 
authorized representatives to inspect the licensed vehicle/premises during normal 
business hours for purposes of enforcement of this division, including inspection 
purposes, any vehicle from which the licensee will be selling and/or offering to 
sell frozen confections from. 

  
 
26-120. Peddler’s License. 



25 

 

 
(a) Specific Application Information.  Applicants for a peddler’s license under this Chapter 
shall file with the City Clerk a sworn application in the form required by the City Clerk. 

 
(b) Basis for granting peddlers license. 
 

(1)   Upon the receipt of an application, the application will be reviewed and an 
investigation will be conducted to insure that all information supplied by the 
applicant is true and accurate. 
 
(2)   Unless the application is denied in order to ensure the protection of the public 
health, safety and general welfare, the City Clerk shall issue a license to the 
applicant upon payment of the applicable licensing fee. Licenses shall be issued 
for a period of up to one year depending upon the duration of the peddler's 
activities. All licenses shall expire at the end of each calendar year regardless of 
the date upon which the license was issued unless the license is set to expire at an 
earlier time. 
 
(3) While a license is in effect, a peddler shall, within 3 calendar days after a 

change occurs, report to the City Clerk in writing any material change in any 
information previously provided on the application form. 

 
(4) The required fees have been paid. 

 

(5) The applicant has not made a material misrepresentation of fact in and/or 
falsified any of the contents of the application. 

 

(6) The applicant has not had a peddler's license denied or revoked by the City 
within a period of one (1) year prior to the date of the application. 

 
(7) The applicant has never been convicted of a felony and/or convicted of 

any sexual offenses. 
 

 
(8) The applicant has met all other requirements of this Chapter. 

 
(9) The applicant/licensee shall be responsible for notifying the City of any 
changes in any of the above criteria within 3 calendar days of the change of 
status. 

 
 
(c)   Review of Police Chief.     



26 

 

 
(1)   After an application for a peddler’s license has been filed, the City Clerk 
shall refer it to the Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police Department, 
who shall review the applicant's background and shall respond to the City Clerk 
with a recommendation on issuance of the license. No license shall be issued 
against the recommendation of the Police Chief. 
 
(2)   The Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police Department, shall report 
to the City Clerk all violations of this Chapter and the City Clerk shall maintain a 
record for each license issued and record the reports of violations. The City Clerk 
shall file with the Police Chief a copy of each license and the Police Chief shall 
report to the City Clerk any complaints against any licensee and any convictions, 
pleas or other findings of responsibility for violations of this Chapter. The City 
Clerk shall keep a record of all such complaints and violations. 

 
(d) Requirements Specific to Peddlers. 

 
(1)    No peddler shall block, obstruct, impede or otherwise interfere with the 
normal flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic upon a public street, alley, sidewalk 
or other public area within the City. In no event shall a peddler remain stationary 
in any location for more than 10 minutes. 
 
(2)    No peddler shall block or impede the ingress or egress of the public into 
any business within the City. 
 
(3)    No peddler shall, without permission, accost, interfere with, or touch any 
member of the public in any manner. 
 
(4)    No peddler shall unreasonably disturb the peace and quiet of the City and 
shall not shout, cry out, blow any horn, ring any bell, utilize any amplification 
system, or use any device to attract the attention of the public. 
 
(5) No peddler shall make any fraudulent or misleading representations to any 
person in connection with any sale or potential sale while peddling. 

 
(6) No person under 12 years of age shall engage in any peddling during 
school hours, unless legally excused from school, or for a combined school and 
work period of more than eight hours in any one day.  

 
(7) Except as otherwise provided herein, peddling in the City shall only be 
permitted from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. during Eastern Standard Time and from 
9:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. during [State of] Michigan daylight savings time. In 
addition, all peddlers shall comply with the regulations contained in subsection 
(b) of this section. 
 



27 

 

(8) The City may restrict peddling to certain hours or to certain areas within 
the City during special events where the City has determined that peddling may 
be hazardous to the health, safety or welfare of the public due to congestion in 
City streets, sidewalks or other public places or when peddling may cause an 
impediment to the free flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic. No peddler shall 
engage in peddling during such an event in any area or during any time that 
peddling is restricted after having received written notice from the City Clerk of 
such restriction. 

 
(9) No peddler shall remain in front of, or at the side of, any property against 
the wish or desire of the property owner or the tenant or occupant of such 
property. 

 
(10) No peddler shall engage in the sale of and/or the offer of sale of 
goods/services on those portions of streets on which a public park abuts and/or 
engage in the sale of and/or offer of sale any goods/services in any public park, 
unless prior approval for the sale of and/or offer of such goods/services in a public 
park is granted by the City Clerk. 
 

(e) Prohibitions to Peddling. 

(1) The owner(s) or occupant(s) of any residence or business in the City may 
evidence a determination to refuse to receive any uninvited peddlers by posting a 
card, decal or sign not less than three inches by four inches in size upon or near 
the main entrance door to the residence, containing the words "no soliciting." Any 
such card, decal or sign that complies with the requirements of this section shall 
be exempt from any additional or different requirements contained in the zoning 
ordinance. No peddler shall peddle their wares or enter any property that is listed 
on the No Soliciting list on file at the City Clerk’s office. 
 

(2) No person shall go upon any residence and ring the door bell, rap or knock 
upon any door, or create any sound in any other manner calculated to attract the 
attention of any occupant of such residence for the purpose of securing an 
audience with the occupant(s) thereof and engage in solicitation in disregard of a 
notice posted pursuant to this section. 
 

(3) No person shall represent that the granting of a peddler’s license under this 
article is an endorsement by the City of the particular organization involved. Any 
such representation is hereby declared to be a misrepresentation of fact and 
subject to the provisions for revocation of the permit. 
 



28 

 

(4) No person, while peddling in the City, shall intentionally intimidate any 
citizen. 

 
 
26-121.  Solicitor license. 
 
(a)   Applications.  Persons applying for a license under this Chapter shall file with the City Clerk 
a sworn application in the form required by the City Clerk, which shall include the following:   

 
(1)   Names and addresses of individuals who will be soliciting on behalf of the 
organization; 
 
(2)   Length of time and exact dates for which the license is requested; 
 
(3)   A brief description of the nature of the organization, and proof of its tax 
exempt status; 

  
(b)   Approval.  The City Clerk shall issue a solicitor license upon determination that the 
application meets all provisions of this Chapter. 
 
(c)  Review of Police Chief. 
     

(1)   After an application for a solicitation license has been filed, the City Clerk 
shall refer it to the Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police Department, 
who shall review the applicant's and employees background and shall respond to 
the City Clerk with a recommendation on issuance of the license. No license shall 
be issued against the recommendation of the Police Chief. 
 
(2)   The Police Chief, or appointed officers of the Police Department, shall report 
to the City Clerk all violations of this Chapter and the City Clerk shall maintain a 
record for each license issued and record the reports of violations. The City Clerk 
shall file with the Police Chief a copy of each license and the Police Chief shall 
report to the City Clerk any complaints against any licensee and/or employee(s) 
and any convictions, pleas or other findings of responsibility for violations of this 
Chapter. The City Clerk shall keep a record of all such complaints and violations. 

 
(d) Requirements Specific to Solicitors. 

 
(1) No person shall solicit within the City without having first obtained a 
solicitation permit from the City authorizing such solicitation. 
 
(2) Upon submission of the application to the City Clerk, the applicant shall 
pay a permit application fee, the amount of which shall be as established in the 
Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance. 

 



29 

 

(3) The owner(s) or occupant(s) of any residence or business in the City may 
evidence a determination to refuse to receive any uninvited solicitors by posting a 
card, decal or sign not less than three inches by four inches in size upon or near 
the main entrance door to the residence, containing the words "no soliciting." Any 
such card, decal or sign that complies with the requirements of this section shall 
be exempt from any additional or different requirements contained in the zoning 
ordinance. No solicitor shall solicit or enter any property that is listed on the No 
Soliciting list on file at the City Clerk’s office. 
 

(4) No person shall go upon any residence and ring the door bell, rap or knock 
upon any door, or create any sound in any other manner calculated to attract the 
attention of any occupant of such residence for the purpose of securing an 
audience with the occupant(s) thereof and engage in solicitation in disregard of a 
notice posted pursuant to this section. 
 

(5) No person shall represent that the granting of a solicitation permit under 
this article is an endorsement by the City of the particular organization involved. 
Any such representation is hereby declared to be a misrepresentation of fact and 
subject to the provisions for revocation of the permit. 
 

(6) No person, while soliciting in the City, shall intentionally intimidate any 
citizen. 

 
(7) No person under 12 years of age shall engage in any soliciting during 
school hours, unless legally excused from school, or for a combined school and 
work period of more than eight hours in any one day.  
 

(8) Except as otherwise provided herein, soliciting in the City shall only be 
permitted from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. during Eastern Standard Time and from 
9:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. during [State of] Michigan daylight savings time. In 
addition, all solicitors shall comply with the regulations contained in subsection 
(d) of this section.  
 

(9) No solicitor shall remain in front of, or at the side of, any property against 
the wish or desire of the property owner or the tenant or occupant of such 
property. 

 
(10) No solicitor shall engage in soliciting on those portions of streets on which 
a public park abuts and/or engage in soliciting in any public park, unless prior 
approval for such soliciting in a public park is granted by the City Clerk. 

 



30 

 

 
26-122.  Enforcement. 
 
(a)   It shall be the duty of any police or Code Official to require any person seen soliciting, 
merchandising, or vending and who is not known by such official to be duly licensed, to show 
proof of a license issued by the City Clerk, and to enforce the provisions of this Chapter against 
any person found to be violating them. 
 
(b)   Any police officer or Code Official may enter any licensed premises at any time during 
business hours for the purpose of ascertaining the manner in which such business is conducted 
and to investigate complaints. At all such times, the official shall be permitted access to the 
books of such business to ascertain compliance with the provisions of this Chapter. 
 
26-123.  Revocation/Appeal. 
 
(a)  The City Clerk is authorized to revoke any license issued under this Chapter for violation 
of the provisions of this Chapter, including, but not limited to the following: 
 

(1)   Vendor, solicitor or peddler has violated any provision of this Chapter, any 
provision of the City of Birmingham Code of Ordinances, or state or federal laws, 
rules or regulations. 
 
(2)   Vendor, solicitor or peddler has made a false material statement in the 
application or has otherwise become disqualified for issuance of the license. 
 
(3)   Vendor, solicitor or peddler has had a written complaint filed against it for 
violation of this Chapter and probable cause exists for substantiation of the 
complaint. 
 
(4)   Vendor, solicitor or peddler has acted in a manner contrary to the public 
health, safety or welfare of the citizens of Birmingham. 

 
(b)  The City Clerk shall provide the vendor, solicitor or peddler with written notice at the 
address on the application for the license for the revocation of the license.  The written 
revocation notice must clearly set forth in writing the grounds for revocation, and allow the 
vendor, solicitor or peddler to file a written request with the City Clerk's office for a hearing to 
appeal the revocation; such request shall be filed with the City Clerk within fifteen (15) days 
from the date appearing on the notice of revocation. The hearing shall be held by the City 
Manager or the City Manager's designated representative. 
 
(c)  If a vendor’s, solicitor’s or peddler’s appeal of the revocation to the City Manager or his 
designee is not reversed by the City Manager, the vendor, solicitor or peddler has seven days to 
file a written appeal of the revocation to the City Commission, so that the appeal can be placed 
on the next available City Commission agenda for consideration of the appeal.   
 
26-124.  Non-Exclusive/No Property Interest. 



31 

 

 
Any license applied for and/or granted pursuant to this ordinance is non-exclusive, and does not 
grant any property right or right to receive such licenses in the future. 
 
26-125.  Other permits or licenses. 
 
A license obtained under this Chapter shall not relieve a person of the responsibility for 
obtaining any other license or authorization required by any other ordinance, statute or 
administrative rule. 
 
26-126.  Appearance tickets. 
 
The Police Chief and the appointed officers of the Police Department, or such code officials as 
are designated by the City Manager, are hereby authorized to issue and serve appearance tickets 
with respect to a violation of this Chapter pursuant to Section 1 of Act 147 of Public Acts of 
1968, as amended; MCL 764.9c(2). Appearance tickets shall be in such form as determined by 
the City Attorney and shall be in conformity with all statutory requirements. 
 
26-127.  Civil infraction. 
 
Municipal civil infraction.  Any person who violates any section of this Chapter shall be 
responsible for a municipal civil infraction, subject to a fine as provided herein, plus costs and 
other sanctions for each infraction. Each violation of the chapter shall be deemed a separate 
offense.   
 

(1)   For a first offense, a civil fine as set forth in the Schedule of Fees, Charges, 
Bonds, and Insurance. 
 
(2)   For a second offense and any subsequent offense, a civil fine as set forth in 
the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds, and Insurance. 

 
 

ORDAINED this ___ day of ________ 2011.  Effective upon publication 

 

_________________________ 

Gordon L. Rinschler, Mayor  

 

_________________________ 

Laura M. Broski, City Clerk  



32 

 

 

 

 

I, Laura M. Broski, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
ordinance was passed by the commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular meeting 
held _______________, 2011 and that a summary was published ___________, 2011. 

 

 

________________________ 

Laura M. Broski, City Clerk  

 

 
Approved: 
 
 
________________________________ 

Robert J. Bruner, Jr., City Manager 
(Approved as to substance) 
 
 
________________________________ 

Timothy J. Currier, City Attorney 
(Approved as to form) 
 
 
 

 

 

 



I i tiInvigorating 
Birmingham’sBirmingham s 
Public Spaces



Daines passageDaines passage



CafeVia Passage



Peabody Alley



Willits Alley



Willits passage



Tokyo Sushi passage





Pierce Street Parking StructurePierce Street Parking Structure



Shain ParkShain Park



Booth ParkBooth Park



Alley Shopfronts



Alley Wayfindingy y g



Existing Vendor 
Di lDisplays

in…in 
Birmingham



… and around 
the worldthe world



Food Cartology Study, Portland 
“…food carts have positive impacts on street p p
vitality and neighborhood life.” 

RETHINKING URBAN SPACES 
AS PEOPLE PLACES



These locations 
were highlighted 
as potential areas 
throughout the 
Downtown that 
have the space to 
support vendors.





























Peddler/Vendor License 

A vendor permit or peddler permit is required to sell items in the city of Birmingham. 

See Chapter 26, Article 4 of the city code for additional information. 

Definitions 

Peddling means traveling by foot, automotive vehicle or other conveyance, from place to place or from street to 
street, carrying, conveying or transporting goods, wares, merchandise, including food products, offering and 
exposing the same for sale or making sales and delivering articles to purchasers, or taking or attempting to take 
orders for the sale of goods, wares and merchandise, books or magazines, personal property of any nature 
whatsoever for future delivery, or for services to be furnished or performed in the future, whether or not such 
individual has, carries or exposes for sale a sample of the subject of such sale or whether the subject is collecting 
advanced payments on such sales or not. 

*Please note:  

 Peddlers must keep moving. They may only stop to make a sale.  
 Peddlers are not allowed in the residential areas. 

Vending means the sale of goods, wares or merchandise, including food products, on public property at a 
stationary or fixed location during a special event in and around the location of the special event. 

*Please note: Vendors must be approved by the special event coordinator. 

Prohibitions 

Section 26-123 of the city code. 

Fees 

Application Fee:  $20.00*  

Daily Fee per Location: $10.00* 

*(Please note:  According to section 26-120 of the Birmingham city code, "Current licensed operating businesses 
within approved business zoning districts within the City of Birmingham are entitled to a 50% reduction in a 
peddler's or vendor's application and applicable license fee.  This reduction does not apply to businesses which 
are delinquent in their payment of city taxes or special assessments at the time of application.") 

 



 
 
 

03-83-11 VENDOR, PEDDLER, SOLICITOR ORDINANCE 
The Commission received the Vendor, Peddler, Solicitor Ordinance submitted by Planning 
Director Ecker. 

 
The Commission received a communication from Alan Borman supporting food vendors in City 
parks. 

 
 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION MINUTES 
MARCH 21, 2011 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 



 
 

 
04-89-11 VENDOR, PEDDLER, SOLICITOR ORDINANCE 
Ms. Broski explained the ordinance amendments include combining the peddler and vendor 
ordinance with the soliciting ordinance, defining non-charitable solicitors as peddlers, and adding 
frozen confection vendors. 

 
The Commission discussed allowing frozen confection vendors to operate using bicycles and 
hand-pushed carts. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Hoff, seconded by McDaniel: 
To adopt an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Businesses, Article IV, Peddlers and Vendors, and 
Chapter 38, Charitable Solicitations, Article I, In General, and Article II, Permit, of the Birmingham 
City Code to regulate peddlers and solicitors, and to allow for frozen confection vendors, and fee 
schedules for administration and penalties, and to expand the frozen confection vendor definition 
to include bicycles and hand-pushed carts. 

 
Dave Hohendorf pointed out that broadening the definition of frozen confection vendor has 
brought the topic closer to the moveable vendor concept. 

 
Commissioner Hoff withdrew the motion. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Hoff, seconded by McDaniel: 
To adopt an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Businesses, Article IV, Peddlers and Vendors, and 
Chapter 38, Charitable Solicitations, Article I, In General, and Article II, Permit, of the Birmingham 
City Code to regulate peddlers and solicitors, and to allow for frozen confection vendors, and fee 
schedules for administration and penalties. 

 
VOTE: Yeas, 7 

Nays, None 
Absent, None 

 
The Commission discussed the fee for frozen confection vendors. Ms. Broski explained the 
application fee covers the cost to process the application as well as the background check by the 
Police Department. Ms. Ecker explained that the annual fee covers items such as handling 
complaints. Commissioner Moore noted that, by operating in the City, the vendors are getting 
police protection, in addition to doing business in the City and not paying taxes  or  rent, yet using 
the streets to operate a business. 

 
The Commission requested staff to review this fee after the current season and contact other 
cities to get information on their experience with the fees for frozen confection vendors. 

 
Commissioner Sherman questioned how this will be enforced. Mr. Currier explained that an 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION MINUTES 
APRIL 11, 2011 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 
MARTIN 7:30 P.M. 



appearance ticket would be issued. 
 

MOTION: Motion by Sherman, seconded by Nickita: 
To amend the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance, City Clerk's Office, Peddlers 
and Vendors, to provide fees for commercial vendors, peddlers and solicitors with the change to 
the fee for frozen confection vendors to $500.00. 

 
VOTE: Yeas, 7 

Nays, None 
Absent, None 

 

The Commission discussed moveable and park vendors. Commissioner McDaniel suggested 
having a test program with a local restaurant using a temporary outdoor food facility in Shain Park 
and evaluating it after the season. 

 
Mr. Bruner noted that if the Commission desires to have a pilot project, it could be done with a 
license agreement through the RFP process. 

 
Commissioner Moore agreed the vendor should be limited to Shain Park. He suggested a cart for 
PSD members to promote their business on a rotating basis. 

 
The following individuals expressed concern with vendors in the park: 
David Hohendorf 
Michael Collins 
Terri Stefanakis, Greek Island Restaurant 
Leslie Banis, attorney for 250 Martin 
Barry Murphy, Batteries Plus 
Walter Stone, 215 North Old Woodward 
Holly Anselmi, The Italian Dish 
Susan Peabody 

 
Ashley Posley, former resident, commented that a large kiosk map would be a great tool. 

Edward Nemerkaiser expressed support of the park vendor concept. 

Commissioner McDaniel suggested taking the concept of a local business pilot project in Shain 
Park and present it to the PSD for their comment. 

 
Commissioner Dilgard noted that the PSD has already expressed their opinion. He expressed 
support for putting tables and chairs in the park. 

 
The Commission agreed to direct staff to review the concepts as discussed and how they would 
benefit the entire community. 

 
The Commission received a communication from Howard Atesian regarding the proposed 
ordinance. 

  



SEARCH

1 3Recommend

Comments (2) Recommend (3) Print E-mail Letter to the editor Share 

POSTED: OCT. 6, 2010 

Chef sells gourmet tacos from his 
restaurant on wheels in metro Detroit
BY SYLVIA RECTOR 
FREE PRESS STAFF WRITER

A few months ago, Wesley Holton was executive chef of the Michelin-starred Daniel Boulud Brasserie 
in Las Vegas, overseeing a talented staff and a high-end French menu.

Last week, he was making Little Piggy tacos for customers lined up at a 
food truck in a Farmington Hills office park.

Career crash? Hardly.

The 32-year-old Plymouth native is the chef and owner of Jacques' 
Tacos, thought to be the first licensed, Los Angeles-style roving gourmet 
food truck to get up and running in metro Detroit.

The trucks are the hottest new dining trend in America. Hundreds are 
rolling in cities from Miami to Seattle, each serving its own specialty 
cuisine and cooking on-site in their fully equipped kitchens. Menus range 
from stylish tacos like Holton's to sushi, grilled cheese sandwiches, 
sliders and ethnic cuisines.

The upscale food truck concept may be new here, but with national 
media coverage -- including a reality TV show -- it's not unknown, and 
Holton is finding an eager reception.

First-timers are trying the food and "coming back two or three times for 
more," he says. "All these people are contacting me, and Twitter is really 
taking off," as customers tweet to their friends about his food or location.

"The food is wonderful," engineer Bob Leffler of Ferndale said 
Wednesday, taking another bite of his D-Town braised beef short rib taco 
outside Henniges Automotive in Farmington Hills -- Holton's regular 
Wednesday lunch stop.

Leffler's coworker Steve Murree of Macomb Township called the 7-Way 
Smothered Rice and Beans "very good, very fresh." Murree had bought 
food from trucks before, he said, "but it wasn't like this."

That's because dishes from conventional trucks are prepared at a 
commissary and driven to the sales point, whereas Holton makes each 
item on-site when customers place their orders. His classical culinary 
skills, premium ingredients and contemporary recipes make a difference, 
too.

Other items on his small but polished menu include a pulled chicken taco, a marinated avocado taco 
and crispy tortilla chips with salsa.

His shiny black truck, customized by a Miami company, is easy to spot, decorated with orange 
lettering and the mug of a sombrero-wearing English bulldog -- who looks exactly like the Holtons' 
own 2-year-old family pet, Jacques.

DINING OUT
ENTERTAINMENT MAIN: MUSIC | MOVIES | RESTAURANTS | CELEBRITIES | CITY GUIDE

Hilary Holton, her husband, chef Wesley Holton, and Holton's 

father Dan Holton with Jacques the English bulldog at the 

Jacques' Tacos truck. 

A version of this story appears on page 1D of the Wednesday, 
Oct. 6, 2010, print edition of the Detroit Free Press.

RELATED INFORMATION

Jacques' Tacos
www.jacquestacos.com

http://twitter.com/jacquestacos

www.facebook.com/pages/Canton-MI/Jacques-
Tacos/136211289746042

Current stops

Wednesday: 11:45 a.m., Henniges Automotive, 36600 
Corporate Drive, Farmington Hills

Saturday: noon-4 p.m., Shell Station, 13 Mile and 
Woodward, Royal Oak

Sunday: 10 a.m.-2 p.m., Canton Farmers Market, 500 N. 
Ridge Road, Canton

PHOTO GALLERIES
Jacques' Tacos

Get local, breaking news sent to your phone.

Enter your phone number:

Continue

T & C | Privacy | Cancel Alerts

NEWS AUTOS BUSINESS SPORTS ENTERTAINMENT LIFE OPINION OBITUARIES INDEX CLASSIFIEDS JOBS CARS REAL ESTATE RENTALS
DEALS

Page 1 of 3Chef sells gourmet tacos from his restaurant on wheels in metro Detroit | freep.com | Detr...

10/6/2010http://www.freep.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20101006/ENT08/10060372/1002/NLE...



Holton's wife, Hilary, 33, brings the dog on a leash to the food truck stops as often as she can. "He 
loves it," she says, and customers frequently come over and meet him. The chef's dad -- Dan Holton, 
63, of South Lyon -- pitches in as cashier and helper.

The chef, a 1999 Schoolcraft College culinary graduate, had worked for internationally known chef 
Daniel Boulud for eight years in Miami, New York and Las Vegas before Boulud decided to close the 
Vegas restaurant last summer.

For a year before that, though, Holton had been looking for a way to get back home. He couldn't find 
the kind of job he wanted here at a salary he would accept. He finally decided on a food truck as a 
good entrepreneurial opportunity.

He wouldn't say how much the truck cost, except that it was "more than I wanted to pay." He projects 
he'll make more per year than in his previous job and hopes to buy more trucks if things go well.

He says he's willing to be a consultant for the many other people hoping to follow his lead.

The hardest part of getting started is figuring out the requirements not only for county health 
departments, but in each city where the truck stops, he says. Every city has its own fees, applications, 
licenses, background and credit checks, and operating restrictions. "They even want your shoe size," 
Holton jokes.

Even after getting permits, operators still have to find specific locations where it's OK to park and sell 
food. Brick-and-mortar restaurant owners often don't want trucks near them for competitive 
reasons.

"I don't want to go into detail about how to get started," Holton says. "I had to go through so much to 
find out -- that's the biggest challenge, working the bureaucracy.

"If I had known what I know now, my life would have been a lot easier," he adds.

He has regular stops in Royal Oak, Farmington Hills and Canton and hopes to add more cities and 
locations. And he's quickly gaining followers on Facebook and Twitter.

So far, he has no regrets. Customers are loving the food, and the lines are growing longer at every 
stop.

"The best part is working for myself," he says. "I think I know what's best, and I work so hard. I want 
to answer to myself."

Contact SYLVIA RECTOR: 313-222-5026 or

srector@freepress.com

Powered by 4INFO. Standard Messaging Rates or other charges 
apply. To Opt-out text STOP to 4INFO (44636). For more information 
text HELP to 4INFO (44636). Contact your carrier for more details.

PLACE AN AD ON FREEP.COM

MOST POPULAR
MOST POPULAR, MOST COMMENTS & MOST RECOMMENDED

Mitch Albom: One owner 3 teams = new math?1.
Pistons deal could be Detroit game changer2.
Irish coach Brian Kelly sizes up Spartans vs. 
Wolverines

3.

MSU practices with Denard Robinson stand-in4.
Michigan capitalizing on 5-0 start, Denard Robinson 
hype

5.

Michigan-MSU the hottest ticket in college football6.
'Parker Spitzer' appalls critics7.
3 teens held in sexual assault of girl, 14, in Melvindale8.
Drew Sharp: Pistons would get crumbs from pie9.
Ex-coach, 45, pleads no contest to abusing teen boys10.

  

 
COMPLETE COVERAGE
Pistons sale to Ilitch 
could boost Detroit
The Red Wings and Tigers 

owner is negotiating for the 

Palace Sports & Entertainment 

empire.

 
NEW BOOK
'Lost Detroit': Photos 
of Motor City relics
Relics of Detroit’s glamour days 

are the subject of a new book 

available now.

 
MOMSLIKEME.COM
Attention Moms: 
Report to bootcamp!
Need some oomph in your 

workout? Join our online boot-

camp for motivation.

 
DETROIT METROMIX
Pics: 2010 Tiffany 
Hairdresser of the 
Year Awards 
The celebration of artistic 

hairdressing mastery crowns its 

winner from Shelby Twp.

 
MIKE THOMPSON CARTOON
The Ilitch family and 
the Detroit Pistons?
The Detroit Red Wings, the 

Detroit Tigers and the Detroit 

Pistons all under the control of 

the Ilitch family?

Home
Local news
Detroit news
Oakland news
Macomb news
Michigan news
Auto news
Detroit Auto Show
Business
Weather Forecasts

Sports
Lions
Tigers
Red Wings
Pistons
Shock
Wolverines
Spartans
Detroit Marathon
Michigan Outdoors

Entertainment
Music
Movies
Restaurants
Life
Opinion
Mike Thompson
Comics
Win Stuff
Lottery

TOP SECTIONS INDEX

Text alerts
E-mail newsletters
RSS feeds
School closings alerts
Mobile Freep.com site
iPhone site
Follow our Twitter updates
Become a fan on Facebook

UPDATES

 Detroit Classifieds
Jobs: CareerBuilder.com
Cars & Trucks: Cars.com
Rentals: Apartments.com
Homes: Homefinder.com
Home Values
HomeGain.com
Tickets: Concerts & Events
Coupons: ShopLocal.com
Cozi: Family Life. Simplified.

PARTNERS

Home delivery

SEE TODAY'S NEWSPAPER

 
View today's edition of the Free 

Press including all advertising, 

coupons, comics and puzzles.

SITE INDEX

Page 2 of 3Chef sells gourmet tacos from his restaurant on wheels in metro Detroit | freep.com | Detr...

10/6/2010http://www.freep.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20101006/ENT08/10060372/1002/NLE...



Databases
Obituaries
Special Coverage
Columnists
Bloggers

High Schools Photos
Videos
Archives

Contact us
About the Free Press
Detroit Media Partnership
Free Press Bookstore
Photo and Page Reprints

CUSTOMER SERVICE
Detroit Moms Like Me
Detroit Metromix
Detroit High School Sports
Free Press Express on 
First Forecast Mornings
USA Today

Digital Free Press
Subscriber Customer Service
Find a Newsstand
Advertise with us

 

Copyright © 2010 ... Use of this site signifies your agreement to the Terms of Service and Privacy Policy/Your California Privacy Rights, updated March 2009.

Page 3 of 3Chef sells gourmet tacos from his restaurant on wheels in metro Detroit | freep.com | Detr...

10/6/2010http://www.freep.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20101006/ENT08/10060372/1002/NLE...



Thursday, August 4, 2011 | Follow Us:   

  

CARLOS NEILBOCK'S LOW ALTITUDE WIND TURBINE-MAKER FAIRE DETROIT PHOTO BY DAVID LEWINSKI |  SHOW PHOTO 

RELATED IMAGES

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

Features
What Food Trucks Say About Ferndale
NICOLE RUPERSBURG | THURSDAY, AUGUST 04, 2011 

CRISTINA SHEPPARD-DECIUS- EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE FERNDALE DDA PHOTO BY DAVID LEWINSKI

Last month in Concentrate, the Ann Arbor-based 

sister publication to Metromode, we looked at the 

burgeoning food truck scene in Ann Arbor, with the 

arrival of the new food truck courtyard Mark's 

Carts. We also looked at Portland, Ore.'s successful 

"pod" model, groups of food trucks located in semi-

permanent positions on privately-owned lots. The 

scene has been so successful that there are now over 

600 food carts operating in Portland, and they 

regularly make national headlines in food, travel, 

and business publications.  

 

This week in Metromode, we look to Ferndale to see 

how feasible a food truck scene might be here, and 

what it means for the greater community. 
 
In terms of urban cred, Ferndale doesn't really have 
any one thing that makes it extraordinary. When 
considering the amenities that typically make a 
community stand out - rich history, impressive 
architecture, unique cultural heritage, major 
museums, exceptional restaurants - the city struggles 
to distinguish itself. And yet, distinguish itself it does. 
 
What makes this inner ring Detroit burb so attractive 
is its energetic commitment to developing a vibrant 
downtown, nurturing local entrepreneurship, 
drawing young professionals, and facilitating the 
creativity of its citizens. The nickname "Fabulous 

GIVE US YOUR EMAIL AND WE 
WILL GIVE YOU OUR WEEKLY 
ONLINE MAGAZINE. FAIR?

  
PRINT PAGE  |  EMAIL PAGE  |  

 

Top 10 Feature 
Stories

If Dallas Can Do It, Why 
Can't Detroit?
In Texas, Dallas is referred to as 
The Big D. And like our D, it's a 

sprawling metropolitan region ringed by 
suburbs and freeways, and deeply in love with 
its cars. We are talking oil country after all. 
Despite that, the city also has a growing light 
rail system with over 70 miles of track. So, why 
them and not us? 

What Food Trucks Say 
About Ferndale 

•

Density Vs. Transit •

Editor's Pick: Maker Faire •

Got Apps? •

SHARETHIS

Home Features News Focus Growing Companies Jobs Places FilterD

Page 1 of 5What Food Trucks Say About Ferndale

8/4/2011http://www.metromodemedia.com/features/ferndalefoodtrucks021...



 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

Ferndale" isn't just a tongue-in-cheek response to the 
city's growing LGBT population. It's become a 
mission statement of sorts. And unlike many local 
governments, the city has political and municipal 
leaders willing to embrace the changes necessary to 
meet those goals.  
 
"Ferndale is easy to work with as far as the city goes," 
says Chris Johnston, owner of popular Ferndale spots 
Woodward Avenue Brewers (WAB), the Emory and 
the Loving Touch. "A lot of other places seem to have 
red tape for no reason... it should be a given to not get 
in the way of people who have a lifelong dream of 
doing something and are willing to put money up to 
do it. [It almost seems like] some cities watch you do 
things the wrong way just to say 'Oh, you did it 
wrong.'"  
 
As if to drive that point home, consider the New 
Theater Project, an Ann Arbor troupe that was 
recently driven out of its small space because of 
zoning issues. Despite a year of performing and 
renovating the space, the city demanded $1,000 to 
apply for an exception hearing or move out. The 
company ended up relocating to Ypsilanti. 
 
Someone says, "I have an idea" and Ferndale 

answers, "Let's make it work." 
 
Recently a brand-new mobile food truck called El 
Guapo made headlines for becoming the first fully-
sanctioned food truck in downtown Detroit. It only 
took 60 trips to City Hall to make it happen.  
 
In Ann Arbor, where the city's mantra is "If it's not 
specifically permitted, it's forbidden",  Mark's Carts 
opened against all municipal odds. Given the 
constraints and requirements, it was the urban 
equivalent of lightning striking. 
 
In contrast, two weeks ago the Ferndale Downtown 
Development Authority was approached with four 
applications for mobile vending permits (two push-
carts and two trucks). Three out of four are already 
operating -- Underdog and Motor City Franks, both 
sidewalk hot dog vendors, and Jacques' Tacos, which 
is renting a space in the privately-owned parking lot 
of Ferndale Radiator. The fourth, another Mexican 
food truck called Taco Mama, is delayed only until an 
agreement on the truck's location can be reached and 
secured. Treat Dreams will also soon be operating an 
ice cream cart. 
 
"We had a vision session at the end of June of what 
people want to see here," explains Cristina Sheppard-
Decius, executive director of the Ferndale DDA. "We 
had a little wish board and had so many people say 'I 
wish we had a mobile taco stand, a mobile hot dog 

VIEW ALL FEATURE STORIES

The Wayne Ripple Effect •

The Best Of Metro Detroit's 
Rude Food 

•

Metro Detroit YPs Get 
Game 

•

Little Vietnam In Madison 
Heights 

•

Pontiac: What Was, What 
Is, What's Next... 

•

 

  

  

Pre-Owned Ford Truck
The low-mileage pre-owned Ford Truck you 
want. Certified.
FordCPO.com

Used Equipment Sale
going on now. We're clearing out our inventory. 
Visit Us Now.
www.frazaforklifts.com

Ford Model Year End Event
The Best Place To Be Is Behind the Wheel of a 
2011 Ford Truck.
www.ThinkFordFirst.com

Catering Truck $5,000 Off
$5,000 off Catering Trucks In Stock Mention 
This Ad to your Salesperson
www.vendingtrucks.com

Page 2 of 5What Food Trucks Say About Ferndale

8/4/2011http://www.metromodemedia.com/features/ferndalefoodtrucks021...



 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

 
ENLARGE

RELATED TAGS

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT, 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP, FOOD, 
OAKLAND COUNTY  

FERNDALE  

stand…' then a week later we got a bunch of 
applications!"  
 
The myth of competition 
 
As contended in the Concentrate article, food trucks 
increase street excitement and neighborhood vitality, 
essential components for urban growth. Rather than 
creating competition with brick and mortar 
businesses, on-street vending can be used to help 
diversify a downtown area, draw a larger customer 
base (nothing attracts a crowd like a crowd) and 
supplement specific food niches. Sheppard-Decius 
notes that food carts help to build what is known in 
market analysis terms as "good competition" and 
"clustering."  
 
"When you have clusters of, say, clothing stores or 
certain types of restaurants or restaurants in general, 
it actually builds a stronger economy for all those 
businesses in that cluster," she explains. "With 
smaller items like food and gifts, people will go out 
and browse for awhile before they make their 
selection. When you have [these businesses] all 
within one area it draws them there and keeps them 
there longer which means more money spent [in that 
area]. There's a lot of strategy to all of this!" 
 
This should be of some comfort to those businesses 
who have expressed concern (to put it mildly) that 
our downtown areas will be overrun with food trucks 
stealing away jobs and customers. The hand-wringing 
makes for good rhetoric in an "earth is flat" sort of 
way, but the experiences of cities that have embraced 
food cart culture doesn't support the argument.  
 
Consider fast food franchises. How often do you see 
McDonald's, Subway, Jimmy John's and Tao Bell all 
within hailing distance of one another? Consider how 
often you see those very same places open right next 
to each other.  
 
Or to give a more localized example, take the WAB. A 
taco cart serving carnitas for $1.50 each is not going 
to cut into the customer base that is paying $8 for the 
WAB's taco entrees. One is a sit-down full-service 
establishment. The other is a truck. One serves a wide 
selection of hand-crafted beers, wines and spirits. 
The other is a truck. One has live music on weekends. 
The other is a truck. The reason you typically find fast 
food joints clustered together, food courts drawing 
large crowds, and so many food options in Chinatown 

(pick any Chinatown) is because having all of those places in one area creates a 
destination for customers, a reason to go that they wouldn't otherwise have if each 
establishment were an island unto itself. 
 
Brad Dahlhofer, owner of Ferndale's B Nektar Meadery, loves the idea of working 
with food trucks for his annual "Mead Day" celebration. He has to sell food in 

 

 

Page 3 of 5What Food Trucks Say About Ferndale

8/4/2011http://www.metromodemedia.com/features/ferndalefoodtrucks021...



order to serve alcohol, which is a challenge for his business which does not have 
the equipment to prepare food and must bring it in from the outside.  
 
"This could be the future of our Mead Day," he says. "I welcome every one of those 
carts and food trucks to get a hold of me!"  
 
Mobile economics 
 
Let's say you love to cook and dream of one day opening your own restaurant. The 
challenges associated with opening a brick and mortar establishment are 
enormous. Couple that to the financial failure rate of most eateries and it's a 
minor miracle when a local restaurant survives, no less thrives. 
 
But lest you think food trucks have some unfair marketplace advantage, consider 
that the average owner-operator puts in 12 hours of work a day and typically 
employs only one or two additional people. 
 
According to "Food Cartology", a study conducted by Portland's Urban Vitality 
Group, food trucks tend to be family-operated businesses that attract unskilled 
minority workers and mostly generate a modest living wage. No one is opening a 
food truck to become a millionaire. They don't have the advantage of investors, 
and rarely qualify for bank loans.  
 
This low barrier to entry is part of what makes mobile vending such an attractive 
option to aspiring entrepreneurs. While opening a restaurant might cost up to $2 
million before a single customer is served, a mobile vendor needs only the truck 
itself, food and supplies, necessary permits and leased space (if in a permanent 
parked position).  
 
There is a certain "grass is greener" mentality here, as Johnston mentions: lower 
overhead might sound like a dream to a restaurant owner, but challenges such as 
lack of seating, limited menu options, inability to sell alcohol, and the pitfalls of 
Michigan's weather all ensure that there is a pretty low ceiling to how much 
money a food truck can make.  
 
From the city's standpoint, however, every food truck that opens is one more 
locally-owned business generating tax revenue for the city and employing local 
residents with little infrastructure or formal support needed. Five carts may seem 
inconsequential, but on the scale of Portland's 600 mobile vendors that's 
thousands of added jobs and nearly $100,000 in additional tax revenue for the 
city. It adds up. 
 
For Ferndale, it just means more of doing what they do best. 
 
"Ferndale has always been very pro-small business, especially with things a little 
left of center," Johnston notes. "The government itself is very easy on everybody; 
there are rules you have to follow and if you do that, no problem."  
 
The rules governing mobile vending in Ferndale are thus: mobile units must have 
all necessary permits and food handlers' licenses; meet health department 
requirements; can prepare food inside the truck itself (no commercial kitchen 
required); and must relocate every two hours unless renting a permanent space in 
a privately-owned lot. The DDA has said it is amenable to discussing a "pod" 
concept so long as the location has the volume potential and doesn't eat into 
available parking spaces).  
 
Sheppard-Decius explains that the DDA has a motto: "Change is good." And in 
today's shifting and shaky economic climate, change is not only good but 

Page 4 of 5What Food Trucks Say About Ferndale

8/4/2011http://www.metromodemedia.com/features/ferndalefoodtrucks021...



necessary. Food trucks may be a "fad," but they're also an innovative approach to 
a sole proprietorship business that may have as-yet unknown effects on the local 
economy and the public approach to entrepreneurship.  
 
And if anything, they're certainly DIY. Which means they're the perfect fit for 
Ferndale.  
 
Nicole Rupersburg is a freelance writer and popular Metro Detroit food blogger. 

Read her blog at http://www.eatitdetroit.com  
 
 

GIVE US YOUR EMAIL AND WE WILL GIVE YOU OUR WEEKLY ONLINE 
MAGAZINE. FAIR?

  

About metromode | Contact Us  | Privacy Policy  | Terms of Use | RSS Links  | Have a tip for us?  | Locations | RSS 

Facebook social plugin

Add a comment...

Comment using...

Anne Schenk · Ferndale, Michigan
Love my city!

 · Like· Reply · 2 hours ago2

Shelley Curry · Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
I love your city too.
Like· Reply · 2 hours ago

Woodward Avenue Action Association
Ferndale stepping out again ahead of the pack...this would be a really cool concept for 
Woodward too!

 · Like· Reply · 3 hours ago1

Tom Borg · President at Tom Borg Consulting, LLC
The city of Ferndale's leadership team is consciously doing the things that are success 
oriented. It is no accident.. Other cities could learn a thing or two from their example.
Like· Reply · about an hour ago

Page 5 of 5What Food Trucks Say About Ferndale

8/4/2011http://www.metromodemedia.com/features/ferndalefoodtrucks021...



 

 1

 

 

 

MAIN STREET VENDOR GUIDELINES 
 

Outdoor vendors and activities are a desirable element in the animation of Main Street Mall, 

and the Center City Commission encourages such sidewalk merchants.  In order to ensure a 

uniform standard of quality in appearance and operation, certain guidelines have been 

established. These guidelines must be followed for a vendor permit (Main Street Mall 

encroachment permit) to be issued and maintained. 

 

The Center City Commission is authorized to approve or disapprove vendors on Main Street 

Mall according to Volume I, Chapter 7, Article II, Section 7-17 of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Memphis.  The Commission is further empowered to establish written rules and 

regulations governing operation of all common mall activities through Volume I, Chapter 7, 

Article IV, and Section 7-77 of the Code.  The mall area as defined by Article IV extends 

from Peabody Place on the south to Exchange Avenue on the north including Court Square 

and Civic Center Plaza. 

 

 

OPERATIONAL GUIDELINES: 

 

1. All merchandise vendors must use official Main Street Mall vendor carts or 

Canopies leasable from the Center City Commission.  Food vendors must supply 

their own carts, which meet the approval of the Memphis and Shelby County 

Health Department, 814 Jefferson Avenue. 

2. Carts/Canopies owned by the Center City Commission must be stored in the 

location designated by the CCC and picked up and returned at the times specified 

in the lease agreement. Food vendors are also required to have a designated storage 

place.  

3. All vendors must have a valid Memphis and Shelby County business license prior 

to opening for business.  

4. All food vendors must have a valid permit from the Memphis-Shelby County 

Health Department and submit their cart design to the CCC prior to a vendor 

permit being issued. The vendor must also purchase a permit from code 

enforcement before the Health Department will issue a permit. 

5. All vendors are responsible for carrying reasonable liability insurance before 

operating.  A certificate of insurance naming the Center City Commission and the 

City of Memphis as additional insureds may be required by the CCC, in addition to 

a signed hold harmless agreement prior to the first day of vendor operations.   

6. Displays or activities that may be detrimental to the public health and welfare will 

not be allowed. 



 

 2

7. All vendors will be located on Main Street Mall in the Court Square area and Civic Center Plaza.  The CCC 

will assign designated locations to any and all operating vendors. Vendors are not allowed to set up in front of 

an operating business without the permission of the business owner. 

8.  Merchandise must be displayed on the vendor cart or inside canopies.  All merchandise must be displayed in a 

professional manner. Vendors are required to keep their products, chairs, tables and equipment inside their 

canopy area. Tables must have appropriate skirting for a professional appearance. Any vendor with 

merchandise not inside their assigned area will be given a written citation. 

9. Merchandise vendors are allowed to sell novelty/souvenir tee shirts and caps and accessories (i.e. ties, scarves, 

and sunglasses, etc.).  At no time shall a Mall vendor sell other clothing, e.g. pants, dresses, shirts, skirts, shoes, 

etc., unless it is handcrafted. 

10. All vendors are responsible for maintaining their spaces in a clean & sanitary condition. They are responsible 

for keeping their immediate areas clean and safe. They also have to make arrangements for trash disposal. 

Vendors are not to deposit their refuse in the Mall trash containers. 

11. Recorded music or noise is not allowed with any vendor stand or cart except by special permit. 

12. No “hawking” (i.e., calling out to passersby) is allowed. 

13. Vendors are not permitted to eat food or drink alcoholic beverages while selling merchandise. 

14. Displays that include literature such as pamphlets or flyers must have the literature secured in such a way that it 

will not become a trash problem on the Mall.  Should such a problem occurs, clean up is the responsibility of 

the vendor. 

15. Organizations applying for a permit to solicit money must submit proof of non-profit status, I.e. State of 

Tennessee tax-exempt number. 

16. Arts and crafts vendors are encouraged; and all merchandise to be sold must be approved by the Center City 

Commission. 

17. A valid Center City Commission Mall Encroachment permit specifying approved merchandise; period of time 

authorized and specific location must be produced on demand if requested by an officer of the Memphis Police 

Department or employee of the Center City Commission (Blue Suede Brigade & Public Safety Officers). A 

CCC vendor permit should be visible at all times. 

18. No vendor vehicles will be allowed on the mall but must be legally parked in other locations. 

19. Street musicians are permitted unless a valid complaint is made regarding the musician/ performance to the 

CCC office.  No sound amplification is allowed. 

20. Sample distribution or product promotion is permitted at a special weekly fee providing no hawking occurs.  

All consumable samples must be pre-packaged or have a Shelby County health permit. 

21. Vendors must notify the CCC if said vendor will not be able to operate for five or more consecutive days. 

22. On days of inclement weather each vendor may decide whether or not to operate.  No refunds will be made for 

days on which a vendor does not operate. 

23. The Center City Commission reserves the right to: 

a. limit the number of vendors/exhibitors on the mall 



 

 3

b. specify the vendor’s location to ensure that high pedestrian traffic routes. Fire lanes and pedestrian 

walkways are not blocked in any way. 

c. refuse to issue a permit to any vendor or organization based on these guidelines 

24. Mall encroachment permits may be revoked at any time with no fees refunded if complaints are received or 

problems occur, or violations are not corrected within five (5) working days after vendor is notified. 

25.  Revocation of permits will be automatic following three (3) violations of design or operational guidelines. 

26.  Final revocations are permanent and future applications will be denied once a vendor’s permit has been 

revoked. 

FEE  SCHEDULE: 

All fees must be paid to the Center City Commission before a permit will be issued.  All fees are payable in advance 

on a minimum weekly basis. 

CCC Merchandise Carts / Canopies 

$50/week 

$200/month 

$1000/6 months 

$2000/year 

Food vendors providing their own approved carts will pay half the above fees. Food carts must be approved by the 

Heath Department. 

Sample distribution or product promotion fee is $250/week. 

No vendor cart or canopy shall be taken from the CCC storage location if appropriate fee has not been paid. 

The CCC reserves the right to waive or reduce any of the above fees (i.e. for non-profit groups performing a public 

service, bona fide religious groups, charitable organization, etc.) 

Other agencies to be contacted for necessary permits are: 

Shelby County Clerks Office (Business License)   Health Department 

150 Washington Avenue      814 Jefferson Avenue 

Memphis, TN 38103      Memphis, TN 38105 

(901) 545-4249       (901) 544-7600 

        (901) 544-7757 

 

Memphis & Shelby County Code Enforcement   City Permits Office 

6465 Mullins Station Road      2714 Union Ave Ext. 

Memphis, TN 38134      Suite 200-A 

(901) 379-4200       Memphis, TN 38112 

(901) 379-4205 fax      (901) 636-6711 
 

 
 



 

 4

 
 
 

MAIN STREET MALL ENCROACHMENT PERMIT 
 

Organization__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Representative _________________________________Phone __________________________________ 
       
 
Address ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
City____________________________________State____________Zip___________________________ 
 

 
Driver's License #_____________________Vehicle License #___________________________________ 
  
 
Applicant is granted permission to encroach on the common mall area for the purpose of: 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
From(date)________________to_______________(time)________________to____________________ 
 
Location  ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Authorized Equipment__________________________________________________________________ 
 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
This encroachment is authorized for the above-described activity only.  This permit can be revoked if  
complaints and/or disturbances arise.  Applicant agrees not to deface any mall surfaces in any way or to 
block pedestrian traffic and further agrees to abide by all provisions of  the Main Street Mall Operations Policies 
& Vendor Guidelines. 
 
Any applicant leasing a Center City Commission vendor cart agrees to return the cart in the same condition in 
which it was received, less normal wear and tear.  
 
Applicant does hereby indemnify and hold the Center City Commission and the City of  Memphis harmless 
from any claim, demand, action, suit, and otherwise, of  any type whatsoever, directly or indirectly, resulting or 
alleged to have resulted from the temporary use of  the Main Street Mall as stated above. 
 
For (Organization): _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
By: ___________________________________________ Title: _________________________________ 
 
Date: _______________ Attest: __________________________________________________________ 

Center City Commission 



GET TO KNOW YOUR STREET VENDORS

In New York, street vending has always attracted ambitious, hard-working 
men and women with limited economic options. Successive waves of 
immigrants – Jewish and Italian in a previous era, now Chinese, Bangladeshi, 
Afghan, and Senegalese – have used vending to gain a foothold in their new 
country. Its low startup costs, independence, and flexibility make vending 
a traditional first stop for small business entrepreneurs. 

But vending isn’t an easy way to get ahead. Throughout New York City’s 
history, merchants resentful of “unfair” competition have joined forces with 
city officials concerned with congestion, modernization, and “quality of life” 
to bar vendors from streets and regulate them excessively. These complex 
and shifting laws force vendors back and forth across the border between 
the formal and informal economies, making it difficult for vendors to serve 
the public and make a decent and honest living.   

Here are four basic ways the City can make vending laws work better for 
vendors, their customers, and everyone else.

WAYS TO A BETTER VENDOR WORLD

B U S I N E S S E S  T H AT  S TA R T E D

A S  P U S H C A R T S


B L O O M I N G DA L E ’ S

D ’A G O S T I N O

M A C Y ’ S

R O C - A - F E L L A  R E C O R D S

C O H E N ’ S  FA S H I O N  O P T I C A L

G O L D M A N  S A C H S

W H AT ’ S  A  

B U S I N E S S  

I M P R O V E M E N T  

D I S T R I C T  ( B I D ) ?

First formed in the 1980s, Business 
Improvement Districts (BIDs) are groups 
of merchants and property owners in a 
given area that take on certain city 
responsibilities – like sidewalk mainte-
nance, security, and capital improve-
ments – in exchange for greater control 
over their neighborhoods. BIDs have led 
the fight against vendors, pressing city 
officials for caps and street restrictions, 
or simply placing large planters and other 
obstructions that prevent vendors from 
operating in their neighborhoods.  

AV E R A G E

N YC  V E N D O R

S A L A R Y

$14,000

S TA R T- U P  C O S T S  T O  V E N D

L I C E N S E

F O O D
P E R M I T

$25 - 200

$15 - 200

TA B L E $20 - 200

G A R A G E
R E N TA L  
F O R  C A R T

I N V E N T O R Y

$300 - 500

$500 - 3,000

P E R  M O N T H

T O  S TA R T

P E R  Y E A R

C A R T
$3,000 - 
80,000

V E N D O R  L A N G U A G E S

I N  L O W E R  M A N H AT TA N

B E N G A L I
21%

E N G L I S H
20%

M A N DA R I N
O R

C A N T O N E S E

15%

FA R S I
10%

F U L A N I
8%

A R A B I C
7%

S PA N I S H
6%

O T H E R
5%

T I B E TA N
2%

U R D U
2%

W O L O F
2%

F R E N C H
2%

L I C E N S E  C A P S

D R A S T I C A L LY  

L I M I T  T H E

N U M B E R  

O F  L E G A L

V E N D O R S

G E N E R A L

V E N D O R S

F O O D

V E N D O R S

853

3,000

9,000

3,133

C A P
I M P O S E D
I N  1 9 7 9

O N
WA I T I N G

L I S T

C A P
I M P O S E D
I N  1 9 8 3

L E F T
W I T H O U T

F O R M E R  N YC  V E N D O R S

J E R R Y  S E I N F E L D

J AY- Z

J E A N - M I C H E L  B A S Q U I AT

A M A D O U  D I A L L O

L E V I  S T R A U S S

N U M B E R  O F  L I C E N S E D  N YC  V E N D O R S  T H R O U G H  H I S T O R Y

1 9 3 41 8 9 7 1 9 1 7 1 9 4 5 2 0 0 9

14,000
7,0002,000 1,200

6,000Influx of 
Jewish 
and Italian 
immigrants 
brought Old 
World street 
vending to 
the Lower 
East Side.

Vending remained 
the first rung on 
the economic 
ladder for many 
new arrivals. 
Dozens of new 
pushcart markets 
were established 
in immigrant areas. 

The Great 
Depression 
flooded the 
streets with 
a new kind 
of vendor: the 
native-born 
unemployed. 

As part of a plan 
to “clean up” and 
modernize NYC, the 
City closed most 
pushcart markets 
and reduced the 
number of licenses. 
Many vendors were 
also off at war.

More licenses 
were made 
available, then 
capped. There 
are about 12,000 
vendors, only half 
of whom are able 
to get licenses.

APPLES
5c

The first Midtown 
ban dates back to 
the Depression, when 
thousands of former 
bankers, brokers, 
and other jobless 
residents took to 
Midtown to sell the 
iconic 5-cent apple. 

M I D T O W N  M A N

S E T B A C K S  A N D  S T E P S  F O R WA R D

Mayor Michael Bloomberg (2001-present) is 
responsible for increasing fines from $250 to 
$1000 and for banning vending near the World 
Trade Center. He did, however, sign the Greencarts 
bill in 2008 which grants specialized vending 
permits that allow vendors to sell fruit in low 
income neighborhoods. While limited in scope, it 
is the first increase in vending permits in decades.

L O W E R I N G  T H E  Q U A L I T Y  O F  V E N D O R S ’  L I V E S

Mayor Rudolph Giuliani (1994-2001) cracked down 
on vendors as part of his “quality of life” campaign. 
He enforced street restrictions that Koch and 
Dinkins disregarded. He closed the outdoor bazaar 
on 125th Street in Harlem. He also wrested control 
of street closures from the City Council and formed 
a special committee - the Street Vendor Review 
Panel - with one mission: to close more streets.

1 9 3 9

New York City 
featured an exhibit 
in the World’s Fair 
called “The Life and 
Death of a Pushcart”

1 8 8 0 s

Four Jewish 
peddlers set up 
pushcarts along 
Hester Street in the 
Lower East Side, 
leading to the first 
pushcart market in 
New York City. The 
main Italian market 
evolved on Grand 
Street in lower 
Manhattan, and 
Paddy’s Market in 
Hell’s Kitchen served 
Irish immigrants.  

W H Y  D O

V E N D O R S  V E N D ?

WA N T
T O

H AV E
T O

50%50%

~50,000

T O TA L

N U M B E R  

O F  

T I C K E T S

V E N D O R S  

R E C E I V E

E A C H  

Y E A R

~7,000

N U M B E R  O F  

V E N D O R S  

A R R E S T E D  

E A C H  Y E A R  

O P P O S I T I O N  T O  A N  “ O L D  W O R L D ”  J O B

Mayor Fiorello LaGuardia (1934-1945) was the son of 
immigrants and a champion of the poor, but he thought 
of street vending as an “Old World” form of retailing 
unsuitable for modern New York. He tried to ban outdoor 
vending and moved vendors to indoor markets. Some of 
these markets, like the Essex Street Market, still exist.

G O O D  L U C K  T O  YO U

Vendors lucky enough 
to get a license from 
the City also receive 
a photocopied 
packet meant to 
explain the rules. It 
includes direct 
excerpts from the city 
administrative code 
and a long list of 
streets with the varied 
days and times the 
city prohibits vending 
on each. This is a 
sample page from 
that book.

H A R L E M

M I D T O W N

F I N A N C I A L
D I S T R I C T

M O S T  R E S T R I C T E D  

V E N D I N G  A R E A S

H A R L E M

M I D T O W N

F I N A N C I A L
D I S T R I C T

W H AT  V I O L AT I O N S  

V E N D O R S  G E T  

T I C K E T E D  F O R

PA R K E D  M O R E  T H A N  

1 8  I N C H E S  F R O M  C U R B22%
PA R K E D  O N  A  

R E S T R I C T E D  S T R E E T16%
PA R K E D  L E S S  T H A N  

2 0  F E E T  F R O M  A  

S T O R E F R O N T

15%

H E A LT H  V I O L AT I O N S10%
PA R K E D  O N  A  S I D E WA L K  

L E S S  T H A N  1 2  F E E T  W I D E8%
U N L I C E N S E D8%
L I C E N S E  N O T  V I S I B L E5%
N O  P R I C E S  P O S T E D4%
O T H E R12%

1 9 2 7

Between 10-15% of 
all produce sold in 
New York was sold 
in pushcart markets.

N U M B E R

O F  N YC

V E N D O R S

~12,000

M I X E D  A C T I O N  T O WA R D S  

A  “ N O B L E  P R O F E S S I O N ”

Mayor Edward 
Koch (1978-1989) 
said “peddling is a 
noble profession” 
and proposed a 
bill to open more 
streets to vending 
while restricting the 
number of vendors 
per block through a site lottery, but it 
didn’t pass. While he didn’t enforce 
increased street restrictions, he 
signed Local Law 50 in 1979, capping 
general vendor licenses at 853, the 
number of licenses at the time. It was 
the first hard cap in the city’s history. 

Intro 621 proposed higher 
caps, reduced fines, and more 
street openings in exchange 
for limits on the numbers of 
vendors per block. It died in 
committee.

2 0 0 4

A G E N C I E S  I N V O LV E D

I N  V E N D O R  R E G U L AT I O N

C O N S U M E R  A F FA I R S

H E A LT H  A N D  M E N TA L  
H YG I E N E

S A N I TAT I O N

E N V I R O N M E N TA L  
P R O T E C T I O N

F I N A N C E

PA R K S  A N D  R E C R E AT I O N

T H E  P O L I C E

In 2005, Mayor Michael Bloomberg quadrupled 
the maximum fines for street vendor violations 
from $250 to $1000. A few tickets for parking a 
cart more than 18 inches from the curb or less 
than 20 feet from a storefront can wipe out 
months of earnings. Other businesses pay less 
for more serious violations while having a 
greater ability to pay. Vendors are entry-level 
small business owners who cannot absorb 
fines as a cost of business. The city should 
reduce fines to pre-2005 amounts – a level that 
deters violations but doesn’t put vendors out 
of business. 

3 .  R E D U C E  T H E  F I N E S

Vending regulation is a patchwork of policies 
from the last hundred years that both vendors 
and the police find hard to understand. The 
official rulebook is a series of photocopied and 
unformatted excerpts from the city code – rough 
going, even for native English speakers. As a 
consequence, vendors who want to follow the 
rules often get tickets for violations they don’t 
understand, and police who want to enforce the 
rules often give tickets for violations that don’t 
exist. To increase compliance, the City should 
simplify vendor regulation and create a new 
rulebook that clearly explains the rules in English 
and a few of the many languages vendors speak.

4 .  R E F O R M  
A D M I N I S T R AT I O N  
A N D  E N F O R C E M E N T

It’s virtually impossible to get a vending license 
in New York City because of strict caps, or limits, 
placed on the number of vendors in the 1970s 
and ‘80s. The estimated wait for a general 
vending license is several decades. By setting 
the caps far below vendor supply and public 
demand, the City unintentionally creates a 
thriving and exploitative black market for permits 
and licenses. Legal vendors have to buy licenses 
from illegal middlemen at exorbitant prices. 
Other vendors are driven underground, where 
they’re unlicensed and unregulated. To bring 
vendors into the legal mainstream, the City 
should raise the caps to realistic levels and 
crack down on the black market in licenses 
and permits. 

1 .  L I F T  T H E  C A P S

C O S T  O F  F O O D  V E N D I N G  P E R M I T

F R O M  T H E  C I T Y

( D E P E N D I N G
O N  S E A S O N A L
V S .  F U L L -T E R M ,
T Y P E  O F  C A R T )

O N  T H E  B L A C K  M A R K E T

$15 - 200

$6000 - 8000

2 .  I N C R E A S E  
S T R E E T  A C C E S S

Vendors need foot traffic to survive, but waves 
of street restrictions have forced them farther 
away from the areas of the city that can support 
them. Pressure from merchant associations in 
the 1970s and Business Improvement Districts 
(BIDs) in later decades led to widespread 
restrictions, and Mayor Rudolph Giuliani made 
street restrictions a centerpiece of his “quality 
of life” campaign. Even on open streets, complex 
rules make it difficult to legally vend. The City 
should review street closings according to set 
criteria and rescind restrictions not founded in 
legitimate concerns about safety and street 
congestion. It should also simplify time-of-day 
restrictions to make them easier for vendors to 
understand and follow.

T H E  W I L D  W E B  O F  S T R E E T  R E S T R I C T I O N S

C O M PA R I S O N  O F  F I N E S

$1000
M A X I M U M

F I N E

M A X I M U M

F I N E

V E N D O R
V I O L AT I O N

T I C K E T

$100

S I D E WA L K-
B L O C K I N G  T I C K E T  

F O R  S T O R E S

SALE

?

V E N D O R

C O U R T H O U S E

N E W
L I C E N S E

C I T Y  
L I C E N S I N G

C E N T E R

S TAT E  TA X
A U T H O R I T I E S

L O G
( O P T I O N A L )

C I T Y  TA X
A U T H O R I T I E S

S T E P S  T O  R E N E W  YO U R  L I C E N S E

L I S T E N I N G  T O  H I S  I N N E R  V E N D O R  

As a youth, Mayor 
David Dinkins 
(1990-1993) was an 
unlicensed vendor in 
Harlem. He proposed 
raising the license 
caps and increasing 
vending enforcement. 
After an attempt to

ban vendors from 125th Street in 1993 led 
to large protests, the mayor refrained from 
further restrictions. 

3 5 T H  S T

8
T

H
 A

V
E

7
T

H
 A

V
E

3 4 T H  S T

3 3 R D  S T

M-Su 7am-7pm

M-Su 8-7 M-Sa 8-7

All times

M-Su 8-6

M-Su 8-6

M-Su 8-9,4-6

M-Su 8-7

M-Su 8-7

M-Su 7-7

M
-S

u
 7

-7

M
-S

a
 8

-7

M
-S

a
 8

-1
2

M
-S

a
 6

-1
1

M
-S

a
 6

-1
1

M
-S

a
 8

-1
2

M
-S

a
 8

-6
M

-S
a

 6
-1

1

M
-S

u
 7

-6

A
ll 

ti
m

e
s

M
-S

u
 7

-6

F O O D  V E N D O R S

G E N E R A L  V E N D O R S

F I R S T  A M E N D M E N T  V E N D O R S

V E T E R A N  V E N D O R S

P E R M I T T E D  V E N D I N G  T I M E S

$65
M A X I M U M

F I N E

PA R K I N G
T I C K E T

1925 2005

E T H N I C  B A C KG R O U N D  O F  

V E N D O R S  I N  

L O W E R  M A N H AT TA N

J E W I S H
72%

B A N G L A D E S H I
18%

U . S . - B O R N
17%

C H I N E S E
16%

S E N E G A L E S E
16%

A F G H A N
12%

E G Y P T I A N
5%

O T H E R

12%

C A R R I B E A N
4%

I TA L I A N
22%

G E R M A N ,
R U S S I A N ,
S PA N I S H ,

I R I S H ,
“ N E G R O  

O R
M U L AT T O ”

6%
( A L M O S T  A L L

WA R  V E T E R A N S )

R. I. P.
A

L O V I N G
C A R T

N U M B E R  O F  V E N D O R S

 F O O D  V E N D O R S G E N E R A L  V E N D O R S U N L I C E N S E D  V E N D O R S

C O M M O N  I T E M S  S O L D C O M M O N  I T E M S  S O L D

Only 3,000 2-year food vending permits 
are available. The average wait time to 
receive one is 5-10 years.

Hot dogs, coffee, fruit, ice cream, donuts, 
bagels, burritos, falafel, halal, tamales, 
arepas, dosas, roasted nuts, pretzels

T-shirts, hand bags, watches, scarves, 
gloves, belts, neckties, perfume, 
umbrellas, cell phone accessories

Books, newspapers, CDs, DVDs, 
paintings, photographs, handmade 
crafts and jewelry, items with political 
messages

The City of New York has capped the 
number of general vending licenses at 
853 (excluding veteran vendors). The 
waiting list for licenses has been closed 
since 1992.

Since 1982, vendors who sell expressive 
material are protected by the First 
Amendment and do not need a license. 
There are around 1,000 First Amendment 
vendors. 

Under New York state law, honorably 
discharged U.S. military veterans may 
receive a general vending license 
despite the 853-cap. There were 1704 
veteran vendors on record in 2005. 

N U M B E R  O F  V E N D O R S

F I R S T  A M E N D M E N T  V E N D O R S V E T E R A N  V E N D O R S

C O M M O N  I T E M S  S O L D C O M M O N  I T E M S  S O L D C O M M O N  I T E M S  S O L D

Anything from the previous categories: 
umbrellas, tamales, ice cream, hand 
bags, scarves, watches, perfume, DVDs

N U M B E R  O F  V E N D O R SN U M B E R  O F  V E N D O R S

There are perhaps 6,000 unlicensed vendors 
(nobody really knows). Only half of vendors 
are licensed due to license caps.

N U M B E R  O F  V E N D O R S

BUT WAIT!
T H E R E ’ S

A L S O

D E F I N E S

V E N D O R S

FOUR
T H E  C I T Y

T Y P E S  O F
Anything from the General Vendor 
category: gloves, neckties, cell phone 
accessories, scarves, t-shirts, hand bags, 
watches, belts, perfume, umbrellas 

Too many sources were used to squeeze into this space. For a list of sources please visit The Street Vendor Project website at www.streetvendor.org.

I sell hot dogs and pretzels in front of 2 Lafayette Street. I moved here 
from Bangladesh in 1991 and I have been a street vendor for 17 
years. I love it but this is not easy. I haven’t gotten a ticket in three 
years, but before that I got around 100 tickets. One time I got a ticket 
because my jacket covered my license. And then I have to pay a 
$1000 fine. Do you have $1000 in your pocket? You don’t have it! I 
don’t have it! This is a small business. I sell 20 hot dogs a day. This 
hand makes money and the other hand finishes it very fast. How do 
they think I can give so much?

H I ,  I ’ M  M U N N U  D E WA N

I’m here at 55th Street and I sell handbags. If it’s very cold, I sell scarves and 
gloves. But that job is not easy. My family is in Africa. I send some back to 
them. If I have anything, I send $100, $150, but it’s not enough for my family.  
My wife, my children, my mother is over there. Working outside is very hard. I 
wear jackets, gloves, and three pairs of pants. Sometimes I can only stay out 
here for 4 or 5 hours. I'm going to finish this for this month and see. If it’s not 
good after this month, I'm going to stop and give the city my license back. 
Maybe I could drive a taxi or get a job in a restaurant. I have no other 
possibilities. I don't want to stay at home.

H I ,  I ’ M  M O R  D I O P

I sell paintings in Times Square on 52nd and 7th Ave. I came here from Qingdao, 
China and I’ve lived in the U.S. for six years. I’ve been vending for five. I enjoy 
vending because it allows work when I want, which you can’t do working at a 
restaurant. It is also good for my husband who for health reasons cannot work 
another job. The trouble with the job is the way the police bother me and the tickets 
they give. Sometimes they say my display is too high, sometimes they say I am too 
far from the curb. They say all kinds of things, but I know the law, and I know that 
everything I’m doing is exactly right! When I am not vending I like traveling - San 
Francisco and Las Vegas are two of my favorite spots. [Translated from Mandarin] 

H I ,  I ’ M  X I A N  L I N G  D O N G

On the street they call me Mr. B or Mr. Bert. That’s because I’m 73 and a disabled war 
veteran and they show some respect. I started vending when my printing business went 
bankrupt after 9/11. I sell neckties, perfume, scarves in winter. A lot of people come to New 
York strictly because of the street vendors. They can get things here that they can’t get other 
places. The police don’t know the rules. The book is written in such a way that everybody 
scratches their heads and wonders what they’re talking about. Sometimes the police will 
take your merchandise away, and they move it around - downtown, to Brooklyn, to Queens - 
and no one’s keeping track. It took me three days of constant calling to track down my 
merchandise, and I was shown not guilty. But it took three days and I lost a lot of money.

H I ,  I ’ M  B E R T  S T E I N

I couldn’t find a job when I moved here from Mexico four years ago, so I 
make tamales, arroz con leche, and champurrado like I did in Morelos, 
where I’m from. I start cooking at 2 a.m., and head out at 6 a.m. I’m 
selling in the cold, in the heat, everyday by the hospital at East 149th in 
the Bronx. The doctors and nurses get off the bus or pull over in the car 
to get one. I sell about 60 a day, sometimes 50, sometimes 70, enough to 
send some money to my mother in Morelos. I have a cooler, so the police 
watch me and make me move sometimes. But if I’m not here my clients 
start to call me! [Translated from Spanish] 

H I ,  I ’ M  R A FA E L A  M E N D O Z A  S A N TA N A



MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  June 23, 2021 

TO:  City Commission and Thomas M. Markus 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek   

SUBJECT:  Performance Evaluation of City Manager 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND: 

• An Employment Agreement was reached between Thomas M. Markus and the Birmingham
City Commission on November 25, 2020, with a commencement date of January 1, 2021.
Pursuant to paragraph 1 of the Agreement, the Employee, Thomas M. Markus, requests
a review by the City Commission to determine if the City Manager is fulfilling the
expectations of the City Commission.

LEGAL REVIEW: 

• The Employee is requesting his performance evaluation to be conducted in a closed
session, which is permissible under MCL §15.268(a):

 “ (a) To consider the dismissal, suspension, or disciplining of, or to 
hear complaints or charges brought against, or to consider a 
periodic personnel evaluation of, a public officer, employee, staff 
member, or individual agent, if the named person requests a closed 
hearing.” 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

• NONE

SUMMARY: 

• The City Manager is requesting a performance evaluation to be conducted in a closed
session as allowable pursuant to the OMA.

ATTACHMENTS: 

• NONE

7E



SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
 

•  It is, therefore, RESOLVED the City Commission shall meet in closed session pursuant to 
the OMA at MCL §15.268(a) for a performance evaluation of Mr. Markus at Mr. Markus’ 
request that such performance evaluation be held in closed session. 



Subm
itted by Brad H

ost

10B1











1 

MEMORANDUM 

Fire Department 

DATE: June 8, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Paul A. Wells, Fire Chief 

SUBJECT: Return to in-person City Commission and Board meetings 

It is anticipated that current MDHHS orders that restrict indoor capacities to 50% will be lifted on 
July 1st, 2021.  With this change in MDHHS orders, the City will no longer be able to operate 
under the public health emergency declared at the regular March 22nd, 2021 Commission meeting. 
With the emergency declaration expiring, all City Commission and Board members must meet in 
person beginning July 1st, 2021 unless they attend virtually due to active military duty or have a 
medical condition. “Medical condition” means an illness, injury, disability, or health-related 
condition. MCL 15.263(12)(b) 

In order to provide a safe environment for Board members, visitors, and constituents, a hybrid 
in-person/virtual option for the public attendees will be allowed under the amended Open 
Meetings Act (OMA) Public Act 254 of 2020.  While Commission and Board members will meet in 
person, a virtual option will also be available to the public since the OMA regulates the body, not 
the public at large. The virtual option will be provided to help reduce the volume of people inside 
meeting rooms at any given time.  This option will allow individuals and staff members to attend 
and participate in meetings offsite, if they so choose. Additionally, the following precautions and 
procedures will be put into place in the City Commission and conference rooms to ensure a safe 
environment and to adhere to Public Act 254 requirements. 

 According to Public Act 254, “For each member of the public body attending the meeting
remotely, a public announcement at the outset of the meeting by that member, to be
included in the meeting minutes, that the member is in fact attending remotely.”  Unless
on active military duty, a virtual attending member must identify their physical location.

 Signs will be posted at the doors of the Commission and conference rooms to have all
non-vaccinated attendees wear a CDC approved face mask.

 Signs will be posted at the doors of the Commission and conference rooms to remind
attendees not to enter if they are exhibiting any COVID-19 symptoms.

 HVAC controls will be set to circulate air continuously and portable air purifiers will be
placed in the Commission and conference rooms to help clean and circulate room air.

 Signs will be placed on seats in the Commission room to ask participants to maintain social
distance.

 The City Commission room will be cleaned before and after any meeting with an
electrostatic sprayer using an EPA approved solution.

Although COVID-19 numbers are currently low, the possibility of an uptick of cases is likely as 
MDHHS orders are rescinded and variants of COVID-19 are detected.  We will continue to monitor 
the infection rate and make any appropriate changes. 

10E1



10E2













MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  June 23, 2021 

TO:  City Commission and Thomas M. Markus 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek   

SUBJECT: City Commission Vote Revisited 

INTRODUCTION: 

• The question is whether a motion that was made, seconded and voted upon by the City
Commission may be revisited and changed at a later date.

LEGAL REVIEW: 

• In general, there are three (3) ways for the Commission to change a decision made in the
past.  Generally speaking, there are three (3) different motions according to Roberts Rules
to accomplish such a change:

I. Reconsider.  A motion to reconsider must be made on the same day as 
the meeting on which the motion was decided and has to be made by a 
person who voted on the prevailing side.  This prevents someone on the 
losing side from bringing up a motion over and over just to annoy.    

II. Motion to Rescind. A motion to rescind is used to cancel a previous
motion altogether. Without prior notice on an agenda, a motion to rescind
(cancel a motion) requires two-thirds of the Commission to vote in the
affirmative to pass a motion to rescind.  However, if notice is given, that is
named on an agenda, so that all parties are aware the issue may be
discussed again, then a simple majority is needed to rescind a prior motion.
The way it would work is that someone would make a motion to rescind
the prior motion, then it must be seconded, and then a vote taken.  If the
super majority agree, then the prior motion is canceled.

III. Motion to amend something previously adopted.  This motion is
used to make a change to a motion by either making a simple verbiage
change or substituting something else in its place.  This motion must be
seconded, debatable and requires two-thirds of the Commission to vote in
the affirmative to pass.

10E3



FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

• None 
 
SUMMARY: 
 

• If a complete change from a prior motion is desired, the appropriate motion will be a 
motion to rescind with a two-third majority vote to pass. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

•  None 
 
 
 



10E4

















1 

MEMORANDUM 

Finance Department 

DATE: June 16, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Gerber, Director of Finance/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: Parking Structure Debt 

Per your directive regarding how the City’s 5 decks were financed, below is a summary of what I 
was able to find. 

N. Old Woodward – Revenue Bonds 
Pierce – General Obligation Bonds 
Park – General Obligation Bonds 
Peabody – General Obligation Bonds 
Chester – General Obligation Bonds 

When it comes to financing a parking structure there are 3 options available:  General Obligation 
– Unlimited Tax, General Obligation Limited Tax, and Revenue.

Both types of general obligation bonds pledge a City’s full-faith and credit to repay the bond.  
With unlimited tax general obligation bonds, the City may levy taxes up to 100% of the annual 
debt service to pay the bonds without statutory limits (debt levy).  These bonds must be approved 
by the voters.  With limited tax general obligation bonds, the City may levy taxes up to its statutory 
limit to repay the bonds (operating levy) and doesn’t need the approval of the voters.   In both 
cases, taxes don’t have to be levied if there are sufficient other revenue streams to pay for the 
debt service.   

Revenue bonds are pledged by the revenue generated by a particular source of income.  In this 
particular case, it would be revenues of the parking system.  There would be bond covenants 
which would require the City to set aside assets in escrow to ensure that the annual debt service 
will be paid. 

When the bonds are sold in the market, the interest rate of the bonds is determined by the credit 
rating of the City and the type of bond it is.  Safer bonds, such as general obligation bonds which 
pledge tax revenue, will have a lower interest rate than revenue bonds which are pledged by 
revenues.  Even among revenue bonds there will generally be a difference in interest rates 
between safer essential service revenue bonds such as water and sewer bonds and non-essential 
revenues bonds such as parking improvement bonds.    

The City has chosen to use general obligations bonds in the past (except for N. Old Woodward) 
in order to get the lowest interest rate.  I’m not aware of any situation where the City had to ever 
levy property taxes to pay for the annual debt service of any general obligation parking 
improvement bond.     

10E5



CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

June 2021 

Baldwin Public Library 

The Library is open for Curbside Pickup and visits of any length, seven days a week. Virtual 

programs for all ages are ongoing. Room rentals will resume July 19. Baldwin's annual summer 

reading program is running now through August 8. Library patrons can now check out free day 

passes to the Oakland County MetroParks; visit www.baldwinlib.org/michigan to check out and 

download the pass. At the Library Board meeting on June 21, the Library Board voted to 

approve a new policy that will eliminate all overdue fines for patrons. Director Rebekah Craft 

will be issuing an RFP for architectural services for Phase 3 of the Library's Building project on 

June 22 via MITN. All library staff are undergoing performance evaluations with their 

supervisors during the month of June. Staff will receive merit-based pay increases on July 1. 

The Birmingham Museum 

With the easing of the pandemic, the museum has developed a phased approach to reopening. 

As of July 1, the museum’s Allen and Hunter Houses will be open to the public Tuesday through 

Friday from 1 to 4 p.m. The museum’s 2020 exhibit, “Beyond Suffrage: Empowering the 

Women of Birmingham” will be extended through 2021 due to its premature closure last year. 

This exhibit explores some of the groundbreaking women who have contributed to 

Birmingham’s story and to the larger community, including early pioneer sisters, suffragists and 

activists, politicians, aviators and even an astronaut, among many others. The Friday Porch Pop 

Ups will continue through September 30 and are free to the public. After Labor Day, the 

museum will return to its normal operating hours of Tuesday through Saturday from 1 to 4 

p.m., and first Thursday of the month until 8 p.m.

Birmingham Shopping District 

 The Birmingham Shopping District would like to welcome the following new businesses
that have opened in the last eight weeks: Mandy Rose Makeup, the Birmingham Pub,
Area Rugs, the Claymore Shop (new ownership), Beauty Fusion Aesthetics and the
Daxton Hotel! The BSD continues to work hard to attract new businesses and innovative
concepts to our downtown.

 We are pleased to welcome Alex Pedersen as the new Market Manager of the
Birmingham Farmers Market and Claire Galli as the new Office and Events Assistant.

10E6

http://www.baldwinlib.org/michigan


 Movie nights are returning to Booth Park. The next Movie Night will feature the movie 
Elf on the evening of Friday, July 16th at 7:30 p.m. The movie Cars will be featured on 
Friday August 13th at 7:30 p.m. in Booth Park. 

 Day on the Town, Birmingham’s biggest annual retail event, is scheduled for Saturday, 
July 31st from 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. The deadline for businesses to register to 
participate is July 9th. Registration forms can be found at allinbirmingham.com. 

Building Department 

 

 The Building Department’s monthly report provides an update on the following 

construction activity: building permits issued, building inspections conducted, trades 

permits issued and trades inspections conducted. 

 Andrew Erickson was just appointed to the Zoning Board of Appeals by the City of 

Beverly Hills. 

 

 Patty Curtis, Code Assistance Officer, received her International Code Council Property 

Maintenance and Housing Inspector Certification! 

 

 In our continuing efforts to improve construction site safety and address concerns from 

the public, the Building Department has implemented a new policy regarding 

construction inspections.  Inspectors will no longer conduct inspections on a project if 

their site is not in compliance.  For example, if a site is determined to have construction 

fencing violations, the inspection will be cancelled and Code Assistance will be notified. 

 

 In May we processed 365 online permit applications, bringing our total to 1,819 online 

permits for 2021. 

 

City Clerk’s Office 

Recognition of Staff 
The City Clerk’s Office would like to welcome our newly appointed Deputy Clerk Jessica 
Schaffner. Jessica comes to Birmingham after serving in the clerk’s offices of Shelby 
Charter Township and the City of Eastpointe for the past 13 years. Jessica is passionate 
about election administration and keeping records organized.  
 
Elections 
Candidate filing packets for the November 2, 2021 election are available at the Clerk’s 
office for anyone who is interested in running for City Commission or the Library Board. 
The Clerk's office will send confirmation letters to past election inspectors in August, 
recruit additional workers in September, and train all election inspectors in October in 
preparation for the election on November 2, 2021.  
 
Greenwood Cemetery  
Future Agenda Topics for Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 
July 9 - Meeting in-person at City Hall 

http://allinbirmingham.com/
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/CONSTRUCTION%20ACTIVITY.pdf


 Continued discussion on updating the rules and regulations for Greenwood 
Cemetery 

August 6 - Meeting in-person at City Hall 
 Selection of chair and co-chair 
 Draft annual report for Greenwood Cemetery 
 Continued discussion on updating the rules and regulations for Greenwood 

Cemetery 
 
Board Vacancies & Upcoming Appointments  
There are upcoming board appointments in July and August for the following Boards: 
-Historic District Study Committee 
-Hearing Officer 
-Retirement Board 
-Museum Board 
-Greenwood Cemetery Board 

 

City Manager’s Office 

Communications 

Summer Newsletter 
Residents will receive the newly reformatted summer newsletter in their mailboxes this 
week. We are happy to announce the newsletter has been renamed “The Birmingham Beat” 
following a survey on Engage Birmingham in which more than 150 people participated. This 
edition features information about the upcoming election, fireworks ordinance, Mental 
Health Co-Responder Program, the 2020 Consumers Annual Report on Water Quality, 
summer property tax reminders, upcoming events and more. 
 

Human Resources 
 

Assistant City Manager 
This week the Human Resources Department has been conducting phase one interviewing 
of qualified candidates for the Assistant City Manager position.  At the completion of these 
interviews early next week, a recommendation will be made to the City Manager who will 
review the recorded Zoom interviews and decide on who he will move forward.   
 
Human Resources Generalist 
Sarah Mistretta began working as Human Resources (HR) Generalist for the City's HR 
Department on June 14. Sarah most recently worked for Redford Township and the City of 
Centerline, both within their Human Resources departments, where she handled all aspects. 
Highly educated, Sarah has completed her SHRM-CP, designating herself as a professional 
in the field of HR. Outside of work, Sarah carries many other responsibilities including the 
care of her children and Firefighter, as well as working with multiple volunteering efforts 
and non-profit organizations.   

 
Parking System Manager and Elevator Services 
The City created an RFP for elevator services and three bidders submitted proposals.  There 
were significant differences in these bids which will require a greater level of due diligence 



by staff to assure that we are going to get the level of service and response times that we 
expect.  With that being said, the City is currently advertising for a Parking System Manager 
who will oversee the City's five (5) municipal parking systems, three (3) surface lots, and 
numerous metered parking spaces. Therefore, it makes sense to have the experience of this 
new hire to conduct this due diligence, and the fact that the bids are good for 120 days, we 
will continue to use the current provider, KONE Inc. on a monthly basis until the bid is 
awarded by the end of September. The Parking System Manager position has been 
advertised in the appropriate publications to recruit for this specialized position. The closing 
date is July 2 and interviews will begin immediately. Once that person is hired they will 
focus immediately on the review of License Plate Recognition technology and plan for 
bidding, purchasing, installation and implementation. 
 
Miscellaneous 
 
Request for Qualifications for Legal Services 
A Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for legal services will be issued on July 7, 2021. 
Proposals will be solicited for the purpose of entering into a retainer agreement for full 
service legal representation covering the entire scope of the city’s municipal affairs including 
prosecution in District Court with the exception of labor relations and bond counsel.    
 
South Oakland County Mayors Association Meetings 
The South Oakland County Mayors Association (SOCMA) will resume its monthly dinner 
meetings in September 2021. The first meeting will be hosted by Troy on September 15, 
2021. Birmingham will host SOCMA’s January 12, 2022 meeting along with Berkley, Beverly 
Hills, Lathrup Village, and Royal Oak Township. A complete list of meeting dates can be 
found here.  

 
MIDC Compliance Plan and Cost Analysis Renewal - FY 2022 
The City recently received the following letter regarding the approval of the Michigan 
Indigent Defense Commission (MIDC) Compliance Plan and Cost Analysis. 
 
06/21/2021 
 
City of Birmingham 
152 Martin Street 
2nd Floor 
Birmingham, MI 48009 
 
Dear Stephanie Achenbach, 
 
Please be advised that the Michigan Indigent Defense Commission (MIDC) has reviewed the 
compliance plan and cost analysis submitted by your system. This letter shall serve as 
official notice that the plan and cost analysis submitted by your system has been approved 
by the MIDC. 
 
We are in the process of submitting financial estimates and related information to the 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs and the State Budget Office to secure 
funding to distribute through a grant for the approved cost analysis. See MCL 780.993(7). 

https://bhamgov.applicantpro.com/jobs/1838545.html
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/Final%20-%20Request%20for%20Qualifications-%20legal%20services%20062321.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/Socma%20dinner%20schedule%20for%202021-22.pdf


After your system receives funding it will have 180 days to comply with the MIDC's 
standards pursuant to the terms of the approval plan, cost analysis, and grant provisions. 
See MCL 780.993(10); 780.997. 
 
The legislative budget process for FY2022 is ongoing.  Upon approval of a final budget by 
the legislature and Governor, we will advise regarding distribution of a grant to your system. 
In the meantime, if you have any questions, please feel free to contact your Regional 
Manager, Nicole Smithson at (586) 638-6546 or by email at SmithsonN@michigan.gov.  
 
Thank you very much for your cooperation with this process. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Loren  E. Khogali 
Executive Director 

 

Department of Public Services 

 

Barnum Park Trees 
Over the last 2-3 growing seasons, we have lost 41 trees at Barnum Park.  A total tree count 
of 384 trees were inventoried at Barnum in 2016.  While 41 dead trees does appear to be a 
significant loss, it computes to about a 5% per year loss if you figure 20-21 trees per year 
over 2 years.  Still, it is significant compared to previous years, and we have been investigating 
why this may be the case.  We did not remove the 20 or so from last year, as the arborist's 
initial assessment was frost damage and that the trees may recover. 
 
Upon review this season by City Staff, the City's contract arborist, a plant health care 
technician from JH Hart, and the invasive species removal contractor Cardno, I provide the 
following information.  The dead trees are from various planting periods and are scattered 
throughout different areas of the 9-acre park.  Some contributing factors are the result of no 
irrigation in some areas, frost damage during prime leaf bud season, some herbicide damage 
in the native prairie areas and bad soil conditions in parts of the park areas. 
 
The good news is since the plant health care professionals and certified arborists have actively 
been involved with this, a plan is in place.  The action plan will include amending the soil with 
micronutrients twice a year for the new trees and existing tree locations where needed.  We 
will start to remove the dead trees as soon as feasible and spend time on improving the soils.  
New plantings will occur as part of the fall planting program, as this is the next best-
recommended time to plant trees. 
 
Kenning Park 
Birmingham Little League (BLL) approached the City requesting we start working on the 
improvements to the remaining two (2) fields at Kenning Park during 2022.  BLL heard they 
would be hosting the 2023 Michigan Little League Minors State Tournament at Kenning Park.  
The 2019 Parks and Recreation project priority list took into account all capital projects from 
community outreach, polls/surveys including the 2018-2022 Parks and from Recreation Master 
Plan.  The project line-up is based on a variety of variables including whether concept plans 



were prepared for various parks, the age of equipment at parks and other areas needs in 
order to determine sequencing of community-wide projects. 
 
The Kenning Park capital projects listed in the Parks and Recreation Master Plan includes a 
phased implementation of the ball fields, which occurred during 2019 and 2020.  The 
remaining two ball fields and other elements of the concept plan will be in the later phase of 
the Parks and Recreation Bond issue. 
 
Projects listed in Schedule 1 of the bond issue are either underway or will be planned, 
designed and/or developed during 2021 – 2024.  These include the Birmingham Ice Arena, 
Adams Park, Pickleball Court selection, Rouge River Trail Improvements and the Booth Park 
Corner Feature. 
 
We do, however, anticipate beginning design, preparing specifications and bidding out 
projects before the Schedule 2 bond issuance occurs.  This way we will be able to hit the 
ground running with the expected projects for the projected period of 2024 – 2027. 
 
Therefore, we informed BLL these fields are not scheduled at this time, nor did the City 
anticipate returning to Kenning Park for additional improvements before other projects were 
completed or got off the ground.  The Donation Agreement between the City and BLL from 
2017 applied only to the two newly constructed fields at Kenning Park. 
 
Ice Arena Project Budget and Change Order (adds and credits) Status 
The Commission approved the $5,797,606.00 Ice Arena Renovation/Addition Project Budget 
on 4-12-21.  This figure included the following items: 
 

1. The General Contracting award to C.E. Gleeson Constructors, Inc. for $4,891,200.00. 
 

2. Professional fees/soft cost budget for $515,110.00 (Note: included in this approved 
budget is a $391,296.00 owner-controlled contingency) 

 

Plante Moran Cresa and the Project Team budgeted and procured contracts outside of the 
C.E. Gleeson’s engagement for civil engineering, material testing, technology/PA/sound, 
environmental consulting and abatement. This will allow for a reduced project cost and create 
independence with their engagement. As these engagements have been “bought out”, 
adjustments have been made from budgeted to actual costs. It is important to note that all 
of these engagements were part of the Commissioner approved professional fees/soft cost 
budget listed above. 
 

With input from the design and engineering professionals, Plante Moran Cresa and the Project 
Team have been pursuing several value-engineering items to help reduce overall project cost 
without jeopardizing quality.  As of June 22, 2021, there have been thirteen change order 
adds and credits that have been executed all within the approved budget. These changes are 
a result of unforeseen conditions or value added adjustments. DTE is requiring the City to 
change the primary electrical line servicing the arena from their existing shorter, older utility 
pole to their newer higher pole installed by DTE approximately three years ago.  Boring a new 
underground primary to connect to the new DTE pole located on Lincoln will cost 
$73,079.09.  The current primary line is original and was installed when the arena was built 



in 1972. This primary is housed in galvanized conduit and is only +/-18” below grade. The 
new primary will be installed in 4” PVC conduit at a depth of at least 36” below grade to meet 
current DTE requirements. 
 

The party room addition in the front of the Ice Arena (northwest corner) needed to shift 
westerly due to the existing water main running beneath the easterly edge of the proposed 
new room.  A change order for Andrus Architecture to make document adjustments for this 
was for $7,800.00. 
 
The Project Team also decided to have new bleachers installed rather than modify the existing 
bleachers which will provide the following benefits: 1) meet current ADA requirements for 
wheelchair viewing areas, 2) eliminate issues with modifying the existing bleacher system to 
conform with the new configuration, 3) color code the new bleachers with the proposed arena 
paint scheme 4) reduce project schedule risk. 
 

The forecasted remaining project contingency items include a mechanical equipment credit, 
exterior painting and budgeted G2 material testing. This will provide an owner controlled 
contingency balance of $264,940.  See the current Ice Sports Arena Renovations/Additions 
project budget.   
 
The Project Team, with the help of Plante Moran Cresa, is doing everything possible to stay 
on time and under budget. Unused contingency will be returned to the City for other Parks 
and Recreation project initiatives.  Adjustments have been made to address supply change 
issues due to the COVID pandemic that have affected this renovation project. Value 
engineering and budget adjustments will continue during the construction process to account 
for material availability and delivery issues the General Contractor is encountering during this 
project build. 
 

Engineering Department 

The 2020 Drinking Water Consumer Confidence Report is being distributed with the summer 

newsletter, and can be found online at www.bhamgov.org/waterqualityreport. The City's 

engineering consultant, HRC, will be completing road condition ratings in the upcoming weeks 

for all City streets, including those considered to be unimproved. Look for an update on 

conditions and preliminary findings later this summer. 

Finance Department 

Retirement Investment Consultant 

At a special meeting of the Birmingham Retirement Board and Retiree Health Care Investment 

Committee on June 23rd, the respective boards decided unanimously to award the investment 

consultant contract to Captrust Financial Advisors.     

This decision culminates a process which took over nine months to complete and several 

meetings of the Retirement Investment Committee to develop the RFP, review responses, 

interview candidates and make a recommendation all while working under COVID restrictions. 

Captrust Financial Advisors was selected because of their approach to managing portfolios like 

Birmingham's.  As one of the largest independent investment advisory firms in the country, they 

https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/DRAFT%20-%20Bham%20Project%20Budget%206-22-21.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/DRAFT%20-%20Bham%20Project%20Budget%206-22-21.pdf
http://www.bhamgov.org/waterqualityreport


bring extensive knowledge of managing portfolios with the size and characteristics of 

Birmingham's.  After identifying Captrust Financial Advisors as the preferred contractor, we 

were able to successfully negotiate a fee from $115,000 originally down to $90,000 ($60,000 

for retirement and $30,000 for retiree health care).  This is approximately the same amount we 

are currently paying and less than what we would have paid in fiscal year 2021-2022.  This fee 

is fixed for three years with an inflationary increase after that. 

Fire Department 

The Fire Department would like to thank Alexis and James Goldberg for donating their house on 

Shirley Drive for training.  The Fire Department will be able to perform simulated fire and 

rescue operations at the home prior to demolition.  Artificial training smoke will be used to 

create a realistic, yet safe, atmosphere.  In the last three months, the Fire Department has 

hired five new Firefighters and this wonderful donation provides a unique training opportunity 

that will aid in growing their competencies.  

Planning Department 

Birmingham is fortunate to have many residents actively engaged in the activities and issues that 

we face as a community, including volunteer participation on our numerous boards and 

committees.  This commitment to serve the community comes with the responsibility to serve the 

community in an inclusive, respectful and considerate manner in all dealings with applicants, 

residents and the general public.  All volunteers represent the City, and are encouraged to be 

mindful of their words and actions while engaged in public service, and to continuously strive to 

educate themselves on inclusivity, sensitivity and ethical matters.  To assist in these efforts, the 

attached letter will be distributed to all volunteers serving on a City board or commission. 

Police Department 

Great Lakes, High Stakes Campaign 
For the past two weeks, the police department participated in the  "Great Lakes, High 
Stakes" traffic enforcement campaign.  There has been a dramatic rise in speeds as well as 
fatal crashes since the pandemic began more than a year ago. State wide, preliminary crash 
data indicates 1,083 people died from crashes on Michigan roads in 2020, a ten percent 
increase over 2019, with 985 deaths reported.   The Office of Highway Safety Planning 
(OHSP) and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administrations Region 5 Office are 
partnering in a regional traffic safety campaign this summer called "Great Lakes, High 
Stakes". Speed enforcement was emphasized between June 19 and 27, 2021.   
 
Michigan Association of Chiefs of Police Department Accreditation Board  
The police department will go before the Michigan Association of Chiefs of Police 
Department Accreditation Board on Monday, June 28, 2021 for their final interview. Chief 
Clemence will call me on Monday with the results of that hearing.   

 
Future Agenda Items 
Download a summary of future agenda items. 
  
Future Workshop Items 
Download a summary of future workshop items. 

https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/Letter%20to%20All%20Boards%20-%20June%2023,%202021.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/Future%20Agenda%20Items%20June%202021.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/June%202021/Future%20Workshop%20Items%20June%202021%20rev.pdf


6/21/2021 City of Birmingham MI Mail - Township must pay $140K in legal fees on $500 verdict

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f%3A1703090125518827401&simpl=msg-f%3A17030901255… 1/2

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Township must pay $140K in legal fees on $500 verdict
4 messages

Brad Host <bhost@bhamgov.org> Sun, Jun 20, 2021 at 8:48 AM
To: Pierre Boutros <pboutros@bhamgov.org>, Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org>, City Commission <city-
commission@bhamgov.org>

FYI
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/michigan/2021/06/18/township-must-pay-140-k-legal-fees-500-verdict/
7749530002/

Sent from my iPhone

-- 
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/5CD1E517-
1E45-4ACC-90E1-D602A4213840%40bhamgov.org.

Brad Host <bhost@bhamgov.org> Sun, Jun 20, 2021 at 6:54 PM
To: City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

FYI
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/michigan/2021/06/18/township-must-pay-140-k-legal-fees-500-verdict/
7749530002/

Sent from my iPhone

-- 
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/91664FC3-
3A04-4407-BF81-C2A29A065F54%40bhamgov.org.

Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> Mon, Jun 21, 2021 at 9:16 AM
To: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>
Cc: City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org>, DepartmentHeads <departmentheads@bhamgov.org>

Alex:  Please add to next info only 
[Quoted text hidden]

Clinton Baller <clinton@baller4bham.com> Mon, Jun 21, 2021 at 9:43 AM
To: Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org>
Cc: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Tom,

Some context is appropriate. In this case, the details of the Brawl at City Hall are entertaining as well as enlightening. 

Link and attachment are identical, I think. 

https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2/?PHONE_NUMBER_GROUP=P

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/michigan/2021/06/18/township-must-pay-140-k-legal-fees-500-verdict/7749530002/
mailto:city-commission%2Bunsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/5CD1E517-1E45-4ACC-90E1-D602A4213840%40bhamgov.org
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/michigan/2021/06/18/township-must-pay-140-k-legal-fees-500-verdict/7749530002/
mailto:city-commission%2Bunsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/91664FC3-3A04-4407-BF81-C2A29A065F54%40bhamgov.org
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2/?PHONE_NUMBER_GROUP=P


6/21/2021 City of Birmingham MI Mail - Township must pay $140K in legal fees on $500 verdict

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f%3A1703090125518827401&simpl=msg-f%3A17030901255… 2/2

cb

[Quoted text hidden]
[Quoted text hidden]
-- 
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/
CALPLqChpHcrFk8mvZLFMsqK3DVQtxG_vqe%3Dt9haLETOZW-XyHA%40mail.gmail.com.

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.pdf
164K

mailto:city-commission+unsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/CALPLqChpHcrFk8mvZLFMsqK3DVQtxG_vqe%3Dt9haLETOZW-XyHA%40mail.gmail.com?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=17a2ed02162e9f45&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=f_kq6o4iv40&safe=1&zw


 



Case No. 16-14060
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.
Decided Sep 17, 2019

Case No. 16-14060

09-17-2019

SHELLY COOK and CHRISTINA GIBBARD,
Plaintiffs, v. GREENLEAF TOWNSHIP, et al.,
Defendants.

HON. MARK A. GOLDSMITH

OPINION & ORDER GRANTING IN PART
CHRISTINA GIBBARD'S MOTION FOR
ATTORNEY FEES (Dkt. 94) AND DENYING
DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR ATTORNEY
FEES (Dkt. 96)

This matter is before the Court on Plaintiff
Christina Gibbard's motion for attorney fees (Dkt.
94) and Defendants Judy Keller, Randall Schuette,
and Rosie Quinn's motion for attorney fees (Dkt.
96). This case was tried in December 2018 on
Plaintiffs Shelly Cook's and Christina Gibbard's
claims of First Amendment retaliation, assault and
battery, and violations of Michigan's Open
Meetings Act ("OMA"). The jury found in
Plaintiffs' favor on the battery claims and in
Gibbard's favor on the OMA claim. For the
reasons discussed below, Gibbard's motion is
granted in part and Defendants' motion is denied.

I. BACKGROUND
The relevant background is set forth in full in this
Court's prior opinion. See 5/15/2018 Op. & Order
(Dkt. 45) (denying Defendants' motion for partial
summary judgment). In brief summary, since
2015, Cook and Gibbard have attended nearly
every Greenleaf Township board meeting and
planning commission meeting that has been held.

They have videotaped each meeting and have
provided public comment on issues and proposals
that are before the township. Keller *2  and
Schuette took actions against Cook and Gibbard
that gave rise to claims under the First
Amendment and the OMA. The matter proceeded
to trial, and a jury found that Keller and Schuette
did not retaliate against Cook and Gibbard in
violation of the First Amendment, but that they
did violate Gibbard's rights under the OMA. The
jury awarded Gibbard $250 in damages against
Keller and Schuette respectively, for a total of
$500. The parties have filed cross motions for
attorney fees—Keller and Schuette because they
prevailed on the First Amendment claims, and
Gibbard because she prevailed on the OMA claim.

2

II. LEGAL STANDARD
In the United States, under the "American Rule,"
each side in legal proceeding pays for its own
attorney fees. Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424,
429 (1983). The American Rule, however, has
numerous statutory exceptions, some, if not most,
of which Congress has enacted to encourage
private litigation to implement public policy.
Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co. v. Wilderness Soc'y,
421 U.S. 240, 263 (1975). This private-attorney-
general concept is often found in civil rights
statutes. For example, in civil rights actions
brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, courts are
authorized to allow "the prevailing party"
reasonable attorney fees as part of the costs. 42
U.S.C. § 1988(b). "The touchstone of the
prevailing party inquiry must be the material
alteration of the legal relationship of the parties in
a manner which Congress sought to promote in

1

https://casetext.com/case/hensley-v-eckerhart#p429
https://casetext.com/case/alyeska-pipeline-service-company-v-wilderness-society-8212-1977#p263
https://casetext.com/statute/united-states-code/title-42-the-public-health-and-welfare/chapter-21-civil-rights/subchapter-i-generally/section-1983-civil-action-for-deprivation-of-rights
https://casetext.com/statute/united-states-code/title-42-the-public-health-and-welfare/chapter-21-civil-rights/subchapter-i-generally/section-1988-proceedings-in-vindication-of-civil-rights


the fee statute." Texas State Teachers Ass'n v.
Garland Indep. Sch. Dist., 489 U.S. 782, 792-793
(1989).

III. DISCUSSION
There is no dispute that Defendants are the
prevailing parties on the First Amendment claims
and that Gibbard is the prevailing party on her
OMA claims. However, as explained below,
simply being a prevailing party does not
necessarily allow for attorney fees. Gibbard is
entitled to attorney fees; Defendants are not. *33

A. Defendants' Motion (Dkt. 96)

Defendants argue that as the prevailing parties on
the First Amendment retaliation claims, they
should be awarded attorney fees under § 1988. But
awarding attorney fees to prevailing defendants is
rare and reserved for particularly egregious cases,
which this case is not.

Section 1988 does not distinguish between
prevailing plaintiffs and prevailing defendants.
Nonetheless, courts recognize that there is a dual
standard. A prevailing plaintiff should "ordinarily
recover an attorney's fee unless special
circumstances would render such an award
unjust." Newman v. Piggie Park Enters., Inc., 390
U.S. 400, 402 (1968). This is so because "[i]f
successful plaintiffs were routinely forced to bear
their own attorneys' fees, few aggrieved parties
would be in a position to advance the public
interest." Id. "Congress therefore enacted the
provision for counsel fees—not simply to penalize
litigants who deliberately advance arguments they
know to be untenable but, more broadly, to
encourage individuals" to bring civil rights cases.
Id. 1

1 Cases that interpret an attorney fees

provision of one civil rights statute

generally apply to the attorney fees

provisions of all civil rights statutes, as

they are all generally modeled on the fee-

shifting provisions of the Civil Rights Act

of 1964. The Supreme Court has noted

"that fee-shifting statutes' similar language

is a 'strong indication' that they are to be

interpreted alike." Indep. Fed'n of Flight

Attendants v. Zipes, 491 U.S. 754, 758 n.2

(1989).

These same policy considerations, however, are
not present for the prevailing defendant.
Christiansburg Garment Co. v. Equal Emp't
Opportunity Comm'n, 434 U.S. 412, 419 (1978).
Prevailing defendants should recover fees only
upon a finding that "plaintiff's action was
frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation,
even though not brought in subjective bad faith."
Id. at 421; accord Wayne v. Village of Sebring, 36
F.3d 517, 530 (6th Cir. 1994). While Congress
wanted to clear the way for civil rights actions, it
also wanted to protect defendants from frivolous 
*4  litigation having no legal or factual basis.
Christiansburg, 434 U.S. at 420. Accordingly, "
[a]n award of attorney fees against a losing
plaintiff in a civil rights action 'is an extreme
sanction, and must be limited to truly egregious
cases of misconduct.'" Riddle v. Egensperger, 266
F.3d 542, 547 (6th Cir. 2001) (quoting Jones v.
Cont'l Corp., 789 F. 2d 1225, 1232 (6th Cir.
1986)).

4

Defendants argue that Gibbard's and Cook's First
Amendment claims are textbook examples of
frivolous, unreasonable, or without-foundation
claims. Mot. at 9. They rely heavily on Wolfe v.
Perry, 412 F.3d 707 (6th Cir. 2005), a case in
which the Sixth Circuit upheld the award of
attorney fees to the prevailing defendant. The
Court finds the case inapposite.

In Wolfe, the plaintiff knew from the outset of the
case that his Fourth Amendment claim that police
had illegally searched his home was frivolous,
because he neither owned nor resided at the home
that was searched. Id. at 721. Even after the
plaintiff admitted at his deposition that he neither
owned nor resided at the home, he continued with
his claim, which ultimately failed when the court
granted defendants' motion for summary
judgment. The Sixth Circuit found that the

2

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/case/texas-state-teachers-association-v-garland-independent-school-district#p792
https://casetext.com/case/newman-v-piggie-park-enterprises#p402
https://casetext.com/_print/doc/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2?_printIncludeHighlights=false&_printIncludeKeyPassages=false&_printIsTwoColumn=true&_printEmail=&_printHighlightsKey=#N196673
https://casetext.com/case/flight-attendants-v-zipes#p758
https://casetext.com/case/christiansburg-garment-co-v-eeoc#p419
https://casetext.com/case/wayne-v-village-of-sebring#p530
https://casetext.com/case/christiansburg-garment-co-v-eeoc#p420
https://casetext.com/case/riddle-v-egensperger#p547
https://casetext.com/case/jones-v-continental-corp#p1232
https://casetext.com/case/wolfe-v-perry
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


plaintiff's claim "was clearly defective at the
outset of the case" and was the type of egregious
claim warranting an attorney fees award to the
prevailing defendant. That is not the case here.

Gibbard's and Cook's First Amendment retaliation
claims had merit at the outset of this case. A
retaliation claim against a person acting under
state law has three elements: "(1) the plaintiff
engaged in protected conduct; (2) an adverse
action was taken against the plaintiff that would
deter a person of ordinary firmness from
continuing to engage in that conduct; and (3) there
is a causal connection between elements one and
two—that is, the adverse action was motivated at
least in part by the plaintiff's protected conduct."
Thaddeus-X v. Blatter, 175 F.3d 378, 394 (6th Cir.
1999). *55

Here, Gibbard and Cook engaged in protected
conduct by filming board meetings and making
public comments. They provided testimony and
video evidence that established that Quinn and
Keller attempted to stop Gibbard from videotaping
after the October 18, 2016 meeting. Trial Tr., Vol.
2, 77:6-8, Dec. 14, 2018 (Dkt. 100); see also
10/18/2016 Board Meeting Video, Pl. Trial Ex. 1;
Trial Tr., Vol. 1, 82:19-20, 83:7, Dec. 13, 2018
(Dkt. 99). Shortly thereafter, Keller charged across
the meeting hall and attempted to hit Cook's
camera out of her hands. See 10/18/2016 Board
Meeting Video, Pl. Trial Ex. 3. A few days later,
Schuette physically intimidated Gibbard during a
township meeting, 10/20/2016 Board Meeting
Video, Pl. Trial Ex. 6, and both Keller and
Schuette regularly prevented Gibbard from
making public comments during board meetings.
8/15/2016 Board Meeting Video, Pl. Trial Ex. 9, at
19:55-20:15; 10/24/2016 Board Meeting Video,
Pl. Trial Ex. 8. This is sufficient evidence from
which to infer that Gibbard's and Cook's protected
conduct motivated the adverse actions.

Gibbard and Cook did not ultimately persuade a
jury that these actions amounted to First
Amendment retaliation, but that does not mean

that the claims were frivolous, unreasonable, or
without foundation. Indeed, the Sixth Circuit has
cautioned district courts to resist engaging in post
hoc reasoning by concluding that "because a
plaintiff did not ultimately prevail, h[er] action
must have been unreasonable or without
foundation." Christiansburg, 434 U.S. at 422.
"This kind of hindsight logic could discourage all
but the most airtight claims, for seldom can a
prospective plaintiff be sure of ultimate success."
Id. Gibbard's and Cook's First Amendment
retaliation claims were not clearly defective at the
outset of the case, after depositions, or even after
trial. Their claims are not the type of egregious
claims that warrant an attorney fees award to the
prevailing defendant. Accordingly, Defendants'
motion for attorney fees is denied. *66

B. Gibbard's Motion (Dkt. 94)

Gibbard is seeking $142,695.50 in attorney fees
and $4,717.06 in costs on her successful OMA
claims. Defendants agree that Gibbard is entitled
to attorney fees and costs under the OMA. They
also agree that Plaintiffs' attorneys, Julie A.
Gafkay and David A. Dobreff, are experienced
and "formidable" attorneys, and that their
respective hourly rates are reasonable. Defendants
take issue, however, with the amount of the
attorney fees requested in relation to the size of
the recovery. They argue that attorney fees that are
284 times greater than the amount awarded is
excessive.

Defendants make four arguments in opposition to
Gibbard's motion: (i) the attorney fees request is
unconstitutional; (ii) the fee request is
disproportionate to the amount of the recovery
under state law; (iii) Gibbard is seeking fees not
related to her OMA claim, including fees related
to Cook's unsuccessful claims; and (iv) Gibbard's
bill of costs is excessive. The Court will take the
arguments in turn.

1. Disproportionate Fees Under the Fourteenth
Amendment

3

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/case/thaddeus-x-v-blatter#p394
https://casetext.com/case/christiansburg-garment-co-v-eeoc#p422
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


Defendants argue that Supreme Court precedent
counsels against awarding attorney fees that are
"exponentially" greater than the damage award.
Resp. at 12-13 (citing BMW of N. Am. v. Gore,
517 U.S. 559, 583 (1996), State Farm Mut. Auto.
Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408 (2003)).
Defendants' argument misses the mark.

Gore involved a dispute between an automobile
purchaser and BMW. A state jury awarded the
plaintiff $4,000 in compensatory damages—and
$4,000,000 in punitive damages—later reduced to
$2,000,000 by the court. Id. at 564-567. The
Supreme Court held that the punitive damages
award (which was 500 times greater than the
compensatory damages award) exceeded the
constitutional limits of the Fourteenth
Amendment's Due Process Clause, which
prohibits *7  states from imposing "grossly
excessive" punishment on a tortfeasor. Id. at 562.
The Supreme Court was concerned with the
"notions of fairness enshrined in our constitutional
jurisprudence [that] dictate that a person receive
fair notice not only of the conduct that will subject
him to punishment, but also of the severity of the
penalty . . . ." Id. at 574. Because BMW did not
receive adequate notice of the "magnitude of the
sanction" it was facing, the Court found the
punitive damages award grossly excessive. Id. at
572-575. In a subsequent case, the Supreme Court
declined to impose a bright-line ratio, but
observed that "in practice, few awards exceeding a
single-digit ratio between punitive and
compensatory damages, to a significant degree,
will satisfy due process." State Farm Mut. Auto.
Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 425 (2003).

7

In reliance on Gore and State Farm, Defendants
argue that a 5 to 1 ratio between attorney fees and
compensatory damages would be reasonable.
Resp. at 14. However, the Supreme Court's
concerns in Gore and State Farm are not raised in
the attorney fees context. Unlike some punitive
damage awards, attorney fees are generally
predictable and, in this case, specifically
authorized by Michigan statute and subject to

well-defined rules. Attorney fees are calculated by
multiplying an attorney's hourly rate by the hours
spent litigating a case. Defendants concede that
Plaintiffs' counsels' hourly rates are reasonable,
and even though they dispute which hours should
be included in the fee calculation, they do not
dispute that the number of hours spent litigating
this case was reasonable. After more than two
years of litigation—including discovery,
dispositive motions, motions in limine, a full jury
trial, and post-judgment motions—the magnitude
of the attorney fees Defendants were facing should
not have come as a surprise. Therefore, there are
no due process concerns raised by the fees sought
in this case.

Additionally, even before Gore and State Farm,
the Supreme Court refused to adopt a rule that
attorney fees under civil rights statutes be
proportionate to the underlying damages award. *8

City of Riverside v. Rivera, 477 U.S. 561, 581
(1986) (plurality).  As the Sixth Circuit has
explained, "the value of the rights vindicated goes
beyond the actual monetary award, and the
amount of the actual award is not controlling."
McHenry v. Chadwick, 896 F.2d 184, 189 (6th Cir.
1990); see also Bldg. Serv. Local 47 Cleaning
Contractors Pension Plan v. Grandview Raceway,
46 F.3d 1392, 1401 (6th Cir. 1995) (noting that
"there is no requirement that the amount of an
award of attorneys' fees be proportional to the
amount of the underlying award of damages").
Sixth Circuit "precedents establish that an attorney
fee award in a civil rights case is not unreasonable
merely because it is greater than the damages
awarded to the plaintiff." Waldo v. Consumers
Energy Co., 726 F.3d 802, 824 n.5 (6th Cir. 2013).
Accordingly, contrary to Defendants' position,
Supreme Court (and Sixth Circuit) precedent
counsels against reducing attorney fees because
they are disproportionate to the underlying
damages award.

8

2

2 Although Justice Powell concurred only in

the Court's judgment, he also rejected a

proportionality rule with respect to attorney

4

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/case/bmw-of-north-america-inc-v-gore#p583
https://casetext.com/case/state-farm-mut-automobile-ins-co-v-campbell-4
https://casetext.com/case/state-farm-mut-automobile-ins-co-v-campbell-4#p425
https://casetext.com/case/riverside-v-rivera#p581
https://casetext.com/_print/doc/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2?_printIncludeHighlights=false&_printIncludeKeyPassages=false&_printIsTwoColumn=true&_printEmail=&_printHighlightsKey=#N196821
https://casetext.com/case/mchenry-v-chadwick#p189
https://casetext.com/case/building-serv-l-47-cleaning-con-v-grandview#p1401
https://casetext.com/case/waldo-v-consumers-energy-co#p824
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


fees. Id. at 585.

2. Clearly Excessive Fees Under Michigan Law

Defendants also argue that the attorney fees
request is excessive in light of the limited success
Gibbard obtained on her OMA claim. Resp. at 16.
They note that at the beginning of trial, Gibbard
sought over $600,000 in damages, but she
obtained merely $500 from the claims with
attorney fee provisions. Id. at 17. But Defendants
needlessly conflate the relief sought. Gibbard may
have sought a total of $600,000 in relief on all of
her claims, but for the OMA claim, *9  she sought
only the statutory maximum of $500 from Keller
and Schuette. The question is simply, how
successful was she on that recovery? There is
some confusion on that matter.

3

9

3 Gibbard argues that under the statutory

language, she may be entitled to attorney

fees for "bringing this action," Mich.

Comp. Laws § 15.273(1), "which includes

all claims, not just the OMA claim," Mot.

at 2. This argument is obviously flawed.

The OMA is not a universal vehicle that

can be used to recover attorney fees under

theories of liability where neither the state

nor federal government has authorized

such fees. "[T]he fees charged by a

successful litigant under the OMA must be

for that action and cannot be unrelated to

the OMA claims." Speicher v. Columbia

Twp. Bd. of Election Comm'rs, 832

N.W.2d 392, 399 (Mich. Ct. App. 2012).

The OMA provides that a public official who
intentionally violates the OMA shall be personally
liable in a civil action for damages of "not more
than $500.00 total, plus court costs and actual
attorney fees to a person or group of persons
bringing the action." Mich. Comp. Laws §
15.273(1). Although the imposition of "actual
attorney fees" under the OMA is mandatory,
Speicher v. Columbia Twp. Bd. of Election
Comm'rs, 832 N.W.2d 392, 395 (Mich. Ct. App.
2012), Michigan Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5
gives courts the discretion to reduce attorney fees

where attorneys are charging "illegal or clearly
excessive fee[s]," Zoran v. Twp. of Cottrellville,
913 N.W.2d 359, 362 (Mich. Ct. App. 2017),
appeal denied, 919 N.W.2d 403 (Mich. 2018). "A
fee is clearly excessive when, after a review of the
facts, a lawyer of ordinary prudence would be left
with a definite and firm conviction that the fee is
in excess of a reasonable fee." MRPC 1.5(a).
"Because of the high standard contained within
MRPC 1.5(a), which is essentially an articulation
of the clear-and-convincing-evidence burden of
proof, a fee that is slightly—or even moderately—
above a reasonable fee cannot be 'clearly
excessive.'" Id. at 363 (emphasis in original). Rule
1.5(a) sets forth eight factors for courts to consider
in deciding if a fee is clearly excessive, of which
Defendants address only the fourth factor—"the
amount involved and the results obtained."

Defendants assert that Gibbard recovered only half
of what was allowed under the OMA, because she
recovered only $250 from Keller and Schuette,
respectively. Resp. at 6. Gibbard maintains that
she made a full recovery because the jury
instructions and verdict form arguably only
allowed for a total of $500 and the jury awarded
$500. Reply at 8-9. Although this is not a *10

challenge to the jury instruction—which all parties
had approved—Gibbard asserts there is some
ambiguity in both the instructions and the verdict
form.

10

The jury instructions said that "[t]he total damages
may not exceed $500 per Plaintiff, under
Plaintiffs' Open Meeting Act claim." The verdict
form directed the jury to "enter an actual damages
award not to exceed $500 on the appropriate line
for any injury giving rise to actual damages."
There were separate lines where the jury could
award damages for Keller and Schuette
immediately below the directions. The jury
entered $250 on each line, for a total of $500.
Gibbard asserts that, arguably, the jury awarded
full relief to her. On the other hand, it may be that
the jury awarded half of what was allowed.
Nonetheless, where a statute allows no more than

5

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/_print/doc/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2?_printIncludeHighlights=false&_printIncludeKeyPassages=false&_printIsTwoColumn=true&_printEmail=&_printHighlightsKey=#N196843
https://casetext.com/statute/michigan-compiled-laws/chapter-15-public-officers-and-employees/open-meetings-act/section-15273-violation-liability
https://casetext.com/statute/michigan-compiled-laws/chapter-15-public-officers-and-employees/open-meetings-act/section-15273-violation-liability
https://casetext.com/case/zoran-v-twp-of-cottrellville-4#p362
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


$500 for even the most egregious violations of the
OMA, even a $250 recovery against each
Defendant is significant.

Defendants disagree and revisit their
proportionality argument by arguing that, based on
Gibbard's level of recovery, the attorney fees
should be no more than five times the total
damage award. Resp. at 17. Defendants again rely
on federal law to support their position that this
Court should view this dispute in terms of
proportionality. Id. at 16-17. They are mistaken.
The federal cases all involve civil rights claims
and determining "reasonable attorney fees"
through the so-called "lodestar" method.  The
OMA, unlike civil rights statutes, allows for
"actual attorney fees." The term "actual attorney
fees" in the OMA creates a mandatory fee, while
the term "reasonable attorney fees" in analogous
federal statutes creates a discretionary fee scheme.
Omdahl v. W. Iron Cty. Bd. of Educ., 733 N.W.2d
380, 390 (Mich. 2007). Despite the fact that the
OMA is often *11  read in harmony with federal
statutes, "the statutory fee schemes are different
and should be interpreted distinctly." Id.
Therefore, the federal cases cited by Defendants
are not persuasive.

4

11

4 Courts calculate the "lodestar" fee by

multiplying the reasonable number of

hours expended on the case by the

reasonable hourly rates for the participating

lawyers and then adjusting that number up

or down based on the unique aspects of the

case. Miller v. Caudill, ---F.3d---, 2019 WL

3979593, at *7 (6th Cir. Aug. 23, 2019). ---

-----

Turning to state law, Defendants rely on Speicher.
But that case does not help them as it explains
why their proportionality argument is fatally
flawed. In Speicher, the court explained that the
OMA, as it was enacted in 1968, was largely
ineffective due to a lack of enforcement
mechanisms and penalties. 832 N.W.2d at 398; see
also Booth Newspapers, Inc. v. Univ. of Mich. Bd.
of Regents, 507 N.W.2d 422, 427 (Mich. 1993)

(same). To remedy the problem, Michigan's
Legislature repealed the OMA and reenacted it in
1976 with new provisions that allowed successful
parties to recover court costs and actual attorney
fees. Omdahl, 733 N.W.2d at 383; see also
Speicher, 832 N.W.2d at 398 (noting the same
language in section 15.271(4)). Defendants'
proportionality argument seeks once again to
make the OMA ineffective by capping attorney
fees at no more than $2,500. Arbitrarily limiting
the actual attorney fees award to no more than five
times the recovery is contrary to the plain text of
the OMA, the intent of Michigan's legislature, and
the private-attorney-general concept upon which
statutes like the OMA rely to encourage private
litigation to implement public policy.

Accordingly, Gibbard's attorney fees request is not
clearly excessive on the theory that they are
disproportionate to her recovery. The Court is
satisfied that both the amount of recovery and the
level of results obtained in this matter are
sufficient to warrant full recovery of applicable
attorney fees. A lawyer of ordinary prudence
would be left with a definite and firm conviction
that the requested fees (with deduction for fees
unrelated to the OMA claims, as discussed below)
in the light of more than two years of litigation are
reasonable. *1212

3. Fees Unrelated to the OMA Claim

Defendants also argue that Gibbard's fee request is
clearly excessive, because she seeks fees related to
claims other than her OMA claims. Resp. at 14.
They note that Plaintiffs' counsels' billing records
do not distinguish between the various claims
brought in this case. Id. at 15. They further argue
that Gibbard is seeking fees related to Cook's
unsuccessful OMA claims. Id. at 16. Gibbard
argues that her claims are interrelated and largely
involve a common core of facts, namely the events
occurring after the October 18, 2016 meeting.
Reply at 11. Gibbard has the better part of the
argument.

6

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/_print/doc/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2?_printIncludeHighlights=false&_printIncludeKeyPassages=false&_printIsTwoColumn=true&_printEmail=&_printHighlightsKey=#N196885
https://casetext.com/case/miller-v-caudill#p7
https://casetext.com/case/booth-v-u-of-m-bd-of-regents#p427
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


It is difficult to divide attorney time spent on a
claim-by-claim basis where, as here, a case arises
from a common core of facts. See Hensley, 461
U.S. at 435. The events that transpired on October
18, 2016 certainly gave rise to all of the claims
that were presented at trial. Nonetheless, there
were events that occurred outside of that night and
that were also part of each Plaintiffs' OMA claims.
There were also claims brought against other
individuals, such as Dave Keller and Ken Brown.
Fees for unrelated claims are not available under
the OMA. Speicher, 832 N.W.2d at 400. OMA
fees are also not available for legal research of
unrelated claims. Id. The fees requested in this
case are clearly excessive to the extent they
include inquiry into areas that fall outside of the
common core of facts and legal research unrelated
to the OMA claims. Therefore, the Court finds,
after reviewing the record, that "a lawyer of
ordinary prudence would be left with a definite
and firm conviction that the requested fee is in
excess of a reasonable fee," to the extent the fees
sought are for matters unrelated to Gibbard's
OMA claims. See MRPC 1.5(a). Accordingly,
Plaintiffs' counsel is directed to review their
billing records and make a good faith effort to
omit fees unrelated to Gibbard's OMA claims. *1313

4. Costs

Finally, Gibbard seeks $4,214.56 in costs. Mot. at
4. Defendants argue that Gibbard's bill of costs is
excessive because it includes costs for witnesses
who either did not testify at trial or did not testify
in relation to Gibbard's OMA claims. Resp. at 18-
19. Defendants further argue that the costs should
be cut in half, because they should not be
responsible for Cook's costs. Id. at 19. They
propose that $2,040.49 is a reasonable amount of
costs. Id. Gibbard concedes that costs related to
one witness, Grant Toner, should be excluded.
Reply at 12. Gibbard revised her bill of costs to
exclude fees related to Toner, but she also added
the cost of ordering trial transcripts to defend
against Defendants' Rule 50(b) motion. See

Gibbard's 2d Bill of Costs, Ex. 2 to Reply (Dkt.
107-1). She now seeks costs totaling $4,717.06.
Id.

The award and allocation of costs in federal courts
are controlled by 28 U.S.C. § 1920 and Rule
54(d). Sales v. Marshall, 873 F.2d 115, 122 (6th
Cir. 1989). Rule 54 allows the prevailing party to
recover costs. Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(1). As noted
above, Gibbard is the prevailing party on her
OMA claims and, therefore, entitled to costs.

Defendants argue that costs related to trial witness
Jeff Talaski should be omitted because he testified
as to Shelly Cook only. Resp. at 18. Gibbard does
not dispute this point. After reviewing the trial
transcript, the Court agrees with Defendants that
Talaski's costs should not be awarded, because
Talaski's testimony was unrelated to Gibbard's
claims.

Defendants argue as to the rest of the witnesses
that they testified as to the First Amendment
claims and not the OMA claims. Id. at 18-19.
However, Defendants do not explain how the
testimony on the First Amendment claims and the
OMA claims differ in some meaningful way.
Based on the Court's review of the bill of costs,
Gibbard seeks to recover the filing fee, service of 
*14  process fees, transcript fees, and witness fees.
Id. at PageID.2663. These fees are all allowed
under § 1920. Accordingly, Gibbard is awarded
costs in the amount of $4,558.04.

14

IV. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, Keller and Schuette's
motion for attorney fees (Dkt. 96) is denied and
Gibbard's motion for attorney fees (Dkt. 94) is
granted in part. Gibbard is entitled to $4,558.04 in
costs and most, but not all, of the attorney fees
requested. Counsel for the parties are directed to
meet and confer and to make a good faith effort to
remove billing for matters unrelated to Gibbard's
OMA claims. If the parties come to agreement on
the matter, they must submit to chambers a
proposed stipulated order reflecting that
agreement by September 23, 2019. If agreement is

7

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/case/hensley-v-eckerhart#p435
https://casetext.com/statute/united-states-code/title-28-judiciary-and-judicial-procedure/part-v-procedure/chapter-123-fees-and-costs/section-1920-taxation-of-costs
https://casetext.com/case/sales-v-marshall#p122
https://casetext.com/statute/united-states-code/title-28-appendix/federal-rules-of-civil-procedure/rules-of-civil-procedure-for-the-united-states-district-courts-1/title-vii-judgment/rule-54-judgment-costs
https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


not reached, Plaintiffs' counsel must file their
revised calculations and supporting documentation
with the Court by September 30, 2019, and
Defendants may file objections by October 7,
2019.

SO ORDERED. Dated: September 17, 2019 

Detroit, Michigan

s/Mark A. Goldsmith  

MARK A. GOLDSMITH 

United States District Judge

8

Cook v. Greenleaf Twp.     Case No. 16-14060 (E.D. Mich. Sep. 17, 2019)

https://casetext.com/case/cook-v-greenleaf-twp-2


INFORMATION ONLY




	6.28.21 AGENDA AMENDED
	3A 20210628 Ethics Board Appointment
	NOTICE OF INTENTION - APPT Cover
	Ethics Board Roster
	Ethics ATTENDANCE
	City of Birmingham Application for J. Schrot (00374429x7AE3C)

	3B 20210628 HDSC Appointment
	3C 20210628 BBTA Appointments
	20210628 BBTA  APPT Cover
	Board of Building Trades Appeals Roster
	Arya Afrakhtch Application
	Rick Wiand Application
	Thomas Lindberg Application
	Ronald White Resignation Letter
	David Force Resignation Letter

	5A 6_14 Workshop - Commission
	5B 6_14_21 Minutes
	5C 20210616 Warrant list & ACH
	5D 20210623 Warrant list & ACH
	5E 20210628 Next Senior Services Contract FY 2021-2022
	5F 20210628 Toro Fairway Mowers
	5G 20210628 OAKSTEM Grant
	5H 20210628 Virtru Google Enhanced Security
	Virtru report.pdf
	Virtru Quote for City of Birmingham, Michigan (6.3.21).pdf

	5I 20210628 SET PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - FULL - 6-23-2021 - FINAL
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21
	501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP & FSP REPORT - 6-9-21
	SUBJECT: 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review

	501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - ZONING SUMMARY - 6-9-21
	AS100 (1)
	Sheets and Views
	AS100
	OLE1



	A200
	A201
	Sheets and Views
	A201
	OLE1




	2 - June 9, 2021 PB Mins
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21.pdf
	501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR APPLICATION - 6-9-21
	Whistle Stop Survey Contract

	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21
	Whistle Stop Spec Sheets
	darwin_chair with arms
	darwin_chair
	darwin_table-24
	darwin_table-32
	ocean master - plantation MAX classic

	Whistle Stop Bistro Selection


	5J 20210628 SET PH - Glazing - 6-23-21 - FINAL
	Window Standards - Public Hearing- 6-9-21
	Study Session - Window Glazing Standards - 11-7-19
	MEMORANDUM  Planning Division

	2 - June 9, 2021 PB Mins
	PB Minutes 4-14-21
	PB Minutes 7-22-20
	PB Minutes 1-8-20
	PB Minutes 11-13-19

	5K 20210628 SET PH - Solar Panels - 6-23-21 - FINAL
	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21.pdf
	Solar Panel Ordinance Amendment - Public Hearing - 6-9-21
	ORDINANCE NO. _________
	THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS:
	AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM:
	ORDINANCE NO. _________
	THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS:
	AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM:


	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21.pdf
	Solar Panel Ordinance Amendment - Public Hearing - 6-9-21

	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21
	PB Minutes 4-14-21
	PB Minutes 7-22-20
	PB Minutes 1-8-20
	CC Minutes 6-17-19
	PB Minutes 5-22-19


	5L 20210624_SAD_SewWatServ_memo_setPH
	7A 20210628 ARPA Spending Plan - tagged
	7B 20210628 Request for Direction Regarding Pending Litigation - tagged
	7C 20210614 Food Trucks Memo - tagged
	VENDOR ATTACHMENTS.pdf
	1A - Most Recent Vendor Report 2 - 3-16-11
	1B - Memo to PSD-7-23-10
	2 - Birmingham Vendors and Peddlers Ord - 4-9-10
	2 - Birmingham Vendors and Peddlers Ord - Proposed Changes - 3-16-11
	2 - Invigorating Public Spaces with Vendors -1-22-11
	3 - Potential Vendor Locations - 7-8-10
	3 - Vendor locations Map - 1-27-11
	4B - Birmingham Peddler and Vendors Info
	4C - Vendor Article- Detroit Free Press-10-6-10
	4D - Ferndale Vendor Article
	4E - Memphis, TN vendor guidelines
	4F - NYC Vendor Poster


	7E 20210628 Closed Session (MMK) 2021.06.23 Memo re City Manager Performance Evaluation - tagged
	10B1  20210628 Brad Host Parking Info
	10E1 20210614 IN-PERSON CITY COMMISSION AND BOARD MEETINGS
	10E2 20210614 Public comment during City meetings
	10E3 20210628 (MMK) 2021.06.23 Memo Re Vote of Commission Revisited - tagged
	10E4 20210628 Temporary COVID-19 Outdoor Stucture Fire Code Violation Letters and Reports - tagged
	10E5 20210628 Parking Debt Staff Report - tagged
	10E6 20210628 City Manager Report - tagged
	2 IO 20210628 OMA Legal Fees
	3 20210623 IO DTE



